# Grassmannians, Moduli Spaces and Vector Bundles

Clay Mathematics Institute Workshop Moduli Spaces of Vector Bundles, with a View Towards Coherent Sheaves October 6–11, 2006 Cambridge, Massachusetts



Clay Mathematics Institute, Cambridge, MA



P. E. Newstead



American Mathematical Society Clay Mathematics Institute David A. Ellwood Emma Previato Editors

## Grassmannians, Moduli Spaces and Vector Bundles

## Grassmannians, Moduli Spaces and Vector Bundles

Clay Mathematics Institute Workshop Moduli Spaces of Vector Bundles, with a View Towards Coherent Sheaves October 6–11, 2006 Cambridge, Massachusetts

**David A. Ellwood Emma Previato** Editors



American Mathematical Society Clay Mathematics Institute

## 2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 13D03, 14D20, 14F22, 14H60, 14K10, 22E57, 47B35, 53B10, 53D30, 57R56.

Cover photo of Peter Newstead courtesy of Dr. Cristian Gonzalez-Martinez.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Clay Mathematics Institute Workshop on Moduli Spaces of Vector Bundles, with a View Towards Coherent Sheaves (2006 : Cambridge, Mass.)

Grassmannians, moduli spaces and vector bundles : Clay Mathematics Institute Workshop on Moduli Spaces of Vector Bundles, with a View Towards Coherent Sheaves (2006 : Cambridge, Massachusetts, October 6–11, 2006 / David A. Ellwood, Emma Previato, Editors.

p. cm. — (Clay mathematics proceedings; v. 14)

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 978-0-8218-5205-7 (alk. paper)

1. Commutative rings—Congresses. 2. Moduli theory—Congresses. 3. Vector bundles— Congresses. I. Ellwood, D. (David), 1966– II. Previato, Emma. III. Title.

QA251.3.C54 2011 514'.224—dc22

2011001894

**Copying and reprinting.** Material in this book may be reproduced by any means for educational and scientific purposes without fee or permission with the exception of reproduction by services that collect fees for delivery of documents and provided that the customary acknowledgment of the source is given. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, or for resale. Requests for permission for commercial use of material should be addressed to the Acquisitions Department, American Mathematical Society, 201 Charles Street, Providence, Rhode Island 02904-2294, USA. Requests can also be made by e-mail to reprint-permission@ams.org.

Excluded from these provisions is material in articles for which the author holds copyright. In such cases, requests for permission to use or reprint should be addressed directly to the author(s). (Copyright ownership is indicated in the notice in the lower right-hand corner of the first page of each article.)

© 2011 by the Clay Mathematics Institute. All rights reserved.

Published by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI,

for the Clay Mathematics Institute, Cambridge, MA.

Printed in the United States of America.

The Clay Mathematics Institute retains all rights

except those granted to the United States Government.

 $\otimes$  The paper used in this book is acid-free and falls within the guidelines

established to ensure permanence and durability.

Visit the AMS home page at http://www.ams.org/

Visit the Clay Mathematics Institute home page at http://www.claymath.org/

 $10 \ 9 \ 8 \ 7 \ 6 \ 5 \ 4 \ 3 \ 2 \ 1 \qquad 16 \ 15 \ 14 \ 13 \ 12 \ 11$ 

## Contents

| Introduction  | vii |
|---|-----|
| Hitchin's Projectively Flat Connection, Toeplitz Operators and the Asymptotic Expansion of TQFT Curve Operators<br>JØRGEN ELLEGAARD ANDERSEN AND NIELS LETH GAMMELGAARD | 1   |
| Koszul Cohomology and Applications to Moduli<br>MARIAN APRODU AND GAVRIL FARKAS   | 25  |
| Reider's Theorem and Thaddeus Pairs Revisited<br>DANIELE ARCARA AND AARON BERTRAM   | 51  |
| Intersection Pairings in Singular Moduli Spaces of Bundles<br>LISA JEFFREY  | 69  |
| The Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian and Symplectic Knot Homology<br>JOEL KAMNITZER  | 81  |
| Arithmetic Aspects of Moduli Spaces of Sheaves on Curves<br>MAX LIEBLICH  | 95  |
| Existence of $\alpha$ -Stable Coherent Systems on Algebraic Curves<br>P. E. NEWSTEAD  | 121 |
| Regularity on Abelian Varieties III: Relationship with Generic Vanishing and<br>Applications<br>GIUSEPPE PARESCHI AND MIHNEA POPA                                       | 141 |
| Vector Bundles on Reducible Curves and Applications<br>MONTSERRAT TEIXIDOR I BIGAS  | 169 |

## Introduction

In 2006, Peter E. Newstead paid his first academic visit to North America after the 1960s, and the occasion originated a number of workshops and conferences in his honor. The editors of this volume, together with Montserrat Teixidor i Bigas, organized a Clay Mathematics Institute workshop, "Moduli spaces of vector bundles, with a view toward coherent sheaves" (October 6-10, 2006). The experts convened produced a vigorous confluence of so many different techniques and discussed such deep connections that we felt a proceedings volume would be a valuable asset to the community of mathematicians and physicists; when a participant was not available to write for this volume, state-of-the-art coverage of the topic was provided through the generosity of an alternative expert.

Peter E. Newstead earned his Ph.D. from the University of Cambridge in 1966; both John A. Todd and Michael F. Atiyah supervised his doctoral work. From the beginning of his career, he was interested in topological properties of classification spaces of vector bundles. Geometric Invariant Theory was re-invigorated around that time by the refinement of concepts of (semi-)stability and projective models, and Newstead contributed some of the more original and deeper constructions, for example the projective models for rank-2 bundles of fixed determinant of odd degree over a curve of genus two, a quadratic complex (obtained also, using a different method, by M.S. Narasimhan with S. Ramanan), and a topological proof for non-existence of universal bundles in certain cases. He played a prominent role in the development of a major area by focusing on moduli of vector bundles over an algebraic curve, was a main contributor to a Brill-Noether geography for these spaces, and his topological results led him to make major contributions (cf. [N1-2] and [KN]) to the description, by generators and relations, of the rational cohomology algebra  $H^*(\mathcal{SU}_X(2,L))$  for the moduli space  $\mathcal{SU}_X(2,L)$  of stable rank-2 bundles over X with fixed determinant L, where X is a compact Riemann surface of genus  $g \geq 2$ , and L a line bundle of odd degree over X (the higher-rank case was then settled in [EK]). The main concerns of his current work are coherent systems on algebraic curves and Picard bundles. This bird's-eye view of Newstead's work omits several topics, ranging from invariants of group action to algebraic geometry over the reals, conic bundles and other special projective varieties defined by quadrics, and compactifications of moduli spaces, and is merely intended to serve as orientation for the readers of the present volume.

This volume of cutting-edge contributions provides a collection of problems and methods that are greatly enriching our understanding of moduli spaces and their applications. It should be accessible to non-experts, as well as further the interaction among researchers specializing in various aspects of these spaces. Indeed, we

#### INTRODUCTION

hope this volume will impress the reader with the diversity of ideas and techniques that are brought together by the nature of these varieties.

In brief and non-technical terms, the volume covers the following areas. An aspect of moduli spaces that recently emerged is the disparate set of dualities that parallel the classical Hecke correspondence of number theory. In modern terms, such a pairing of two variables (or two categories) is a Fourier-Mukai-Laumon transform; implications go under the heading of geometric Langlands program, the area of Kamnitzer's article. Pareschi and Popa offer original techniques in the derivedtheoretic study of regularity and generic vanishing for coherent sheaves on abelian varieties, with applications to the study of vector bundles, as well as that of linear series on irregular varieties. Also on the theme of moduli spaces, Aprodu and Farkas on the one hand, Jeffrey on the other, provide techniques to analyze different properties: respectively, applications of Koszul cohomology to the study of various moduli spaces, and symplectic-geometric methods for intersection cohomology over singular moduli spaces. Teixidor treats moduli spaces of vector bundles over reducible curves, a delicate issue with promising applications to integrable systems. Arcara and Bertram work torwards a concept of stability for bundles over surfaces and conjecturally over threefolds. Using the Brauer group, Lieblich relates the geometry of moduli spaces to the properties of certain non-commutative algebras and to arithmetic local-to-global principles. Andersen and Gammelgaard's paper addresses a quantization of the moduli space: the fibration of the moduli space of curves given by the moduli of bundles admits a projective connection whose associated operator generalizes the heat equation – it was defined independently by N. Hitchin, and by S. Axelrod with S. Della Pietra and E. Witten. Finally, the workshop's guest of honor, Peter Newstead himself, offers a cutting-edge overview of his current area of work, coherent systems over algebraic curves; may we salute it as the Brill-Noether theory of the XXI century?

We hope you enjoy the book and find it as inspiring as we do.

David A. Ellwood, Cambridge Emma Previato, Boston

### References

- [EK] R. Earl and F. Kirwan, Complete sets of relations in the cohomology rings of moduli spaces of holomorphic bundles and parabolic bundles over a Riemann surface, *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3) 89 (2004), no. 3, 570–622.
- [KN] A.D. King and P.E. Newstead, On the cohomology ring of the moduli space of rank 2 vector bundles on a curve, *Topology* 37 (1998), no. 2, 407–418.
- [N1] P.E. Newstead, Characteristic classes of stable bundles of rank 2 over an algebraic curve, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 169 (1972), 337–345.
- [N2] P.E. Newstead, On the relations between characteristic classes of stable bundles of rank 2 over an algebraic curve, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 10 (1984), no. 2, 292–294.

## Hitchin's Projectively Flat Connection, Toeplitz Operators and the Asymptotic Expansion of TQFT Curve Operators

Jørgen Ellegaard Andersen and Niels Leth Gammelgaard

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we will provide a review of the geometric construction, proposed by Witten, of the SU(n) quantum representations of the mapping class groups which are part of the Reshetikhin-Turaev TQFT for the quantum group  $U_q(sl(n,\mathbb{C}))$ . In particular, we recall the differential geometric construction of Hitchin's projectively flat connection in the bundle over Teichmüller space obtained by push-forward of the determinant line bundle over the moduli space of rank n, fixed determinant, semi-stable bundles fibering over Teichmüller space. We recall the relation between the Hitchin connection and Toeplitz operators which was first used by the first named author to prove the asymptotic faithfulness of the SU(n) quantum representations of the mapping class groups. We further review the construction of the formal Hitchin connection, and we discuss its relation to the full asymptotic expansion of the curve operators of Topological Quantum Field Theory. We then go on to identify the first terms in the formal parallel transport of the Hitchin connection explicitly. This allows us to identify the first terms in the resulting star product on functions on the moduli space. This is seen to agree with the first term in the star-product on holonomy functions on these moduli spaces defined by Andersen, Mattes and Reshetikhin.

### 1. Introduction

Witten constructed, via path integral techniques, a quantization of Chern-Simons theory in 2 + 1 dimensions, and he argued in [**Wi**] that this produced a TQFT, indexed by a compact simple Lie group and an integer level k. For the group SU(n) and level k, let us denote this TQFT by  $Z_k^{(n)}$ . Witten argues in [**Wi**] that the theory  $Z_k^{(2)}$  determines the Jones polynomial of a knot in  $S^3$ . Combinatorially, this theory was first constructed by Reshetikhin and Turaev, using the representation theory of  $U_q(sl(n, C))$  at  $q = e^{(2\pi i)/(k+n)}$ , in [**RT1**] and [**RT2**]. Subsequently, the TQFT's  $Z_k^{(n)}$  were constructed using skein theory by Blanchet, Habegger, Masbaum and Vogel in [**BHMV1**], [**BHMV2**] and [**B1**].

TQFT's  $Z_k^{(n)}$  were constructed using skein theory by Blanchet, Habegger, Masbaum and Vogel in [**BHMV1**], [**BHMV2**] and [**B1**]. The two-dimensional part of the TQFT  $Z_k^{(n)}$  is a modular functor with a certain label set. For this TQFT, the label set  $\Lambda_k^{(n)}$  is a finite subset (depending on k) of the set of finite dimensional irreducible representations of SU(n). We use the

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 53D50; Secondary 47D35, 53D57, 57R56.

usual labeling of irreducible representations by Young diagrams, so in particular  $\Box \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}$  is the defining representation of  $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ . Let further  $\lambda_0^{(d)} \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}$  be the Young diagram consisting of d columns of length k. The label set is also equipped with an involution, which is simply induced by taking the dual representation. The trivial representation is a special element in the label set which is clearly preserved by the involution.

$$Z_{k}^{(n)}: \begin{cases} \text{Category of (ex-tended) closed} \\ \text{oriented surfaces} \\ \text{with } \Lambda_{k}^{(n)}\text{-labeled} \\ \text{marked points with} \\ \text{projective tangent} \\ \text{vectors} \end{cases} \rightarrow \begin{cases} \text{Category of finite} \\ \text{dimensional vector} \\ \text{spaces over } \mathbb{C} \end{cases}$$

The three-dimensional part of  $Z_k^{(n)}$  is an association of a vector,

$$Z_k^{(n)}(M,L,\lambda) \in Z_k^{(n)}(\partial M,\partial L,\partial\lambda),$$

to any compact, oriented, framed 3–manifold M together with an oriented, framed link  $(L, \partial L) \subseteq (M, \partial M)$  and a  $\Lambda_k^{(n)}$ -labeling  $\lambda : \pi_0(L) \to \Lambda_k^{(n)}$ .



This association has to satisfy the Atiyah-Segal-Witten TQFT axioms (see e.g. [At], [Se] and [Wi]). For a more comprehensive presentation of the axioms, see Turaev's book [T].

The geometric construction of these TQFTs was proposed by Witten in [Wi] where he derived, via the Hamiltonian approach to quantum Chern-Simons theory, that the geometric quantization of the moduli spaces of flat connections should give the two-dimensional part of the theory. Further, he proposed an alternative construction of the two-dimensional part of the theory via WZW-conformal field theory. This theory has been studied intensively. In particular, the work of Tsuchiya, Ueno and Yamada in **[TUY]** provided the major geometric constructions and results needed. In  $[\mathbf{BK}]$ , their results were used to show that the category of integrable highest weight modules of level k for the affine Lie algebra associated to any simple Lie algebra is a modular tensor category. Further, in [**BK**], this result is combined with the work of Kazhdan and Lusztig [KL] and the work of Finkelberg [Fi] to argue that this category is isomorphic to the modular tensor category associated to the corresponding quantum group, from which Reshetikhin and Turaev constructed their TQFT. Unfortunately, these results do not allow one to conclude the validity of the geometric constructions of the two-dimensional part of the TQFT proposed by Witten. However, in joint work with Ueno, [AU1], [AU2], [AU3] and [AU4], we have given a proof, based mainly on the results of [TUY], that the TUY-construction of the WZW-conformal field theory, after twist by a fractional power of an abelian theory, satisfies all the axioms of a modular functor. Furthermore, we have proved that the full (2 + 1)-dimensional TQFT resulting from this is isomorphic to the aforementioned one, constructed by BHMV via skein theory. Combining this with the theorem of Laszlo [La1], which identifies (projectively) the representations of the mapping class groups obtained from the geometric quantization of the moduli space of flat connections with the ones obtained from the TUY-constructions, one gets a proof of the validity of the construction proposed by Witten in [Wi].

Part of this TQFT is the quantum SU(n) representations of the mapping class groups. Namely, if  $\Sigma$  is a closed oriented surfaces of genus g,  $\Gamma$  is the mapping class group of  $\Sigma$ , and p is a point on  $\Sigma$ , then the modular functor induces a representation

(1) 
$$Z_k^{(n,d)}: \Gamma \to \mathbb{P}\operatorname{Aut}\left(Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)})\right).$$

For a general label of p, we would need to choose a projective tangent vector  $v_p \in T_p \Sigma/\mathbb{R}_+$ , and we would get a representation of the mapping class group of  $(\Sigma, p, v_p)$ . But for the special labels  $\lambda_0^{(d)}$ , the dependence on  $v_p$  is trivial and in fact we get a representation of  $\Gamma$ . Furthermore, the curve operators are also part of any TQFT: For  $\gamma \subseteq \Sigma - \{p\}$  an oriented simple closed curve and any  $\lambda \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}$ , we have the operators

(2) 
$$Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma,\lambda): Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma,p,\lambda_0^{(d)}) \to Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma,p,\lambda_0^{(d)}),$$

defined as

$$Z_{k}^{(n,d)}(\gamma,\lambda) = Z_{k}^{(n,d)}(\Sigma \times I, \gamma \times \{\frac{1}{2}\} \coprod \{p\} \times I, \{\lambda,\lambda_{0}^{(d)}\}).$$

The curve operators are natural under the action of the mapping class group, meaning that the following diagram,

is commutative for all  $\phi \in \Gamma$  and all labeled simple closed curves  $(\gamma, \lambda) \subset \Sigma - \{p\}$ .

For the curve operators, we can derive an explicit formula using factorization: Let  $\Sigma'$  be the surface obtained from cutting  $\Sigma$  along  $\gamma$  and identifying the two boundary components to two points, say  $\{p_+, p_-\}$ . Here  $p_+$  is the point corresponding to the "left" side of  $\gamma$ . For any label  $\mu \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}$ , we get a labeling of the ordered points  $(p_+, p_-)$  by the ordered pair of labels  $(\mu, \mu^{\dagger})$ .

Since  $Z_k^{(n)}$  is also a modular functor, one can factor the space  $Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)})$  as a direct sum, 'along'  $\gamma$ , over  $\Lambda_k^{(n)}$ . That is, we get an isomorphism

(3) 
$$Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)}) \cong \bigoplus_{\mu \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}} Z^{(k)}(\Sigma', p_+, p_-, p, \mu, \mu^{\dagger}, \lambda_0^{(d)}).$$

Strictly speaking, we need a base point on  $\gamma$  to induce tangent directions at  $p_{\pm}$ . However, the corresponding subspaces of  $Z^{(k)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)})$  do not depend on the choice of base point. The isomorphism (3) induces an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{End}(Z^{(k)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)})) \cong \bigoplus_{\mu \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}} \operatorname{End}(Z^{(k)}(\Sigma', p_+, p_-, p, \mu, \mu^{\dagger}, \lambda_0^{(d)})),$$

which also induces a direct sum decomposition of  $\operatorname{End}(Z^{(k)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)}))$ , independent of the base point.

The TQFT axioms imply that the curve operator  $Z^{(k)}(\gamma, \lambda)$  is diagonal with respect to this direct sum decomposition along  $\gamma$ . One has the formula

$$Z^{(k)}(\gamma,\lambda) = \bigoplus_{\mu \in \Lambda_k^{(n)}} S_{\lambda,\mu}(S_{0,\mu})^{-1} \operatorname{Id}_{Z^{(k)}(\Sigma',p_+,p_-,p,\mu,\mu^{\dagger},\lambda_0^{(d)})}$$

Here  $S_{\lambda,\mu}$  is the S-matrix<sup>1</sup> of the theory  $Z_k^{(n)}$ . See e.g. [**B1**] for a derivation of this formula.

Let us now briefly recall the geometric construction of the representations  $Z_k^{(n,d)}$  of the mapping class group, as proposed by Witten, using geometric quantization of moduli spaces.

We assume from now on that the genus of the closed oriented surface  $\Sigma$  is at least two. Let M be the moduli space of flat  $\mathrm{SU}(n)$  connections on  $\Sigma - p$  with holonomy around p equal to  $\exp(2\pi i d/n) \operatorname{Id} \in \mathrm{SU}(n)$ . When (n, d) are coprime, the moduli space is smooth. In all cases, the smooth part of the moduli space has a natural symplectic structure  $\omega$ . There is a natural smooth symplectic action of the mapping class group  $\Gamma$  of  $\Sigma$  on M. Moreover, there is a unique prequantum line bundle  $(\mathcal{L}, \nabla, (\cdot, \cdot))$  over  $(M, \omega)$ . The Teichmüller space  $\mathcal{T}$  of complex structures on  $\Sigma$  naturally, and  $\Gamma$ -equivariantly, parametrizes Kähler structures on  $(M, \omega)$ . For  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , we denote by  $M_{\sigma}$  the manifold  $(M, \omega)$  with its corresponding Kähler structure. The complex structure on  $M_{\sigma}$  and the connection  $\nabla$  in  $\mathcal{L}$  induce the structure of a holomorphic line bundle on  $\mathcal{L}$ . This holomorphic line bundle is simply the determinant line bundle over the moduli space, and it is an ample generator of the Picard group [**DN**].

By applying geometric quantization to the moduli space M, one gets, for any positive integer k, a certain finite rank bundle over Teichmüller space  $\mathcal{T}$  which we will call the Verlinde bundle  $\mathcal{V}_k$  at level k. The fiber of this bundle over a point  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$  is  $\mathcal{V}_{k,\sigma} = H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . We observe that there is a natural Hermitian structure  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$  by restricting the  $L_2$ -inner product on global  $L_2$ sections of  $\mathcal{L}^k$  to  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ .

The main result pertaining to this bundle is:

THEOREM 1 (Axelrod, Della Pietra and Witten; Hitchin). The projectivization of the bundle  $\mathcal{V}_k$  supports a natural flat  $\Gamma$ -invariant connection  $\hat{\nabla}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The S-matrix is determined by the isomorphism that a modular functor induces from two different ways of glueing an annulus to obtain a torus. For its definition, see e.g. [MS], [Se], [Wa] or [BK] and references therein. It is also discussed in [AU3].

This is a result proved independently by Axelrod, Della Pietra and Witten  $[\mathbf{ADW}]$  and by Hitchin  $[\mathbf{H}]$ . In section 2, we review our differential geometric construction of the connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  in the general setting discussed in  $[\mathbf{A6}]$ . We obtain as a corollary that the connection constructed by Axelrod, Della Pietra and Witten projectively agrees with Hitchin's.

Definition 1. We denote by  $Z_k^{(n,d)}$  the representation

$$Z_k^{(n,d)}: \Gamma \to \mathbb{P}\operatorname{Aut}(Z_k^{(n)}(\Sigma, p, \lambda_0^{(d)})),$$

obtained from the action of the mapping class group on the covariant constant sections of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{V}_k)$  over  $\mathcal{T}$ .

The projectively flat connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  induces a *flat* connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$  in  $\text{End}(\mathcal{V}_k)$ . Let  $\text{End}_0(\mathcal{V}_k)$  be the subbundle consisting of traceless endomorphisms. The connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$  also induces a connection in  $\text{End}_0(\mathcal{V}_k)$ , which is invariant under the action of  $\Gamma$ .

In [A3], we proved

THEOREM 2 (Andersen). Assume that n and d are coprime or that (n, d) = (2, 0) when g = 2. Then, we have that

$$\bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \ker(Z_k^{(n,d)}) = \begin{cases} \{1,H\} & g=2, \ n=2 \ and \ d=0 \\ \{1\} & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

where H is the hyperelliptic involution.

The main ingredient in the proof of this Theorem is the *Toeplitz operators* associated to smooth functions on M. For each  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$  and each point  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , we have the Toeplitz operator,

$$T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)}: H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^k) \to H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^k),$$

which is given by

$$T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)}=\pi_{\sigma}^{(k)}(fs)$$

for all  $s \in H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^k)$ . Here  $\pi_{\sigma}^{(k)}$  is the orthogonal projection onto  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^k)$ induced from the  $L_2$ -inner product on  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . We get a smooth section of  $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}^{(k)})$ ,

$$T_f^{(k)} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}, \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}^{(k)})),$$

by letting  $T_f^{(k)}(\sigma) = T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)}$  (see [A3]). See section 3 for further discussion of the Toeplitz operators and their connection to deformation quantization.

The sections  $T_f^{(k)}$  of  $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}^{(k)})$  over  $\mathcal{T}$  are not covariant constant with respect to Hitchin's connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$ . However, they are asymptotically so as k goes to infinity. This will be made precise when we discuss the formal Hitchin connection below.

As a further application of TQFT and the theory of Toeplitz operators together with the theory of coherent states, we recall the first author's solution to a problem in geometric group theory, which has been around for quite some time (see e.g. Problem (7.2) in Chapter 7, "A short list of open questions", of [**BHV**]): In [**A8**], Andersen proved that

THEOREM 3 (Andersen). The mapping class group of a closed oriented surface, of genus at least two, does not have Kazhdan's property (T).

Returning to the geometric construction of the Reshetikhin-Turaev TQFT, let us recall the geometric construction of the curve operators. First of all, the decomposition (3) is geometrically obtained as follows (see [A7] for the details):

One considers a one parameter family of complex structures  $\sigma_t \in \mathcal{T}$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , such that the corresponding family in the moduli space of curves converges in the Mumford-Deligne boundary to a nodal curve, which topologically corresponds to shrinking  $\gamma$  to a point. By the results of [A1], the corresponding sequence of complex structures on the moduli space M converges to a non-negative polarization on M whose isotropic foliation is spanned by the Hamiltonian vector fields associated to the holonomy functions of  $\gamma$ . The main result of [A7] is that the covariant constant sections of  $\mathcal{V}^{(k)}$  along the family  $\sigma_t$  converge to distributions supported on the Bohr-Sommerfeld leaves of the limiting non-negative polarization as t goes to infinity. The direct sum of the geometric quantization of the level kBohr-Sommerfeld levels of this non-negative polarization is precisely the left-hand side of (3). A sewing construction, inspired by conformal field theory (see [**TUY**]), is then applied to show that the resulting linear map from the right-hand side of (3) to the left-hand side is an isomorphism. This is described in detail in [A7].

In [A7], we further prove the following important asymptotic result. Let  $h_{\gamma,\lambda} \in C^{\infty}(M)$  be the holonomy function obtained by taking the trace in the representation  $\lambda$  of the holonomy around  $\gamma$ .

THEOREM 4 (Andersen). For any one-dimensional oriented submanifold  $\gamma$  and any labeling  $\lambda$  of the components of  $\gamma$ , we have that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma,\lambda) - T_{h_{\gamma,\lambda}}^{(k)}\| = 0.$$

Let us here give the main idea behind the proof of Theorem 4 and refer to [A7] for the details. One considers the explicit expression for the *S*-matrix, as given in formula (13.8.9) in Kac's book [Kac],

(4) 
$$S_{\lambda,\mu}/S_{0,\mu} = \lambda(e^{-2\pi i \frac{\tilde{\mu}+\tilde{\rho}}{k+n}}),$$

where  $\rho$  is half the sum of the positive roots and  $\check{\nu}$  ( $\nu$  any element of  $\Lambda$ ) is the unique element of the Cartan subalgebra of the Lie algebra of SU(n) which is dual to  $\nu$  with respect to the Cartan-Killing form ( $\cdot, \cdot$ ).

From the expression (4), one sees that under the isomorphism  $\check{\mu} \mapsto \mu$ , the expression  $S_{\lambda,\mu}/S_{0,\mu}$  makes sense for any  $\check{\mu}$  in the Cartan subalgebra of the Lie algebra of SU(n). Furthermore, one finds that the values of this sequence of functions (depending on k) are asymptotic to the set of values of the holonomy function  $h_{\gamma,\lambda}$  at the level k Bohr-Sommerfeld sets of the limiting non-negative polarizations discussed above (see [A1]). From this, one can deduce Theorem 4. See again [A7] for details.

Let us now consider the general setting treated in [A6]. Thus, we consider, as opposed to only considering the moduli spaces, a general prequantizable symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$  with a prequantum line bundle  $(L, (\cdot, \cdot), \nabla)$ . We assume that  $\mathcal{T}$  is a complex manifold which holomorphically and rigidly (see Definition 5) parameterizes Kähler structures on  $(M, \omega)$ . Then, the following theorem, proved in [A6], establishes the existence of the Hitchin connection under a mild cohomological condition.

THEOREM 5 (Andersen). Suppose that I is a rigid family of Kähler structures on the compact, prequantizable symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$  which satisfies that there exists an  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that the first Chern class of  $(M, \omega)$  is  $n[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}] \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ and  $H^1(M, \mathbb{R}) = 0$ . Then, the Hitchin connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  in the trivial bundle  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)} = \mathcal{T} \times C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  preserves the subbundle  $H^{(k)}$  with fibers  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . It is given by

$$\hat{\nabla}_{V} = \hat{\nabla}_{V}^{t} + \frac{1}{4k+2n} \left\{ \Delta_{G(V)} + 2\nabla_{G(V)dF} + 4kV'[F] \right\},$$

where  $\hat{\nabla}^t$  is the trivial connection in  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ , and V is any smooth vector field on  $\mathcal{T}$ .

In section 4, we study the formal Hitchin connection which was introduced in [A6]. Let  $\mathcal{D}(M)$  be the space of smooth differential operators on M acting on smooth functions on M. Let  $C_h$  be the trivial  $C_h^{\infty}(M)$ -bundle over  $\mathcal{T}$ .

DEFINITION 2. A formal connection D is a connection in  $C_h$  over  $\mathcal{T}$  of the form

$$D_V f = V[f] + \tilde{D}(V)(f),$$

where  $\tilde{D}$  is a smooth one-form on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $\mathcal{D}_h(M) = \mathcal{D}(M)[[h]]$ , f is any smooth section of  $C_h$ , V is any smooth vector field on  $\mathcal{T}$  and V[f] is the derivative of f in the direction of V.

Thus, a formal connection is given by a formal series of differential operators

$$\tilde{D}(V) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \tilde{D}^{(l)}(V)h^l.$$

From Hitchin's connection in  $H^{(k)}$ , we get an induced connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$  in the endomorphism bundle  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ . As previously mentioned, the Teoplitz operators are not covariant constant sections with respect to  $\hat{\nabla}^e$ , but asymptotically in k they are. This follows from the properties of the formal Hitchin connection, which is the formal connection D defined through the following theorem (proved in [A6]).

THEOREM 6. (Andersen) There is a unique formal connection D which satisfies that

(5) 
$$\hat{\nabla}_V^e T_f^{(k)} \sim T_{(D_V f)(1/(k+n/2))}^{(k)}$$

for all smooth sections f of  $C_h$  and all smooth vector fields on  $\mathcal{T}$ . Moreover,

$$\tilde{D} = 0 \mod h.$$

Here  $\sim$  means the following: For all  $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  we have that

$$\left\|\hat{\nabla}_{V}^{e}T_{f}^{(k)} - \left(T_{V[f]}^{(k)} + \sum_{l=1}^{L} T_{\tilde{D}_{V}^{(l)}f}^{(k)} \frac{1}{(k+n/2)^{l}}\right)\right\| = O(k^{-(L+1)}),$$

uniformly over compact subsets of  $\mathcal{T}$ , for all smooth maps  $f: \mathcal{T} \to C^{\infty}(M)$ .

Now fix an  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$  which does not depend on  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , and notice how the fact that  $\tilde{D} = 0 \mod h$  implies that

$$\left\|\hat{\nabla}_{V}^{e}T_{f}^{(k)}\right\| = O(k^{-1}).$$

This expresses the fact that the Toeplitz operators are asymptotically flat with respect to the Hitchin connection.

We define a mapping class group equivariant formal trivialization of D as follows.

7

DEFINITION 3. A formal trivialization of a formal connection D is a smooth map  $P : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{D}_h(M)$  which modulo h is the identity, for all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , and which satisfies

$$D_V(P(f)) = 0,$$

for all vector fields V on  $\mathcal{T}$  and all  $f \in C_h^{\infty}(M)$ . Such a formal trivialization is mapping class group equivariant if  $P(\phi(\sigma)) = \phi^* P(\sigma)$  for all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$  and  $\phi \in \Gamma$ .

Since the only mapping class group invariant functions on the moduli space are the constant ones (see [Go1]), we see that, in the case where M is the moduli space, such a P, if it exists, must be unique up to multiplication by a formal constant.

Clearly, if D is not flat, such a formal trivialization cannot exist even locally on  $\mathcal{T}$ . However, if D is flat and its zero-order term is just given by the trivial connection in  $C_h$ , then a local formal trivialization exists, as proved in [A6].

Furthermore, it is proved in [A6] that flatness of the formal Hitchin connection is implied by projective flatness of the Hitchin connection. As was proved by Hitchin in [H], and stated above in Theorem 1, this is the case when M is the moduli space. Furthermore, the existence of a formal trivialization implies the existence of a unique (up to formal scale) mapping class group equivariant formal trivialization, provided that  $H^1_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}, D(M)) = 0$ . The first steps towards proving that this cohomology group vanishes have been taken in [AV1, AV2, AV3, Vi]. In this paper, we prove that

THEOREM 7. The mapping class group equivariant formal trivialization of the formal Hitchin connection exists to first order, and we have the following explicit formula for the first order term of P;

$$P_{\sigma}^{(1)}(f) = \frac{1}{4}\Delta_{\sigma}(f) + i\nabla_{X_F^{\prime\prime}}(f),$$

where  $X_F''$  denotes the (0,1)-part of the Hamiltonian vector field for the Ricci potential.

For the proof of the theorem, see section 4. We will make the following conjecture.

CONJECTURE 1. The mapping class group equivariant formal trivialization of the formal Hitchin connection exists, and for any one-dimensional oriented submanifold  $\gamma$  and any labeling  $\lambda$  of the components of  $\gamma$ , we have the full asymptotic expansion

$$Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma,\lambda) \sim T_{P(h_{\gamma,\lambda})}^{(k)},$$

which means that for all L and all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , we have that

$$\|Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma,\lambda) - \sum_{l=0}^L T_{P_{\sigma}^{(l)}(h_{\gamma,\lambda})}^{(k)} \frac{1}{(k+n/2)^l}\| = O(k^{L+1}).$$

It is very likely that the techniques used in [A7] to prove Theorem 4 can be used to prove this conjecture.

When we combine this conjecture with the asymptotics of the product of two Toeplitz operators (see Theorem 11), we get the full asymptotic expansion of the product of two curve operators:

$$Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma_1,\lambda_1)Z_k^{(n,d)}(\gamma_2,\lambda_2) \sim T_{P(h_{\gamma_1,\lambda_1})\tilde{\star}_{\sigma}^{BT}P(h_{\gamma_2,\lambda_2})}^{(k)},$$

where  $\check{\star}_{\sigma}^{BT}$  is very closely related to the Berezin-Toeplitz star product for the Kähler manifold  $(M_{\sigma}, \omega)$ , as first defined in [**BMS**]. See section 3 for further details regarding this.

Suppose that we have a mapping class group equivariant formal trivialization P of the formal Hitchin connection D. We can then define a new smooth family of star products parametrized by  $\mathcal{T}$  as follows:

$$f \star_{\sigma} g = P_{\sigma}^{-1}(P_{\sigma}(f)\tilde{\star}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{BT}}P_{\sigma}(g))$$

for all  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$  and all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ . Using the fact that P is a trivialization, it is not hard to prove that  $\star_{\sigma}$  is independent of  $\sigma$ , and we simply denote it  $\star$ . The following theorem is proved in section 4.

THEOREM 8. if The star product  $\star$  has the form

$$f \star g = fg - \frac{i}{2} \{f, g\}h + O(h^2).$$

We observe that this formula for the first-order term of  $\star$  agrees with the first-order term of the star product constructed by Andersen, Mattes and Reshetikhin in **[AMR2]**, when we apply the formula in Theorem 8 to two holonomy functions  $h_{\gamma_1,\lambda_1}$  and  $h_{\gamma_2,\lambda_2}$ :

$$h_{\gamma_1,\lambda_1} \star h_{\gamma_2,\lambda_2} = h_{\gamma_1\gamma_2,\lambda_1\cup\lambda_2} - \frac{i}{2}h_{\{\gamma_1,\gamma_2\},\lambda_1\cup\lambda_2} + O(h^2).$$

We recall that  $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2\}$  is the Goldman bracket (see [**Go2**]) of the two simple closed curves  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ .

A similar result was obtained for the abelian case, i.e. in the case where M is the moduli space of flat U(1)-connections, by the first author in [A2], where the agreement between the star product defined in differential geometric terms and the star product of Andersen, Mattes and Reshetikhin was proved to all orders. We conjecture that the two star products also  $agree^2$  in the non-abelian case.

We also remark that the constructions presented here seems to explicitly realized, to first order, some of the constructions contemplated by Gukov and Witten in  $[\mathbf{GW}]$  in the part concerned with Chern-Simons theory.

We would finally also like to recall that the first named author has shown that the Nielsen-Thurston classification of mapping classes is determined by the Reshetikhin-Turaev TQFTs. We refer to [A5] for the full details of this.

Warm thanks are due to the editor of this volume for her persistent encouragements towards the completion of this contribution.

## 2. The Hitchin connection

In this section, we review our construction of the Hitchin connection using the global differential geometric setting of [A6]. This approach is close in spirit to Axelrod, Della Pietra and Witten's in [ADW], however we do not use any infinite dimensional gauge theory. In fact, the setting is more general than the gauge theory setting in which Hitchin in [H] constructed his original connection. But when applied to the gauge theory situation, we get the corollary that Hitchin's connection agrees with Axelrod, Della Pietra and Witten's.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ By agree we don't just mean agree up to equivalence, but that the two star products of any two functions exactly agree.

Hence, we start in the general setting and let  $(M, \omega)$  be any compact symplectic manifold.

DEFINITION 4. A prequantum line bundle  $(\mathcal{L}, (\cdot, \cdot), \nabla)$  over the symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$  consist of a complex line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  with a Hermitian structure  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  and a compatible connection  $\nabla$  whose curvature is

$$F_{\nabla}(X,Y) = [\nabla_X, \nabla_Y] - \nabla_{[X,Y]} = -i\omega(X,Y).$$

We say that the symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$  is prequantizable if there exists a prequantum line bundle over it.

Recall that the condition for the existence of a prequantum line bundle is that  $\left[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}\right] \in \text{Im}(H^2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(M,\mathbb{R}))$ . Furthermore, the inequivalent choices of prequantum line bundles (if they exist) are parametrized by  $H^1(M, U(1))$  (see e.g. [Wo]).

We shall assume that  $(M, \omega)$  is prequantizable and fix a prequantum line bundle  $(\mathcal{L}, (\cdot, \cdot), \nabla)$ .

Assume that  $\mathcal{T}$  is a smooth manifold which smoothly parametrizes Kähler structures on  $(M, \omega)$ . This means that we have a smooth<sup>3</sup> map  $I : \mathcal{T} \to C^{\infty}(M, \operatorname{End}(TM))$ such that  $(M, \omega, I_{\sigma})$  is a Kähler manifold for each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ .

We will use the notation  $M_{\sigma}$  for the complex manifold  $(M, I_{\sigma})$ . For each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , we use  $I_{\sigma}$  to split the complexified tangent bundle  $TM_{\mathbb{C}}$  into the holomorphic and the anti-holomorphic parts. These we denote by

$$T_{\sigma} = E(I_{\sigma}, i) = \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Id} - iI_{\sigma})$$

and

$$\overline{T}_{\sigma} = E(I_{\sigma}, -i) = \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Id} + iI_{\sigma})$$

respectively.

The real Kähler metric  $g_{\sigma}$  on  $(M_{\sigma}, \omega)$ , extended complex linearly to  $TM_{\mathbb{C}}$ , is by definition

(6) 
$$g_{\sigma}(X,Y) = \omega(X,I_{\sigma}Y),$$

where  $X, Y \in C^{\infty}(M, TM_{\mathbb{C}})$ .

The divergence of a vector field X is the unique function  $\delta(X)$  determined by

(7) 
$$\mathcal{L}_X \omega^m = \delta(X) \omega^m.$$

It can be calculated by the formula  $\delta(X) = \Lambda d(i_X \omega)$ , where  $\Lambda$  denotes contraction with the Kähler form. Even though the divergence only depends on the volume, which is independent of particular Kähler structure, it can be expressed in terms of the Levi-Civita connection on  $M_{\sigma}$  by  $\delta(X) = \text{Tr} \nabla_{\sigma} X$ .

Inspired by this expression, we define the divergence of a symmetric bivector field  $B \in C^{\infty}(M, S^2(TM_{\mathbb{C}}))$  by

$$\delta_{\sigma}(B) = \operatorname{Tr} \nabla_{\sigma} B.$$

Notice that the divergence on bivector fields does depend on the point  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here a smooth map from  $\mathcal{T}$  to  $C^{\infty}(M, W)$ , for any smooth vector bundle W over M, means a smooth section of  $\pi_M^*(W)$  over  $\mathcal{T} \times M$ , where  $\pi_M$  is the projection onto M. Likewise, a smooth p-form on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $C^{\infty}(M, W)$  is, by definition, a smooth section of  $\pi_{\mathcal{T}}^*\Lambda^p(\mathcal{T}) \otimes \pi_M^*(W)$ over  $\mathcal{T} \times M$ . We will also encounter the situation where we have a bundle  $\tilde{W}$  over  $\mathcal{T} \times M$  and then we will talk about a smooth p-form on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $C^{\infty}(M, \tilde{W}_{\sigma})$  and mean a smooth section of  $\pi_{\mathcal{T}}^*\Lambda^p(\mathcal{T}) \otimes \tilde{W}$  over  $\mathcal{T} \times M$ .

Suppose V is a vector field on  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then, we can differentiate I along V and we denote this derivative by  $V[I] : \mathcal{T} \to C^{\infty}(M, \operatorname{End}(TM_{\mathbb{C}}))$ . Differentiating the equation  $I^2 = -\operatorname{Id}$ , we see that V[I] anti-commutes with I. Hence, we get that

$$V[I]_{\sigma} \in C^{\infty}(M, (T^*_{\sigma} \otimes \bar{T}_{\sigma}) \oplus (\bar{T}^*_{\sigma} \otimes T_{\sigma}))$$

for each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ . Let

$$V[I]_{\sigma} = V[I]'_{\sigma} + V[I]''_{\sigma}$$

be the corresponding decomposition such that  $V[I]'_{\sigma} \in C^{\infty}(M, \bar{T}^*_{\sigma} \otimes T_{\sigma})$  and  $V[I]''_{\sigma} \in C^{\infty}(M, T^*_{\sigma} \otimes \bar{T}_{\sigma})$ .

Now we will further assume that  $\mathcal{T}$  is a complex manifold and that I is a holomorphic map from  $\mathcal{T}$  to the space of all complex structures on M. Concretely, this means that

$$V'[I]_{\sigma} = V[I]'_{\sigma}$$

and

$$V''[I]_{\sigma} = V[I]''_{\sigma}$$

for all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , where V' means the (1,0)-part of V and V'' means the (0,1)-part of V over  $\mathcal{T}$ .

Let us define  $\tilde{G}(V) \in C^{\infty}(M, TM_{\mathbb{C}} \otimes TM_{\mathbb{C}})$  by

$$V[I] = \tilde{G}(V)\omega,$$

and define  $G(V) \in C^{\infty}(M, T_{\sigma} \otimes T_{\sigma})$  such that

$$\tilde{G}(V) = G(V) + \overline{G}(V)$$

for all real vector fields V on  $\mathcal{T}$ . We see that  $\tilde{G}$  and G are one-forms on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $C^{\infty}(M, TM_{\mathbb{C}} \otimes TM_{\mathbb{C}})$  and  $C^{\infty}(M, T_{\sigma} \otimes T_{\sigma})$ , respectively. We observe that

 $V'[I] = G(V)\omega,$ 

and G(V) = G(V').

Using the relation (6), one checks that

$$\tilde{G}(V) = -V[g^{-1}],$$

where  $g^{-1} \in C^{\infty}(M, S^2(TM))$  is the symmetric bivector field obtained by raising both indices on the metric tensor. Clearly, this implies that  $\tilde{G}$  takes values in  $C^{\infty}(M, S^2(TM_{\mathbb{C}}))$  and therefore that G takes values in  $C^{\infty}(M, S^2(T_{\sigma}))$ .

On  $\mathcal{L}^k$ , we have the smooth family of  $\bar{\partial}$ -operators  $\nabla^{0,1}$  defined at  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$  by

$$\nabla^{0,1}_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{2}(1+iI_{\sigma})\nabla.$$

For every  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , we consider the finite-dimensional subspace of  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  given by

$$H_{\sigma}^{(k)} = H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k) = \{ s \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k) | \nabla_{\sigma}^{0,1} s = 0 \}$$

Let  $\hat{\nabla}^t$  denote the trivial connection in the trivial bundle  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)} = \mathcal{T} \times C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , and let  $\mathcal{D}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  denote the vector space of differential operators on  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . For any smooth one-form u on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $\mathcal{D}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , we have a connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  in  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$  given by

$$\hat{\nabla}_V = \hat{\nabla}_V^t - u(V)$$

for any vector field V on  $\mathcal{T}$ .

LEMMA 1. The connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  in  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$  preserves the subspaces  $H^{(k)}_{\sigma} \subset C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , for all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , if and only if

(8) 
$$\frac{i}{2}V[I]\nabla^{1,0}s + \nabla^{0,1}u(V)s = 0$$

for all vector fields V on  $\mathcal{T}$  and all smooth sections s of  $H^{(k)}$ .

This result is not surprising. See [A6] for a proof this lemma. Observe that, if this condition holds, we can conclude that the collection of subspaces  $H_{\sigma}^{(k)} \subset C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , for all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , form a subbundle  $H^{(k)}$  of  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ .

We observe that u(V'') = 0 solves (8) along the anti-holomorphic directions on  $\mathcal{T}$  since

$$V''[I]\nabla^{1,0}s = 0.$$

In other words, the (0, 1)-part of the trivial connection  $\hat{\nabla}^t$  induces a  $\bar{\partial}$ -operator on  $H^{(k)}$  and hence makes it a holomorphic vector bundle over  $\mathcal{T}$ .

This is of course not in general the situation in the (1,0) direction. Let us now consider a particular u and prove that it solves (8) under certain conditions.

On the Kähler manifold  $(M_{\sigma}, \omega)$ , we have the Kähler metric and we have the Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$  in  $T_{\sigma}$ . We also have the Ricci potential  $F_{\sigma} \in C_0^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$ . Here

$$C_0^{\infty}(M,\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ f \in C^{\infty}(M,\mathbb{R}) \mid \int_M f \omega^m = 0 \right\},\,$$

and the Ricci potential is the element of  $F_{\sigma} \in C_0^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$  which satisfies

$$\operatorname{Ric}_{\sigma} = \operatorname{Ric}_{\sigma}^{H} + 2i\partial_{\sigma}\bar{\partial}_{\sigma}F_{\sigma},$$

where  $\operatorname{Ric}_{\sigma} \in \Omega^{1,1}(M_{\sigma})$  is the Ricci form and  $\operatorname{Ric}_{\sigma}^{H}$  is its harmonic part. We see that we get in this way a smooth function  $F: \mathcal{T} \to C_{0}^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R})$ .

For any symmetric bivector field  $B \in C^{\infty}(M, S^2(TM))$  we get a linear bundle map

$$B: T^*M \to TM$$

given by contraction. In particular, for a smooth function f on M, we get a vector field  $Bdf \in C^{\infty}(M, TM)$ .

We define the operator

$$\Delta_B : C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k) \xrightarrow{\nabla} C^{\infty}(M, T^*M \otimes \mathcal{L}^k) \xrightarrow{B \otimes \mathrm{Id}} C^{\infty}(M, TM \otimes \mathcal{L}^k)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\nabla_{\sigma} \otimes \mathrm{Id} + \mathrm{Id} \otimes \nabla} C^{\infty}(M, T^*M \otimes TM \otimes \mathcal{L}^k) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}} C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k).$$

Let's give a more concise formula for this operator. Define the operator

$$\nabla_{X,Y}^2 = \nabla_X \nabla_Y - \nabla_{\nabla_X Y},$$

which is tensorial and symmetric in the vector fields X and Y. Thus, it can be evaluated on a symmetric bivector field and we have

$$\Delta_B = \nabla_B^2 + \nabla_{\delta(B)}.$$

Putting these constructions together, we consider, for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $2k + n \neq 0$ , the operator

(9) 
$$u(V) = \frac{1}{k + n/2} o(V) - V'[F],$$

where

(10) 
$$o(V) = -\frac{1}{4} (\Delta_{G(V)} + 2\nabla_{G(V)dF} - 2nV'[F]).$$

The connection associated to this u is denoted by  $\hat{\nabla}$ , and we call it the *Hitchin* connection in  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ .

DEFINITION 5. We say that the complex family I of Kähler structures on  $(M, \omega)$  is rigid if

$$\bar{\partial}_{\sigma}(G(V)_{\sigma}) = 0$$

for all vector fields V on  $\mathcal{T}$  and all points  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ .

We will assume our holomorphic family I is rigid.

THEOREM 9 (Andersen). Suppose that I is a rigid family of Kähler structures on the compact, prequantizable symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$  which satisfies that there exists an  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that the first Chern class of  $(M, \omega)$  is  $n[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}] \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$  and  $H^1(M, \mathbb{R}) = 0$ . Then u given by (9) and (10) satisfies (8), for all k such that  $2k + n \neq 0$ .

Hence, the Hitchin connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  preserves the subbundle  $H^{(k)}$  under the stated conditions. Theorem 9 is established in [A6] through the following three lemmas.

LEMMA 2. Assume that the first Chern class of  $(M, \omega)$  is  $n[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}] \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ . For any  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$  and for any  $G \in H^0(M_{\sigma}, S^2(T_{\sigma}))$ , we have the following formula:

 $\nabla^{0,1}_{\sigma}(\Delta_G(s) + 2\nabla_{GdF_{\sigma}}(s)) = -i(2k+n)\omega G\nabla(s) + 2ik(GdF_{\sigma})\omega + ik\delta_{\sigma}(G)\omega)s,$ for all  $s \in H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k).$ 

LEMMA 3. We have the following relation:

$$4i\bar{\partial}_{\sigma}(V'[F]_{\sigma}) = 2(G(V)dF)_{\sigma}\omega + \delta_{\sigma}(G(V))_{\sigma}\omega,$$

provided that  $H^1(M, \mathbb{R}) = 0$ .

LEMMA 4. For any smooth vector field V on  $\mathcal{T}$ , we have that

(11) 
$$2(V'[\operatorname{Ric}])^{1,1} = \partial(\delta(G(V))\omega)$$

Let us here recall how Lemma 3 is derived from Lemma 4. By the definition of the Ricci potential

$$\operatorname{Ric} = \operatorname{Ric}^{H} + 2id\bar{\partial}F$$

where  $\operatorname{Ric}^{H} = n\omega$  by the assumption  $c_{1}(M, \omega) = n[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}]$ . Hence

$$V'[\operatorname{Ric}] = -dV'[I]dF + 2id\bar{\partial}V'[F],$$

and therefore

$$4i\partial\bar{\partial}V'[F] = 2(V'[\operatorname{Ric}])^{1,1} + 2\partial V'[I]dF.$$

From the above, we conclude that

$$(2(G(V)dF)\omega + \delta(G(V))\omega - 4i\bar{\partial}V'[F])_{\sigma} \in \Omega^{0,1}_{\sigma}(M)$$

is a  $\partial_{\sigma}$ -closed one-form on M. From Lemma 2, it follows that it is also  $\bar{\partial}_{\sigma}$ -closed, whence it must be a closed one-form. Since we assume that  $H^1(M, \mathbb{R}) = 0$ , we see that it must be exact. But then it in fact vanishes since it is of type (0, 1) on  $M_{\sigma}$ . From the above we conclude that

$$u(V) = \frac{1}{k + n/2}o(V) - V'[F] = -\frac{1}{4k + 2n} \left\{ \Delta_{G(V)} + 2\nabla_{G(V)dF} + 4kV'[F] \right\}$$

solves (8). Thus we have established Theorem 9 and hence Theorem 5.

In [AGL] we use half-forms and the metaplectic correction to prove the existence of a Hitchin connection in the context of half-form quantization. The assumption that the first Chern class of  $(M, \omega)$  is  $n[\frac{\omega}{2\pi}] \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$  is then just replaced by the vanishing of the second Stiefel-Whitney class of M (see [AGL] for more details).

Suppose  $\Gamma$  is a group which acts by bundle automorphisms of  $\mathcal{L}$  over M preserving both the Hermitian structure and the connection in  $\mathcal{L}$ . Then there is an induced action of  $\Gamma$  on  $(M, \omega)$ . We will further assume that  $\Gamma$  acts on  $\mathcal{T}$  and that I is  $\Gamma$ -equivariant. In this case we immediately get the following invariance.

LEMMA 5. The natural induced action of  $\Gamma$  on  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$  preserves the subbundle  $H^{(k)}$  and the Hitchin connection.

We are actually interested in the induced connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$  in the endomorphism bundle  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ . Suppose  $\Phi$  is a section of  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ . Then for all sections *s* of  $H^{(k)}$  and all vector fields *V* on  $\mathcal{T}$ , we have that

$$(\hat{\nabla}_V^e \Phi)(s) = \hat{\nabla}_V \Phi(s) - \Phi(\hat{\nabla}_V(s)).$$

Assume now that we have extended  $\Phi$  to a section of  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}^{(k)}, H^{(k)})$  over  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then

(12) 
$$\hat{\nabla}_V^e \Phi = \hat{\nabla}_V^{e,t} \Phi + [\Phi, u(V)],$$

where  $\hat{\nabla}^{e,t}$  is the trivial connection in the trivial bundle  $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}^{(k)})$  over  $\mathcal{T}$ .

### 3. Toeplitz operators and Berezin-Toeplitz deformation quantization

We shall in this section discuss the Toeplitz operators and their asymptotics as the level k goes to infinity. The properties we need can all be derived from the fundamental work of Boutet de Monvel and Sjöstrand. In [**BdMS**], they did a microlocal analysis of the Szegő projection which can be applied to the asymptotic analysis in the situation at hand, as was done by Boutet de Monvel and Guillemin in [**BdMG**] (in fact in a much more general situation than the one we consider here) and others following them. In particular, the applications developed by Schlichenmaier and further by Karabegov and Schlichenmaier to the study of Toeplitz operators in the geometric quantization setting is what will interest us here. Let us first describe the basic setting.

For each  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ , we consider the prequantum operator, namely the differential operator  $M_f^{(k)}: C^{\infty}(M, L^k) \to C^{\infty}(M, L^k)$  given by

$$M_f^{(k)}(s) = fs$$

for all  $s \in H^0(M, L^k)$ .

These operators act on  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  and therefore also on the bundle  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ ; however, they do not preserve the subbundle  $H^{(k)}$ . In order to turn these operators into operators which act on  $H^{(k)}$  we need to consider the Hilbert space structure. Integrating the inner product of two sections against the volume form associated to the symplectic form gives the pre-Hilbert space structure on  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ 

$$\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{m!} \int_M (s_1, s_2) \omega^m.$$

We think of this as a pre-Hilbert space structure on the trivial bundle  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ , which of course is compatible with the trivial connection in this bundle. This pre-Hilbert space structure induces a Hermitian structure  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on the finite rank subbundle  $H^{(k)}$  of  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ . The Hermitian structure  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on  $H^{(k)}$  also induces the operator norm  $\|\cdot\|$  on  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ .

Since  $H_{\sigma}^{(k)}$  is a finite-dimensional subspace of  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k) = \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)}$  and therefore closed, we have the orthogonal projection  $\pi_{\sigma}^{(k)} : \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)} \to \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)}$ . Since  $H^{(k)}$  is a smooth subbundle of  $\mathcal{H}^{(k)}$ , the projections  $\pi_{\sigma}^{(k)}$  form a smooth map  $\pi^{(k)}$  from  $\mathcal{T}$  to the space of bounded operators on the  $L_2$ -completion of  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . The easiest way to see this is to consider a local frame  $(s_1, \ldots, s_{\operatorname{Rank} H^{(k)}})$  of  $H^{(k)}$ . Let  $h_{ij} = \langle s_i, s_j \rangle$ , and let  $h_{ij}^{-1}$  be the inverse matrix of  $h_{ij}$ . Then

(13) 
$$\pi_{\sigma}^{(k)}(s) = \sum_{i,j} \langle s, (s_i)_{\sigma} \rangle (h_{ij}^{-1})_{\sigma}(s_j)_{\sigma}.$$

From these projections, we can construct the Toeplitz operators associated to any smooth function  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ . They are the operators  $T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)} : \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)} \to \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)}$ defined by

$$T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)}(s) = \pi_{\sigma}^{(k)}(fs)$$

for any element s in  $\mathcal{H}_{\sigma}^{(k)}$  and any point  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ . We observe that the Toeplitz operators are smooth sections  $T_f^{(k)}$  of the bundle  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}^{(k)}, H^{(k)})$  and restrict to smooth sections of  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ .

REMARK 1. Similarly, for any pseudo-differential operator A on M with coefficients in  $\mathcal{L}^k$  (which may even depend on  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ ), we can consider the associated Toeplitz operator  $\pi^{(k)}A$  and think of it as a section of  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}^{(k)}, H^{(k)})$ . However, whenever we consider asymptotic expansions of such or consider their operator norms, we implicitly restrict them to  $H^{(k)}$  and consider them as sections of  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$  or equivalently assume that they have been precomposed with  $\pi^{(k)}$ .

Suppose that we have a smooth section  $X \in C^{\infty}(M, T_{\sigma})$  of the holomorphic tangent bundle of  $M_{\sigma}$ . We then claim that the operator  $\pi^{(k)} \nabla_X$  is a zero-order Toeplitz operator. Supposing that  $s_1 \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  and  $s_2 \in H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , we have that

$$X(s_1, s_2) = (\nabla_X s_1, s_2).$$

Now, calculating the Lie derivative along X of  $(s_1, s_2)\omega^m$  and using the above, one obtains after integration that

$$\langle \nabla_X s_1, s_2 \rangle = -\langle \delta(X) s_1, s_2 \rangle,$$

Thus

(14) 
$$\pi^{(k)}\nabla_X = -T^{(k)}_{\delta(X)},$$

as operators from  $C^{\infty}(M, L^k)$  to  $H^0(M, L^k)$ .

Iterating (14), we find for all  $X_1, X_2 \in C^{\infty}(M, T_{\sigma})$  that

(15) 
$$\pi^{(k)} \nabla_{X_1} \nabla_{X_2} = T^{(k)}_{\delta(X_2)\delta(X_1) + X_2[\delta(X_1)]}$$

again as operators from  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  to  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ .

We calculate the adjoint of  $\nabla_X$  for any complex vector field  $X \in C^{\infty}(M, TM_{\mathbb{C}})$ . For  $s_1, s_2 \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ , we have that

$$\bar{X}(s_1, s_2) = (\nabla_{\bar{X}} s_1, s_2) + (s_1, \nabla_X s_2)$$

Computing the Lie derivative along  $\bar{X}$  of  $(s_1, s_2)\omega^m$  and integrating, we get that

$$\langle \nabla_{\bar{X}} s_1, s_2 \rangle + \langle (\nabla_X)^* s_1, s_2 \rangle = -\langle \delta(\bar{X}) s_1, s_2 \rangle$$

Hence, we see that

(16) 
$$(\nabla_X)^* = -\nabla_{\bar{X}} - \delta(\bar{X})$$

as operators on  $C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$ . In particular, if  $X \in C^{\infty}(M, T_{\sigma})$  is a section of the holomorphic tangent bundle, we see that

(17) 
$$\pi^{(k)} (\nabla_X)^* \pi^{(k)} = -T^{(k)}_{\delta(\bar{X})} |_{H^0(M_\sigma, \mathcal{L}^k)},$$

again as operators on  $H^0(M_{\sigma}, \mathcal{L}^k)$ .

The product of two Toeplitz operators associated to two smooth functions will in general not again be the Toeplitz operator associated to a smooth function. But, by the results of Schlichenmaier [Sch], there is an asymptotic expansion of the product in terms of such Toeplitz operators on a compact Kähler manifold.

THEOREM 10 (Schlichenmaier). For any pair of smooth functions  $f_1, f_2 \in C^{\infty}(M)$ , we have an asymptotic expansion

$$T_{f_1,\sigma}^{(k)} T_{f_2,\sigma}^{(k)} \sim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} T_{c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f_1,f_2),\sigma}^{(k)} k^{-l},$$

where  $c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f_1, f_2) \in C^{\infty}(M)$  are uniquely determined since ~ means the following: For all  $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  we have that

$$\|T_{f_1,\sigma}^{(k)}T_{f_2,\sigma}^{(k)} - \sum_{l=0}^{L} T_{c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f_1,f_2),\sigma}^{(k)} k^{-l}\| = O(k^{-(L+1)})$$

uniformly over compact subsets of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Moreover,  $c_{\sigma}^{(0)}(f_1, f_2) = f_1 f_2$ .

REMARK 2. It will be useful for us to define new coefficients  $\tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f,g) \in C^{\infty}(M)$ which correspond to the expansion of the product in 1/(k + n/2) (where n is some fixed integer):

$$T_{f_1,\sigma}^{(k)}T_{f_2,\sigma}^{(k)} \sim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} T_{\tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f_1,f_2),\sigma}^{(k)} (k+n/2)^{-l}.$$

For future reference, we note that the first three coefficients are given by  $\tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(0)}(f_1, f_2) = c_{\sigma}^{(0)}(f_1, f_2)$ ,  $\tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(1)}(f_1, f_2) = c_{\sigma}^{(1)}(f_1, f_2)$  and  $\tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(2)}(f_1, f_2) = c_{\sigma}^{(2)}(f_1, f_2) + \frac{n}{2}c_{\sigma}^{(1)}(f_1, f_2)$ .

Theorem 10 is proved in [Sch] where it is also proved that the formal generating series for the  $c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f_1, f_2)$ 's gives a formal deformation quantization of the symplectic manifold  $(M, \omega)$ .

We recall the definition of a formal deformation quantization. Introduce the space of formal functions  $C_h^{\infty}(M) = C^{\infty}(M)[[h]]$  as the space of formal power series in the variable h with coefficients in  $C^{\infty}(M)$ . Let  $\mathbb{C}_h = \mathbb{C}[[h]]$  denote the formal constants.

DEFINITION 6. A deformation quantization of  $(M, \omega)$  is an associative product  $\star$  on  $C_h^{\infty}(M)$  which respects the  $\mathbb{C}_h$ -module structure. For  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$ , it is defined as

$$f \star g = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} c^{(l)}(f,g)h^l,$$

through a sequence of bilinear operators

$$c^{(l)}: C^{\infty}(M) \otimes C^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(M),$$

which must satisfy

$$c^{(0)}(f,g) = fg$$
 and  $c^{(1)}(f,g) - c^{(1)}(g,f) = -i\{f,g\}$ 

The deformation quantization is said to be differential if the operators  $c^{(l)}$  are bidifferential operators. Considering the symplectic action of  $\Gamma$  on  $(M, \omega)$ , we say that a star product is  $\Gamma$ -invariant if

$$\gamma^*(f \star g) = \gamma^*(f) \star \gamma^*(g)$$

for all  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$  and all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ .

THEOREM 11 (Karabegov & Schlichenmaier). The product  $\star_{\sigma}^{BT}$  given by

$$f \star_{\sigma}^{BT} g = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f,g) h^{l},$$

where  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$  and  $c_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f,g)$  are determined by Theorem 10, is a differentiable deformation quantization of  $(M, \omega)$ .

DEFINITION 7. The Berezin-Toeplitz deformation quantization of the compact Kähler manifold  $(M_{\sigma}, \omega)$  is the product  $\star_{\sigma}^{BT}$ .

REMARK 3. Let  $\Gamma_{\sigma}$  be the  $\sigma$ -stabilizer subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . For any element  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\sigma}$ , we have that

$$\gamma^*(T_{f,\sigma}^{(k)}) = T_{\gamma^*f,\sigma}^{(k)}.$$

This implies the invariance of  $\star_{\sigma}^{BT}$  under the  $\sigma$ -stabilizer  $\Gamma_{\sigma}$ .

REMARK 4. Using the coefficients from Remark 2, we define a new star product by

$$f\check{\star}_{\sigma}^{^{BT}}g = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \tilde{c}_{\sigma}^{(l)}(f,g)h^{l}.$$

Then

$$f\check{\star}_{\sigma}^{BT}g = \left( (f \circ \phi^{-1}) \star_{\sigma}^{BT} (g \circ \phi^{-1}) \right) \circ \phi$$

for all  $f, g \in C_h^{\infty}(M)$ , where  $\phi(h) = \frac{2h}{2+nh}$ .

## 4. The formal Hitchin connection

In this section, we study the the formal Hitchin connection. We assume the conditions on  $(M, \omega)$  and I of Theorem 9, thus providing us with a Hitchin connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  in  $H^{(k)}$  over  $\mathcal{T}$  and the associated connection  $\hat{\nabla}^e$  in  $\operatorname{End}(H^{(k)})$ .

Recall from the introduction the definition of a formal connection in the trivial bundle of formal functions. Theorem 6 establishes the existence of a unique formal Hitchin connection, expressing asymptotically the interplay between the Hitchin connection and the Toeplitz operators.

We want to give an explicit formula for the formal Hitchin connection in terms of the star product  $\tilde{\star}^{BT}$ . We recall that in the proof of Theorem 6, given in [A6], it is shown that the formal Hitchin connection is given by

(18) 
$$\tilde{D}(V)(f) = -V[F]f + V[F]\tilde{\star}^{\mathrm{BT}}f + h(E(V)(f) - H(V)\tilde{\star}^{\mathrm{BT}}f),$$

where E is the one-form on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $\mathcal{D}(M)$  such that

(19) 
$$T_{E(V)f}^{(k)} = \pi^{(k)} o(V)^* f \pi^{(k)} + \pi^{(k)} f o(V) \pi^{(k)},$$

and H is the one-form on  $\mathcal{T}$  with values in  $C^{\infty}(M)$  such that H(V) = E(V)(1). Thus, we must find an explicit expression for the operator E(V).

The following lemmas will prove helpful.

LEMMA 6. The adjoint of  $\Delta_B$  is given by

$$\Delta_B^* = \Delta_{\bar{B}},$$

for any (complex) symmetric bivector field  $B \in C^{\infty}(M, S^2(TM_{\mathbb{C}}))$ .

PROOF. First, we write  $B = \sum_{r}^{R} X_r \otimes Y_r$ . Then

$$\Delta_B = \sum_r^R \nabla_{X_r} \nabla_{Y_r} + \nabla_{\delta(X_r)Y_r}.$$

Now, using (16), we get that

$$(\nabla_{X_r} \nabla_{Y_r})^* = (\nabla_{Y_r})^* (\nabla_{X_r})^* = (\nabla_{\bar{Y}_r} + \delta(\bar{Y}_r)(\nabla_{\bar{X}_r} + \delta(\bar{X}_r))$$
$$= \nabla_{\bar{Y}_r} \nabla_{\bar{X}_r} + \nabla_{\bar{Y}_r} \delta(X_r) + \delta(\bar{Y}_r) \nabla_{\bar{X}_r} + \delta(\bar{Y}_r) \delta(\bar{X}_r),$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\nabla_{\delta(X_r)Y_r})^* &= -\nabla_{\delta(\bar{X})\bar{Y}_r} - \delta(\delta(\bar{X}_r)\bar{Y}_r) \\ &= -\delta(\bar{X}_r)\nabla_{\bar{Y}_r} - \bar{Y}_r[\delta(\bar{X}_r)] - \delta(\bar{X}_r)\delta(\bar{Y}_r) \\ &= -\nabla_{\bar{Y}_r}\delta(\bar{X}_r) - \delta(\bar{X}_r)\delta(\bar{Y}_r), \end{aligned}$$

so we conclude that

$$\Delta_B^* = \sum_r^R \nabla_{\bar{Y}_r} \nabla_{\bar{X}_r} + \delta(\bar{Y}_r) \nabla_{\bar{X}_r} = \Delta_{\bar{B}},$$

since B is symmetric.

LEMMA 7. The operator  $\Delta_B$  satisfies

$$\pi^{(k)}\Delta_B s = 0.$$

for any section  $s \in C^{\infty}(M, \mathcal{L}^k)$  and any symmetric bivector field B.

**PROOF.** Again, we write  $B = \sum_{r}^{R} X_r \otimes Y_r$  and recall from (15) that

$$\pi^{(k)} \nabla_{X_r} \nabla_{Y_r} s = \pi^{(k)} (\delta(X_r) \delta(Y_r) + Y_r[\delta(X_r)]) s.$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$\pi^{(k)} \nabla_{\delta(X_r)Y_r} s = -\pi^{(k)} \delta(\delta(X_r)Y_r) s = -\pi^{(k)} (\delta(X_r)\delta(Y_r) + Y_r[\delta(X_r)]) s,$$

and it follows immediately that

$$\pi^{(k)}\Delta_B s = \pi^{(k)} \sum_r^R (\nabla_{X_r} \nabla_{Y_r} + \nabla_{\delta(X_r)Y_r}) s = 0,$$

which proves the lemma.

Finally, it will prove useful to observe that

(20) 
$$\delta(Bdf) = \Delta_B(f),$$

for any function f and any bivector field B.

Now, the adjoint of o(V) is given by

$$o(V)^* = -\frac{1}{4} (\Delta_{\bar{G}(V)} - 2\nabla_{\bar{G}(V)dF} - 2\Delta_{\bar{G}(V)}(F) - 2nV''[F]),$$

where we used (20). Furthermore, we observe that  $o(V)^*$  differentiates in antiholomorphic directions only, which implies that

$$\pi^{(k)}o(V)^*f\pi^{(k)} = \pi^{(k)}o(V)^*(f)\pi^{(k)}$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{4}\pi^{(k)}(\Delta_{\bar{G}(V)}(f) - 2\nabla_{\bar{G}(V)dF}(f) - 2\Delta_{\bar{G}(V)}(F)f - 2nV''[F]f)\pi^{(k)}.$ 

This gives an explicit formula for the first term of (19).

To determine the second term of (19), we observe that

 $\Delta_{G(V)} fs = f \Delta_{G(V)} s + \Delta_{G(V)} (f) s + 2 \nabla_{G(V) df} s.$ 

Projecting both sides onto the holomorphic sections and applying Lemma 7 and the formula (20), we get that

$$\pi^{(k)} f \Delta_{G(V)} = -\pi^{(k)} (\Delta_{G(V)}(f) + 2\nabla_{G(V)df}) = \pi^{(k)} \Delta_{G(V)}(f).$$

Furthermore, observe that

$$\pi^{(k)} f \nabla_{G(V)dF} = \pi^{(k)} (\nabla_{G(V)dF} f - \nabla_{G(V)dF}(f))$$
  
=  $-\pi^{(k)} (\nabla_{G(V)dF}(f) + \Delta_{G(V)}(F)f),$ 

where we once again used (20) for the last equality. Thus, we get that

$$\pi^{(k)} fo(V)\pi^{(k)} = -\frac{1}{4}\pi^{(k)} (\Delta_{G(V)}(f) - 2\nabla_{G(V)dF}(f) - 2\Delta_{G(V)}(F)f - 2nV'[F]f)\pi^{(k)},$$

which gives an explicit formula for the second term of (19). Finally, we can conclude that

$$E(V)(f) = -\frac{1}{4} (\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(f) - 2\nabla_{\tilde{G}(V)dF}(f) - 2\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(F)f - 2nV[F]f),$$

satisfies (19) and hence (18). Also, we note that

$$H(V) = E(V)(1) = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(F) + nV[F]).$$

Summarizing the above, we have proved the following

19

THEOREM 12. The formal Hitchin connection is given by

$$D_V f = V[f] - \frac{1}{4} h \Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(f) + \frac{1}{2} h \nabla_{\tilde{G}(V)dF}(f) + V[F] \check{\star}^{BT} f - V[F] f - \frac{1}{2} h (\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(F) \check{\star}^{BT} f + nV[F] \check{\star}^{BT} f - \Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(F) f - nV[F] f)$$

for any vector field V and any section f of  $C_h$ .

The next lemma is also proved in  $[\mathbf{A6}]$ , and it follows basically from the fact that

$$\hat{\nabla}_{V}^{e}(T_{f}^{(k)}T_{g}^{(k)}) = \hat{\nabla}_{V}^{e}(T_{f}^{(k)})T_{g}^{(k)} + T_{f}^{(k)}\hat{\nabla}_{V}^{e}(T_{g}^{(k)}).$$

We have

LEMMA 8. The formal operator  $D_V$  is a derivation for  $\tilde{\star}^{BT}_{\sigma}$  for each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ , i.e.  $D_V(f\tilde{\star}^{BT}g) = D_V(f)\tilde{\star}^{BT}g + f\tilde{\star}^{BT}D_V(g)$ 

for all  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$ .

If the Hitchin connection is projectively flat, then the induced connection in the endomorphism bundle is flat and hence so is the formal Hitchin connection by Proposition 3 of [A6].

Recall from Definition 3 in the introduction the definition of a formal trivialization. As mentioned there, such a formal trivialization will not exist even locally on  $\mathcal{T}$ , if D is not flat. However, if D is flat, then we have the following result.

PROPOSITION 1. Assume that D is flat and that  $\tilde{D} = 0 \mod h$ . Then locally around any point in  $\mathcal{T}$  there exists a formal trivialization. If  $H^1(\mathcal{T}, \mathbb{R}) = 0$ , then there exists a formal trivialization defined globally on  $\mathcal{T}$ . If further  $H^1_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}, D(M)) =$ 0, then we can construct P such that it is  $\Gamma$ -equivariant.

In this proposition,  $H^1_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}, D(M))$  simply refers to the  $\Gamma$ -equivariant first de Rham cohomology of  $\mathcal{T}$  with coefficients in the real  $\Gamma$ -vector space D(M).

Now suppose we have a formal trivialization P of the formal Hitchin connection D. We can then define a new smooth family of star products, parametrized by  $\mathcal{T}$ , by

$$f \star_{\sigma} g = P_{\sigma}^{-1}(P_{\sigma}(f)\check{\star}_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{BT}}P_{\sigma}(g))$$

for all  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(M)$  and all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ . Using the fact that P is a trivialization, it is not hard to prove the following:

PROPOSITION 2. The star products  $\star_{\sigma}$  are independent of  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$ .

Then, we have the following which is proved in [A6].

THEOREM 13 (Andersen). Assume that the formal Hitchin connection D is flat and

$$H^1_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}, D(M)) = 0,$$

then there is a  $\Gamma$ -invariant trivialization P of D and the star product

$$f \star g = P_{\sigma}^{-1}(P_{\sigma}(f)\tilde{\star}_{\sigma}^{BT}P_{\sigma}(g))$$

is independent of  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}$  and  $\Gamma$ -invariant. If  $H^1_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}, C^{\infty}(M)) = 0$  and the commutant of  $\Gamma$  in D(M) is trivial, then a  $\Gamma$ -invariant differential star product on M is unique. We calculate the first term of the equivariant formal trivialization of the formal Hitchin connection. Let f be any function on M and suppose that  $P(f) = \sum_l \tilde{f}_l h^l$  is parallel with respect to the formal Hitchin connection. Thus, we have that

$$0 = D_V P(f) = h(V[\tilde{f}_1] - \frac{1}{4}\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(\tilde{f}_0) + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\tilde{G}(V)dF}(\tilde{f}_0) + c^{(1)}(V[F], \tilde{f}_0)) + O(h^2).$$

But  $\tilde{f}_0 = f$ , and so we get in particular

(21) 
$$0 = V[\tilde{f}_1] - \frac{1}{4} \Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(f) + \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\tilde{G}(V)dF}(f) + c^{(1)}(V[F], f).$$

By the results of  $[\mathbf{KS}]$ ,  $\star^{\mathrm{BT}}$  is a differential star product with separation of variables, in the sense that it only differentiates in holomorphic directions in the first entry and antiholomorphic directions in the second. As argued in  $[\mathbf{Kar}]$ , all such star products have the same first order coefficient, namely

(22) 
$$c^{(1)}(f_1, f_2) = -g(\partial f_1, \bar{\partial} f_2) = i \nabla_{X_{f_1}''}(f_2)$$

for any functions  $f_1, f_2 \in C^{\infty}(M)$ . From this, it is easily seen that

$$V[c^{(1)}](f_1, f_2) = \frac{1}{2} df_1 \tilde{G}(V) df_2 = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\tilde{G}(V) df_1} f_2$$

Applying this to (21), we see that

(23) 
$$V[\tilde{f}_1] = \frac{1}{4} \Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}(f) - V[c^{(1)}(F, f)].$$

But the variation of the Laplace-Beltrami operator is given by

$$V[\Delta]f = V[\delta(g^{-1}df)] = \delta(V[g^{-1}]df) = -\delta(\tilde{G}(V)df) = -\Delta_{\tilde{G}(V)}f,$$

and so we conclude that

$$V[\tilde{f}_1] = -V[\frac{1}{4}\Delta f + c^{(1)}(F, f)].$$

We have thus proved

**PROPOSITION 3.** When it exists, the equivariant formal trivialization of the formal Hitchin connection has the form

$$P = \operatorname{Id} -h(\frac{1}{4}\Delta + i\nabla_{X_F''}) + O(h^2).$$

Using this proposition, one easily calculates that

$$P(f_1)\tilde{\star}^{\mathrm{BT}}P(f_2) = f_1 f_2 - h(\frac{1}{4}f_1 \Delta f_2 + \frac{1}{4}f_2 \Delta f_1 + i\nabla_{X_F''} f_1 + i\nabla_{X_F''} f_2) + hc^{(1)}(f_1, f_2) + O(h^2).$$

Finally, using the explicit formula (22) for  $c^{(1)}$ , we get that

$$\begin{split} P^{-1}(P(f_1)\check{\star}^{\mathrm{BT}}P(f_2)) &= f_1f_2 - hg(\partial f_1,\bar{\partial}f_2) + \frac{1}{2}hg(df_1,df_2) + O(h^2) \\ &= f_1f_2 - h\frac{1}{2}(g(\partial f_1,\bar{\partial}f_2) - g(\bar{\partial}f_1,\partial f_2)) + O(h^2) \\ &= f_1f_2 - ih\frac{1}{2}\{f_1,f_2\} + O(h^2). \end{split}$$

This proves Theorem 8.

## References

- [A1] J.E. Andersen, New polarizations on the moduli space and the Thurston compactification of Teichmuller space, International Journal of Mathematics, 9, No.1 (1998), 1–45.
- [A2] J.E. Andersen, Geometric quantization and deformation quantization of abelian moduli spaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 255 (2005), 727–745.
- [A3] J. E. Andersen, Asymptotic faithfulness of the quantum SU(n) representations of the mapping class groups. Annals of Mathematics, 163 (2006), 347–368.
- [A4] J.E. Andersen, Asymptotic faithfulness of the quantum SU(n) representations of the mapping class groups in the singular case, In preparation.
- [A5] J.E. Andersen, The Nielsen-Thurston classification of mapping classes is determined by TQFT, Journal of Mathematics of Kyoto University, vol. 48 nr. 2, s. (2008) 323-338.
- [A6] J.E. Andersen, Hitchin's connection, Toeplitz operators and symmetry invariant deformation quantization, math.DG/0611126.
- [A7] J.E. Andersen, Asymptotic in Teichmuller space of the Hitchin connection, In preparation.
- [A8] J.E. Andersen, Mapping Class Groups do not have Kazhdan's Property (T), math.QA/0706.2184.
- [AC] J.E. Andersen & M. Christ, Asymptotic expansion of the Szegö kernel on singular algebraic varieties, In preparation.
- [AGL] J.E. Andersen, M. Lauritsen & N. L. Gammelgaard, Hitchin's Connection in Half-form Quantization, arXiv:0711.3995.
- [AMR1] J.E. Andersen, J. Mattes & N. Reshetikhin, The Poisson Structure on the Moduli Space of Flat Connections and Chord Diagrams. Topology 35, pp.1069–1083 (1996).
- [AMR2] J.E. Andersen, J. Mattes & N. Reshetikhin, Quantization of the Algebra of Chord Diagrams. Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 124 pp.451–467 (1998).
- [AU1] J.E. Andersen & K. Ueno, Abelian Conformal Field theories and Determinant Bundles, International Journal of Mathematics. 18, (2007) 919–993.
- [AU2] J.E. Andersen & K. Ueno, Constructing modular functors from conformal field theories, Journal of Knot theory and its Ramifications. 16 2 (2007), 127–202.
- [AU3] J.E. Andersen & K. Ueno, Modular functors are determined by their genus zero data, math.QA/0611087.
- [AU4] J.E. Andersen & K. Ueno, Construction of the Reshetikhin-Turaev TQFT from conformal field theory, In preparation.
- [AV1] J.E. Andersen & R. Villemoes, Degree One Cohomology with Twisted Coefficients of the Mapping Class Group, arXiv:0710.2203v1.
- [AV2] J.E. Andersen & R. Villemoes, The first cohomology of the mapping class group with coefficients in algebraic functions on the SL(2, C) moduli space, Algebraic & Geometric Topology 9 (2009), 1177–1199.
- [AV3] J.E. Andersen & R. Villemoes, Cohomology of mapping class groups and the abelian moduli space, In preparation.
- [At] M. Atiyah, The Jones-Witten invariants of knots. Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1989/90. Astérisque No. 189-190 (1990), Exp. No. 715, 7–16.
- [AB] M. Atiyah & R. Bott, The Yang-Mills equations over Riemann surfaces. Phil. Trans.
  R. Soc. Lond., Vol. A308 (1982) 523–615.
- [ADW] S. Axelrod, S. Della Pietra, E. Witten, Geometric quantization of Chern Simons gauge theory, J.Diff.Geom. 33 (1991) 787–902.
- [BK] B. Bakalov and A. Kirillov, Lectures on tensor categories and modular functors, AMS University Lecture Series, 21 (2000).
- [BHV] B. Bekka, P. de la Harpe & A. Valette, Kazhdan's Proporty (T), In Press, Cambridge University Press (2007).
- [Besse] A. L. Besse, *Einstein Manifolds*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1987).
- [B1] C. Blanchet, Hecke algebras, modular categories and 3-manifolds quantum invariants, Topology 39 (2000), no. 1, 193–223.

22

- [BHMV1] C. Blanchet, N. Habegger, G. Masbaum & P. Vogel, Three-manifold invariants derived from the Kauffman Bracket. Topology 31 (1992), 685–699.
- [BHMV2] C. Blanchet, N. Habegger, G. Masbaum & P. Vogel, Topological Quantum Field Theories derived from the Kauffman bracket. Topology 34 (1995), 883–927.
- [BC] S. Bleiler & A. Casson, Automorphisms of sufaces after Nielsen and Thurston, Cambridge University Press, 1988.
- [BMS] M. Bordemann, E. Meinrenken & M. Schlichenmaier, Toeplitz quantization of Kähler manifolds and  $gl(N), N \rightarrow \infty$  limit, Comm. Math. Phys. **165** (1994), 281–296.
- [BdMG] L. Boutet de Monvel & V. Guillemin, *The spectral theory of Toeplitz operators*, Annals of Math. Studies **99**, Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- [BdMS] L. Boutet de Monvel & J. Sjöstrand, Sur la singularité des noyaux de Bergman et de Szegö, Asterique 34-35 (1976), 123–164.
- [DN] J.-M. Drezet & M.S. Narasimhan, Groupe de Picard des variétés de modules de fibrés semi-stables sur les courbes algébriques, Invent. math. 97 (1989) 53–94.
- [Fal] G. Faltings, Stable G-bundles and projective connections, J.Alg.Geom. 2 (1993) 507– 568.
- [FLP] A. Fathi, F. Laudenbach & V. Poénaru, Travaux de Thurston sur les surfaces, Astérisque 66–67 (1991/1979).
- [Fi] M. Finkelberg, An equivalence of fusion categories, Geom. Funct. Anal. 6 (1996), 249– 267.
- [Fr] D.S. Freed, Classical Chern-Simons Theory, Part 1, Adv. Math. 113 (1995), 237–303.
- [FWW] M. H. Freedman, K. Walker & Z. Wang, Quantum SU(2) faithfully detects mapping class groups modulo center. Geom. Topol. 6 (2002), 523–539
- [FR1] V. V. Fock & A. A Rosly, Flat connections and polyubles. Teoret. Mat. Fiz. 95 (1993), no. 2, 228–238; translation in Theoret. and Math. Phys. 95 (1993), no. 2, 526–534
- [FR2] V. V. Fock & A. A Rosly, Moduli space of flat connections as a Poisson manifold. Advances in quantum field theory and statistical mechanics: 2nd Italian-Russian collaboration (Como, 1996). Internat. J. Modern Phys. B 11 (1997), no. 26-27, 3195–3206.
- [vGdJ] B. Van Geemen & A. J. De Jong, On Hitchin's connection, J. of Amer. Math. Soc., 11 (1998), 189–228.
- [Go1] W. M. Goldman, Ergodic theory on moduli spaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 146 (1997), no. 3, 475–507.
- [Go2] W. M. Goldman, Invariant functions on Lie groups and Hamiltonian flows of surface group representations, Invent. Math. 85 (1986), no. 2, 263–302.
- [GW] S. Gukov & E. Witten, Branes And Quantization, Adv. Theor. Math. Phy., Volume 13, Number 5 (Oct 2009), p. 1445 - 1518.
- [GR] S. Gutt & J. Rawnsley, Equivalence of star products on a symplectic manifold, J. of Geom. Phys., 29 (1999), 347–392.
- [H] N. Hitchin, Flat connections and geometric quantization, Comm.Math.Phys., 131 (1990) 347–380.
- [KS] A. V. Karabegov & M. Schlichenmaier, Identification of Berezin-Toeplitz deformation quantization, J. Reine Angew. Math. 540 (2001), 49–76.
- [Kar] A. V. Karabegov, Deformation Quantization with Separation of Variables on a Kähler Manifold, Comm. Math. Phys. 180 (1996) (3), 745-755.
- [Kac] V. G. Kac, Infinite dimensional Lie algebras, Third Edition, Cambridge University Press, (1995).
- [Kazh] D. Kazhdan, Connection of the dual space of a group with the structure of its closed subgroups, Funct. Anal. Appli. 1 (1967), 64–65.
- [KL] D. Kazhdan & G. Lusztig, Tensor structures arising from affine Lie algebras I, J. AMS,
  6 (1993), 905–947; II J. AMS, 6 (1993), 949–1011; III J. AMS, 7 (1994), 335–381; IV,
  J. AMS, 7 (1994), 383–453.
- [La1] Y. Laszlo, Hitchin's and WZW connections are the same, J. Diff. Geom. 49 (1998), no. 3, 547–576.
- [M1] G. Masbaum, An element of infinite order in TQFT-representations of mapping class groups. Low-dimensional topology (Funchal, 1998), 137–139, Contemp. Math., 233, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [M2] G. Masbaum. Quantum representations of mapping class groups. In: Groupes et Géométrie (Journée annuelle 2003 de la SMF). pages 19–36

- 24 JØRGEN ELLEGAARD ANDERSEN AND NIELS LETH GAMMELGAARD
- [MS] G. Moore and N. Seiberg, Classical and quantum conformal field theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 123 (1989), 177–254.
- [NS1] M.S. Narasimhan and C.S. Seshadri, Holomorphic vector bundles on a compact Riemann surface, Math. Ann. 155 (1964) 69–80.
- [NS2] M.S. Narasimhan and C.S. Seshadri, Stable and unitary vector bundles on a compact Riemann surface, Ann. Math. 82 (1965) 540–67.
- [R1] T.R. Ramadas, Chern-Simons gauge theory and projectively flat vector bundles on M<sub>g</sub>, Comm. Math. Phys. **128** (1990), no. 2, 421–426.
- [RSW] T.R. Ramadas, I.M. Singer and J. Weitsman, Some Comments on Chern-Simons Gauge Theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 126 (1989) 409-420.
- [RT1] N. Reshetikhin & V. Turaev, Ribbon graphs and their invariants derived fron quantum groups, Comm. Math. Phys. 127 (1990), 1–26.
- [RT2] N. Reshetikhin & V. Turaev, Invariants of 3-manifolds via link polynomials and quantum groups, Invent. Math. 103 (1991), 547–597.
- [Ro] J. Roberts, Irreducibility of some quantum representations of mapping class groups. J. Knot Theory and its Ramifications 10 (2001) 763 – 767.
- [Sch] M. Schlichenmaier, Berezin-Toeplitz quantization and conformal field theory, Thesis.
- [Sch1] M. Schlichenmaier, Deformation quantization of compact Kähler manifolds by Berezin-Toeplitz quantization. In Conférence Moshé Flato 1999, Vol. II (Dijon), 289–306, Math. Phys. Stud., 22, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, (2000), 289–306.
- [Sch2] M. Schlichenmaier, Berezin-Toeplitz quantization and Berezin transform. In Long time behaviour of classical and quantum systems (Bologna, 1999), Ser. Concr. Appl. Math., 1, World Sci. Publishing, River Edge, NJ, (2001), 271–287.
- [Se] G. Segal, The Definition of Conformal Field Theory, Topology Geometry and Quantum Field Theory, Edited by Ulrike Tillmann, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series (308), 421–577, Cambridge University Preprint (2004).
- [Th] W. Thurston, On the geometry and dynamics of diffeomorphisms of surfaces, Bull of Amer. Math. Soc. 19 (1988), 417–431.
- [TUY] A. Tsuchiya, K. Ueno & Y. Yamada, Conformal Field Theory on Universal Family of Stable Curves with Gauge Symmetries, Advanced Studies in Pure Mathematics, 19 (1989), 459–566.
- [T] V. G. Turaev, Quantum invariants of knots and 3-manifolds, de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, 18. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1994. x+588 pp. ISBN: 3-11-013704-6
- [Tuyn] Tuynman, G.M., Quantization: Towards a comparison between methods, J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987), 2829–2840.
- [Vi] R. Villemoes, The mapping class group orbit of a multicurve, arXiv:0802.3000v2
- [Wa] K. Walker, On Witten's 3-manifold invariants, Preliminary version # 2, Preprint 1991.
- [Wi] E. Witten, Quantum field theory and the Jones polynomial, Commun. Math. Phys 121 (1989) 351–98.
- [Wo] N.J. Woodhouse, *Geometric Quantization*, Oxford University Press, Oxford (1992).

CENTER FOR THE TOPOLOGY AND QUANTIZATION OF MODULI SPACES, DEPARTMENT OF MATH-EMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF AARHUS, DK-8000, DENMARK *E-mail address*: andersen@imf.au.dk

CENTER FOR THE TOPOLOGY AND QUANTIZATION OF MODULI SPACES, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF AARHUS, DK-8000, DENMARK

E-mail address: nlg@imf.au.dk

## Koszul Cohomology and Applications to Moduli

Marian Aprodu and Gavril Farkas

## 1. Introduction

One of the driving problems in the theory of algebraic curves in the past two decades has been *Green's Conjecture* on syzygies of canonical curves. Initially formulated by M. Green [**Gr84a**], it is a deceptively simple vanishing statement concerning Koszul cohomology groups of canonical bundles of curves: If  $C \xrightarrow{|K_C|} \mathbb{P}^{g-1}$  is a smooth canonically embedded curve of genus g and  $K_{i,j}(C, K_C)$  are the Koszul cohomology groups of the canonical bundle on C, Green's Conjecture predicts the equivalence

(1) 
$$K_{p,2}(C, K_C) = 0 \iff p < \operatorname{Cliff}(C),$$

where  $\operatorname{Cliff}(C) := \min\{\operatorname{deg}(L) - 2r(L) : L \in \operatorname{Pic}(C), h^i(C, L) \geq 2, i = 0, 1\}$  denotes the *Clifford index* of *C*. The main attraction of Green's Conjecture is that it links the *extrinsic* geometry of *C* encapsulated in  $\operatorname{Cliff}(C)$  and all the linear series  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$  on *C*, to the *intrinsic* geometry (equations) of the canonical embedding. In particular, quite remarkably, it shows that one can read the Clifford index of any curve off the equations of its canonical embedding. Hence, in some sense, a curve has no other interesting line bundle apart from the canonical bundle and its powers<sup>1</sup>.

One implication in (1), namely that  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C) \neq 0$  for  $p \geq \text{Cliff}(C)$ , having been immediately established in [**GL84**], see also Theorem 2.4 in this survey, the converse, that is, the vanishing statement

$$K_{p,2}(C, K_C) = 0$$
 for  $p < \text{Cliff}(C)$ ,

attracted a great deal of effort and resisted proof despite an amazing number of attempts and techniques devised to prove it, see [GL84], [Sch86], [Sch91], [Ein87], [Ei92], [PR88], [Tei02], [V93]. The major breakthrough came around 2002 when Voisin [V02], [V05], using specialization to curves on K3 surfaces, proved that Green's Conjecture holds for a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_q$ :

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14H51, 14H10; Secondary 14F17, 13D02. The authors would like to thank the Max Planck Institut für Mathematik Bonn for hospitality during the preparation of this work and the referee for a close reading. Research of the first author partially supported by a PN-II-ID-PCE-2008-2 grant, PCE-2228 (contract no. 502/2009). Research of the second author partially supported by an Alfred P. Sloan Fellowship.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "The canonical bundle is not called canonical for nothing"- Joe Harris

THEOREM 1.1. For a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{2p+3}$  we have that  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ . For a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{2p+4}$  we have that  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ . It follows that Green's Conjecture holds for general curves of any genus.

Combining the results of Voisin with those of Hirschowitz and Ramanan [**HR98**], one finds that Green's Conjecture is true for *every* smooth curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{2p+3}$  of maximal gonality gon(C) = p+3. This turns out to be a remarkably strong result. For instance, via a specialization argument, Green's Conjecture for *arbitrary* curves of maximal gonality implies Green's Conjecture for *general* curves of genus g and *arbitrary* gonality  $2 \leq d \leq [g/2] + 2$ . One has the following more precise result, cf. [Ap05], see Theorem 4.5 for a slightly different proof:

THEOREM 1.2. We fix integers  $2 \leq d \leq [g/2] + 1$ . For any smooth d-gonal curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_q$  satisfying the condition

dim 
$$W_{q-d+2}^1(C) \le g - 2d + 2$$
,

we have that  $K_{d-3,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ . In particular C satisfies Green's Conjecture.

Dimension theorems from Brill-Noether theory due to Martens, Mumford, and Keem, cf. [ACGH85], indicate precisely when the condition appearing in the statement of Theorem 1.2 is verified. In particular, Theorem 1.2 proves Green's Conjecture for general *d*-gonal curves of genus *g* for any possible gonality  $2 \le d \le \lfloor g/2 \rfloor + 2$  and offers an alternate, unitary proof of classical results of Noether, Enriques-Babbage-Petri as well as of more recent results due to Schreyer and Voisin. It also implies the following new result which can be viewed as a proof of statement (1) for 6-gonal curves. We refer to Subsection 4.1 for details:

THEOREM 1.3. For any curve C with  $\text{Cliff}(C) \ge 4$ , we have  $K_{3,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ . In particular, Green's Conjecture holds for arbitrary 6-gonal curves.

Theorem 1.1 can also be applied to solve various related problems. For instance, using precisely Theorem 1.1, the *Green-Lazarsfeld Gonality Conjecture* [**GL86**] was verified for general *d*-gonal curves, for any  $2 \le d \le (g+2)/2$ , cf. [**ApV03**], [**Ap05**]. In a few words, this conjecture states that the gonality of any curve can be read off the Koszul cohomology with values in line bundles of large degree, such as the powers of the canonical bundle. We shall review all these results in Subsection 4.2.

Apart from surveying the progress made on Green's and the Gonality Conjectures, we discuss a number of new conjectures for syzygies of line bundles on curves. Some of these conjectures have already appeared in print (e.g. the *Prym-Green Conjecture* [FaL08], or the syzygy conjecture for special line bundles on general curves [Fa06a]), whereas others like the *Minimal Syzygy Conjecture* are new and have never been formulated before.

For instance we propose the following refinement of the Green-Lazarsfeld Gonality Conjecture [**GL86**]:

CONJECTURE 1.4. Let C be a general curve of genus  $g = 2d - 2 \ge 6$  and  $\eta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(C)$  a general line bundle. Then  $K_{d-4,2}(C, K_{C} \otimes \eta) = 0$ .

Conjecture 1.4 is the sharpest vanishing statement one can make for general line bundles of degree 2g - 2 on a curve of genus g. Since

 $\dim K_{d-4,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) = \dim K_{d-3,1}(C, K_C \otimes \eta),$ 

it follows that the failure locus of Conjecture 1.4 is a virtual divisor in the universal degree 0 Picard variety  $\mathfrak{Pic}_q^0 \to \mathcal{M}_q$ . Thus it predicts that the non-vanishing locus

$$\{[C,\eta] \in \mathfrak{Pic}_q^0 : K_{d-4,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0\}$$

is an "honest" divisor on  $\mathfrak{Pic}_g^0$ . Conjecture 1.4 is also sharp in the sense that from the Green-Lazarsfeld Non-Vanishing Theorem 2.8 it follows that

$$K_{d-2,1}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0.$$

Similarly, always  $K_{d-3,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0$  for all  $[C, \eta] \in \mathfrak{Pic}_g^0$ . A yet stronger conjecture is the following vanishing statement for *l*-roots of trivial bundles on curves:

CONJECTURE 1.5. Let C be a general curve of genus  $g = 2d - 2 \ge 6$ . Then for every prime l and every line bundle  $\eta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(C) - \{\mathcal{O}_{C}\}\$  satisfying  $\eta^{\otimes l} = \mathcal{O}_{C}$ , we have that  $K_{d-4,2}(C, K_{C} \otimes \eta) = 0$ .

In order to prove Conjecture 1.5 it suffices to exhibit a single pair  $[C, \eta]$  as above, for which  $K_C \otimes \eta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{2g-2}(C)$  satisfies property  $(N_{d-4})$ . The case most studied so far is that of level l = 2, when one recovers the *Prym-Green Conjecture* [FaL08] which has been checked using Macaulay2 for  $g \leq 14$ . The Prym-Green Conjecture is a subtle statement which for small values of g is equivalent to the Prym-Torelli Theorem, again see [FaL08]. Since the condition  $K_{d-4,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0$  is divisorial in moduli, Conjecture 1.5 is of great help in the study of the birational geometry of the compactification  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_{g,l} := \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g(\mathcal{B}\mathbb{Z}_l)$  of the moduli space  $\mathcal{R}_{g,l}$  classifying pairs  $[C, \eta]$ , where  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_q$  and  $\eta \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(C)$  satisfies  $\eta^{\otimes l} = \mathcal{O}_C$ .

Concerning both Conjectures 1.4 and 1.5, it is an open problem to find an analogue of the Clifford index of the curve, in the sense that the classical Green Conjecture is not only a Koszul cohomology vanishing statement but also allows one to read off the Clifford index from a non-vanishing statement for  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C)$ . It is an interesting open question to find a *Prym-Clifford index* playing the same role as the original Cliff(C) in (1) and to describe it in terms of the corresponding Prym varieties: Is there a geometric characterization of those Prym varieties  $\mathcal{P}_g([C,\eta]) \in \mathcal{A}_{g-1}$  corresponding to pairs  $[C,\eta] \in \mathcal{R}_g$  with  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0$ ?

Another recent development on syzygies of curves came from a completely different direction, with the realization that loci in the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_g$  consisting of curves having exceptional syzygies can be used effectively to answer questions about the birational geometry of the moduli space  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  of stable curves of genus g, cf. [FaPo05], [Fa06a], [Fa06b], in particular, to produce infinite series of effective divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  violating the Harris-Morrison Slope Conjecture [HaM90]. We recall that the slope s(D) of an effective divisor D on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  is defined as the smallest rational number a/b with  $a, b \geq 0$ , such that the class  $a\lambda - b(\delta_0 + \cdots + \delta_{\lfloor g/2 \rfloor}) - [D] \in \operatorname{Pic}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g)$  is an effective Q-combination of boundary divisors. The Slope Conjecture [HaM90] predicts a lower bound for the slope of effective divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ ,

$$s(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g) := \inf_{D \in \operatorname{Eff}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g)} s(D) \ge 6 + \frac{12}{g+1},$$

with equality precisely when g + 1 is composite; the quantity 6 + 12/(g + 1) is the slope of the Brill-Noether divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g}$ , in case such divisors exist. A first
counterexample to the Slope Conjecture was found in [FaPo05]: The locus

$$\mathcal{K}_{10} := \{ [C] \in \mathcal{M}_q : C \text{ lies on a } K3 \text{ surface} \}$$

can be interpreted as being set-theoretically equal to the locus of curves  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{10}$ carrying a linear series  $L \in W_{12}^4(C)$  such that the multiplication map

$$\nu_2(L): \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(C,L) \to H^0(C,L^{\otimes 2})$$

is not an isomorphism, or equivalently  $K_{0,2}(C,L) \neq 0$ . The main advantage of this Koszul-theoretic description is that it provides a characterization of the K3 divisor  $\mathcal{K}_{10}$  in a way that makes no reference to K3 surfaces and can be easily generalized to other genera. Using this characterization one shows that  $s(\overline{\mathcal{K}}_{10}) = 7 < 78/11$ , that is,  $\overline{\mathcal{K}}_{10} \in \text{Eff}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{10})$  is a counterexample to the Slope Conjecture.

Koszul cohomology provides an effective way of constructing cycles on  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . Under suitable numerical conditions, loci of the type

$$\mathcal{Z}_{q,2} := \{ [C] \in \mathcal{M}_q : \exists L \in W_d^r(C) \text{ such that } K_{p,2}(C,L) \neq 0 \}$$

are virtual divisors on  $\mathcal{M}_g$ , that is, degeneracy loci of morphisms between vector bundles of the same rank over  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . The problem of extending these vector bundes over  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  and computing the virtual classes of the resulting degeneracy loci is in general daunting, but has been solved successfully in the case  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$ , cf. [**Fa06b**]. Suitable vanishing statements of the Koszul cohomology for general curves (e.g. Conjectures 1.4, 5.4) show that, when applicable, these virtual Koszul divisors are actual divisors and they are quite useful in specific problems such as the Slope Conjecture or showing that certain moduli spaces of curves (with or without level structure) are of general type, see [**Fa08**], [**FaL08**]. A picturesque application of the Koszul technique in the study of parameter spaces is the following result about the birational type of the moduli space of Prym varieties  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_g = \overline{\mathcal{R}}_{g,2}$ , see [**FaL08**]:

THEOREM 1.6. The moduli space  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_g$  is of general type for  $g \geq 13$  and  $g \neq 15$ .

The proof of Theorem 1.6 depends on the parity of g. For g = 2d - 2, it boils down to calculating the class of the compactification in  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_g$  of the failure locus of the Prym-Green Conjecture, that is, of the locus

$$\{ [C, \eta] \in \mathcal{R}_{2d-2} : K_{d-4,2}(C, K_C \otimes \eta) \neq 0 \}.$$

For odd g = 2d - 1, one computes the class of a "mixed" Koszul cohomology locus in  $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_g$  defined in terms of Koszul cohomology groups of  $K_C$  with values in  $K_C \otimes \eta$ .

The outline of the paper is as follows. In Section 2 we review the definition of Koszul cohomology as introduced by M. Green [**Gr84a**] and discuss basic facts. In Section 3 we recall the construction of (virtual) Koszul cycles on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  following [**Fa06a**] and [**Fa06b**] and explain how their cohomology classes can be calculated. In Section 4 we discuss a number of conjectures on syzygies of curves, starting with Green's Conjecture and the Gonality Conjecture and continuing with the Prym-Green Conjecture. We end by proposing in Section 5 a strong version of the Maximal Rank Conjecture.

Some results stated in [Ap04], [Ap05] are discussed here in greater detail. Other results are new (see Theorems 4.9 and 4.16).

#### 2. Koszul cohomology

**2.1.** Syzygies. Let V be an n-dimensional complex vector space, S := S(V) the symmetric algebra of V, and  $X \subset \mathbb{P}V^{\vee} := \operatorname{Proj}(S)$  a non-degenerate subvariety, and denote by S(X) the homogeneous coordinate ring of X. To the embedding of X in  $\mathbb{P}V^{\vee}$ , one associates the *Hilbert function*, defined by

$$h_X(d) := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \left( S(X)_d \right)$$

for any positive integer d. A remarkable property of  $h_X$  is its polynomial behavior for large values of d. It is a consequence of the existence of a graded minimal resolution of the S-module S(X), which is an exact sequence

$$0 \to E_s \to \dots \to E_2 \to E_1 \to S \to S(X) \to 0$$

with

$$E_p = \bigoplus_{j > p} S(-j)^{\beta_{pj}(X)}$$

The Hilbert function of X is then given by

(2) 
$$h_X(d) = \sum_{p,j} (-1)^p \beta_{pj}(X) \begin{pmatrix} n+d-j \\ n \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} t\\n \end{pmatrix} = \frac{t(t-1)\cdots(t-n+1)}{n!}$$
, for any  $t \in \mathbf{R}$ ,

and note that the expression on the right-hand side is polynomial for large d. This reasoning leads naturally to the definition of *syzygies of* X, which are the graded components of the graded S-modules  $E_p$ . The integers

$$\beta_{pj}(X) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Tor}^{j}(S(X), \mathbb{C})_{p}$$

are called the graded Betti numbers of X and determine completely the Hilbert function, according to formula (2). Sometimes we also write  $b_{i,j}(X) := \beta_{i,i+j}(X)$ .

One main difficulty in developing syzygy theory was to find effective geometric methods for computing these invariants. In the eighties, M. Green and R. Lazars-feld published a series of papers, [Gr84a], [Gr84b], [GL84], [GL86] that shed a new light on syzygies. Contrary to the classical point of view, they look at integral closures of the homogeneous coordinates rings, rather than at the rings themselves. This approach, using intensively the language of Koszul cohomology, led to a number of beautiful geometrical results with numerous applications in classical algebraic geometry as well as moduli theory.

**2.2. Definition of Koszul cohomology.** Throughout this paper, we follow M. Green's approach to Koszul cohomology [**Gr84a**]. The general setup is the following. Suppose X is a complex projective variety,  $L \in \text{Pic}(X)$  a line bundle,  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on X, and  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The canonical contraction map

$$\bigwedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,L)^{\vee} \to \bigwedge^p H^0(X,L),$$

acting on tensors as

$$(s_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge s_p) \otimes \sigma \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i \sigma(s_i) (s_0 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{s_i} \wedge \cdots \wedge s_p),$$

and the multiplication map

$$H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \to H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^q),$$

define together a map

$$\bigwedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \to \bigwedge^p H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^q).$$

In this way, we obtain a complex (called the *Koszul complex*)

$$\wedge^{p+1}H^0(L)\otimes H^0(\mathcal{F}\otimes L^{q-1})\to \wedge^p H^0(L)\otimes H^0(\mathcal{F}\otimes L^q)\to \wedge^{p-1}H^0(L)\otimes H^0(\mathcal{F}\otimes L^{q+1})$$

whose cohomology at the middle term is denoted by  $K_{p,q}(X, \mathcal{F}, L)$ . In the particular case  $\mathcal{F} \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ , to ease the notation, one drops  $\mathcal{O}_X$  and writes directly  $K_{p,q}(X, L)$  for Koszul cohomology.

Here are some samples of direct applications of Koszul cohomology:

EXAMPLE 2.1. If L is ample, then L is normally generated if and only if  $K_{0,q}(X,L) = 0$  for all  $q \ge 2$ . This fact follows directly from the definition.

EXAMPLE 2.2. If L is globally generated with  $H^1(X, L) = 0$ , then

$$H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \cong K_{h^0(L)-2, 2}(X, L)$$

see [ApN08]. In particular, the genus of a curve can be read off (vanishing of) Koszul cohomology with values in non-special bundles. More generally, under suitable vanishing assumptions on L, all the groups  $H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  can be computed in a similar way, and likewise  $H^i(X, \mathcal{F})$  for an arbitrary coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$ , cf. [ApN08].

EXAMPLE 2.3. If L is very ample the Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity can be recovered from Koszul cohomology. Specifically, if  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on X, then

$$\operatorname{reg}_{L}(\mathcal{F}) = \min\{m : K_{p,m+1}(X, \mathcal{F}, L) = 0, \text{ for all } p\}.$$

As a general principle, any invariant that involves multiplication maps is presumably related to Koszul cohomology.

Very surprisingly, Koszul cohomology interacts much closer with the geometry of the variety than might have been expected. This phenomenon was discovered by Green and Lazarsfeld [Gr84a, Appendix]:

THEOREM 2.4 (Green-Lazarsfeld). Suppose X is a smooth variety and consider a decomposition  $L = L_1 \otimes L_2$  with  $h^0(X, L_i) = r_i + 1 \ge 2$  for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ . Then  $K_{r_1+r_2-1,1}(X, L) \ne 0$ .

In other words, non-trivial geometry implies non-trivial Koszul cohomology. We shall discuss the case of curves, which is the most relevant, and then some consequences in Section 4.

Many problems in the theory of syzygies involve vanishing/nonvanishing of Koszul cohomology. One useful definition is the following.

DEFINITION 2.5. An ample line bundle L on a projective variety is said to satisfy the property  $(N_p)$  if and only if  $K_{i,q}(X,L) = 0$  for all  $i \leq p$  and  $q \geq 2$ .

From the geometric viewpoint, the property  $(N_p)$  means that L is normally generated, the ideal of X in the corresponding embedding is generated by quadrics, and all the syzygies up to order p are linear. In many cases, for example canonical curves, or 2-regular varieties, the property  $(N_p)$  reduces to the single condition  $K_{p,2}(X, L) = 0$ , see e.g. [**Ein87**]. This phenomenon justifies the study of various loci given by the nonvanishing of  $K_{p,2}$ , see Section 4.

**2.3. Kernel bundles.** The proofs of the facts discussed in examples 2.2 and 2.3 use the kernel bundles description which is due to Lazarsfeld [La89]: Consider L a globally generated line bundle on the projective variety X, and set

$$M_L := \operatorname{Ker}\left(H^0(X,L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}} L\right).$$

Note that  $M_L$  is a vector bundle on X of rank  $h^0(X, L) - 1$ . For any coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on X, and integers  $p \ge 0$ , and  $q \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we have a short exact sequence on X

 $0 \to \wedge^{p+1} M_L \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1} \to \wedge^{p+1} H^0(L) \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1} \to \wedge^p M_L \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^q \to 0.$ 

Taking global sections, we remark that the Koszul differential factors through the map

$$\wedge^{p+1} H^0(X,L) \otimes H^0(X,\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \to H^0(X,\wedge^p M_L \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^q),$$

hence we have the following characterization of Koszul cohomology, [La89]:

THEOREM 2.6 (Lazarsfeld). Notation as above. We have

$$K_{p,q}(X,\mathcal{F},L) \cong \operatorname{coker} \left( \wedge^{p+1} H^0(L) \otimes H^0(\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \to H^0(\wedge^p M_L \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^q) \right)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{ker} \left( H^1(X, \wedge^{p+1} M_L \otimes \mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \to \wedge^{p+1} H^0(L) \otimes H^1(\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}) \right).$$

Theorem 2.6 has some nice direct consequences. The first one is a duality theorem which was proved in [**Gr84a**].

THEOREM 2.7. Let L be a globally generated line bundle on a smooth projective variety X of dimension n. Set  $r := \dim |L|$ . If

$$H^{i}(X, L^{q-i}) = H^{i}(X, L^{q-i+1}) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-1$$

then

$$K_{p,q}(X,L)^{\vee} \cong K_{r-n-p,n+1-q}(X,K_X,L).$$

Another consequence of Theorem 2.6, stated implicitly in [Fa06b] without proof, is the following:

THEOREM 2.8. Let L be a non-special globally generated line bundle on a smooth curve C of genus  $g \ge 2$ . Set  $d = \deg(L)$ ,  $r = h^0(C, L) - 1$ , and consider  $1 \le p \le r$ . Then

dim 
$$K_{p,1}(C,L)$$
 – dim  $K_{p-1,2}(C,L) = p \cdot \binom{d-g}{p} \left(\frac{d+1-g}{p+1} - \frac{d}{d-g}\right)$ .

In particular, if

$$p<\frac{(d+1-g)(d-g)}{d}-1,$$

then  $K_{p,1}(C,L) \neq 0$ , and if

$$\frac{(d+1-g)(d-g)}{d} \le p \le d-g,$$

then  $K_{p-1,2}(C,L) \neq 0$ .

PROOF. Since we work with a spanned line bundle on a curve, Theorem 2.7 applies, hence we have

$$K_{p,1}(C,L) \cong K_{r-p-1,1}(C,K_C,L)^{\vee}$$

and

$$K_{p-1,2}(C,L) \cong K_{r-p,0}(C,K_C,L)^{\vee}$$

Set, as usual,  $M_L = \text{Ker}\{H^0(C, L) \otimes \mathcal{O}_C \to L\}$ , and consider the Koszul complex

(3) 
$$0 \to \wedge^{r-p} H^0(C, L) \otimes H^0(C, K_C) \to H^0(C, \wedge^{r-p-1} M_L \otimes K_C \otimes L) \to 0.$$

Since L is non-special,  $K_{r-p,0}(C, K_C, L)$  is isomorphic to the kernel of the differential appearing in (3), hence the difference which we wish to compute coincides with the Euler characteristic of the complex (3).

Next we determine  $h^0(C, \wedge^{r-p-1}M_L \otimes K_C \otimes L)$ . Note that  $\operatorname{rk}(M_L) = r$  and  $\wedge^{r-p-1}M_L \otimes L \cong \wedge^{p+1}M_L^{\vee}$ . In particular, since  $H^0(C, \wedge^{p+1}M_L) \cong K_{p+1,0}(C, L) = 0$ , we obtain

$$h^{0}(C, \wedge^{r-p-1}M_{L} \otimes K_{C} \otimes L) = -\chi(C, \wedge^{p+1}M_{L}).$$

Observe that

$$\deg(\wedge^{p+1}M_L) = \deg(M_L)\binom{r-1}{p} = -d\binom{r-1}{p}$$

and

$$\operatorname{rk}(\wedge^{p+1}M_L) = \binom{r}{p+1}$$

From the Riemann-Roch Theorem it follows that

$$-\chi(C,\wedge^{p+1}M_L) = d\binom{r-1}{p} + (g-1)\binom{r}{p+1}$$

and hence

dim 
$$K_{p,1}(C,L)$$
 – dim  $K_{p-1,2}(C,L) = d\binom{r-1}{p} + (g-1)\binom{r}{p+1} - g\binom{r+1}{p+1}$ .

The formula is obtained by replacing r by d - g.

REMARK 2.9. A full version of Theorem 2.8 for special line bundles can be obtained in a similar manner by adding alternating sums of other groups  $K_{p-i,i+1}$ . For example, if  $L^{\otimes 2}$  is non-special, then from the complex

$$0 \to \wedge^{r-p+1} H^0(C, L) \otimes H^0(C, K_C \otimes L^{-1}) \to \wedge^{r-p} H^0(C, L) \otimes H^0(C, K_C) \to$$
$$\to H^0(C, \wedge^{r-p-1} M_L \otimes K_C \otimes L) \to 0$$

we obtain the following conclusion:

$$\dim K_{p,1}(C,L) - \dim K_{p-1,2}(C,L) + \dim K_{p-2,3}(C,L) =$$
$$= d\binom{r-1}{p} + (g-1)\binom{r}{p+1} - g\binom{r+1}{p+1} + \binom{r+1}{p}(r-d+g).$$

**2.4. Hilbert schemes.** Suppose X is a smooth variety, and consider  $L \in \text{Pic}(X)$ . A novel description of the Koszul cohomology of X with values in L was provided in **[V02]** via the Hilbert scheme of points on X.

Denote by  $X^{[n]}$  the Hilbert scheme parameterizing zero-dimensional length n subschemes of X, let  $X^{[n]}_{curv}$  be the open subscheme parameterizing curvilinear length n subschemes, and let

$$\Xi_n \subset X_{\mathrm{curv}}^{[n]} \times X$$

be the incidence subscheme with projection maps  $p: \Xi_n \to X$  and  $q: \Xi_n \to X_{\text{curv.}}^{[n]}$ . For a line bundle L on X, the sheaf  $L^{[n]} := q_* p^* L$  is locally free of rank n on  $X_{\text{curv.}}^{[n]}$ , and the fiber over  $\xi \in X_{\text{curv.}}^{[n]}$  is isomorphic to  $H^0(\xi, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$ .

There is a natural map

$$H^0(X,L)\otimes \mathcal{O}_{X^{[n]}_{\text{curv}}} \to L^{[n]},$$

acting on the fiber over  $\xi \in X_{\text{curv}}^{[n]}$ , by  $s \mapsto s|_{\xi}$ . In **[V02]** and **[EGL]** it is shown that, by taking wedge powers and global sections, this map induces an isomorphism:

$$\wedge^n H^0(X,L) \cong H^0(X_{\text{curv}}^{[n]}, \det L^{[n]}).$$

Voisin proves that there is an injective map

$$H^0(\Xi_{p+1}, \det L^{[p+1]} \boxtimes L^{q-1}) \to \wedge^p H^0(X, L) \otimes H^0(X, L^q)$$

whose image is isomorphic to the kernel of the Koszul differential. This eventually leads to the following result:

THEOREM 2.10 (Voisin [V02]). For all integers p and q, the Koszul cohomology  $K_{p,q}(X,L)$  is isomorphic to the cohernel of the restriction map

 $H^{0}(X_{\text{curv}}^{[p+1]} \times X, \det L^{[p+1]} \boxtimes L^{q-1}) \to H^{0}(\Xi_{p+1}, \det L^{[p+1]} \boxtimes L^{q-1}|_{\Xi_{p+1}}).$ 

In particular,

$$K_{p,1}(X,L) \cong \operatorname{coker}(H^0(X_{\operatorname{curv}}^{[p+1]}, \det L^{[p+1]}) \xrightarrow{q} H^0(\Xi_{p+1}, q^* \det L^{[p+1]}|_{\Xi_{p+1}})).$$

REMARK 2.11. The group  $K_{p,q}(X, \mathcal{F}, L)$  is obtained by replacing  $L^{q-1}$  by  $\mathcal{F} \otimes L^{q-1}$  in the statement of Theorem 2.10.

The main application of this approach is the proof of the generic Green Conjecture **[V02]**; see Subsection 4.1 for a more detailed discussion on the subject. The precise statement is the following.

THEOREM 2.12 (Voisin [V02] and [V05]). Consider a smooth projective K3 surface S, such that  $\operatorname{Pic}(S)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , and is freely generated by L and  $\mathcal{O}_S(\Delta)$ , where  $\Delta$  is a smooth rational curve such that  $\operatorname{deg}(L_{|\Delta}) = 2$ , and L is a very ample line bundle with  $L^2 = 2g - 2$ , g = 2k + 1. Then  $K_{k+1,1}(S, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(\Delta)) = 0$  and

(4) 
$$K_{k,1}(S,L) = 0.$$

Voisin's result, apart from settling the Generic Green Conjecture, offers the possibility (via the cohomological calculations carried out in [Fa06b], see also Section 3), to give a much shorter proof of the Harris-Mumford Theorem [HM82] on the Kodaira dimension of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  in the case of odd genus. This proof does not use intersection theory on the stack of admissible coverings at all and is considerably

shorter than the original proof. This approach has been described in full detail in **[Fa08]**.

### 3. Geometric cycles on the moduli space

**3.1. Brill-Noether cycles.** We recall a few basic facts from Brill-Noether theory; see **[ACGH85]** for a general reference.

For a smooth curve C and integers  $r,d \geq 0$  one considers the Brill-Noether locus

$$W_d^r(C) := \{ L \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(C) : h^0(C, L) \ge r+1 \}$$

as well as the variety of linear series of type  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$  on C, that is,

$$G_d^r(C) := \{ (L, V) : L \in W_d^r(C), V \in \mathbf{G}(r+1, H^0(L)) \}.$$

The locus  $W_d^r(C)$  is a determinantal subvariety of  $\operatorname{Pic}^d(C)$  of expected dimension equal to the *Brill-Noether number*  $\rho(g, r, d) = g - (r+1)(g - d + r)$ . According to the Brill-Noether Theorem for a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$ , both  $W_d^r(C)$  and  $G_d^r(C)$ are irreducible varieties of dimension

$$\dim W_d^r(C) = \dim G_d^r(C) = \rho(g, r, d).$$

In particular,  $W_d^r(C) = \emptyset$  when  $\rho(g, r, d) < 0$ . By imposing the condition that a curve carry a linear series  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$  when  $\rho(g, r, d) < 0$ , one can define a whole range of geometric subvarieties of  $\mathcal{M}_g$ .

We introduce the Deligne-Mumford stack  $\sigma : \mathfrak{G}_d^r \to \mathbf{M}_g$  classifying pairs [C, l]where  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  and  $l = (L, V) \in G_d^r(C)$  is a linear series  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$ , together with the projection  $\sigma[C, l] := [C]$ . The stack  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$  has a determinantal structure inside a Grassmann bundle over the universal Picard stack  $\mathfrak{Pic}_g^d \to \mathbf{M}_g$ . In particular, each irreducible component of  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$  has dimension at least  $3g - 3 + \rho(g, r, d)$ , cf. [AC81b]. We define the Brill-Noether cycle

$$\mathcal{M}_{q,d}^r := \sigma_*(\mathfrak{G}_d^r) = \{ [C] \in \mathcal{M}_g : W_d^r(C) \neq \emptyset \},\$$

together with the substack structure induced from the determinantal structure of  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$  via the morphism  $\sigma$ . A result of Steffen [St98] guarantees that each irreducible component of  $\mathcal{M}_{q,d}^r$  has dimension at least  $3g - 3 + \rho(g, r, d)$ .

When  $\rho(g, r, d) = -1$ , Steffen's result coupled with the Brill-Noether Theorem implies that the cycle  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^r$  is pure of codimension 1 inside  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . One has the following more precise statement due to Eisenbud and Harris [**EH89**]:

THEOREM 3.1. For integers g, r and d such that  $\rho(g, r, d) = -1$ , the locus  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^r$ is an irreducible divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . The class of its compactification  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r$  inside  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ is given by the following formula:

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r \equiv c_{g,d,r} \left( (g+3)\lambda - \frac{g+1}{6}\delta_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{\lfloor g/2 \rfloor} i(g-i)\delta_i \right) \in \operatorname{Pic}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g).$$

The constant  $c_{g,d,r}$  has a clear intersection-theoretic interpretation using Schubert calculus. Note that remarkably, the slope of all the Brill-Noether divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_q$  is independent of d and r and

$$s(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r) = 6 + \frac{12}{g+1}$$

35

for all  $r, d \ge 1$  satisfying  $\rho(g, r, d) = -1$ . For genera g such that g + 1 is composite, one has as many Brill-Noether divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  as ways of non-trivially factoring g + 1. It is natural to raise the following:

PROBLEM 3.2. Construct an explicit linear equivalence between various Brill-Noether divisors  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r$  on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  for different integers  $r, d \ge 1$  with  $\rho(g, r, d) = -1$ .

The simplest case is g = 11 when there exist two (distinct) Brill-Noether divisors  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{11,6}^1$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{11,9}^2$  and  $s(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{11,6}^1) = s(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{11,9}^2) = 7$ . These divisors can be understood in terms of Noether-Lefschetz divisors on the moduli space  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{11}$  of polarized K3 surfaces of degree 2g - 2 = 20. We recall that there exists a rational  $\mathbb{P}^{11}$ -fibration

$$\phi: \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \dashrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{11}, \ \phi[C] := [S, \mathcal{O}_S(C)],$$

where S is the unique K3 surface containing C, see [M94]. Noting that  $\mathcal{M}_{11,6}^1 = \mathcal{M}_{11,14}^5$  it follows that

$$\mathcal{M}^{1}_{11,6} = \phi^{*}_{|\mathcal{M}_{11}|}(NL_1),$$

where  $NL_1$  is the Noether-Lefschetz divisor on  $\mathcal{F}_{11}$  of polarized K3 surfaces S with Picard lattice  $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot [\mathcal{O}_S(1)] + \mathbb{Z} \cdot [C]$ , where  $C^2 = 20$  and  $C \cdot c_1(\mathcal{O}_S(1)) = 14$ . Similarly, by Riemann-Roch, we have an equality of divisors  $\mathcal{M}^2_{11,9} = \mathcal{M}^3_{11,11}$ , and then

$$\mathcal{M}_{11,9}^2 = \phi_{|\mathcal{M}_{11}|}^* (NL_2),$$

with  $NL_2$  being the Noether-Lefschetz divisor whose general point corresponds to a quartic surface  $S \subset \mathbb{P}^3$  with  $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot [\mathcal{O}_S(1)] + \mathbb{Z} \cdot [C]$ , where  $C^2 = 20$ and  $C \cdot c_1(\mathcal{O}_S(1)) = 11$ . It is not clear whether  $NL_1$  and  $NL_2$  should be linearly equivalent on  $\mathcal{F}_{11}$ .

The next interesting case is g = 23, see [Fa00]: The three (distinct) Brill-Noether divisors  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,12}^1$ ,  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,17}^2$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,20}^1$  are multicanonical in the sense that there exist explicitly known integers  $m, m_1, m_2, m_3 \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  and an effective boundary divisor  $E \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{11} c_i \delta_i \in \operatorname{Pic}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23})$  such that

$$m_1 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,12}^1 + E \equiv m_2 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,17}^2 + E = m_3 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23,20}^3 + E \in |mK_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{23}}|.$$

QUESTION 3.3. For a genus g such that g + 1 is composite, is there a good geometric description of the stable base locus

$$\mathbf{B}\big(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g, |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r|\big) := \bigcap_{n \ge 0} \mathrm{Bs}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g, |n\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r|)$$

of the Brill-Noether linear system? It is clear that  $\mathbf{B}(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g, |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,d}^r|)$  contains important subvarieties of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  like the hyperelliptic and trigonal locus, cf. [HaM90].

Of the higher codimension Brill-Noether cycles, the best understood are the d-gonal loci

$$\mathcal{M}_{g,2}^1 \subset \mathcal{M}_{g,3}^1 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{M}_g$$

Each stratum  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1$  is an irreducible variety of dimension 2g + 2d - 5. The gonality stratification of  $\mathcal{M}_g$ , apart from being essential in the statement of Green's Conjecture, has often been used for cohomology calculations or for bounding the cohomological dimension and the affine covering number of  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . **3.2. Koszul cycles.** Koszul cohomology behaves like the usual cohomology in many regards. Notably, it can be computed in families, see [**BG85**], or the book [**ApN08**]:

THEOREM 3.4. Let  $f: X \to S$  be a flat family of projective varieties, parameterized by an integral scheme,  $L \in \text{Pic}(X/S)$  a line bundle and  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then there exists a coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{K}_{p,q}(X/S, L)$  on X and a nonempty Zariski open subset  $U \subset S$  such that for all  $s \in U$  one has that  $\mathcal{K}_{p,q}(X/S, L) \otimes k(s) \cong K_{p,q}(X_s, L_s)$ .

In the statement above, the open set U is precisely determined by the condition that all  $h^i(X_s, L_s)$  are minimal.

By Theorem 3.4, Koszul cohomology can be used to construct effective determinantal cycles on the moduli spaces of smooth curves. This works particularly well for Koszul cohomology of canonical curves, as  $h^i$  remain constant over the whole moduli space. More generally, Koszul cycles can be defined over the relative Picard stack over the moduli space. Under stronger assumptions, the canonically defined determinantal structure can be given a better description. To this end, one uses the description provided by Lazarsfeld kernel bundles.

In many cases, for example canonical curves, or 2-regular varieties, the property  $(N_p)$  reduces to the single condition  $K_{p,2}(X, L) = 0$ , see for instance [**Ein87**] Proposition 3. This phenomenon justifies the study of various loci given by the non-vanishing of  $K_{p,2}$ . Note however that extending this determinantal description over the boundary of the moduli stack (especially over the locus of reducible stable curves) poses considerable technical difficulties, see [**Fa06a**], [**Fa06b**]. We now describe a general set-up used to compute Koszul non-vanishing loci over a partial compactification  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_g$  of the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_g$  inside  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ . As usual, if **M** is a Deligne-Mumford stack, we denote by  $\mathcal{M}$  its associated coarse moduli space.

We fix integers  $r, d \geq 1$ , such that  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$  and denote by  $\mathbf{M}_g^0 \subset \mathbf{M}_g$  the open substack classifying curves  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  such that  $W_{d-1}^r(C) = \emptyset$  and  $W_d^{r+1}(C) = \emptyset$ . Since  $\rho(g, r+1, d) \leq -2$  and  $\rho(g, r, d-1) = -r-1 \leq -2$ , it follows from [**EH89**] that  $\operatorname{codim}(\mathcal{M}_g - \mathcal{M}_g^0, \mathcal{M}_g) \geq 2$ . We further denote by  $\Delta_0^0 \subset \Delta_0 \subset \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  the locus of nodal curves  $[C_{yq} := C/y \sim q]$ , where  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g-1}$  is a curve that satisfies the Brill-Noether Theorem and  $y, q \in C$  are *arbitrary* distinct points. Finally,  $\Delta_1^0 \subset \Delta_1 \subset \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  denotes the open substack classifying curves  $[C \cup_y E]$ , where  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g-1}$  is Brill-Noether general,  $y \in C$  is an arbitrary point and  $[E, y] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{1,1}$ is an arbitrary elliptic tail. Note that every Brill-Noether general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g-1}$  satisfies

$$W_{d-1}^r(C) = \emptyset, \ W_d^{r+1}(C) = \emptyset \text{ and } \dim W_d^r(C) = \rho(g-1, r, d) = r.$$

We set  $\widetilde{\mathbf{M}}_g := \mathbf{M}_g^0 \cup \Delta_0^0 \cup \Delta_1^0 \subset \overline{\mathbf{M}}_g$  and we regard it as a partial compactification of  $\mathbf{M}_g$ . Then following [**EH86**] we consider the Deligne-Mumford stack

$$\sigma_0:\mathfrak{G}^r_d\to\mathbf{M}_g$$

classifying pairs [C, l] with  $[C] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_g$  and l a limit linear series of type  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$  on C. We remark that for any curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g^0 \cup \Delta_0^0$  and  $L \in W_d^r(C)$ , we have that  $h^0(C, L) = r + 1$  and that L is globally generated. Indeed, for a smooth curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g^0$  it follows that  $W_d^{r+1}(C) = \emptyset$ , so necessarily  $W_d^r(C) = G_d^r(C)$ . For a point  $[C_{yq}] \in \Delta_0^0$  we have the identification

$$\sigma_0^{-1} [C_{yq}] = \{ L \in W_d^r(C) : h^0(C, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-y-q)) = r \},\$$

where we note that since the normalization  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g-1}$  is assumed to be Brill-Noether general, any sheaf  $L \in \sigma_0^{-1}[C_{yq}]$  satisfies

$$h^0(C, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-y)) = h^0(C, L \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-q)) = r$$

and  $h^0(C, L) = r + 1$ . Furthermore,  $\overline{W}_d^r(C_{yq}) = W_d^r(C_{yq})$ , where the left-hand-side denotes the closure of  $W_d^r(C_{yq})$  inside the variety  $\overline{\operatorname{Pic}}^d(C_{yq})$  of torsion-free sheaves on  $C_{yq}$ . This follows because a non-locally free torsion-free sheaf in  $\overline{W}_d^r(C_{yq}) - W_d^r(C_{yq})$  is of the form  $\nu_*(A)$ , where  $A \in W_{d-1}^r(C)$  and  $\nu : C \to C_{yq}$  is the normalization map. But we know that  $W_{d-1}^r(C) = \emptyset$ , because  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g-1}$  satisfies the Brill-Noether Theorem. The conclusion of this discussion is that  $\sigma : \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}_d^r \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_g$ is proper. Since  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$ , by general Brill-Noether theory there exists a unique irreducible component of  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$  which maps onto  $\mathbf{M}_q^0$ .

In [Fa06b], a universal Koszul non-vanishing locus over a partial compactification of the moduli space of curves is introduced. Precisely, one constructs two locally free sheaves  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  over  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}_d^r$  such that for a point [C, l] corresponding to a *smooth* curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g^0$  and a (necessarily complete and globally generated linear series)  $l = (L, H^0(C, L)) \in G_d^r(C)$  inducing a map  $C \xrightarrow{|L|} \mathbb{P}^r$ , we have the following description of the fibres:

$$\mathcal{A}(C,L) = H^0(\mathbb{P}^r, \wedge^p M_{\mathbb{P}^r} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^r}(2)) \text{ and } \mathcal{B}(C,L) = H^0(C, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^{\otimes 2}).$$

There is a natural vector bundle morphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  given by restriction. From Grauert's Theorem it follows that both  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are vector bundles over  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$  and from Bott's Theorem (in the case of  $\mathcal{A}$ ) and Riemann-Roch (in the case of  $\mathcal{B}$ ) respectively, we compute their ranks

$$\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{A}) = (p+1)\binom{r+2}{p+2}$$
 and  $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{B}) = \binom{r}{p}\left(-\frac{pd}{r}+2d+1-g\right).$ 

Note that  $M_L$  is a stable vector bundle (again, one uses that  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g^0$ ), hence  $H^1(C, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^{\otimes 2}) = 0$  and then rank $(\mathcal{B}) = \chi(C, \wedge^p M_L \otimes L^{\otimes 2})$  can be computed from Riemann-Roch. We have the following result, cf. **[Fa06b]** Theorem 2.1:

THEOREM 3.5. The cycle

$$\mathcal{U}_{g,p} := \{ (C,L) \in \mathfrak{G}_d^r : K_{p,2}(C,L) \neq 0 \},\$$

is the degeneracy locus of the vector bundle map  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  over  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$ .

Under suitable numerical restrictions, when  $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{B})$ , the cycle constructed in Theorem 3.5 is a virtual divisor on  $\mathfrak{G}_d^r$ . This happens precisely when

$$r := 2s + sp + p$$
,  $g := rs + s$  and  $d := rs + r$ .

for some  $p \ge 0$  and  $s \ge 1$ . The first remarkable case occurs when s = 1. Set g = 2p + 3, r = g - 1 = 2p + 2, and d = 2g - 2 = 4p + 4. Note that, since the canonical bundle is the only  $\mathfrak{g}_{2g-2}^{g-1}$  on a curve of genus g, the Brill-Noether stack is isomorphic to  $\mathbf{M}_g$ . The notable fact that the cycle in question is an actual divisor follows directly from Voisin's Theorem 2.12 and from Green's Hyperplane Section Theorem [**V05**].

Hence  $\mathcal{Z}_{q,p} := \sigma_*(\mathcal{U}_{q,p})$  is a virtual divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_q$  whenever

$$g = s(2s + sp + p + 1).$$

In the next section, we explain how to extend the morphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  to a morphism of locally free sheaves over the stack  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}_d^r$  of limit linear series and reproduce the class formula proved in [**Fa06a**] for the degeneracy locus of this morphism.

**3.3.** Divisors of small slope. In [Fa06a] it was shown that the determinantal structure of  $\mathcal{Z}_{g,p}$  can be extended over  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  in such a way that whenever  $s \geq 2$ , the resulting virtual slope violates the Harris-Morrison Slope Conjecture. One has the following general statement:

THEOREM 3.6. If  $\sigma : \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{d}^{r} \to \widetilde{M}_{g}$  denotes the compactification of  $\mathfrak{G}_{d}^{r}$  given by limit linear series, then there exists a natural extension of the vector bundle morphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  over  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{d}^{r}$  such that  $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{g,p}$  is the image of the degeneracy locus of  $\phi$ . The class of the pushforward to  $\widetilde{M}_{g}$  of the virtual degeneracy locus of  $\phi$  is given by

$$\sigma_*(c_1(\mathcal{G}_{p,2}-\mathcal{H}_{p,2})) \equiv a\lambda - b_0\delta_0 - b_1\delta_1 - \dots - b_{\left\lfloor\frac{g}{2}\right\rfloor}\delta_{\left\lfloor\frac{g}{2}\right\rfloor},$$

where  $a, b_0, \ldots, b_{\left[\frac{g}{2}\right]}$  are explicitly given coefficients such that  $b_1 = 12b_0 - a$ ,  $b_i \ge b_0$ for  $1 \le i \le \lfloor g/2 \rfloor$  and

$$s(\sigma_*(c_1(\mathcal{G}_{p,2} - \mathcal{H}_{p,2}))) = \frac{a}{b_0} = 6\frac{f(s,p)}{(p+2)\ sh(s,p)}, \ with$$

 $\begin{array}{l} f(s,p)=(p^4+24p^2+8p^3+32p+16)s^7+(p^4+4p^3-16p-16)s^6-(p^4+7p^3+13p^2-12)s^5-(p^4+2p^3+p^2+14p+24)s^4+(2p^3+2p^2-6p-4)s^3+(p^3+17p^2+50p+41)s^2+(7p^2+18p+9)s+2p+2 \end{array}$ 

and

$$\begin{split} h(s,p) &= (p^3+6p^2+12p+8)s^6 + (p^3+2p^2-4p-8)s^5 - (p^3+7p^2+11p+2)s^4 - (p^3-5p)s^3 + (4p^2+5p+1)s^2 + (p^2+7p+11)s + 4p+2. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, we have that

$$6 < \frac{a}{b_0} < 6 + \frac{12}{g+1}$$

whenever  $s \geq 2$ . If the morphism  $\phi$  is generically non-degenerate, then  $\overline{Z}_{g,p}$  is a divisor on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  which gives a counterexample to the Slope Conjecture for g = s(2s + sp + p + 1).

A few remarks are necessary. In the case s = 1 and g = 2p + 3, the vector bundles  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  exist not only over a partial compactification of  $\widetilde{\mathbf{M}}_g$  but can be extended (at least) over the entire stack  $\mathbf{M}_g \cup \Delta_0$  in such a way that  $\mathcal{B}(C, \omega_C) =$  $H^0(C, \wedge^p M_{\omega_C} \otimes \omega_C^2)$  for any  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g \cup \Delta_0$ . Theorem 3.6 reads in this case, see also [**Fa08**] Theorem 5.7:

(5) 
$$[\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{2p+3,p}]^{virt} = c_1(\mathcal{B}-\mathcal{A}) = \frac{1}{p+2} {\binom{2p}{p}} \Big( 6(p+3)\lambda - (p+2)\delta_0 - 6(p+1)\delta_1 - \cdots \Big),$$

in particular  $s([\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{2p+3,p}]^{virt}) = 6 + 12/(g+1).$ 

Particularly interesting is the case p = 0 when the condition  $K_{0,2}(C, L) = 0$  for  $[C, L] \in \mathfrak{G}_d^r$ , is equivalent to the multiplication map

$$\nu_2(L) : \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(C, L) \to H^0(C, L^{\otimes 2})$$

not being an isomorphism. Note that  $\nu_2(L)$  is a linear map between vector spaces of the same dimension and  $\mathcal{Z}_{q,0}$  is the failure locus of the Maximal Rank Conjecture:

COROLLARY 3.7. For g = s(2s+1), r = 2s, d = 2s(s+1) the slope of the virtual class of the locus of those  $[C] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  for which there exists  $L \in W_d^r(C)$  such that the embedded curve  $C \stackrel{|L|}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbf{P}^r$  sits on a quadric hypersurface is equal to

$$s(\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{s(2s+1),0}) = \frac{3(16s^7 - 16s^6 + 12s^5 - 24s^4 - 4s^3 + 41s^2 + 9s + 2)}{s(8s^6 - 8s^5 - 2s^4 + s^2 + 11s + 2)}.$$

## 4. Conjectures on Koszul cohomology of curves

**4.1. Green's Conjecture.** In what follows, we consider  $(C, K_C)$  a smooth canonical curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . In this case, the Duality Theorem 2.7 applies, and the distribution of the numbers  $b_{p,q} := \dim K_{p,q}(C, K_C)$  organized in a table (the *Betti table*) is the following:

$$\begin{bmatrix} b_{0,0} & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_{1,1} & b_{2,1} & \dots & b_{g-3,1} & b_{g-2,1} \\ b_{0,2} & b_{1,2} & b_{2,2} & \dots & b_{g-3,2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & b_{g-2,3} \end{bmatrix}$$

The Betti table is symmetric with respect to its center, that is,  $b_{i,j} = b_{g-2-i,3-j}$ and all the other entries not marked here are zero.

Trying to apply the Non-Vanishing Theorem 2.4 to the canonical bundle  $K_C$ , we obtain one *condition* and one *quantity*. The condition comes from the hypothesis that for a decomposition  $K_C = L_1 \otimes (K_C \otimes L_1^{\vee})$ , Theorem 2.4 is applicable whenever

(6) 
$$r_1 + 1 := h^0(C, L_1) \ge 2$$
 and  $r_2 + 1 := h^1(C, L_1) \ge 2$ .

A line bundle  $L_1$  satisfying (6) is said to contribute to the Clifford index of C.

The quantity that appears in Theorem 2.4 is the *Clifford index* itself. More precisely

$$r_1 + r_2 - 1 = g - \text{Cliff}(L_1) - 2,$$

$$\operatorname{Cliff}(L_1) := \deg(L_1) - 2h^{\circ}(L_1) + 2.$$

Clifford's Theorem [ACGH85] says that  $\text{Cliff}(L_1) \ge 0$ , and  $\text{Cliff}(L_1) > 0$  unless  $L_1$  is a  $\mathfrak{g}_2^1$ . Following [GL86] we define the *Clifford index of C* as the quantity

 $\operatorname{Cliff}(C) := \min\{\operatorname{Cliff}(L_1) : L_1 \text{ contributes to the Clifford index of } C\}.$ 

In general, the Clifford index will be computed by minimal pencils. Specifically, a general *d*-gonal curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1$  (recall that the gonality strata are irreducible) will have  $\operatorname{Cliff}(C) = d-2$ . However, this equality is not valid for all curves, that is, there exist curves  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  with  $\operatorname{Cliff}(C) < \operatorname{gon}(C) - 2$ , basic examples being plane curves, or exceptional curves on K3 surfaces. Even in these exotic cases, Coppens and Martens  $[\mathbf{CM91}]$  established the precise relation  $\operatorname{Cliff}(C) = \operatorname{gon}(C) - 3$ .

Theorem 2.4 implies the following non-vanishing,

$$K_{g-\operatorname{Cliff}(C)-2,1}(C, K_C) \neq 0,$$

and Green's Conjecture predicts optimality of Theorem 2.4 for canonical curves:

CONJECTURE 4.1. For any curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  we have the vanishing  $K_{p,1}(C, K_C) = 0$  for all  $p \ge g - \text{Cliff}(C) - 1$ .

In the statement of Green's Conjecture, it suffices to prove the vanishing of  $K_{g-\text{Cliff}(C)-1,1}(C, K_C)$  or, by duality, that  $K_{\text{Cliff}(C)-1,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ .

We shall analyze some basic cases:

EXAMPLE 4.2. Looking at the group  $K_{0,2}(C, K_C)$ , Green's Conjecture predicts that it is zero for all non-hyperelliptic curves. Or, the vanishing of  $K_{0,2}(C, K_C)$  is equivalent to the projective normality of the canonical curve. This is precisely the content of the classical Max Noether Theorem [ACGH85], p. 117.

EXAMPLE 4.3. For a non-hyperelliptic curve, we know that  $K_{1,2}(C, K_C) = 0$  if and only if the canonical curve  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^{g-1}$  is cut out by quadrics. Green's Conjecture predicts that  $K_{1,2}(C, K_C) = 0$  unless the curve is hyperelliptic, trigonal or a smooth plane quintic. This is precisely the Enriques-Babbage-Petri Theorem, see [ACGH85], p. 124.

Thus Conjecture 4.1 appears as a sweeping generalization of two famous classical theorems. Apart from these classical results, strong evidence has been found for Green's Conjecture (and one should immediately add that not a shred of evidence has been found suggesting that the conjecture might fail even for a single curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_q$ . For instance, the conjecture is true for general curves in any gonality stratum  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1$ , see [Ap05], [Tei02] and [V02]. The proof of this fact relies on semicontinuity. Since  $\mathcal{M}^1_{a,d}$  is irreducible, it suffices to find one example of a d-gonal curve that satisfies the conjecture, for any  $2 \le d \le (g+2)/2$ ; here we also need the fact mentioned above, that the Clifford index of a general d-gonal curve is d-2. The most important and challenging case, solved by Voisin [V05], was the case of curves of odd genus g = 2d - 1 and maximal gonality d + 1. Following Hirschowitz and Ramanan [**HR98**] one can compare the Brill-Noether divisor  $\mathcal{M}^1_{a,d}$  of curves with a  $\mathfrak{g}_d^1$  and the virtual divisor of curves  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  with  $K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C) \neq 0$ . The non-vanishing Theorem 2.4 gives a set-theoretic inclusion  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1 \subset \mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}$ . Now, we compare the class  $[\mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}]^{virt} \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{M}_g)$  of the virtual divisor  $\mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}$  to the class  $[\mathcal{M}_{q,d}^1]$  computed in [HM82]. One finds the following relation

$$[\mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}]^{virt} = (d-1)[\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1] \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{M}_g)$$

cf. [HR98]; Theorem 3.6 in the particular case s = 1 provides an extension of this equality to a partial compactification of  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . Green's Conjecture for general curves of odd genus [V05] implies that  $\mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}$  is a genuine divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . Since a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{q,d}^1$  satisfies

dim 
$$K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C) \ge d - 1$$
,

cf. [HR98], one finds the set-theoretic equality  $\mathcal{M}_{g,d}^1 = \mathcal{Z}_{g,d-2}$ . In particular we obtain the following strong characterization of curves of odd genus and maximal gonality:

THEOREM 4.4 (Hirschowitz-Ramanan, Voisin). If C is a smooth curve of genus  $g = 2d - 1 \ge 7$ , then  $K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C) \ne 0$  if and only if C carries a  $\mathfrak{g}_d^1$ .

Voisin proved Theorem 2.12, using Hilbert scheme techniques, then she applied Green's Hyperplane Section Theorem [**Gr84a**] to obtain the desired example of a curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  satisfying Green's Conjecture.

Starting from Theorem 4.4, all the other generic d-gonal cases are obtained in the following refined form, see [Ap05]:

THEOREM 4.5. We fix integers g and  $d \ge 2$  such that  $2 \le d \le \lfloor g/2 \rfloor + 1$ . For any smooth curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  satisfying the condition

(7) 
$$\dim W^1_{q-d+2}(C) \le g - 2d + 2 = \rho(g, 1, g - d + 2)$$

we have that  $K_{q-d+1,1}(C, K_C) = 0$ . In particular, C satisfies Green's Conjecture.

Note that the condition  $d \leq [g/2] + 1$  excludes the case already covered by Theorem 4.4. The proof of Theorem 4.5 relies on constructing a singular stable curve  $[C'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2g+3-2d}$  of maximal gonality g + 3 - d (that is,  $[C'] \notin \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2g+3-d,g+2-d}^1$ ), starting from any smooth curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  satisfying (7). The curve C' is obtained from C by gluing together g+3-2d pairs of general points of C, and then applying an analogue of Theorem 4.4 for singular stable curves,  $[\mathbf{Ap05}]$ , see Section 4.2. The version in question is the following, cf.  $[\mathbf{Ap05}]$  Proposition 7. The proof we give here is however slightly different:

THEOREM 4.6. For any nodal curve  $[C'] \in \mathcal{M}_{g'} \cup \Delta_0$ , with  $g' = 2d' - 1 \ge 7$ such that  $K_{d'-1,1}(C', \omega_{C'}) \neq 0$ , it follows that  $[C'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g',d'}^1$ .

PROOF. By duality, we obtain the following equality of cycles on  $\mathcal{M}_{q'}$ :

$$\{ [C'] : K_{d'-1,1}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} =: \overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{g',d'-2} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega_{C'}) \neq 0 \} \} = \{ [C'] : K_{d'-2,2}(C',\omega$$

Theorem 3.6 shows that this locus is a virtual divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_{g'}$  whose class is given by formula (5) and Theorem 2.12 implies that  $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{g',d'-2}$  is actually a divisor. Comparing its class against the class of the Hurwitz divisor  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g',d'}^1$  [HM82], we find that

$$\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{g',d'-2} \equiv (d'-1)\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g',d'}^1 \in \operatorname{Pic}(\widetilde{\mathbf{M}}_{g'}).$$

Note that this is a stronger statement than [**HR98**] Proposition 3.1, being an equality of codimension 1 cycles on the compactified moduli space  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g'}$ , rather than on  $\mathcal{M}_{g'}$ . The desired statement follows immediately since for any curve  $[C'] \in \mathcal{M}^1_{g',d'}$  one has dim  $K_{d'-1,1}(C', \omega_{C'}) \geq d'-1$ , hence the degeneracy locus  $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{g',d'-2}$  contains  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}^1_{g',d'}$  with multiplicity at least d'-1.

We return to the discussion on Theorem 4.5 (the proof will be resumed in the next subsection). By duality, the vanishing in the statement above can be rephrased as

$$K_{d-3,2}(C, K_C) = 0.$$

The condition (7) is equivalent to a string of inequalities

$$\dim W^1_{d+n}(C) \le n$$

for all  $0 \le n \le g - 2d + 2$ , in particular  $gon(C) \ge d$ . This condition is satisfied for a general *d*-gonal curve, cf. [Ap05]. More generally, if  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}^1_{g,d}$  is a general *d*-gonal curve then any irreducible component

$$Z \neq W_d^1(C) + W_{n-d}(C)$$

of  $W_n^1(C)$  has dimension  $\rho(g, 1, n)$ . In particular, for  $\rho(g, 1, n) < 0$  it follows that  $W_n^1(C) = W_d^1(C) + W_{n-d}(C)$  which of course implies (7). For g = 2d - 2, the inequality (7) becomes necessarily an equality and it reads: the curve C carries finitely many  $\mathfrak{g}_d^1$ 's of minimal degree.

We make some comments regarding condition (7). Let us suppose that C is non-hyperelliptic and  $d \geq 3$ . From Martens' Theorem [ACGH85] p.191, it follows that dim  $W_{g-d+2}^1(C) \leq g-d-1$ . Condition (7) requires the better bound  $g-2d+2 \leq g-d-1$ . However, for d=3, the two bounds are the same, and Theorem 4.5 shows that  $K_{0,0}(C, K_C) = 0$ , for any non-hyperelliptic curve, which is Max Noether's Theorem, see also Example 4.2. Applying Mumford's Theorem [ACGH85] p.193, we obtain the better bound dim  $W_{g-d+2}^1(C) \leq g-d-2$  for  $d \geq 4$ , unless the curve is trigonal, a smooth plane quintic or a double covering of an elliptic curve. Therefore, if C is not one of the three types listed above, then  $K_{1,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ , and we recover the Enriques-Babbage-Petri Theorem, see also Example 4.3 (note, however, the exception made for bielliptic curves).

Keem has improved the dimension bounds for  $W_{g-d+2}^1(C)$ . For  $d \ge 5$  and C a curve that has neither a  $\mathfrak{g}_4^1$  nor is a smooth plane sextic, one has the inequality dim  $W_{g-d+2}^1(C) \le g - d - 3$ , cf. [Ke90] Theorems 2.1 and 2.3. Consequently, Theorem 4.5 implies the following result which is a complete solution to Green's Conjecture for 5-gonal curves:

THEOREM 4.7 (Voisin [V88], Schreyer [Sch91]). If  $K_{2,2}(C, K_C) \neq 0$ , then C is hyperelliptic, trigonal, tetragonal or a smooth plane sextic, that is, Cliff(C)  $\leq 2$ .

Geometrically, the vanishing of  $K_{2,2}(C, K_C)$  is equivalent to the ideal of the canonical curve being generated by quadrics, and the minimal relations among the generators being linear.

Theorem 3.1 from [**Ke90**] gives the next bound dim  $W^1_{g-d+2}(C) \leq g-d-4$ , for  $d \geq 6$  and C with gon $(C) \geq 6$  which does not admit a covering of degree two or three on another curve, and which is not a plane curve. The following improvement of Theorem 4.7 is then obtained directly from Theorem 4.5 and [**Ap05**] Theorem 3.1:

THEOREM 4.8. If  $g \ge 12$  and  $K_{3,2}(C, K_C) \ne 0$ , then C is one of the following: hyperelliptic, trigonal, tetragonal, pentagonal, double cover of an genus 3 curve, triple cover of an elliptic curve, smooth plane septic. In other words, if  $\text{Cliff}(C) \ge 4$ then  $K_{3,2}(C, K_C) = 0$ .

Theorem 4.8 represents the solution to Green's Conjecture for hexagonal curves. Likewise, Theorem 4.5 can be used together with the Brill-Noether theory to prove Green's Conjecture for any gonality d and large genus. The idea is to apply Coppens' results [Co83].

THEOREM 4.9. If  $g \ge 10$  and  $d \ge 5$  are two integers such that g > (d-2)(2d-7), and C is any d-gonal curve of genus g which does not admit any morphism of degree less than d onto another smooth curve, then Cliff(C) = d-2 and Green's Conjecture is verified for C, i.e.  $K_{g-d+1,1}(C, K_C) = 0$ .

The statement of Conjecture 4.1 (meant as a vanishing result), is empty for hyperelliptic curves is, hence the interesting cases begin with  $d \ge 3$ .

It remains to verify Green's Conjecture for curves which do not verify (7). One result in this direction was proved in [**ApP06**].

THEOREM 4.10. Let S be a K3 surface with  $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot H \oplus Z \cdot \ell$ , with H very ample,  $H^2 = 2r - 2 \ge 4$ , and  $H \cdot \ell = 1$ . Then any smooth curve in the linear system  $|2H + \ell|$  verifies Green's conjecture.

Smooth curves in the linear system  $|2H + \ell|$  count among the few known examples of curves whose Clifford index is not computed by pencils, i.e. Cliff(C) = gon(C) - 3, [**ELMS89**] (other obvious examples are plane curves, for which Green's Conjecture was verified before, cf. [**Lo89**]). Such curves are the most special ones in the moduli space of curves from the point of view of the Clifford dimension. Hence, this case may be considered as opposite to that of a general curve of fixed gonality. Note that these curves carry a one-parameter family of pencils of minimal degree, hence the condition (7) is not satisfied.

**4.2. The Gonality Conjecture.** The Green-Lazarsfeld Gonality Conjecture **[GL86]** predicts that the gonality of a curve can be read off the Koszul cohomology with values in any sufficiently positive line bundle.

CONJECTURE 4.11 (Green-Lazarsfeld). Let C be a smooth curve of gonality d, and L a sufficiently positive line bundle on C. Then

$$K_{h^0(L)-d,1}(C,L) = 0.$$

Theorem 2.8 applied to L written as a sum of a minimal pencil and the residual bundle yields

$$K_{h^0(L)-d-1,1}(C,L) \neq 0$$

Note that if L is sufficiently positive, then the Green-Lazarsfeld Nonvanishing Theorem is optimal when applied for a decomposition where one factor is a pencil. Indeed, consider any decomposition  $L = L_1 \otimes L_2$  with  $r_1 = h^0(C, L_1) - 1 \ge 2$ , and  $r_2 = h^0(C, L_2) - 1 \ge 2$ . Since L is sufficiently positive, the linear system  $|K_C^{\otimes 2} \otimes L^{\vee}|$  is empty, and finiteness of the addition map of divisors shows that at least one of the two linear systems  $|K_C \otimes L_i^{\vee}|$  is empty. Suppose  $|K_C \otimes L_2^{\vee}| = \emptyset$ , choose a point  $x \in C-Bs(|L_1|)$  and consider a new decomposition  $L = L'_1 \otimes L'_2$ , with  $L'_1 = L_1 \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-x)$ , and  $L'_2 = L_2 \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x)$ . Denoting as usual  $r'_i = h^0(C, L'_i) - 1$ , we find that  $r'_1 + r'_2 - 1 = r_1 + r_2 - 1$ , whereas  $r'_1 = r_1 - 1$ , and  $L'_2$  is again non-special. We can apply an inductive argument until  $r_1$  becomes 1. Hence the Gonality Conjecture predicts the optimality of the Green-Lazarsfeld Nonvanishing Theorem. However, one major disadvantage of this statement is that "sufficiently positive" is not a precise condition. It was proved in [Ap02] that by adding effective divisors to bundles that verify the Gonality Conjecture we obtain again bundles that verify the conjecture. Hence, in order to find a precise statement for Conjecture 4.11 one has to study the edge cases.

In most generic cases (general curves in gonality strata, to be more precise), the Gonality Conjecture can be verified for line bundles of degree 2g, see [ApV03] and [Ap05]. The test bundles are obtained by adding two generic points to the canonical bundle.

THEOREM 4.12 ([Ap05]). For any d-gonal curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  with  $d \leq [g/2] + 2$ which satisfies the condition (7), and for general points  $x, y \in C$ , we have that  $K_{g-d+1,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y)) = 0.$ 

The case not covered by Theorem 4.12 is slightly different. A general curve C of odd genus carries infinitely many minimal pencils, hence a bundle of type  $K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y)$  can never verify the vanishing predicted by the Gonality Conjecture. Indeed, for any two points x and y there exists a minimal pencil  $L_1$  such that  $H^0(C, L_1(-x-y)) \neq 0$ , and we apply Theorem 2.4. However, adding *three* points to the canonical bundle solves the problem, cf. [Ap04], [Ap05]. THEOREM 4.13. For any curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{2d-1}$  of maximal gonality gon(C) = d + 1 and for general points  $x, y, z \in C$ , we have that  $K_{d,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y+z)) = 0$ .

The proofs of Theorems 4.5, 4.12 and 4.13 are all based on the same idea. We start with a smooth curve C and construct a stable curve of higher genus out of it, in such a way that the Koszul cohomology does not change. Then we apply a version of Theorem 4.4 for singular curves.

Proof of Theorems 4.5 and 4.12. We start with  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  satisfying the condition (7). We claim that if we choose  $\delta := g + 3 - 2d$  pairs of general points  $x_i, y_i \in C$  for  $1 \leq i \leq \delta$ , then the resulting stable curve

$$\left[C' := \frac{C}{x_1 \sim y_1, \dots, x_\delta \sim y_\delta}\right] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2g+3-2d}$$

is a curve of maximal gonality, that is, g + 3 - d. Indeed, otherwise  $[C'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2g+3-2d,g+2-d}^1$  and this implies that there exists a degree g + 2 - d admissible covering  $f : \tilde{C} \to R$  from a nodal curve  $\tilde{C}$  that is semi-stably equivalent to C', onto a genus 0 curve R. The curve C is a subcurve of  $\tilde{C}$  and if  $\deg(f_{|C}) = n \leq g+2-d$ , then it follows that  $f_{|C}$  induces a pencil  $\mathfrak{g}_n^1$  such that  $f_{|C}(x_i) = f_{|C}(y_i)$  for  $1 \leq i \leq \delta$ . Since the points  $x_i, y_i \in C$  are general, this implies that  $\dim W_n^1(C) + \delta \geq 2\delta$ , which contradicts (7).

To conclude, apply Theorem 4.6 and use the following inclusions, [V02], [ApV03]:

$$K_{g-d+1,1}(C, K_C) \subset K_{g-d+1,1}(C, K_C(x+y)) \subset K_{g-d+1,1}(C', \omega_{C'}).$$

REMARK 4.14. The proofs of Theorems 4.5, 4.6 and 4.12 indicate an interesting phenomenon, completely independent of Voisin's proof of the generic Green Conjecture. They show that Green's Conjecture for general curves of genus g = 2d - 1and maximal gonality d + 1 is *equivalent* to the Gonality Conjecture for bundles of type  $K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x + y)$  for general pointed curves  $[C, x, y] \in \mathcal{M}_{2d-2,2}$ . We refer to  $[\mathbf{Ap02}]$  and  $[\mathbf{ApV03}]$  for further implications between the two conjectures, in both directions.

Proof of Theorem 4.13. For C as in the hypothesis, and for general points  $x, y, z \in C$ , we construct a stable curve  $[C'] \in \mathcal{M}_{2d+1}$  by adding a smooth rational component passing through the points x, y and z. Using admissible covers one can show, as in the proofs of Theorems 4.5 and 4.12, that C' is of maximal gonality, that is d + 2. From Theorem 4.6, we obtain  $K_{d,1}(C', \omega_{C'}) = 0$ . The conclusion follows from the observation that  $K_{d,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y+z)) \cong K_{d,1}(C', \omega_{C'})$ .

It is natural to ask the following:

QUESTION 4.15. For a curve C and points  $x, y \in C$ , can one give explicit conditions on Koszul cohomology ensuring that x + y is contained in a fiber of a minimal pencil?

We prove here the following result, which can be considered as a precise version of the Gonality Conjecture for generic curves.

THEOREM 4.16. Let  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{2d-2}$ , and  $x, y \in C$  arbitrarily chosen distinct points. Then  $K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y)) \neq 0$  if and only if there exists  $A \in W^1_d(C)$ such that  $h^0(C, A \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-x-y)) \neq 0$ . PROOF. Suppose there exists  $A \in W^1_d(C)$  such that  $h^0(C, A(-x-y)) \neq 0$ . Theorem 2.8 applied to the decomposition  $K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y) = A \otimes B$ , with  $B = K_C(x+y) \otimes A^{\vee}$  produces nontrivial classes in the group  $K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y))$ .

For the converse, we consider C', the stable curve obtained from C by gluing together the points x and y and denote by  $\nu : C \to C'$  the normalization morphism. Clearly  $[C'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2d-1}$ . We observe that

$$K_{d-1,1}(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(x+y)) \cong K_{d-1,1}(C', \omega_{C'})$$

From Theorem 4.6, it follows that  $[C'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2d-1,d}^1$ , hence there exists a map

 $f: \widetilde{C} \xrightarrow{d:1} R$ 

from a curve  $\widetilde{C}$  semistably equivalent to C' onto a rational nodal curve R. The curve C is a subcurve of  $\widetilde{C}$  and  $f_{|C}$  provides the desired pencil.

As mentioned above, the lower possible bound for explicit examples of line bundles that verify the Gonality Conjecture found so far was 2g. One can raise the question whether this bound is optimal or not and the sharpest statement one can make is Conjecture 1.4 discussed in the introduction of this paper.

### 5. The Strong Maximal Rank Conjecture

Based mainly on work carried out in [Fa06a] and [Fa06b] we propose a conjecture predicting the resolution of an embedded curve with general moduli. This statement unifies two apparently unrelated deep results in the theory of algebraic curves: The *Maximal Rank Conjecture* which predicts the number of hypersurfaces of each degree containing a general embedded curve  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^r$  and *Green's Conjecture* on syzygies of canonical curves.

We begin by recalling the statement of the classical Maximal Rank Conjecture. The modern formulation of this conjecture is due to Harris [H82] p. 79, even though it appears that traces of a similar statement can be found in the work of Max Noether. We fix integers g, r and d such that  $\rho(g, r, d) \geq 0$  and denote by  $\Im_{d,g,r}$  the unique component of the Hilbert scheme Hilb<sub>d,g,r</sub> of curves  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^r$  with Hilbert polynomial  $h_C(t) = dt + 1 - g$  containing curves with general moduli. In other words, the variety  $\Im_{d,g,r}$  is characterized by the following properties:

(1) The general point  $[C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^r] \in \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$  corresponds to a smooth curve  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^r$  with  $\deg(C) = d$  and g(C) = g.

(2) The moduli map  $m: \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{M}_g, m([C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^r]) := [C]$  is dominant.

CONJECTURE 5.1. (Maximal Rank Conjecture) A general embedded smooth curve  $[C \hookrightarrow \mathbf{P}^r] \in \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$  is of maximal rank, that is, for all integers  $n \ge 1$  the restriction maps

$$\nu_n(C): H^0(\mathbb{P}^r, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^r}(n)) \to H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(n))$$

are of maximal rank, that is, either injective or surjective.

Thus if a curve  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^r$  lies on a hypersurface of degree d, then either hypersurfaces of degree d cut out the complete linear series  $|\mathcal{O}_C(d)|$  on the curve, or else C is special in its Hilbert scheme. Since C can be assumed to be a Petri general curve, it follows that  $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(n)) = 0$  for  $n \geq 2$ , so  $h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(n)) = nd + 1 - g$ and Conjecture 5.1 amounts to knowing the Hilbert function of  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^r$ , that is, the value of  $h^0(\mathbb{P}^r, \mathcal{I}_{C/\mathbb{P}^r}(n))$  for all n. EXAMPLE 5.2. We consider the locus of curves  $C \subset \mathbb{P}^3$  with deg(C) = 6 and g(C) = 3 that lie on a quadric surface, that is,  $\nu_2(C)$  fails to be an isomorphism. Such curves must be of type (2, 4) on the quadric, in particular, they are hyperelliptic. This is a divisorial condition on  $\mathfrak{I}_{6,3,3}$ , that is, for a general  $[C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^3] \in \mathfrak{I}_{6,3,3}$  the map  $\nu_2(C)$  is an isomorphism.

Conjecture 5.1 makes sense of course for any component of  $\mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$  but is known to fail outside the Brill-Noether range, see [H82]. The Maximal Rank Conjecture is known to hold in the non-special range, that is when  $d \ge g + r$ , due to work of Ballico and Ellia relying on the *méthode d'Horace* of Hirschowitz, see [BE87]. Voisin has also proved cases of the conjecture when  $h^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C(1)) = 2$ , cf. [V92]. Finally, Conjecture 5.1 is also known in the case  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$  when it has serious implications for the birational geometry of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ . This case can be reduced to the case when dim  $\operatorname{Sym}^n H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(1)) = \dim H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(n))$ , that is,

$$\binom{n+r}{n} = nd + 1 - g,$$

when Conjecture 5.1 amounts to constructing one smooth curve  $[C \to \mathbb{P}^r] \in \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$ such that  $H^0(\mathbb{P}^r, \mathcal{I}_{C/\mathbb{P}^r}(n)) = 0$ . In this situation, the failure locus of Conjecture 5.1 is precisely the virtual divisor  $\mathcal{Z}_{g,0}$  on  $\mathcal{M}_g$  whose geometry has been discussed in Section 3, Corollary 3.7. The most interesting case (at least from the point of view of slope calculations) is that of n = 2. One has the following result [**Fa06b**] Theorem 1.5:

THEOREM 5.3. For each  $s \ge 1$  we fix integers

$$g = s(2s+1), r = 2s and d = 2s(s+1),$$

hence  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$ . The locus

 $\mathcal{Z}_{g,0} := \{ [C] \in \mathcal{M}_g : \exists L \in W_d^r(C) \text{ such that } \nu_2(L) : \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(C,L) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^0(C,L^{\otimes 2}) \}$ is an effective divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_g$ . In particular, a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  satisfies the Maximal Rank Conjecture with respect to all linear series  $L \in W_d^r(C)$ .

For s = 1 we have the equality  $\mathcal{Z}_{3,0} = \mathcal{M}_{3,2}^1$ , and we recover the hyperelliptic locus on  $\mathcal{M}_3$ . The next case, s = 2 and g = 10, has been treated in detail in [FaP005]. One has a scheme-theoretic equality  $\mathcal{Z}_{10,0} = 42 \cdot \mathcal{K}_{10}$  on  $\mathcal{M}_{10}$ , where  $42 = \#(W_{12}^4(C))$  is the number of minimal pencils  $\mathfrak{g}_6^1 = K_C(-\mathfrak{g}_{12}^4)$  on a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{10}$ . Thus a curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_{10}$  fails the Maximal Rank Conjecture for a linear series  $L \in W_{12}^4(C)$  if and only if it fails it for all the 42 linear series  $\mathfrak{g}_{12}^4$ ! This incarnation of the K3 divisor  $\mathcal{K}_{10}$  is instrumental in being able to compute the class of  $\overline{\mathcal{K}}_{10}$  on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{10}$ , cf. [FaP005].

In view of Theorem 5.3 it makes sense to propose a much stronger form of Conjecture 5.1, replacing the generality assumption of  $[C \to \mathbb{P}^r] \in \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$  by a generality assumption of  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  with respect to moduli and asking for the maximal rank of the curve with respect to all linear series  $\mathfrak{g}_d^r$ .

We fix positive integers g, r, d such that  $g - d + r \ge 0$  and satisfying

$$0 \le \rho(g, r, d) < r - 2.$$

We also fix a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$ . The numerical assumptions imply that all the linear series  $l \in G_d^r(C)$  are complete (the inequality  $\rho(g, r+1, d) < 0$  is satisfied), as well as very ample. For each (necessarily complete) linear series  $l = (L, H^0(C, L)) \in G^r_d(C)$  and integer  $n \ge 2$ , we denote by

$$\nu_n(L) : \operatorname{Sym}^n H^0(C, L) \to H^0(C, L^{\otimes n})$$

the multiplication map of global sections. We then choose a Poincaré line bundle on  $C \times \operatorname{Pic}^d(C)$  and construct two vector bundles  $\mathcal{E}_n$  and  $\mathcal{F}_n$  over  $G_d^r(C)$  with  $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{E}_n) = \binom{r+n}{n}$  and  $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{F}_n) = h^0(C, L^{\otimes n}) = nd + 1 - g$ , together with a bundle morphism  $\phi_n : \mathcal{E}_n \to \mathcal{F}_n$ , such that for  $L \in G_d^r(C)$  we have that

$$\mathcal{E}_n(L) = \operatorname{Sym}^n H^0(C, L) \text{ and } \mathcal{F}_n(L) = H^0(C, L^{\otimes n})$$

and  $\nu_n(L)$  is the map given by multiplication of global sections.

CONJECTURE 5.4. (Strong Maximal Rank Conjecture) We fix integers  $g, r, d \ge 1$  and  $n \ge 2$  as above. For a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_q$ , the determinantal variety

 $\Sigma_{n,q,d}^r(C) := \{ L \in G_d^r(C) : \nu_n(L) \text{ is not of maximal rank} \}$ 

has expected dimension, that is,

dim 
$$\Sigma_{n,g,d}^r(C) = \rho(g,r,d) - 1 - |\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{E}_n) - \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{F}_n)|,$$

where by convention, negative dimension means that  $\Sigma_{n,q,d}^r(C)$  is empty.

For instance, in the case  $\rho(g, r, d) < nd + 2 - g - \binom{r+n}{n}$ , the conjecture predicts that for a general  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  we have that  $\Sigma_{n,g,d}^r(C) = \emptyset$ , that is,

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}^r, \mathcal{I}_{C/\mathbb{P}^r}(n)) = 0$$

for every embedding  $C \stackrel{|L|}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbb{P}^r$  given by  $L \in G^r_d(C)$ .

When  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$  (and in particular whenever  $r \leq 3$ ), using a standard monodromy argument showing the uniqueness the component  $\mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$ , the Strong Maximal Rank Conjecture is equivalent to Conjecture 5.1, and it states that  $\nu_n(L)$ is of maximal rank for a general  $[C \stackrel{L}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbb{P}^r] \in \mathfrak{I}_{d,g,r}$ .

For  $\rho(g, r, d) \ge 1$  however, Conjecture 5.4 seems to be a more difficult question than Conjecture 5.1 because one requires a way of seeing *all* linear series  $L \in G_d^r(C)$  at once.

REMARK 5.5. The bound  $\rho(g, r, d) < r - 2$  in the statement of Conjecture 5.4 implies that all linear series  $L \in G_d^r(C)$  on a general curve C, are very ample.

REMARK 5.6. We discuss Conjecture 5.4 when r = 4 and  $\rho(g, r, d) = 1$ . The conjecture is trivially true for g = 1. The first interesting case is g = 6 and d = 9. For a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_6$  we observe that there is an isomorphism  $C \cong W_9^4(C)$  given by  $C \ni x \mapsto K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-x)$ . Since rank $(\mathcal{E}_2) = 15$  and rank $(\mathcal{F}_2) = 13$ , Conjecture 5.4 predicts that,

$$\nu_2(K_C(-x)): \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(C, K_C \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-x)) \twoheadrightarrow H^0(C, K_C^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(-2x)),$$

for all  $x \in C$ , which is true (use the Base-Point-Free Pencil Trick).

The next case is g = 11, d = 13, when the conjecture predicts that the map

$$\nu_2(L): \operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(C,L) \to H^0(C,L^{\otimes 2})$$

is injective for all  $L \in W_{13}^4(C)$ . This follows (non-trivially) from [M94]. Another case that we checked is r = 5, g = 14 and d = 17, when  $\rho(14, 5, 17) = 2$ .

PROPOSITION 5.7. The Strong Maximal Rank Conjecture holds for general nonspecial curves, that is, when r = d - g.

PROOF. This is an immediate application of a theorem of Mumford's stating that for any line bundle  $L \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(C)$  with  $d \geq 2g + 1$ , the map  $\nu_{2}(L)$  is surjective, see e.g. [**GL86**]. The condition  $\rho(g, r, d) < r - 2$  forces in the case r = d - g the inequality  $d \geq 2g + 3$ . Since the expected dimension of  $\Sigma_{n,g,d}^{d-g}(C)$  is negative, the conjecture predicts that  $\Sigma_{n,g,d}^{d-g}(C) = \emptyset$ . This is confirmed by Mumford's result.  $\Box$ 

5.1. The Minimal Syzygy Conjecture. Interpolating between Green's Conjecture for generic curves (viewed as a vanishing statement) and the Maximal Rank Conjecture, it is natural to expect that the Koszul cohomology groups of line bundles on a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  should be subject to the vanishing suggested by the determinantal description provided by Theorem 3.5. For simplicity we restrict ourselves to the case  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$ :

CONJECTURE 5.8. We fix integers  $r, s \ge 1$  and set d := rs + r and g := rs + s, hence  $\rho(g, r, d) = 0$ . For a general curve  $[C] \in \mathcal{M}_g$  and for every integer

$$0 \le p \le \frac{r-2s}{s+1}$$

we have the vanishing  $K_{p,2}(C,L) = 0$ , for every linear series  $L \in W_d^r(C)$ .

As pointed out in Theorem 3.5, in the limiting case  $p = \frac{r-2s}{s+1} \in \mathbb{Z}$ , Conjecture 5.8 would imply that the failure locus

$$\mathcal{Z}_{g,p} := \{ [C] \in \mathcal{M}_g : \exists L \in W_d^r(C) \text{ such that } K_{p,2}(C,L) \neq \emptyset \}$$

is an effective divisor on  $\mathcal{M}_g$  whose closure  $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}_{g,p}$  violates the Slope Conjecture.

Conjecture 5.8 generalizes Green's Conjecture for generic curves: When s = 1, it reads like  $K_{p,2}(C, K_C) = 0$  for  $g \ge 2p+3$ , which is precisely the main result from **[V05]**. Next, in the case p = 0, Conjecture 5.8 specializes to Theorem 5.3. The conjecture is also known to hold when s = 2 and  $g \le 22$  (cf. **[Fa06a]** Theorems 2.7 and 2.10).

#### References

- [Ap02] Aprodu, M.: On the vanishing of higher syzygies of curves. Math. Zeit., 241, 1–15 (2002)
- [Ap04] Aprodu, M.: Green-Lazarsfeld gonality Conjecture for a generic curve of odd genus. Int. Math. Res. Notices, 63, 3409–3414 (2004)
- [Ap05] Aprodu, M.: Remarks on syzygies of d-gonal curves. Math. Res. Lett., 12, 387–400 (2005)
- [ApN08] Aprodu, M., Nagel, J.: Koszul cohomology and algebraic geometry, University Lecture Series AMS, vol. 52, (2010)
- [ApP06] Aprodu, M., Pacienza, G.: The Green Conjecture for Exceptional Curves on a K3 Surface. Int. Math. Res. Notices (2008) 25 pages
- [ApV03] Aprodu, M., Voisin, C.: Green-Lazarsfeld's Conjecture for generic curves of large gonality. C.R.A.S., 36, 335–339 (2003)
- [ACGH85] Arbarello, E., Cornalba, M., Griffiths, P. A., Harris, J.: Geometry of algebraic curves, Volume I. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 267, Springer-Verlag (1985)
- [AC81a] Arbarello, E., Cornalba, M.: Footnotes to a paper of Beniamino Segre. Math. Ann., 256, 341–362 (1981)
- [AC81b] Arbarello E ., Cornalba, M.: Su una congettura di Petri. Comment. Math. Helv. 56, no. 1, 1–38 (1981)

[BE87] Ballico, E., Ellia, P.: The maximal rank Conjecture for nonspecial curves in  $\mathbb{P}^n$ . Math. Zeit. 196, no.3, 355-367 (1987) [BG85] Boratyńsky M., Greco, S.: Hilbert functions and Betti numbers in a flat family. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 142, 277-292 (1985) [Co83] Coppens, M.: Some sufficient conditions for the gonality of a smooth curve. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 30, no. 1, 5–21 (1983) [CM91] Coppens, M., Martens, G.: Secant spaces and Clifford's Theorem. Compositio Math., **78**, 193–212 (1991) [Ein87] Ein, L.: A remark on the syzygies of the generic canonical curves. J. Differential Geom. **26**, 361–365 (1987) [Ei92] Eisenbud, D.: Green's Conjecture: An orientation for algebraists. In Free Resolutions in Commutative Algebra and Algebraic Geometry, Boston (1992) [Ei06] Eisenbud, D.: Geometry of Syzygies. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 229, Springer Verlag (2006) [EH86] Eisenbud, D., Harris, J.: Limit linear series: basic theory. Invent. Math. 85, 337-371 (1986)[EH87] Eisenbud, D., Harris, J.: The Kodaira dimension of the moduli space of curves of genus > 23. Invent. Math. **90**, no. 2, 359–387 (1987) [EH89] Eisenbud, D., Harris, J: Irreducibility of some families of linear series with Brill-Noether number -1. Ann. Sci. École Normale Superieure 22, 33-53 (1989) [ELMS89] Eisenbud, D., Lange, H., Martens, G., Schreyer, F.-O.: The Clifford dimension of a projective curve. Compositio Math. 72, 173-204 (1989) [EGL] Ellingsrud, G., Göttsche, L., Lehn, M.: On the cobordism class of the Hilbert scheme of a surface. J. Algebraic Geom. 10, 81-100 (2001) [FaL08] Farkas, G., Ludwig, K.: The Kodaira dimension of the moduli space of Prym varieties. J. European Math. Soc 12, 755–795 (2010) [FaPo05] Farkas, G., Popa, M.: Effective divisors on  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ , curves on K3 surfaces, and the Slope Conjecture. J. Algebraic Geom. 14, 241-267 (2005) [Fa00] Farkas, G.: The geometry of the moduli space of curves of genus 23. Math. Ann. 318, 43-65(2000)[Fa06a] Farkas, G.: Syzygies of curves and the effective cone of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_q$ . Duke Math. J., **135**, No. 1, 53-98 (2006)[Fa06b] Farkas, G.: Koszul divisors on moduli space of curves. American J. Math. 131, 819-867 (2009)Farkas, G.: Aspects of the birational geometry of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g}$ . Surveys in Differential Geometry [Fa08] Vol. 14, 57–111 (2010) [Gr84a] Green, M.: Koszul cohomology and the geometry of projective varieties. J. Differential Geom., 19, 125-171 (1984) [Gr84b] Green, M.: Koszul cohomology and the geometry of projective varieties. II. J. Differential Geom., 20, 279–289 (1984) [Gr89] Green, M.: Koszul cohomology and geometry. In: Cornalba, M. (ed.) et al., Proceedings of the first college on Riemann surfaces held in Trieste, Italy, November 9-December 18, 1987. Teaneck, NJ: World Scientific Publishing Co. 177-200 (1989) [GL84]Green, M., Lazarsfeld, R.: The nonvanishing of certain Koszul cohomology groups. J. Differential Geom., 19, 168–170 (1984) [GL86] Green, M., Lazarsfeld, R.: On the projective normality of complete linear series on an algebraic curve. Invent. Math., 83, 73-90 (1986) [H82] Harris, J: Curves in projective space. Presses de l'Université de Montréal (1982) [HM82] Harris, J., Mumford, D.: On the Kodaira dimension of the moduli space of curves. Invent. Math., 67, 23–86 (1982) [HaM90] Harris, J., Morrison, I.: Slopes of effective divisors on the moduli space of stable curves. Invent. Math., 99, 321-355 (1990) [HR98] Hirschowitz, A., Ramanan, S.: New evidence for Green's Conjecture on syzygies of canonical curves. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 31, 145-152 (1998) [Ke90] Keem, C.: On the variety of special linear systems on an algebraic curve. Math. Ann. **288**, 309–322 (1990) [La89] Lazarsfeld, R.: A sampling of vector bundle techniques in the study of linear series. In: Cornalba, M. (ed.) et al., Proceedings of the first college on Riemann surfaces held in Trieste, Italy, November 9-December 18, 1987. Teaneck, NJ: World Scientific Publishing Co. 500–559 (1989)

- [Lo89] Loose, F.: On the graded Betti numbers of plane algebraic curves. Manuscripta Math., 64, 503–514 (1989)
- [Ma82] Martens, G.: Über den Clifford-Index algebraischer Kurven. J. Reine Angew. Math., 336, 83–90 (1982)
- [M94] Mukai, S.: Curves and K3 surfaces of genus eleven. Moduli of vector bundles (Sanda 1994; Kyoto 1994), 189-197, Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. (1996)
- [PR88] Paranjape, K., Ramanan, S.: On the canonical ring of a curve. Algebraic geometry and commutative algebra, Vol. II, 503–516, Kinokuniya, Tokyo (1988)
- [Sch86] Schreyer, F.-O.: Syzygies of canonical curves and special linear series. Math. Ann., 275, 105–137 (1986)
- [Sch89] Schreyer, F.-O.: Green's Conjecture for general p-gonal curves of large genus. Algebraic curves and projective geometry, Trento, 1988, Lecture Notes in Math., 1389, Springer, Berlin-New York 254–260 (1989)
- [Sch91] Schreyer, F.-O.: A standard basis approach to syzygies of canonical curves. J. Reine Angew. Math., 421, 83–123 (1991)
- [St98] Steffen, F.: A generalized principal ideal Theorem with applications to Brill-Noether theory. Invent. Math. 132 73-89 (1998)
- [Tei02] Teixidor i Bigas, M.: Green's Conjecture for the generic r-gonal curve of genus  $g \ge 3r 7$ . Duke Math. J., **111**, 195–222 (2002)
- [V88] Voisin, C.: Courbes tétragonales et cohomologie de Koszul. J. Reine Angew. Math., 387, 111–121 (1988)
- [V92] Voisin, C.: Sur l'application de Wahl des courbes satisfaisant la condition de Brill-Noether-Petri. Acta Mathematica 168, 249–272 (1992)
- [V93] Voisin, C.: Déformation des syzygies et théorie de Brill-Noether. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 67 no. 3, 493–515 (1993)
- [V02] Voisin, C.: Green's generic syzygy Conjecture for curves of even genus lying on a K3 surface. J. European Math. Soc., 4, 363–404 (2002)
- [V05] Voisin, C.: Green's canonical syzygy Conjecture for generic curves of odd genus. Compositio Math., 141 (5), 1163–1190 (2005)

Institute of Mathematics "Simion Stoilow" of the Romanian Academy, RO-014700 Bucharest, and Școala Normală Superioară București, Calea Griviței 21, RO-010702 Bucharest, Romania

*E-mail address*: aprodu@imar.ro

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Institut Für Mathematik, 10099 Berlin, Germany E-mail address: farkas@math.hu-berlin.de

50

# **Reider's Theorem and Thaddeus Pairs Revisited**

Daniele Arcara and Aaron Bertram

#### 1. Introduction

Let X be a smooth projective variety over  $\mathbb{C}$  of dimension n equipped with an ample line bundle L and a subscheme  $Z \subset X$  of length d. Serre duality provides a natural isomorphism of vector spaces (for each i = 0, ..., n)

(\*) 
$$\operatorname{Ext}^{i}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z}, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \cong \operatorname{H}^{n-i}(X, K_{X} \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z})^{\vee}$$

Thaddeus pairs and Reider's theorem concern the cases i = 1 and n = 1, 2. In these cases one associates a rank two torsion-free coherent sheaf  $E_{\epsilon}$  to each extension class  $\epsilon \in \text{Ext}^1(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_X)$  via the short exact sequence

$$(**) \ \epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_X \to E_\epsilon \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

and the Mumford stability (or instability) of  $E_{\epsilon}$  allows one to distinguish among extension classes. The ultimate aim of this paper is to show how a new notion of Bridgeland stability can similarly be used to distinguish among higher extension classes, leading to a natural higher-dimensional generalization of Thaddeus pairs as well as the setup for a higher-dimensional Reider's theorem.

Reider's theorem gives numerical conditions on an ample line bundle L on a surface S that guarantee the vanishing of the vector spaces  $\mathrm{H}^1(S, K_S \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z)$  which in turn implies the base-point-freeness (the d = 1 case) and very ampleness (the d = 2 case) of the adjoint line bundle  $K_S \otimes L$ .

In the first part of this note we will revisit Reider's Theorem in the context of Bridgeland stability conditions. Reider's approach, following Mumford, uses the Bogomolov inequality for Mumford-stable coherent sheaves on a surface to argue (under suitable numerical conditions on L) that no exact sequence (\*\*) can produce a Mumford stable sheaf  $E_{\epsilon}$ , and then uses the Hodge Index Theorem to argue that all the exact sequences (\*\*) that produce non-stable sheaves must split. Thus one concludes that  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_S) = 0$  and  $\operatorname{H}^1(S, K_S \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) = 0$ , as desired.

Here, we will regard an extension class in (\*\*) as a morphism  $\epsilon : L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to \mathcal{O}_S[1]$ to the *shift* of  $\mathcal{O}_S$  in one of a family of *tilts*  $\mathcal{A}_s$  (0 < s < 1) of the abelian category of coherent sheaves on X within the bounded derived category  $\mathcal{D}(X)$  of complexes of

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14J60, Secondary 14F05.

The second author was partially supported by NSF grant DMS 0501000.

coherent sheaves on X. Reider's argument for a surface S is essentially equivalent to ruling out non-trivial extensions by determining that:

- $\epsilon$  is neither injective nor surjective and
- if neither injective nor surjective, then  $\epsilon = 0$  (using Hodge Index).

This way of looking at Reider's argument allows for some minor improvements, but more importantly leads to the notion of *Bridgeland stablility conditions*, which are stability conditions, not on coherent sheaves, but rather on objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ .

In  $[\mathbf{AB}]$ , it was shown that the Bogomolov Inequality and Hodge Index Theorem imply the existence of such stability conditions on arbitrary smooth projective surfaces S (generalizing Bridgeland's stability conditions for K-trivial surfaces  $[\mathbf{Bri08}]$ ). Using these stability conditions, we investigate the stability of objects of the form  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  and  $\mathcal{O}_S[1]$  with a view toward reinterpreting the vanishing

$$\operatorname{Hom}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_S[1]) = 0$$

as a consequence of an inequality  $\mu(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) > \mu(\mathcal{O}_S[1])$  of Bridgeland slopes. Since this is evidently a stronger condition than just the vanishing of the Hom, it is unsurprising that it should require stronger numerical conditions. This reasoning easily generalizes to the case where  $\mathcal{O}_S$  is replaced by  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}$ , the derived dual of the ideal sheaf of a finite length subscheme  $W \subset S$ .

The Bridgeland stability of the objects  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  and  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  is central to a new generalization of Thaddeus pairs from curves to surfaces. A Thaddeus pair on a curve C is an extension of the form:

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{I}_W^{\vee} \to E_\epsilon \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

where L is a line bundle and  $Z, W \subset C$  are effective divisors. Normally we would write this

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_C(W) \to E_\epsilon \to L(-Z) \to 0$$

since finite length subschemes of a curve are effective Cartier divisors. The generic such extension determines a Mumford-stable vector bundle  $E_{\epsilon}$  on C whenever

$$\deg(L(-Z)) > \deg(\mathcal{O}_C(W)) \text{ (and } C \neq \mathbb{P}^1)$$

or, equivalently, whenever the Mumford slope of L(-Z) exceeds that of  $\mathcal{O}_C(W)$  (both line bundles are trivially Mumford-stable). Moreover, the Mumford-unstable vector bundles arising in this way are easily described in terms of the secant varieties to the image of C under the natural linear series map:

$$\phi: C \to \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^{0}(C, K_{C} \otimes L(-Z - W))^{\vee}) \cong \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{Ext}^{1}(L(-Z), \mathcal{O}_{C}(W)))$$

since an unstable vector bundle  $E_{\epsilon}$  can only be destabilized by a sub-line bundle  $L(-Z') \subset L(-Z)$  that lifts to a sub-bundle of  $E_{\epsilon}$ :

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} & & & & L(-Z') \\ \swarrow & & \swarrow & & \downarrow \\ (\dagger) & 0 & \to & \mathcal{O}_C(W) & \to & E_\epsilon & \to & L(-Z) & \to & 0 \end{array}$$

In the second part of this paper, we note that Thaddeus pairs naturally generalize to surfaces as extensions of the form

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

in the categories  $\mathcal{A}_s$  under appropriate Bridgeland stability conditions for which both  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  and  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  are Bridgeland stable and their Bridgeland slopes satisfy  $\mu(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) > \mu(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1])$ . Note that  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  is never a coherent sheaf.

This is a very satisfying generalization of Thaddeus pairs since

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{A}_{s}}^{1}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z}, \mathcal{I}_{W}^{\vee}[1]) \cong \operatorname{H}^{0}(S, K_{S} \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{W})^{\vee}$$

by Serre duality. In this case, however, there are subobjects

$$K \subset L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$$

not of the form  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z'}$  that may destabilize  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$ , as in (†). These subobjects are necessarily coherent sheaves, but may be of higher rank than one, and therefore not subsheaves of  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  in the usual sense. This leads to a much richer geometry for the locus of "unstable" extensions than in the curve case.

We will finally discuss the moduli problem for families of Bridgeland stable objects with the particular invariants

$$[E] = [L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z] + [\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]] = [L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z] - [\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}]$$

in the Grothendieck group (or cohomology ring) of S, and finish by describing wall-crossing phenomena of (some of) these moduli spaces in the K-trivial case, following [**AB**].

This line of reasoning suggests a natural question for threefolds X. Namely, might it be possible to prove a Reider theorem for L and  $Z \subset X$  by ruling out non-trivial extensions of the form

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

in some tilt  $\mathcal{A}_s$  of the category of coherent sheaves on X via a version of the Bogomolov Inequality and Hodge Index Theorem for objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  on threefolds?

We do not know versions of these results that would allow a direct application of Reider's method of proof, but this seems a potentially fruitful direction for further research, and ought to be related to the current active search for examples of Bridgeland stability conditions on complex projective threefolds.

Acknowledgment: The authors would like to thank the referee for his patience and for many valuable suggestions.

#### 2. The Original Reider

Fix an ample divisor H on a smooth projective variety X over  $\mathbb{C}$  of dimension n. A non-zero torsion-free coherent sheaf E on X has Mumford slope

$$\mu_H(E) = \frac{c_1(E) \cdot H^{n-1}}{\operatorname{rk}(E)H^n}$$

and E is H-Mumford-stable if  $\mu_H(K) < \mu_H(E)$  for all non-zero subsheaves  $K \subset E$  with the property that Q = E/K is supported in codimension  $\leq 1$ .

**Bogomolov Inequality:** Suppose *E* is an *H*-Mumford-stable torsion-free coherent sheaf on *X* and  $n \ge 2$ . Then

$$\operatorname{ch}_2(E) \cdot H^{n-2} \le \frac{c_1^2(E) \cdot H^{n-2}}{2\operatorname{rk}(E)}$$

(in case X = S is a surface, the conclusion is independent of the choice of H).

**Application 2.1:** For an ample line bundle  $L = \mathcal{O}_S(H)$  on a smooth projective surface S and a finite subscheme  $Z \subset S$ , consider  $\epsilon \in \text{Ext}^1(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_S)$  and suppose

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_S \to E \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

yields an *H*-Mumford-stable sheaf *E*. Then  $H^2 = c_1^2(L) \le 4d$ .

**Proof:** If *E* is *H*-Mumford stable, then by the Bogomolov inequality,

$$\operatorname{ch}_2(E) = \frac{c_1^2(L)}{2} - d \le \frac{c_1^2(E)}{4} = \frac{c_1^2(L)}{4}.$$

Hodge Index Theorem: Let D be an arbitrary divisor on X. Then

$$\left(D^2 \cdot H^{n-2}\right)(H^n) \le (D \cdot H^{n-1})^2$$

and equality holds if and only if there exists a (rational) number k with the property that  $(D \cdot H^{n-2}) \cdot E = (kH^{n-1}) \cdot E$  for all divisors E.

**Application 2.2:** For  $S, H = c_1(L)$  and Z as in Application 2.1, suppose an extension class  $\epsilon \in \text{Ext}^1(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_S)$ ,

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_S \to E \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

yields a sheaf E that is **not** H-Mumford-stable. Then either  $\epsilon = 0$  or else there is an effective curve  $C \subset S$  such that:

(a) 
$$C \cdot c_1(L) \le \frac{1}{2}c_1^2(L)$$
 and (b)  $C \cdot c_1(L) \le C^2 + d$ 

and it follows that  $-d < C^2 \leq d$ . Moreover,

(c)  $c_1^2(L) > 4d \Rightarrow C^2 < d$  and (d)  $c_1^2(L) > (d+1)^2 \Rightarrow C^2 \le 0.$ 

**Proof:** By definition of (non)-stability, there is a rank-one subsheaf  $K \subset E$ such that  $c_1(K) \cdot c_1(L) \geq \frac{1}{2}c_1(E) \cdot c_1(L) = \frac{1}{2}c_1^2(L)$ . We may assume that the quotient Q = E/K is torsion-free, replacing Q by  $Q/Q_{\text{tors}}$  and K by the kernel of the map  $E \to Q/Q_{\text{tors}}$  if necessary (which can only increase  $c_1(K) \cdot c_1(L)$ ). It follows that the induced map  $K \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  is non-zero and either K splits the sequence, or else  $K \subset L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  is a proper subsheaf. In the latter case,  $K = L(-C) \otimes \mathcal{I}_W$  for some effective curve C and zero-dimensional  $W \subset S$ , and (a) now follows immediately.

The inequality (b) is seen by computing the second Chern character of E in two different ways. The quotient Q has the form  $\mathcal{O}_S(C) \otimes \mathcal{I}_V$  for some  $V \subset S$ , necessarily of dimension zero since  $c_1(K) + c_1(Q) = c_1(L)$ , and in particular

$$ch_2(E) = \frac{c_1^2(L)}{2} - d = \frac{(c_1(L) - C)^2}{2} - l(W) + \frac{C^2}{2} - l(V) \le \frac{c_1^2(L)}{2} + C^2 - C \cdot c_1(L)$$
  
which gives (b)

which gives (b).

Next, applying Hodge Index and (a) and (b) give

$$C^{2}c_{1}^{2}(L) \leq (C \cdot c_{1}(L))^{2} \leq \frac{1}{2}c_{1}^{2}(L)\left(C^{2}+d\right)^{2}$$

from which we conclude that  $C^2 \leq d$ . That  $C^2 > -d$  follows immediately from (b) and the fact that L is ample. Finally, suppose  $C^2 = d - k$  for  $0 \leq k < d$  and apply Hodge Index and (b) to conclude that:

$$(d-k)c_1^2(L) \le (C \cdot c_1(L))^2 \le (2d-k)^2.$$

In particular,  $c_1^2(L) \leq 4d + \frac{k^2}{d-k}$  and then (the contrapositives of) (c) and (d) follow from the cases k = 0 and  $k \leq d-1$ , respectively.

All of this gives as an immediate corollary a basic version of

**Reider's Theorem:** If L is an ample line bundle on a smooth projective surface S such that  $c_1^2(L) > (d+1)^2$  and  $C \cdot c_1(L) > C^2 + d$  for all effective divisors C on S satisfying  $C^2 \leq 0$ , then " $K_S + L$  separates length d subschemes of S," i.e.

$$\mathrm{H}^1(S, K_S \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) = 0$$

for all subschemes  $Z \subset S$  of length d (or less).

Corollary (Fujita's Conjecture for Surfaces): If L is an ample line bundle on a smooth projective surface S, then  $K_S + (d+2)L$  separates length d subschemes.

Note: For other versions of Reider's theorem, see e.g. [Laz97].

### 3. Reider Revisited

A torsion-free coherent sheaf E is H-Mumford semi-stable (for X and H as in  $\S 2$ ) if

$$\mu_H(K) \le \mu_H(E)$$

for all subsheaves  $K \subseteq E$  (where  $\mu_H$  is the Mumford slope from §2). A Mumford *H*-semi-stable sheaf *E* has a *Jordan-Hölder filtration* 

$$F_1 \subset F_2 \subset \cdots \subset F_M = E,$$

where the  $F_{i+1}/F_i$  are Mumford *H*-stable sheaves all of the same slope  $\mu_H(E)$ . Although the filtration is not unique, in general, the associated graded coherent sheaf  $\oplus F_i = \operatorname{Ass}_H(E)$  is uniquely determined by the semi-stable sheaf E (and H).

The Mumford *H*-slope has the following additional crucial property:

Harder-Narasimhan Filtration: Every coherent sheaf E on X admits a uniquely determined (finite) filtration by coherent subsheaves

$$0 \subset E_0 \subset E_1 \subset E_2 \subset \cdots \subset E_N = E$$
 such that

- $E_0$  is the torsion subsheaf of E and
- Each  $E_i/E_{i-1}$  is *H*-semi-stable of slope  $\mu_i$  with  $\mu_1 > \mu_2 > \cdots > \mu_N$ .

Harder-Narasimhan filtrations for a fixed ample divisor class H give rise to a family of "torsion pairs" in the category of coherent sheaves on X:

**Definition:** A pair  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{T})$  of full subcategories of a fixed abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$  is a *torsion pair* if:

(a) For all objects  $T \in ob(\mathcal{T})$  and  $F \in ob(\mathcal{F})$ , Hom(T, F) = 0.

(b) Each  $A \in ob(\mathcal{A})$  fits into a (unique) extension  $0 \to T \to A \to F \to 0$  for some (unique up to isomorphism) objects  $T \in ob(\mathcal{T})$  and  $F \in ob(\mathcal{F})$ .

**Application 3.1:** For each real number s, let  $\mathcal{T}_s$  and  $\mathcal{F}_s$  be full subcategories of the category  $\mathcal{A}$  of coherent sheaves on X that are closed under extensions and which are generated by, respectively:

 $\mathcal{F}_s \supset \{ \text{torsion-free } H \text{-stable sheaves of } H \text{-slope } \mu \leq s \}$ 

 $\mathcal{T}_s \supset \{ \text{torsion-free } H \text{-stable sheaves of } H \text{-slope } \mu > s \} \cup \{ \text{torsion sheaves} \}$ 

Then  $(\mathcal{F}_s, \mathcal{T}_s)$  is a torsion pair of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Proof:** Part (a) of the definition follows from the fact that Hom(T, F) = 0 if T, F are H-stable and  $\mu_H(T) > \mu_H(F)$ , together with the fact that Hom(T, F) = 0 if T is torsion and F is torsion-free.

A coherent sheaf E is either torsion (hence in  $\mathcal{T}_s$  for all s) or else let  $E(s) := E_i$ be the largest subsheaf in the Harder-Narasimhan of E with the property that  $\mu(E_i/E_{i-1}) > s$ . Then  $0 \to E(s) \to E \to E/E(s) \to 0$  is the desired short exact sequence for (b) of the definition.

**Theorem (Happel-Reiten-Smalø)** [HRS96]: Given a torsion pair  $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{F})$ , then there is a *t*-structure on the bounded derived category  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  defined by:

$$ob(\mathcal{D}^{\geq 0}) = \{ E^{\bullet} \in ob(\mathcal{D}) \mid \mathbf{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{H}^{i}(E^{\bullet}) = 0 \text{ for } i < -1 \}$$
$$ob(\mathcal{D}^{\leq 0}) = \{ E^{\bullet} \in ob(\mathcal{D}) \mid \mathbf{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{T}, \mathbf{H}^{i}(E^{\bullet}) = 0 \text{ for } i > 0 \}$$

In particular, the heart of the *t*-structure:

$$\mathcal{A}_{(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{T})} := \{ E^{\bullet} \mid \mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{F}, \mathrm{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{T}, \mathrm{H}^{i}(E^{\bullet}) = 0 \text{ otherwise} \}$$

is an abelian category (referred to as the "tilt" of  $\mathcal{A}$  with respect to  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{T})$ ).

**Notation:** We will let  $\mathcal{A}_s$  denote the tilt with respect to  $(\mathcal{F}_s, \mathcal{T}_s)$  (for fixed H).

In practical terms, the category  $\mathcal{A}_s$  consists of:

- Extensions of torsion and H-stable sheaves T of slope > s
- Extensions of shifts F[1] of H-stable sheaves F of slope  $\leq s$
- Extensions of a sheaf T by a shifted sheaf F[1].

(

Extensions in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  of coherent sheaves  $T_1, T_2$  in  $\mathcal{T}$  or shifts of coherent sheaves  $F_1[1], F_2[1]$  in  $\mathcal{F}$  are given by extension classes in  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{A}}(T_1, T_2)$  or  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{A}}(F_1, F_2)$ , which are first extension classes in the category of coherent sheaves.

However, an extension of a coherent sheaf T by a shift F[1] in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  is quite different. It is given by an element of  $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{A}_s}(T, F[1])$  by definition, but:

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{A}_{s}}(T, F[1]) = \operatorname{Ext}^{2}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}(T, F)$$

and this observation will allow us to associate objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  to certain "higher" extension classes of coherent sheaves in  $\mathcal{A}$  just as coherent sheaves are associated to first extension classes of coherent sheaves.

For a general introduction to derived categories, we find the reference  $[\mathbf{M}]$  to be quite useful. A quick introduction to some important notions is contained in  $[\mathbf{AB}]$ . For this paper, we will need to recall that the shift F[1] of a coherent sheaf is the unique object of the derived category of coherent sheaves on X satisfying  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(F[1]) = F$  and  $\mathrm{H}^{i}(F[1])) = 0$  for  $i \neq -1$ , that each short exact sequence:

$$0 \to K^{\bullet} \to E^{\bullet} \to Q^{\bullet} \to 0$$

of objects in each of the abelian categories  $\mathcal{A}_s$  induces a long exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet}) \to$$
$$\to \mathrm{H}^{0}(K^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(Q^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

of coherent sheaves on X, and finally that in the Grothendieck group  $K(\mathcal{D})$  of the derived category, the class of each  $E^{\bullet}$  in each  $\mathcal{A}_s$  satisfies

$$[E^{\bullet}] = [\mathrm{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet})] - [\mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})]$$

Next, recall that the **rank** is an integer-valued linear function

$$r: K(\mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{Z}$$

with the property that  $r([E]) \ge 0$  for all classes of coherent sheaves E.

Always fixing H, we may define an analogous rank function for each  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$r_s: K(\mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{R}; \ r_s([E^{\bullet}]) = c_1(E^{\bullet}) \cdot H^{n-1} - s \cdot r(E^{\bullet}) H^n$$

which by definition has the property that  $r_s([E^{\bullet}]) \geq 0$  for all objects  $E^{\bullet}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ and in addition  $r_s([T]) > 0$  for all coherent sheaves in  $\mathcal{T}_s$  that are supported in codimension  $\leq 1$ . This rank is evidently rational-valued if  $s \in \mathbb{Q}$ .

Now consider the objects  $\mathcal{O}_X[1]$  and  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  for  $0 \leq s < 1$   $(H = c_1(L))$ where  $Z \subset X$  is any closed subscheme supported in codimension  $\geq 2$ .

## Sub-objects of $\mathcal{O}_X[1]$ in $\mathcal{A}_s$ :

An exact sequence  $0 \to K^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to Q^{\bullet} \to 0$  of objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  (for any  $s \ge 0$ ) induces a long exact sequence of cohomology sheaves:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet}) \stackrel{\delta}{\to} \mathrm{H}^0(K^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

Since  $H^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$  is torsion-free and  $\delta$  is not a (non-zero) isomorphism, then either:

- (i)  $\operatorname{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) = \mathcal{O}_X, Q^{\bullet} = 0, \delta = 0 \text{ and } K^{\bullet} = \mathcal{O}_X[1],$
- (*ii*)  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) = 0, \delta = 0$  and  $Q^{\bullet} = \mathcal{O}_X[1]$ , or else

(*iii*)  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) = 0$  and  $\delta \neq 0$ . Then  $\mathrm{H}^{0}(K^{\bullet})$  has no torsion subsheaf supported in codimension two (since it would lift to a torsion subsheaf of  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$ ). Moreover,  $Q^{\bullet} = \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$  is the shift Q[1] of a non-zero torsion-free sheaf Q that satisfies:

$$0 \le r_s(Q[1]) = -c_1(Q) \cdot H^{n-1} + s \cdot r(Q)H^n < r_s(\mathcal{O}_X[1]) = sH^n$$

hence in particular the (ordinary) rank r(Q) > 1, and:

$$s\left(1-\frac{1}{r(Q)}\right) < \mu_H(Q) \le s.$$

Moreover, if E is a stable coherent sheaf appearing in the associate graded of a semi-stable coherent sheaf in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of Q, then the same inequality holds for  $\mu_H(E)$  (because the  $r_s$  rank is additive).

### Sub-objects of $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$ in $\mathcal{A}_s$ :

An exact sequence:  $0 \to K'^{\bullet} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to Q'^{\bullet} \to 0$  in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  (for any s < 1) induces a long exact sequence of cohomology sheaves

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q'^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(K'^{\bullet}) \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z} \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(Q'^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

from which it follows that  $K' := \mathrm{H}^0(K^{\prime \bullet})$  is a torsion-free sheaf, and either:

(i') K' = 0 and  $Q'^{\bullet} = L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$ ,

(ii') r(K') = 1, so that  $K' = L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z'}$  and  $Q'^{\bullet} = \mathrm{H}^{0}(Q'^{\bullet}) \cong L \otimes (\mathcal{I}_{Z}/\mathcal{I}_{Z'})$  for some closed subscheme Z' containing (and possibly equal to) Z, or else

(*iii'*) 
$$r(K') > 1$$
 and  $H^{-1}(Q'^{\bullet}) \neq 0$ .

In cases (ii') and (iii'), we have the inequality:

$$s < \mu_H(K') \le s + \frac{(1-s)}{r(K')}$$

and the same inequality when K' is replaced by any E' appearing in the associated graded of a semi-stable coherent sheaf in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of K'.

Corollary 3.2: The alternatives for a non-zero homomorphism

 $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_s}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_X[1]) = \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_X}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_X)$  for some fixed 0 < s < 1 are as follows:

(a) f is injective, with quotient  $Q^{\bullet} = Q[1]$ ,

$$0 \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to Q[1] \to 0,$$

which in particular implies that  $1/2 = \mu_H(Q) \leq s$  and, more generally, that each stable E in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of Q has Mumford-slope  $\mu_H(E) \leq s$ .

(b) f is surjective, with kernel  $(K')^{\bullet} = K'$ ,

$$0 \to K' \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to 0,$$

which in particular implies that  $1/2 = \mu_H(K') > s$  and, more generally, that each stable E' in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of K' has Mumford-slope  $\mu_H(E') > s$ .

(c) f is neither injective nor surjective, inducing a long exact sequence

$$0 \to L(-D) \otimes \mathcal{I}_W \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to (\mathcal{O}_X(D) \otimes \mathcal{I}_V)[1] \to 0$$

for some effective divisor D satisfying  $D \cdot H^{n-1} \leq sH^n$  and  $D \cdot H^{n-1} < (1-s)H^n$ , as well as subschemes  $V, W \subset X$  supported in codim  $\geq 2$ .

**Proof:** Immediate from the considerations above.

*Example:* At s = 1/2, we nearly get the same dichotomy as in §2. Here

f is injective in  $\mathcal{A}_{1/2} \Leftrightarrow E$  is H-semistable

where E is the rank two sheaf of slope  $\mu_H(E) = \frac{1}{2}$  defined by the extension class determined by f. If E is H-semistable, then E[1] is an object of  $\mathcal{A}_{1/2}$ , and the sequence of (a) is the tilt of the extension. Conversely, if f is injective in  $\mathcal{A}_{1/2}$ , then E = Q in (a) and is H-semi-stable since non-semistable sheaves of slope  $\frac{1}{2}$  do not belong to  $\mathcal{F}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ . If f is surjective, then E = K' in (b), but this yields a contradiction (so f cannot be surjective), and if f is neither surjective nor injective, then E is an extension of  $\mathcal{O}_X(D) \otimes \mathcal{I}_V$  by  $L(-D) \otimes \mathcal{I}_W$  in (c) which is visibly not H-semistable.

Next, recall that the ordinary degree is an integer-valued linear function

$$d: K(\mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{Z}; \quad d([E]) = c_1(E) \cdot H^{n-1}$$

(depending upon H) with the property that for all coherent sheaves E,

$$r(E) = 0 \Rightarrow (d(E) \ge 0 \text{ and } d(E) = 0 \Leftrightarrow E \text{ is supported in codim} \ge 2).$$

There is an analogous two-parameter family of degree functions  $(s \in \mathbb{R}, t > 0)$ ,

$$d_{(s,t)}: K(\mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{R}; \quad d_{(s,t)}([E^{\bullet}]) = ch_2(E^{\bullet}) \cdot H^{n-2} - sc_1(E^{\bullet}) \cdot H^{n-1} + \left(\frac{s^2 - t^2}{2}\right) r(E^{\bullet}) H^n$$

(i.e. there is a ray of degree functions parametrized by t for each rank  $r_s$ ).

Note that if  $E^{\bullet}$  is an object of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  and  $r_s([E^{\bullet}]) = 0$ , then  $\mathrm{H}^0(E^{\bullet})$  is a torsion sheaf supported in codimension  $\geq 2$ ,  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})$  is an *H*-semistable coherent sheaf with  $\mu_H(\mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})) = s$ , and the "cohomology" sequence:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})[1] \to E^{\bullet} \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

exhibits  $E^{\bullet}$  as an extension in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  of a torsion sheaf by the shifted semistable sheaf.

**Proposition 3.3:** Suppose  $r_s([E^{\bullet}]) = 0$  for an object  $E^{\bullet}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ . Then for all t > 0,  $d_{(s,t)}([E^{\bullet}]) \ge 0$  and  $d_{(s,t)}([E^{\bullet}]) = 0 \Leftrightarrow E^{\bullet}$  is a sheaf, supported in codim  $\ge 3$ .

**Proof:** Because  $d_{(s,t)}$  is linear, it suffices to prove the Proposition for torsion sheaves T supported in codimension  $\geq 2$  and for shifts F[1] of *H*-stable torsion-free sheaves of slope s. In the former case

 $d_{(s,t)}(T) = ch_2(T) \cdot H^{n-2} \ge 0$  with equality  $\Leftrightarrow T$  is supported in codim  $\ge 3$ .

In the latter case

$$d_{(s,t)}(F[1]) = -\operatorname{ch}_2(F) \cdot H^{n-2} + sc_1(F) \cdot H^{n-1} - \left(\frac{s^2 - t^2}{2}\right) r(F)H^n$$

and  $\mu_H(F) = s$  implies  $(c_1(F) - sr(F)H) \cdot H^{n-1} = 0$ , which in turn implies that  $(c_1(F) - sr(F)H)^2 H^{n-2} \leq 0$  by the Hodge Index Theorem. It follows from the Bogomolov inequality that

$$\begin{aligned} d_{(s,t)}(F[1]) &\geq -\left(\frac{c_1^2(F)}{2r(F)}\right) \cdot H^{n-2} + sc_1(F) \cdot H^{n-1} - \left(\frac{s^2}{2}\right) r(F)H^n + \left(\frac{t^2}{2}\right) r(F)H^n \\ &= -\left(\frac{1}{2r(F)}\right) (c_1(F) - sr(F)H)^2 \cdot H^{n-2} + \left(\frac{t^2}{2}\right) r(F)H^n > 0. \quad \Box \end{aligned}$$

**Corollary 3.4:** If X = S is a surface, then the complex linear function

$$Z_{s+it} := (-d_{(s,t)} + itr_s) : K(\mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{C}; \ s \in \mathbb{R}, t > 0, i^2 = -1$$

has the property that  $Z_{s+it}(E^{\bullet}) \neq 0$  for all nonzero objects  $E^{\bullet}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ , and:

$$0 < \arg(Z_{s+it}(E^{\bullet})) \le 1 \text{ (where } \arg(re^{i\pi\rho}) = \rho)$$

i.e.  $Z_{s+it}$  takes values in the (extended) upper half plane.

In higher dimensions, the Corollary holds modulo coherent sheaves supported in codimension  $\geq 3$ , just as the ordinary *H*-degree and rank lead to the same conclusion modulo torsion sheaves supported in codimension  $\geq 2$ .

*Remark:* The "central charge"  $Z_{s+it}$  has the form

$$Z_{s+it}(E) = -d_{(s,t)}(E) + itr_s(E) = -\int_S e^{-(s+it)H} \operatorname{ch}(E) H^{n-2},$$

which is a much more compact (and important) formulation.

Corollary 3.5: Each "slope" function

$$\mu := \mu_{s+it} = \frac{d_{(s,t)}}{tr_s} = -\frac{\text{Re}(Z_{s+it})}{\text{Im}(Z_{s+it})}$$

has the usual properties of a slope function on the objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ . That is, given an exact sequence of objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ :

$$0 \to K^{\bullet} \to E^{\bullet} \to Q^{\bullet} \to 0$$

then  $\mu(K^{\bullet}) < \mu(E^{\bullet}) \Leftrightarrow \mu(E^{\bullet}) < \mu(Q^{\bullet})$  and  $\mu(K^{\bullet}) = \mu(E^{\bullet}) \Leftrightarrow \mu(E^{\bullet}) = \mu(Q^{\bullet}).$ 

Also, when we make the usual

**Definition:**  $E^{\bullet}$  is  $\mu$ -stable if  $\mu(K^{\bullet}) < \mu(E^{\bullet})$  whenever  $K^{\bullet} \subset E^{\bullet}$  and the quotient has nonzero central charge (i.e. is not a torsion sheaf supported in codim  $\geq 3$ ),

then  $\operatorname{Hom}(E^{\bullet}, F^{\bullet}) = 0$  whenever  $E^{\bullet}, F^{\bullet}$  are  $\mu$ -stable and  $\mu(E^{\bullet}) > \mu(F^{\bullet})$ .

Proof (of the Corollary): Simple arithmetic.

*Example:* In dimension  $n \ge 2$ 

$$\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1]) = \frac{t^2 - s^2}{2st} \text{ and } \mu_{s+it}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) = \frac{(1-s)^2 - t^2 - \frac{2d}{H^n}}{2t(1-s)}$$

where  $d = [Z] \cap H^{n-2}$  is the (codimension two) degree of the subscheme  $Z \subset X$ . Thus  $\mu_{s+it}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) > \mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1])$  if and only if

$$t^{2} + \left(s - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{d}{H^{n}}\right)\right)^{2} < \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{d}{H^{n}}\right)^{2}$$
 and  $t > 0$ 

This describes a nonempty subset (interior of a semicircle) of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  if  $H^n > 2d$ .

**Proposition 3.6:** For all smooth projective varieties X of dimension  $\geq 2$  (and L)

- (a)  $\mathcal{O}_X[1]$  is a  $\mu_{s+it}$ -stable object of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  for all  $s \ge 0$  and t > 0.
- (b) L is a  $\mu_{s+it}$ -stable object of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  for all s < 1 and t > 0.

**Proof:** (a) Suppose  $0 \neq K^{\bullet} \subset \mathcal{O}_X[1]$ , and let *E* be an *H*-stable torsion-free sheaf in the associated graded of *Q*, where *Q*[1] is the quotient object. Recall that  $0 < \mu_H(E) \leq s$ . The Proposition follows once we show  $\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1]) < \mu_{s+it}(E[1])$  for all *E* with these properties. We compute

$$\mu_{s+it}(E[1]) = \frac{-2\mathrm{ch}_2(E)H^{n-2} + 2sc_1(E)H^{n-1} - \left(s^2 - t^2\right)r(E)H^n}{2t(-c_1(E)H^{n-1} + sr(E)H^n)}$$

and we conclude (using the computation of  $\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1])$  above) that

$$\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1]) > \mu_{s+it}(E[1]) \Leftrightarrow (s^2 + t^2)c_1(E)H^{n-1} > (2s)\mathrm{ch}_2(E)H^{n-2}.$$

But by the Bogomolov Inequality

$$(2s)\operatorname{ch}_2(E)H^{n-2} \le s(c_1^2(E)H^{n-2})/r(E),$$

and by the Hodge Index Theorem and the inequality  $c_1(E) \cdot H^{n-1} \leq sr(E)H^n$ ,

$$sc_1^2(E)H^{n-2}/r(E) \le s^2c_1(E)H^{n-2}$$

The desired inequality follows from the fact that t > 0 and  $c_1(E) \cdot H^{n-1} > 0$ .

The proof of (b) proceeds similarly. Suppose  $0 \neq (K')^{\bullet} \subset L$  in  $\mathcal{A}_s$ , and let E' be an *H*-stable coherent sheaf in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of  $K' = H^0(K'^{\bullet})$ . Then  $s < \mu_H(E') < 1$ , and we need to prove that  $\mu_{s+it}(E') < \mu_{s+it}(L)$ . This follows as in (a) from the Bogomolov Inequality and Hodge Index Theorem.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.7** (Special case of Kodaira vanishing): If  $\dim X = n > 1$ , then

$$\mathrm{H}^{n-1}(X, K_X + L) = 0.$$

**Proof:** Within the semicircle  $\{(s,t) \mid t^2 + (s-\frac{1}{2})^2 < \frac{1}{4} \text{ and } t > 0\}$  the inequality  $\mu_{s+it}(L) > \mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1])$  holds. But L and  $\mathcal{O}_X[1]$  are always  $\mu_{s+it}$ -stable, hence

$$0 = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_s}(L, \mathcal{O}_X[1]) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_X}(L, \mathcal{O}_X) \cong \operatorname{H}^{n-1}(X, K_X + L)^{\vee}$$

*Remark:* The Bogomolov Inequality and Hodge Index Theorem are trivially true in dimension one. However, the computation of  $\mu_{s+it}(L)$  is different in dimension one, and indeed in that case the inequality  $\mu_{s+it}(L) > \mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_X[1])$  never holds (and evidently the corollary is false in dimension one)!

Restrict attention to X = S a surface for the rest of this section, and consider

 $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1],$ 

the shifted derived dual of the ideal sheaf of a subscheme  $W \subset S$  of length d. Since

 $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]) = \mathcal{O}_S$  and  $\mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1])$  is a torsion sheaf, supported on W, it follows that  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  is in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  for all  $s \geq 0$ .

Every quotient object  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to Q^{\bullet}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  satisfies:

•  $\mathrm{H}^{0}(Q^{\bullet})$  is supported in codimension two (on the scheme W, in fact).

• Let  $Q = H^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$  (a torsion-free sheaf). Then every *H*-stable term *E* in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of *Q* satisfies:

$$0 \le r_s(E[1]) = -c_1H + r_sH^2 < r_s(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]) = sH^2,$$

where r = r(E) and  $c_1 = c_1(E)$  (the second inequality follows because the  $r_s$ -rank of the kernel of  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to Q^{\bullet}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_s$  is positive). Therefore,

$$(r-1)sH^2 < c_1H \le rsH^2.$$

**Proposition 3.8:** For subschemes  $Z, W \subset S$  of the same length d (and  $H = c_1(L)$ ):

(a) If  $H^2 > 8d$ , then  $\mu_{s+it}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) > \mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1])$  for all (s, t) in the semicircle

$$C(d, H^2) := \left\{ (s, t) \mid t^2 + \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 < \frac{1}{4} - \frac{2d}{H^2} \text{ and } t > 0 \right\}$$

centered at the point (1/2, 0) (and the semicircle is nonempty!).

(b) If  $H^2 > 8d$  and  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  or  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  is not stable at  $(s,t) = (\frac{1}{2}, \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{2d}{H^2}})$ , then there is a divisor D on S and an integer r > 0 such that

$$\frac{r-1}{2}H^2 < D \cdot H \le \frac{r}{2}H^2$$
, and  $\frac{D}{r} \cdot H < \frac{D^2}{r^2} + 2d$ .

**Proof:** Part (a) is immediate from

$$\mu_{s+it}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z) = \frac{(1-s)^2 - t^2 - \frac{2d}{H^2}}{2(1-s)t} \text{ and } \mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]) = \frac{t^2 - s^2 + \frac{2d}{H^2}}{2st}.$$

We prove part (b) for  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  (the proof for  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  is analogous).

Let  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to Q^{\bullet}$  be a surjective map in the category  $\mathcal{A}_s$  and let  $Q = \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$ . Since  $\mathrm{H}^0(Q^{\bullet})$  is torsion, supported on W, it follows that  $\mu_{s+it}(Q[1]) \leq \mu_{s+it}(Q^{\bullet})$  with equality if and only if  $\mathrm{H}^0(Q^{\bullet}) = 0$ .

Thus if  $\mathcal{I}_{W}^{\vee}[1]$  is not  $\mu_{s+it}$ -stable, then  $\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{I}_{W}^{\vee}[1]) \geq \mu_{s+it}(Q[1])$  for some torsion-free sheaf Q satisfying  $(r-1)sH^{2} < c_{1}(Q) \cdot H \leq rsH^{2}$ , and moreover, the same set of inequalities hold for (at least) one of the stable torsion-free sheaves E appearing in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of Q. We let  $D = c_{1}(E)$  and  $r = \operatorname{rk}(E)$ . Then  $\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{I}_{W}^{\vee}[1]) \geq \mu_{s+it}(E[1])$  if and only if

$$(t^2 + s^2)(D \cdot H) \le (2s)\mathrm{ch}_2(E) + \frac{2d}{H^2}(rsH^2 - D \cdot H)$$

and by the Bogomolov inequality,  $(2s)ch_2(E) \leq s\frac{D^2}{r}$ . Setting  $(s,t) = (\frac{1}{2}, \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{2d}{H^2}})$ , we obtain the desired inequalities.

**Corollary 3.9:** (a) If  $L = \mathcal{O}_S(H)$  is ample on S and satisfies  $H^2 > (2d+1)^2$  and  $\mathrm{H}^1(S, K_S \otimes L \otimes I_W \otimes I_Z) \neq 0$ 

for a pair  $Z, W \subset S$  of length d subschemes, then there is a divisor D on S satisfying  $D^2 \leq 0$  and  $0 < D \cdot H \leq D^2 + 2d$ .

(b) (Fujita-type result) If L is an ample line bundle on S, then

 $\mathrm{H}^{1}(S, K_{S} \otimes L^{\otimes (2d+2)} \otimes I_{W} \otimes I_{Z}) = 0$ 

for all subschemes  $Z, W \subset S$  of length d (or less).

**Proof:** Part (b) immediately follows from (a). By Serre duality,

 $\mathrm{H}^{1}(S, K_{S} \otimes L \otimes I_{W} \otimes I_{Z}) \cong \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{\alpha}}}(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z}, \mathcal{I}_{W}^{\vee}[1])^{\vee}.$ 

Since  $(2d+1)^2 \ge 8d+1$  for  $d \ge 1$ , the non-vanishing of  $H^1$  and Proposition 3.8(a) imply that either  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  or  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  must not be stable at  $(\frac{1}{2}, \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{2d}{H^2}})$ , and by Proposition 3.8(b) there is a divisor D and integer  $r \ge 1$  such that the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor C = D/r satisfies

$$(1 - \frac{1}{r})\frac{H^2}{2} < C \cdot H \le \frac{H^2}{2}$$
 and  $C \cdot H \le C^2 + 2d$ 

(similar to Application 2.2). The result now follows as in Application 2.2 once we prove that  $C^2 \ge 1$  whenever r > 1.<sup>1</sup> To this end, note:

(i) 
$$r \ge 3 \Rightarrow C^2 + 2d \ge C \cdot H > \frac{H^2}{3} > \frac{8d+1}{3} \Rightarrow C^2 > \frac{2d+1}{3} \ge 1.$$

(ii)  $r = 2 \Rightarrow C^2 + 2d \ge C \cdot H > \frac{H^2}{4} > 2d + \frac{1}{4} \Rightarrow \frac{H^2}{4} \ge 2d + \frac{1}{2}, C \cdot H \ge 2d + 1$ , and  $C^2 \ge 1$ , since C is of the form D/2 for an "honest" divisor D.

Thus either  $C^2 \leq 0$ , in which case r = 1 and C = D is an "honest" divisor, or else  $C^2 \geq 1$ . Furthermore, by the Hodge index theorem,

$$C^{2}H^{2} \leq (C \cdot H)^{2} \leq \frac{H^{2}}{2} \left(C^{2} + 2d\right) \Rightarrow C^{2} \leq 2d$$

and if  $C^2 = \kappa$  for  $1 \le \kappa \le 2d$ , then  $\kappa^2 H^2 \le (C \cdot H)^2 \le (\kappa + 2d)^2$  and  $H^2 \le \left(1 + \frac{2d}{\kappa}\right)^2$ . This is a decreasing function, giving us  $H^2 \le (2d+1)^2$ , contradicting  $H^2 > (2d+1)^2$ .

*Remark:* This variation resembles other variations of Reider's theorem, e.g. **[Lan99]**, though the authors do not see how to directly obtain this result from the others.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The authors thank Valery Alexeev for pointing out the embarrassing omission of this step in the original version of the paper.

In a special case, Proposition 3.8 can be made even stronger, as noted in [AB].

**Proposition 3.10:** If  $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \mathbb{Z}$ , generated by  $c_1(L) = H$ , then the two objects  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  and  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$  are  $\mu_{(\frac{1}{2},t)}$ -stable for all t > 0 and any degree of Z (and W).

**Proof:** Again we do this for  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$ , the proof for  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  being analogous. Consider again the condition on every subbundle  $E \subset Q$ , where  $Q = \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet})$ , and  $Q^{\bullet}$  is a quotient object of  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$ :

$$(r(E) - 1)(\frac{1}{2})H^2 < c_1(E) \cdot H \le r(E)(\frac{1}{2})H^2$$

Since  $c_1(E) = kH$  is an integer multiple of H, by assumption, it follows immediately that Q is itself of even rank and H-stable, satisfying  $c_1(Q) = (r(Q)/2) H$ . But in that case, Q[1] has "Bridgeland rank"  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(Q[1]) = 0$ , hence has maximal phase (infinite slope), and thus cannot destabilize  $\mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1]$ .

*Remark:* The Proposition is not generally true for pairs (s, t) when  $s \neq \frac{1}{2}$ .

**Corollary 3.11:** If  $Pic(S) = \mathbb{Z}H$  and  $H^2 > 8d$ , then

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(S, K_{S} \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{W} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z}) = 0$$

for all pairs of subschemes  $Z, W \subset S$  of length d.

### 4. Thaddeus Pairs Revisited

Suppose S is a surface with ample line bundle  $L = \mathcal{O}_S(H)$  and that  $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \mathbb{Z}H$ . Consider the objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  (0 < s < 1) appearing as extensions

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_S[1] \to E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet} \to L \to 0$$

parametrized by

$$\epsilon \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{A}_{s}}(L, \mathcal{O}_{S}[1]) = \operatorname{Ext}^{2}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}(L, \mathcal{O}_{S}) \cong \operatorname{H}^{0}(S, K_{S} \otimes L)^{\vee}$$

As we saw in Proposition 3.6 and the preceding calculation,  $\mathcal{O}_S[1]$  and L are both  $\mu_{s+it}$  stable for all (s,t). Moreover,  $\mu_{s+it}(\mathcal{O}_S[1]) < \mu_{s+it}(L)$  inside the semicircle

$$C := \left\{ (s,t) \mid t^2 + \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 < \frac{1}{4} \text{ and } t > 0 \right\}$$

*Remark:* Here and earlier, we are using the notion of stability a little bit loosely. The correct definition, given by Bridgeland [**Bri08**], requires the existence of finite-length Harder-Narasimhan filtrations for all objects of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ . This is straightforward to prove when (s, t) are both rational numbers (following Bridgeland), but much more subtle in the irrational case. For the purposes of this paper, the rational values will suffice.

We investigate the dependence of the  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stability of  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  upon the extension class  $\epsilon$  for  $\frac{1}{2} + it$  inside the semicircle S. If  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  is  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -unstable, destabilized by

$$K^{\bullet} \subset E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$$
; then:

(i)  $K^{\bullet} = \mathrm{H}^{0}(K^{\bullet}) =: K$  is a coherent sheaf with  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}(K) > 0$ .

- (ii) K is H-stable of odd rank r and  $c_1(K) = ((r+1)/2)H$ .
- (iii) The induced map  $K \to L$  is injective (in the category  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ ).
Thus as in the curve case,  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  can only be destabilized by lifting subobjects  $K \subset L$  (in the category  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ ) of positive  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -slope to subobjects of  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$ :

That is, the unstable objects  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  correspond to extensions in the kernel of the map

$$\operatorname{Ext}^2_{\mathcal{O}_S}(L,\mathcal{O}_S) \to \operatorname{Ext}^2_{\mathcal{O}_S}(K,\mathcal{O}_S)$$

for some mapping of coherent sheaves  $K \to L$  with K satisfying (i) and (ii).

**Proof** (of (i)-(iii)): The  $d_{(\frac{1}{2},t)}$ -degree of  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  is

$$ch_2(E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}) - \frac{c_1 \cdot H}{2} + \frac{(\frac{1}{4} - t^2)}{2}rH^2 = 0$$

since  $ch_2(E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}) = H^2/2$ ,  $c_1 = H$  and r = 0. Thus the slope (equivalently, the degree) of any destabilizing  $K^{\bullet} \subset E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  is positive, by definition. Moreover the "ranks"

$$r_{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathcal{O}_S[1]) = r_{\frac{1}{2}}(L) = \frac{H^2}{2}$$

are the minimal possible (as in the curve case) without being zero; hence, as in the curve case,  $K^{\bullet} \subset E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  must also have minimal "rank"  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(K^{\bullet}) = \frac{H^2}{2}$  (if it had the next smallest "rank"  $H^2 = r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet})$ , it would fail to destabilize). The presentation of  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  gives  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}) = \mathcal{O}_S$  and  $\mathrm{H}^0(E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}) = L$ , hence if we let  $Q^{\bullet} = E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}/K^{\bullet}$ , then

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{O}_S \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(Q^{\bullet}) \to \mathrm{H}^0(K^{\bullet}) \to L \to \mathrm{H}^0(Q^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

and, as usual, either  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) = 0$  or  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(K^{\bullet}) = \mathcal{O}_S$ . The latter is impossible, since in that case the rank consideration would give  $K^{\bullet} = \mathcal{O}_S[1]$ , which doesn't destabilize for  $(\frac{1}{2}, t) \in C$ . Thus  $K^{\bullet} = K$  is a coherent sheaf. This gives (i).

Next, the condition that  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(K)$  be minimal implies that there can only be one term in the Harder-Narasimhan filtration of K (i.e. K is H-stable), and that

$$r_{\frac{1}{2}}(K) = c_1(K)H - \frac{r(K)H^2}{2} = \frac{H^2}{2}$$

Since  $c_1(K) = kH$  for some k, this gives (ii).

Finally, (iii) follows again from the minimal rank condition since any kernel of the induced map to L would be a torsion-free sheaf, of positive  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}$ -rank.

Suppose now that K satisfies (i) and (ii). By the Bogomolov inequality,

$$d_{(\frac{1}{2},t)}(K) \le \frac{1}{2r} \left( c_1(K) - \frac{r}{2}H \right)^2 - \frac{rt^2H^2}{2} = \frac{H^2}{2r} \left( \frac{1}{4} - r^2t^2 \right)$$

so in particular,  $t \leq \frac{1}{2r}$ , or in other words, we have shown:

**Proposition 4.1:** Given a positive integer  $r_0$ , if  $t > \frac{1}{2r_0}$  and if  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}(K) < 0$  for all  $K \subset L$  (in  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ ) of odd ordinary rank  $r \leq r_0$ , then  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  is  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable.

**Special Case:** Suppose  $t > \frac{1}{6}$ . Because  $H = c_1(L)$  generates  $\operatorname{Pic}(S)$  it follows that the only rank one subobjects  $K \subset L$  in  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$  are the subsheaves  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  for  $Z \subset S$  of finite length. Thus  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  only fails to be  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable if **both** 

$$d_{\left(\frac{1}{2},t\right)}(L\otimes\mathcal{I}_Z) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{4}-t^2\right)H^2 - d \ge 0\left(\Leftrightarrow t^2 \le \frac{1}{4}-\frac{2d}{H^2}\right)$$

and  $\epsilon \in \ker(\operatorname{Ext}^2(L, \mathcal{O}_S) \to \operatorname{Ext}^2(L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z, \mathcal{O}_S))$ , so that  $L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \subset L$  lifts to a subobject of  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$ . As in the curve case, it can be shown using Serre duality that the image of such a (non-zero) extension in the projective space

$$\mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^0(S, K \otimes L)^{\vee})$$

is a point of the secant (d-1)-plane spanned by  $Z \subset S$  under the linear series map:

$$\phi_{K+L}: S - - > \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^0(S, K \otimes L)^{\vee}).$$

By Corollary 3.11, this inequality on t guarantees  $\mathrm{H}^1(S, K_S \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{I}_W \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z)^{\vee} = 0$ for all subschemes  $Z, W \subset S$  of length d, hence in particular, the (d-1)-secant planes spanned by  $Z \subset S$  are well-defined.

Thus there are "critical points" or "walls" at  $t = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{2d}{H^2}} > \frac{1}{6}$ , i.e.  $d < \frac{2H^2}{9}$ on the line  $s = \frac{1}{2}$ , where the objects  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  corresponding to points of the secant variety

$$\left(\operatorname{Sec}^{d-1}(S) - \operatorname{Sec}^{d-2}(S)\right) \subset \mathbb{P}(\operatorname{H}^{0}(S, K \otimes L)^{\vee}),$$

change from  $\mu$ -stable to  $\mu$ -unstable as t crosses the wall.

**Moduli.** The Chern class invariants of each  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  are:

$$ch_2 = \frac{H^2}{2}, \quad c_1 = H, \quad r = 0$$

Thus it is natural to ask for the set of all  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable objects with these invariants, and further to ask whether they have (projective) moduli that are closely related (by flips or flops) as t crosses over a critical point. In one case, this is clear:

**Proposition 4.2:** For  $t > \frac{1}{2}$ , the  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable objects with Chern class invariants above are precisely the (Simpson)-stable coherent sheaves with these invariants, i.e. sheaves of pure dimension one and rank one on curves in the linear series |H|.

**Proof:** Suppose  $E^{\bullet}$  has the given invariants and is not a coherent sheaf. Then the cohomology sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})[1] \to E^{\bullet} \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(E^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

destabilizes  $E^{\bullet}$  for  $t > \frac{1}{2}$  for the following reason. Let  $E = \mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet})$ . If  $c_1(E) = kH$ , then  $k \leq \frac{r}{2}$  is required in order that  $E[1] \in \mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Moreover, since  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E^{\bullet}) = H^2$  and  $\mathrm{H}^0(E^{\bullet})$  has positive (ordinary) rank, hence also positive  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}$ -rank, it follows that either  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E[1]) = 0$  or  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E[1]) = \frac{H^2}{2}$ . But  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E[1]) = 0$  implies E[1] has maximal (infinite) slope, and then  $E^{\bullet}$  is unstable (for all t). It follows similarly that if  $r_{\frac{1}{2}}(E[1]) = \frac{H^2}{2}$ , then  $E^{\bullet}$  is unstable for all t unless E is H-stable, of rank r = 2k + 1. In that case, by the Bogomolov inequality,

$$d_{\left(\frac{1}{2},t\right)}(E[1]) = -\operatorname{ch}_{2}(E) + \frac{c_{1}(E)H}{2} - \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} - t^{2}\right)rH^{2}}{2} \ge \frac{H^{2}}{2}\left(t^{2}r - \frac{1}{4r}\right)$$

and this is positive if  $t > \frac{1}{2}$ .

In fact, at  $t = \frac{1}{2}$  only  $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(E^{\bullet}) = \mathcal{O}_S$  (the rank one case, moreover matching the Bogomolov bound) would fail to destabilize a non-sheaf  $E^{\bullet}$ , and conversely, among the coherent sheaves T with these invariants, only those fitting into an exact sequence (of objects of  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ )

$$0 \to L \to T \to \mathcal{O}_S[1] \to 0$$

become unstable as t crosses  $\frac{1}{2}$ , and they are replaced by the "Thaddeus" extensions

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_S[1] \to E^{\bullet} \to L \to 0.$$

The moduli of Simpson-stable coherent sheaves

$$M_S\left(0,H,\frac{H^2}{2}\right)$$

is known to be projective by a geometric invariant theory construction [Sim94]. It is the moduli of  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable objects of  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$  for  $t > \frac{1}{2}$ . The wall crossing at  $t = \frac{1}{2}$  removes

$$\mathbb{P}(\mathrm{Ext}^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{S}[1], L)) = \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^{0}(S, L)) \subset M_{S}\left(0, H, \frac{H^{2}}{2}\right)$$

and replaces it with  $\mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^0(S, K_S + L)^{\vee})$  in what we conjecture to be a new projective birational model. In the case  $K_S = 0$ , the Simpson moduli spaces are holomorphic symplectic varieties, this new birational model is a Mukai flop of the moduli of stable sheaves, and the further wall crossings (up to  $t = \frac{1}{6}$ , when rank three bundles appear) all replace extensions of the form

$$0 \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to (T \text{ or } E^{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to 0$$

with

 $0 \to \mathcal{I}_W^{\vee}[1] \to E^{\bullet} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0.$ 

This is achieved globally by Mukai flops, replacing projective bundles over the product  $\operatorname{Hilb}^d(S) \times \operatorname{Hilb}^d(S)$  of Hilbert schemes with their dual bundles,

$$\mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^{0}(S, L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{W} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z})) \iff \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{H}^{0}(S, L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{W} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z})^{\vee})$$

This was constructed in detail in [**AB**].

General questions regarding moduli of Bridgeland-stable objects remain fairly wide open, however. Toda [**Tod08**] has shown that when S is a K3 surface, then the Bridgeland semistable objects of fixed numerical class are represented by an Artin stack of finite type. One expects the isomorphism classes of Bridgeland-stable objects, at least in special cases as above, to be represented by a proper scheme when (s, t) is not on a "wall." However:

**Question 1:** When are the isomorphism classes of Bridgeland-stable objects of fixed numerical type represented by a (quasi)-projective scheme of finite type?

**Question 2:** Conversely, is there an example where the isomorphism classes are represented by a proper algebraic space which is not a projective scheme? (The examples produced in [**AB**] are proper algebraic spaces. It is unknown whether they are projective.)

For each  $t < \frac{1}{2}$ , we make the following provisional

**Definition:** The space of *t*-stable Thaddeus pairs (given *S* and ample *L*) is the proper transform of the projective space of extensions  $\mathbb{P}(\text{Ext}^1(L, \mathcal{O}_S[1]))$  under the natural rational embedding in the moduli space of (isomorphism classes of)  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable objects with invariants  $(0, H, H^2/2)$ .

*Remark:* Note that for  $t < \frac{1}{6}$ , this will contain objects that have no analogue in the curve case, corresponding to destabilizing Mumford-stable torsion-free sheaves K of higher odd rank r and first Chern class  $c_1(K) = \frac{r+1}{2}H$ .

**Question 3.** Can stable Thaddeus pairs, as a function of t (inside the moduli of  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -stable objects of the same numerical class) be defined as a moduli problem? If so, what are its properties? Is it projective? Smooth? What happens as  $t \downarrow 0$ ?

5. Reider in Dimension Three? Let X be a smooth projective threefold, with  $Pic(X) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot H$  and  $H = c_1(L)$  for an ample line bundle L. Consider

$$\epsilon: 0 \to \mathcal{O}_X[1] \to E^{\bullet}_{\epsilon} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0$$

for subschemes  $Z \subset X$  of finite length d, taken within the tilted category  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

**Question 4:** Are there bounds  $d_0$  and  $t_0$  such that *all* objects  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  formed in this way are  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}+it}$ -unstable when  $d > d_0$  and  $t < t_0$ ? If so, does this follow from a more general Bogomolov-type codimension three inequality for the numerical invariants of  $\mu$ -stable objects?

As we have already discussed in the surface case, a destabilizing subobject of an *unstable* such  $E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet}$  would be exhibited by lifting

$$(\dagger) \quad 0 \quad \rightarrow \quad \mathcal{O}_{S}[1] \quad \rightarrow \quad E_{\epsilon}^{\bullet} \quad \rightarrow \quad L \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z} \quad \rightarrow \quad 0$$

where  $K \subset L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z$  is a subobject in  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ . By requiring  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) = \mathbb{Z}$ , we guarantee that L(-D) does not belong to  $\mathcal{A}_{\frac{1}{2}}$  for any effective divisor D, and thus that Kdoes not factor through any L(-D). The two cases to consider are therefore

- $K = L \otimes \mathcal{I}_C$  where  $C \subset X$  is a curve, and
- K is an H-stable torsion-free sheaf of odd rank r > 1 and  $c_1(K) = \frac{r+1}{2}H$ .

**Question 5:** Assuming Question 4, are there examples of threefolds where the bounds of Question 4 are satisfied (hence all  $E^{\bullet}$  are  $\mu$ -unstable), but for which there nevertheless exist non-zero extensions?

And the last question is whether the two cases above can be numerically eliminated (by some form of the Hodge Index Theorem) for non-zero extensions, leading to a proof of a form of Fujita's conjecture for threefolds.

#### References

- [AB] D. Arcara, A. Bertram, Bridgeland-stable moduli spaces for K-trivial sufraces, arXiv:0708.2247v1 [math.AG].
- [Bri08] T. Bridgeland, Stability conditions on K3 surfaces, Duke Math. J. 141 (2008), 241–291.
- [HRS96] D. Happel, I. Reiten, S. Smalø, Tilting in abelian categories and quasitilted algebras, Mem. of the Am. Math. Soc. (1996), vol. 120, no. 575.
- [Lan99] A. Langer, A note on k-jet ampleness on surfaces, Contemp. Math. 241 (1999), 273–282.

- [Laz97] R. Lazarsfeld, Lectures on linear series, Complex Algebraic Geometry (Park City, UT, 1993), IAS/Park City Math. Series, vol. 3, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, 161–219.
- [M] D. Miličić, *Lectures on Derived Categories*, available online at http://www.math.utah.edu/~milicic/dercat.pdf.
- [Rei88] I. Reider, Vector bundles of rank 2 and linear systems on algebraic surfaces, Ann. Math. 127 (1988), 309–316.
- [Sim94] C. Simpson, Moduli of representations of the fundamental group of a smooth projective variety, Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. 80 (1994), 5–79.
- [Tha94] M. Thaddeus, Stable pairs, linear systems and the Verlinde formula, Invent. Math. 117 (1994), no. 2, 317–353.
- [Tod08] Y. Toda, Moduli stacks and invariants of semistable objects on K3 surfaces, Advances in Math. 217 (2008), 273–278.

Department of Mathematics, Saint Vincent College, 300 Fraser Purchase Road, Latrobe, PA 15650-2690, USA

 $E\text{-}mail\ address: \texttt{daniele.arcara@email.stvincent.edu}$ 

Department of Mathematics, University of Utah, 155 S. 1400 E., Room 233, Salt Lake City, UT 84112-0090, USA

*E-mail address*: bertram@math.utah.edu

# Intersection Pairings in Singular Moduli Spaces of Bundles

Lisa Jeffrey

ABSTRACT. This article summarizes results from [13] about intersection theory of moduli spaces of holomorphic bundles on Riemann surfaces, together with background material on partial desingularisation and intersection cohomology.

#### 1. Introduction

Let M(n, d) be the moduli space of bundles of rank n and degree d with fixed determinant on a Riemann surface  $\Sigma$  of genus  $g \geq 2$ . We do not assume n and d are coprime, so this space may be singular. The space M(n, d) may also be described as the space of representations of a central extension of the fundamental group of a Riemann surface  $\Sigma$  into SU(n) (where the generator of the center is sent to the element  $e^{2\pi i d/n}I$ , where I is the identity matrix) modulo the action of SU(n) by conjugation. From this point of view the singularities of the space are determined by the stabilizers of the conjugation action. For example M(2,0) is the space of conjugacy classes of representations of the fundamental group of a surface  $\Sigma$  into SU(2). The most singular points are those that send the entire fundamental group to the center of SU(2) (the identity matrix and minus the identity matrix); at these points the stabilizer is all of SU(2). The other singular stratum is the set of those points where the stabilizer is conjugate to U(1): these are the representations which send the entire fundamental group to a subgroup conjugate to U(1).

We shall study intersection pairings in M(n, d) using

- the ordinary cohomology of the partial desingularization M(n, d) (see Sections 2 and 3)
- intersection homology (see Sections 4 and 6)

We note (see [19] and [20] for the details) that M(n, d) is obtained as a geometric invariant theory (GIT) quotient of a finite dimensional variety R(n, d) equipped with a holomorphic action of SL(p) for

$$p = d - n(g - 1).$$

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 53D20, Secondary 53D30, 55N33, 55N91.

LJ was partially supported by a grant from NSERC. Thanks to Young-Hoon Kiem and also to the referee for a detailed reading and helpful comments on the manuscript.

We blow up the loci with the highest dimensional stabilizers, so the action of SL(p) extends to the blowup of R(n,d). After blowing up, the dimension of the highest dimensional stabilizer has been reduced. We repeat this process to finally reach a space where all the stabilizers are finite so the quotient M(n,d) is an orbifold. This procedure (*partial desingularization*) is described in [18]. We use the notation of [24], where the GIT quotient of a manifold M with an action of a reductive group G is defined as  $M^{ss}/G$ , where  $M^{ss}$  is the set of semistable points. The set of stable points is denoted by  $M^s$ . For the definition of 'stable' and 'semistable' we refer the reader to [24].

Note that rather than using the description of M(n,d) as a GIT quotient of R(n,d) by SL(p), we often use the description of it as a symplectic quotient of the "extended moduli space"  $M^{\text{ext}}$  [8] by a symplectic action of SU(n). The extended moduli space is a finite dimensional space with a symplectic structure on an open dense set with a Hamiltonian action of SU(n) for which the symplectic quotient is M(n,d). An infinite dimensional construction of the extended moduli space can be given [8] as the symplectic quotient of the space of all connections on a 2-manifold by the based gauge group. The extended moduli space can be written as the fiber product

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M^{\mathrm{ext}} & \stackrel{\mu}{\longrightarrow} & \mathrm{Lie}(K) \\ & & & & \downarrow^{\mathrm{exp}} \\ K^{2g} & \stackrel{\Phi}{\longrightarrow} & K \end{array}$$

Here K = SU(n) and  $\Phi$  is the map

$$\Phi(k_1,\ldots,k_{2g}) = \prod_{j=1}^g k_{2j-1}k_{2j}k_{2j-1}^{-1}k_{2j}^{-1},$$

while exp is the exponential map. An open dense set of  $M^{\text{ext}}$  is smooth and is equipped with a symplectic structure, for which  $\mu$  is the moment map for the action of K. In algebraic geometry the closest analogue is Seshadri's moduli space of bundles with level structure [25]; see also the monograph by Huybrechts and Lehn [7].

#### 2. Partial desingularization

Let  $\mu: M \to \mathbf{k}^*$  be the moment map for a Hamiltonian action of a compact Lie group K (with maximal torus T) on a symplectic manifold M. The Lie algebra of K is denoted by  $\mathbf{k}$ . If the symplectic quotient  $\mu^{-1}(0)/K$  is singular, there is a way to blow up M (by reverse induction on the dimension of the stabilizer) for which the partial desingularization  $\widetilde{M}$  inherits a Hamiltonian K action with moment map  $\widetilde{\mu}: \widetilde{M} \to \mathbf{k}^*$  and its symplectic quotient  $\widetilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/K$  is an orbifold. The details are given in [18].

The partial desingularization construction may be applied to the extended moduli space  $M^{\text{ext}}$  (see for example Section 8 of [13]). The classes in  $H^*_K(M^{\text{ext}})$  pull back to  $H^*_K(\widetilde{M^{\text{ext}}})$ .

In this article all cohomology groups are assumed to be with complex coefficients unless specified otherwise. We introduce the map  $\kappa_{\widetilde{M}}^{K,0} : H_K^*(\widetilde{M}) \to H^*(\widetilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/K)$  (the Kirwan map), which is the composition of the restriction map from  $H_K^*(M)$  to  $H_K^*(\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0))$  with the isomorphism

$$H_K^*(\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)) \cong H^*(\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/K).$$

The latter isomorphism is valid because K acts locally freely on  $\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)$ . There is a similar map  $\kappa_M^{T,c}: H_T^*(M) \to H^*(\mu_T^{-1}(c)/T)$  where  $\mu_T$  is the moment map for the action of the maximal torus T and c is an element in the Lie algebra of the maximal torus which is a regular value for  $\mu_T$ . The class  $\mathcal{D}$  is the class in  $H_T^*(\text{pt})$  given by the product of the positive roots – its image under the Kirwan map is the Poincaré dual of K/T, so it enables us to replace integration over  $\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/K$  by 1/n! times integration over  $\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/T$ .

Throughout this article, if X is a topological space we shall use the notation  $\int_X$  to mean pairing with the fundamental class of X. Let  $\alpha, \beta \in H^*_K(\widetilde{M}^{ext})$ . With the above notation,

(1) 
$$\int_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/T} \kappa(\alpha \beta \mathcal{D}) = A + B$$

where

$$A = \int_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\epsilon)/T} \kappa(\alpha \beta \mathcal{D})$$

and

$$B = \left( \int_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(0)/T} \kappa(\alpha\beta\mathcal{D}) - \int_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\epsilon)/T} \kappa(\alpha\beta\mathcal{D}) \right).$$

Here we have chosen a small regular value  $\epsilon$  of  $\tilde{\mu}$ . The term A is evaluated by studying "wall crossings", components of the fixed point set of a subtorus  $T' \subset T$  which intersect  $\mu^{-1}(0)$ . This first term is evaluated using the results of Guillemin, Kalkman and Martin (see Theorem 6.1). The term B is the same as the pairing for nonsingular symplectic manifolds (see [9]).

# 3. Partial desingularization of M(2,0)

In this section we give the results of the partial desingularization for M(2,0). These were computed in Section 8 of [13], where detailed proofs may be found. In this section only, we use the notation M(2,0) to refer to the moduli space of semistable bundles of rank 2 and degree 0 without fixing the determinant, since this was the case treated in Section 8 of [13] and this was the notation used there. Let  $M^{\text{ext}}$  be the extended moduli space with the group U(2) on which K = SU(2) acts by conjugation. Let T be the maximal torus of K.

From (1) we have (see ([13], (8.2)) that

(2) 
$$\kappa_{\widetilde{M}^{\text{ext}}}^{K,0}\left(\eta e^{\tilde{\omega}}\right) [\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(2,0)] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mu_T^{-1}(\varepsilon)/T} \kappa_{M^{\text{ext}}}^{T,\varepsilon} \left(\eta e^{\tilde{\omega}} \mathcal{D}^2\right) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \left( \int_{\tilde{\mu}_T^{-1}(0)/T} \kappa_{\widetilde{M}^{\text{ext}}}^{T,0} \left(\eta e^{\tilde{\omega}} \mathcal{D}^2\right) - \int_{\tilde{\mu}_T^{-1}(\varepsilon)/T} \kappa_{\widetilde{M}^{\text{ext}}}^{T,\varepsilon} \left(\eta^{\tilde{\omega}} \mathcal{D}^2\right) \right)$$

Here Y is the generator of  $H_T^*(\text{pt})$  and  $\bar{\omega}$  is  $\bar{\omega}(Y) = \tilde{\omega} + \mu_T Y$ , the equivariantly closed extension of the symplectic form  $\tilde{\omega}$  on  $\widetilde{M}$ . The element  $\eta$  is a class in  $H_K^*(\widetilde{M^{\text{ext}}})$ . The expression  $e^{\bar{\omega}}$  denotes the formal sum  $\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \bar{\omega}^m/m!$ , where only a finite number of terms have nonzero contributions because all the manifolds are finite dimensional. The notation is as in Section 2. Here  $\mu_T$  and  $\tilde{\mu_T}$  are moment

maps for the *T*-action on  $M^{\text{ext}}$  and its partial desingularization  $M^{\text{ext}}$ . The first term of (2) can be computed using periodicity, as in [11] (see Section 6 below).

To compute the final term, we need to examine the walls crossed in passing from 0 to  $\varepsilon$  in  $\mathbf{t}^* = \mathbb{R}$ . The components of the fixed point set that are relevant for us are those that meet the exceptional divisors in  $\widetilde{M}^{\text{ext}}$ .

We first describe the wall crossing term from the first blow-up. See Section 8.1 of [13]. To form  $\widetilde{M}^{\text{ext}}$  from  $M^{\text{ext}}$ , we first blow up along the set  $\Delta$  consisting of the points with stabilizer K = SU(2); this set is  $(S^1)^{2g}$ , where  $S^1$  represents the center of U(2).

The component with positive moment map of the T-fixed point set in the exceptional divisor is the projectivization

$$\mathbb{P}\left(T_{\mathrm{Jac}}\otimes\mathbb{R}\left(\begin{array}{cc}0&1\\0&0\end{array}\right)\right)\cong\mathbb{P}T_{\mathrm{Jac}}\cong\mathbb{P}^{g-1}\times\mathrm{Jac}$$

of the tangent bundle  $T_{\text{Jac}}$  of the Jacobian  $\text{Jac} \cong (S^1)^{2g}$ . The normal bundle to this component of the fixed point set is

(3) 
$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{g-1}}(-1) \oplus \left[ T_{\text{Jac}} \otimes \mathbb{R} \left( \begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{array} \right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{g-1}}(1) \right] \\ \oplus \left[ T_{\text{Jac}} \otimes \mathbb{R} \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \times \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{g-1}}(1) \right].$$

Here the  $2 \times 2$  matrices are elements of the Lie algebra of  $GL(2, \mathbb{C})$ . The first summand is normal to the exceptional divisor and the last two are normal in the exceptional divisor.

The torus T (the maximal torus of K) acts on the three summands of (3) with weights 2, -2, -4 respectively. As  $T_{\text{Jac}}$  is trivial, the equivariant Euler class of the normal bundle to Jac is

$$(-y+2Y)(y-2Y)^{g}(y-4Y)^{g}$$

where  $y := c_1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{g-1}}(1))$  is the generator of  $H^*(\mathbb{P}^{g-1})$  and  $Y \in H^2_T(\mathrm{p}t)$  is the generator of  $H^*_T(\mathrm{p}t)$ .

The wall crossing term from the first blow-up in the partial desingularization process is

$$W = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{P}^{g-1} \times \text{Jac}} \text{Res}_{Y=0} \frac{\eta e^{\bar{\omega}} |_{\Delta} \mathcal{D}^2}{(-y+2Y)(y-2Y)^g (y-4Y)^g}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2^{3g}} \int_{\text{Jac}} \text{Res}_{y=0} \text{Res}_{Y=0} \frac{\eta e^{\bar{\omega}} |_{\Delta}}{y^g Y^{2g-1}} (1-\frac{y}{2Y})^{-g-1} (1-\frac{y}{4Y})^{-g}$$

This implies that the classes  $a_2, b_2^j, f_2$  (in the notation of [13]) restrict to  $Y^2$ ,  $Yd^j$  and  $-2\gamma$  respectively, where the cohomology of Jac is generated by classes  $d^j \in H^1(\text{Jac})$   $(j = 1, \ldots, 2g)$  and we define  $\gamma = \sum_{j=1}^g d^j d^{j+g}$ . Therefore, we can explicitly compute the restriction of  $\eta e^{\bar{\omega}}$  to  $\Delta$  in terms of Y and  $d^j$ .

The last expression above is nonzero only when

$$\eta e^{\omega}|_{\Delta} \in H^*_T(\Delta) = H^*_T(\operatorname{Jac})$$

is a constant multiple of the product of  $Y^{3g-3}$  and the fundamental class  $\frac{\gamma^g}{g!}$  of  $\Delta$ , in which case the wall crossing term is computed as follows:

$$W = -\frac{1}{2^{3g}} \int_{\Delta} \operatorname{Res}_{y=0} \operatorname{Res}_{Y=0} \frac{\frac{\gamma^{g}}{g!} Y^{3g-3}}{y^{g} Y^{2g-1}} (1 - \frac{y}{2Y})^{-g-1} (1 - \frac{y}{4Y})^{-g}$$

$$(4) \qquad = -\frac{1}{2^{3g}} \operatorname{Res}_{y=0} \operatorname{Res}_{Y=0} \frac{Y^{g-2}}{y^{g}} (1 - \frac{y}{2Y})^{-g-1} (1 - \frac{y}{4Y})^{-g}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2^{3g}} \operatorname{Coeff}_{y^{g-1}Y^{-g+1}} (1 - \frac{y}{2Y})^{-g-1} (1 - \frac{y}{4Y})^{-g}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2^{3g}} \operatorname{Coeff}_{t^{g-1}} (1 - \frac{t}{2})^{-g-1} (1 - \frac{t}{4})^{-g}.$$

Here, t is a variable used to define a power series (t represents y/Y) and  $\operatorname{Coeff}_{t^{g-1}}$  denotes the coefficient of  $t^{g-1}$  in the power series.

The next step in this program is to compute the wall-crossing term for the second blowup. Let  $\Gamma$  denote the set of points in  $M^{\text{ext}}$  fixed by the action of T, and let  $\widehat{\Gamma}$  be the proper transform after the first blow-up. To get the partial desingularization we blow up along  $G\widehat{\Gamma}$  for  $G = K^{\mathbb{C}}$ . The details are given in [13], Section 8.2.

#### 4. Intersection cohomology

Intersection cohomology shares some properties with the ordinary cohomology of smooth manifolds, notably

- The Lefschetz hyperplane theorem: If X is a complex projective algebraic variety of complex dimension n and H is a general hyperplane section, the inclusion map  $IH_i(X \cap H) \to IH_i(X)$  is an isomorphism for i < n-1 and a surjection for i = n 1.
- The hard Lefschetz theorem: the map  $\omega : IH^i(X) \to IH^{i+2}(X)$  (multiplication by the Kähler form) is injective for i < n and surjective for i > n-2. This implies  $\omega^i : IH^{n-i}(X) \to IH^{n+i}(X)$  is an isomorphism.
- Poincaré duality: The cup product map

$$IH_j(X) \otimes IH_{2n-j}(X) \to \mathbb{R}$$

is a perfect pairing if  $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} X = 2n$ .

Intersection homology has the pairing given by Poincaré duality, but in general it does not have a ring structure. Intersection cohomology was originally defined by Goresky and MacPherson [3, 4]. A reference is the book [22] by Kirwan and Woolf.

## 5. Results of Y.-H. Kiem on equivariant cohomology and intersection homology

DEFINITION 5.1. Let G be a connected reductive group and let its maximal compact subgroup be K, so  $G = K^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Let G act linearly on a complex vector space A. A point  $\beta \in A$  will be defined to be in the set  $\mathcal{B}$  if  $\beta$  is the closest point to 0 in the convex hull of some subset of weights of the action of the maximal torus.

(A point  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  parametrizes a stratum  $S_{\beta}$  of the gradient flow of the Yang-Mills functional  $|\mu|^2$  on  $\mathbb{P}A$ , where  $\mu$  is the moment map for the action of K.) For each  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ ,  $n(\beta)$  is defined as the number of weights  $\alpha$  such that  $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle < \langle \beta, \beta \rangle$ . DEFINITION 5.2. [15] In the notation of Definition 5.2, the action of G on A is linearly balanced if for all  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ ,

$$2n(\beta) \ge \frac{1}{2} \dim A.$$

Here, if H is the identity component of Stab(p) for a point

$$p \in Z := \mu^{-1}(0),$$

we define  $W_p$  as the complement of the H fixed point set  $\widehat{W_p}^H$  in the symplectic slice [26]

$$\widehat{W}_p := (T_p(G \cdot p))^{\omega} / T_p(G \cdot p),$$

(where  $V^{\omega}$  is the symplectic annihilator of V) so that the symplectic slice  $\widehat{W}_p$  decomposes as  $\widehat{W}_p = \widehat{W}_p^H \oplus W_p$ .

For example, a linear action of  $G = \mathbb{C}^*$  on a vector space is linearly balanced if the number of positive weights equals the number of negative weights.

DEFINITION 5.3. ([15], Definition 4.2) The action of G on a Hamiltonian space U (with moment map  $\mu: U \to \mathbf{g}^*$  and  $Z := \mu^{-1}(0)$ ) is balanced if

- For all p ∈ Z the action of the identity component H of the stabilizer of G acting on W<sub>p</sub> is linearly balanced
- For a subgroup  $K \subset H$  which also appears as the identity component of the stabilizer of a point in Z, the  $N^K \cap H/K$  action on the K fixed point subspace  $W_p^{\mathbf{k}}$  is also linearly balanced, where  $\mathbf{k}$  is the Lie algebra of K. Here  $N^K$  is the normalizer of K, and the space  $W_p$  was introduced in Definition 5.2.

If G is a reductive group acting on M, then the Kirwan map is defined as the composition ([13], (2.2))

(5) 
$$\kappa_M : H^*_G(M) \to H^*_G(\widetilde{M}) \to H^*(\widetilde{M}//G) \to IH^*(M//G).$$

The map  $\kappa_M$  in (5) is surjective. This map is the composition of the restriction map from  $H_K^*(M)$  to  $H_K^*(M^{ss})$  and a surjection  $\kappa_M^{ss}: H_K^*(M^{ss}) \to IH^*(M//G)$ (see [21], Theorem 2.5). The proofs of these assertions are given in [21], [17] and [27]. The final map in the composition (5) exists (and is surjective) because the intersection cohomology  $IH^*(M//G)$  is a direct summand of the cohomology of the partial resolution of singularities  $H^*(\widetilde{M}//G)$ . Here  $\widetilde{M}$  is the partial desingularization of M, which was discussed in Section 2 above– see [18]. The second map in the composition (5) is the usual Kirwan map for the orbifold  $\widetilde{M}$  so it is surjective.

THEOREM 5.4. ([14], Section 7) If the action of G is balanced then there is a vector subspace  $V_M$  of  $H^*_G(M^{ss})$  such that

$$\kappa_M^{ss}: V_M \to IH^*(M//G)$$

is a bijection.

**Remark 1:** If  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in V_M$  are of complementary degrees, i.e. the sum of their degrees equals the real dimension of M//G, then also  $\sigma_1 \cup \sigma_2 \in V_M$ . In fact we have the following

THEOREM 5.5. ([12] Theorem 14) If  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  are both in  $V_M$  and have complementary degrees (as in Remark 1) then

$$\sigma_1 \cup \sigma_2 = \tau \langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle$$

where  $\tau$  is the top degree class in  $V_M$  and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the pairing in intersection cohomology.

This result shows that the pairing in intersection cohomology is given by the cup product in equivariant cohomology.

There is a weaker condition than Definition 5.3, called a *weakly balanced action* [14], under which Theorems 5.4 and 5.5 hold true. As mentioned in the Introduction, the space M(n,d) is the GIT quotient by SL(p) (for p = d - n(g - 1)) of a smooth quasi-projective variety  $R(n,d)^{ss}$  (the semistable points of R(n,d)). See [19] and [20].

THEOREM 5.6. ([16], Proposition 7.4) The SL(p) action on  $R(n,d)^{ss}$  is weakly balanced.

**Remark 2:** ([15]) In the case of M(n, d), the space  $V_M$  is characterized by decomposing the equivariant cohomology of components of the fixed point set of subtori and taking only those terms where the factor involving the equivariant cohomology of a point has degree less than a specific upper bound. The details are given in [15], (4.2) and [14], Section 7. More precisely

(6) 
$$V_M = \{\xi \in H^*_G(M^{ss}) : \Phi_H(\xi) \in H^*_{N^H_0/H}(Y_H) \otimes H^{< n_H}_H(\text{pt}) \; \forall H \}$$

Here  $H \subset G$  is the identity component of the stabilizer of points in  $Z = \mu^{-1}(0)$  for  $\mu$  the moment map for a G action on a Hamiltonian space U, and  $Y_H$  is the subset of points in Z fixed by H. Also,  $n_H = \frac{1}{2} \dim(W_p//H)$  for a point  $p \in Z$  whose stabilizer has H as its identity component. (Here  $W_p$  was defined in Definition 5.2.) The group  $N_0^H$  is the identity component of the normalizer  $N^H$  of H. The map

$$\Phi_H: H^*_G(Z) \to H^*_G(GY_H) \to H^*_{N^H}(Y_H)$$

is the map defined in [15] (4.1) associated to the composition of the obvious map

$$G \times_{N^H} Y_H \to GY_H$$

with the inclusion  $GY_H \to Z$ .

**Remark 3:** If K = SU(2), the K equivariant cohomology of the open subset

$$U = \mu^{-1}(B) \subset M^{\text{ext}}$$

of  $M^{\text{ext}}$  (where B is a G-invariant open ball containing 0) is given in [16] (Theorem 1, "Structure Theorem"), see also [15], Theorem 5.3. If the action of K had been locally free (which is of course not the case) this equivariant cohomology would be isomorphic to the ordinary cohomology of  $\text{Hom}(\pi, K)/K$ .

(7) 
$$H^*_{SU(2)}(U) \cong \bigoplus_{l=0}^g \operatorname{Prim}_l \otimes \mathbb{Q}[\alpha, \beta, \xi]/I_{g-l}.$$

Here  $\alpha, \beta, \xi$  are generators of degrees 2, 4, 6 in integral cohomology. The ideals  $I_n$  are generated by three elements  $c_{n+1}, c_{n+2}, c_{n+3}$  satisfying the recursion relation

(8) 
$$nc_n = \alpha c_{n-1} + (n-2)\beta c_{n-2} + 2\gamma c_{n-3}$$

where  $c_0 = 1$ ,  $c_1 = \alpha$ ,  $c_2 = \alpha^2/2$ . Here  $\gamma = -2\sum_{i=1}^g \psi_i \psi_{i+g}$  and  $\xi = \alpha\beta + 2\gamma$  (see [16] p. 254), where the  $\psi_i$  are cohomology classes of degree 3. Finally  $\operatorname{Prim}_l$  is defined on [16] p. 255 before Lemma 1: it is the primitive part of the *l*-th exterior power  $\wedge^l(\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_{2g})$  with respect to the action of the symplectic group Sp(g).

THEOREM 5.7. ([15], Corollary 5.4) Let  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  be as in Remark 3. (For details see the first and second paragraphs of [15], Section 5). Then  $\alpha^i \beta^j \in V_U$  only if j < g - 1.

#### 6. Results on intersection cohomology of M(n, d)

Assume  $\alpha, \beta \in H^*_G(M)$  and their restrictions to  $M^{ss}$  are in  $V_M$ . Then if  $\alpha\beta$  is represented by a top-degree form  $\eta$  compactly supported in the stable part  $M(n,d)^s$ of M(n,d), Theorem 5.5 tells us that the pairing  $\langle \kappa(\alpha), \kappa(\beta) \rangle$  is given by  $\int_{M(n,d)^s} \eta$ .

Martin's theorem [23] asserts that if  $\mu$  is the moment map for the action of SU(n) on M where M(n, d) is the symplectic quotient of M by SU(n), then

(9) 
$$\int_{M(n,d)^s} \kappa_M^{K,0}(\alpha\beta) = \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mu^{-1}(0)^s/T} \kappa_M^{T,0}(\alpha\beta\mathcal{D})$$

where  $\mathcal{D}$  is the element of equivariant cohomology represented by the product of all the positive roots (for some choice of positive roots) or the Poincaré dual of  $\mu^{-1}(0)$ in  $\mu_T^{-1}(0)$ .

Let  $\epsilon \in \mathbf{t}$  be a regular value of  $\mu$  close to 0. There is a surjective map  $\mu^{-1}(\epsilon)/T \to \mu^{-1}(0)/T$  which is a diffeomorphism on  $\mu^{-1}(0)^s/T$  (this map is defined using the gradient flow of  $|\mu|^2$ ). So we find that

$$\int_{\mu^{-1}(0)^s/T} \kappa_M^{T,0}(\alpha\beta\mathcal{D}) = \int_{\mu^{-1}(\epsilon)^s/T} \kappa_M^{T,\epsilon}(\alpha\beta\mathcal{D}).$$

The right hand side can be evaluated using the methods of [11]. Specifically, we have

(10) 
$$\frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mu^{-1}(\epsilon)^s/T} \kappa_M^{T,\epsilon}(\eta e^{\bar{\omega}} \mathcal{D}) = \operatorname{Res}\Big(\sum_F e^{\langle \mu(F), X \rangle} \int_F \frac{\eta e^{\omega} \mathcal{D}^2}{e_F}\Big).$$

Here F are the components of the fixed point set of the action of T and  $e_F$  is the equivariant Euler class of the normal bundle to F for a variable X in **t**.

The map Res from  $H_T^*(M)$  to  $\mathbb{C}$  is defined as follows.<sup>1</sup> If  $\beta_j \in \mathbf{t}^*$  are weights of T, and  $\bar{\beta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n\}$ , define  $h_{\bar{\beta}} : \mathbf{t} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

(11) 
$$h_{\bar{\beta}}(X) = \frac{1}{\prod_j \beta_j(X)}.$$

According to the Duistermaat-Heckman theorem [2], if M is a compact smooth manifold equipped with a Hamiltonian group action with moment map  $\mu$  the integral  $\int_M e^{\omega+\mu_X}$  (or "Duistermaat-Heckman oscillatory integral" – see [1]) is a linear combination of such functions  $h_{\bar{\beta}}$ . This integral is a smooth function of X and has a Fourier transform, although the individual  $h_{\bar{\beta}}$  are singular at 0. Nonetheless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This map has been referred to as a "residue map" only because it can be written in terms of residues of meromorphic functions at 0 – see [10], Proposition 3.2. This description is most obvious in the case T = U(1), as in the example of the rotation action of the circle on  $S^2$  presented below.

in [6] Guillemin, Lerman and Sternberg showed how to make sense of the Fourier transform of the  $h_{\bar{\beta}}$  so that the appropriate linear combination of these Fourier transforms is the pushforward of Liouville measure under the moment map (the Fourier transform of the Duistermaat-Heckman oscillatory integral). They define the Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}h_{\bar{\beta}}(\cdot)$  to be the pushforward of Lebesgue measure from  $\mathbb{C}^n$  to  $\mathbf{t}^*$  under the map  $(y_1, \ldots, y_n) \mapsto \sum_j \beta_j y_j$ ; in other words  $\mathcal{F}h_{\bar{\beta}}(\xi)$  is the volume of the set

$$\{(y_1,\ldots,y_n)\in\mathbb{C}^n\mid\sum_j\beta_jy_j=\xi\}.$$

We determine the signs of the  $\beta_j$  by choosing a polarization: we choose some cone  $\Lambda \subset \mathbf{t}$  for which none of the  $\beta_j$  vanish anywhere on  $\Lambda$ , and change the signs of the  $\beta_j$  so that all  $\beta_j(X) > 0$  for any  $X \in \Lambda$ . Then the residue is defined as the value at  $\xi = 0$  of the Fourier transform of a certain class of meromorphic functions on  $\mathbf{t} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ : if f is such a function, then

$$\operatorname{Res}(f) = (\mathcal{F}f)(0).$$

For more details on the residue see Section 3 of [10].

For example, if  $S^2$  is acted on by  $T = S^1$  by rotation around the vertical axis, there are two fixed points  $F_+$  and  $F_-$  (the north and south poles). The moment map is the height function and the values at the fixed points are  $\mu(F_{\pm}) = \pm 1$ . We find that the function in (10) is

$$h(X) = \frac{e^X - e^{-X}}{X} = 2\frac{\sinh(X)}{X}$$

This function does have a Fourier transform (it is smooth at X = 0). According to Guillemin-Lerman-Sternberg [6], we should write h as  $h(X) = h_+(X) - h_-(X)$  where

$$h_{\pm}(X) = e^{\pm X} / X.$$

According to the recipe in [6], we should define

$$\mathcal{F}h_+(\xi) = H(\xi - 1)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}h_{-}(\xi) = H(\xi + 1),$$

where H is the Heaviside function (the characteristic function of the positive real line). Then we find that the Fourier transform of h is the characteristic function of the interval from -1 to +1, as one would expect since this interval is the image of  $S^2$  under the moment map.

THEOREM 6.1. (Guillemin-Kalkman [5]; Martin [23]) If a and b are regular values for the moment map  $\mu$  of a circle action and a < b, then (defining the corresponding Kirwan maps  $\kappa_M^{T,a}$  and  $\kappa_M^{T,b}$ ) we have

$$\int_{\mu^{-1}(a)/T} \kappa_M^{T,a}(\eta e^{\bar{\omega}}) - \int_{\mu^{-1}(b)/T} \kappa_M^{T,b}(\eta e^{\bar{\omega}}) = \sum_{F \mid a < \mu(F) < b} \operatorname{Res} \int_F \frac{e^{\mu(F)X} \eta e^{\bar{\omega}}}{e_F(X)}$$

where Res is as defined above. Here F are the components of the fixed point set of the circle action.

REMARK 6.2. In the situation of Section 1 (for K = SU(n) acting on the extended moduli space  $M^{\text{ext}}$ ) it is possible to show that  $\mu^{-1}(a)$  is diffeomorphic to  $\mu^{-1}(a+1)$ . This is the 'periodicity' alluded to in (2). So Theorem 6.1 gives

$$\int_{\mu^{-1}(a)/T} \kappa_M^{T,a}(\eta e^{\bar{\omega}}) = \sum_{F \mid a < \mu(F) < a+1} \operatorname{Res} \frac{e^{\mu(F)X} \eta(X)}{e_F(X)(1 - e^X)}.$$

#### References

- M.F. Atiyah, R. Bott, The moment map and equivariant cohomology, *Topology* 23 (1984) 1–28.
- [2] J.J. Duistermaat, G.J. Heckman, On the variation in the cohomology of the symplectic form of the reduced phase space, *Invent. Math.* 69 (1982) 259–268.
- [3] M. Goresky, R. MacPherson, Intersection homology theory, *Topology* 19 (1980), no. 2, 135– 162.
- [4] M. Goresky, R. MacPherson, Intersection homology II. Invent. Math. 72 (1983), no. 1, 77– 129.
- [5] V. Guillemin, J. Kalkman, A new proof of the Jeffrey-Kirwan localization theorem. J. Reine Angew. Math. 470 (1996) 123-142.
- [6] V. Guillemin, E. Lerman, S. Sternberg, On the Kostant multiplicity formula. J. Geom. Phys. 5 (1989) 721–750.
- [7] D. Huybrechts, M. Lehn, Stable pairs on curves and surfaces. J. Alg. Geom. 4 (1995) 67–104.
- [8] L.C. Jeffrey, Extended moduli spaces of flat connections on Riemann surfaces. Math. Annalen 298, 667-692 (1994).
- [9] L.C. Jeffrey, F.C. Kirwan, Localization for nonabelian group actions, *Topology* 34 (1995) 291–327.
- [10] L.C. Jeffrey, F.C. Kirwan, Localization and the quantization conjecture. *Topology* 36 (1997) 647–693.
- [11] L.C. Jeffrey, F.C. Kirwan Intersection pairings in moduli spaces of holomorphic bundles of arbitrary rank on a Riemann surface. Annals of Mathematics 148, 109-196 (1998).
- [12] L.C. Jeffrey, Y.-H. Kiem, F. Kirwan, J. Woolf, Cohomology pairings on singular quotients in geometric invariant theory. *Transformation Groups* 8 (2003), 217-259.
- [13] L.C. Jeffrey, Y.-H. Kiem, F. Kirwan, J. Woolf, Intersection pairings on singular moduli spaces of vector bundles over a Riemann surface and their partial desingularisations. *Transformation Groups* **11** (2006) 439-494.
- [14] Y.-H. Kiem, Intersection cohomology of quotients of nonsingular varieties. Invent. Math. 155 (2004), 163–202.
- [15] Y.-H. Kiem, Intersection cohomology of representation spaces of surface groups, Internat. J. Math. 17 (2006) 169–182.
- [16] Y.-H. Kiem, The equivariant cohomology ring of the moduli space of vector bundles over a Riemann surface. *Contemporary Mathematics* 258 (2000) 249-261.
- [17] Y.-H. Kiem, J. Woolf, The Kirwan map for singular symplectic quotients. J. London Math. Soc. 73 (2006) 209–230.
- [18] F. Kirwan, Partial desingularisation of quotients of nonsingular varieties and their Betti numbers, Ann. Math. 122 (1985) 41–85.
- [19] F. Kirwan, On spaces of maps from Riemann surfaces to Grassmannians and application to the cohomology of moduli of vector bundles, Ark. Mat. 24 (1986) 221–275.
- [20] F. Kirwan, On the homology of compactifications of the moduli space of vector bundles over a Riemann surface, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 53 (1986) 237–266.
- [21] F. Kirwan, Rational intersection cohomology of quotient varieties, Invent. Math. 86 (1986) 471–505.
- [22] F. Kirwan, J. Woolf, An Introduction to Intersection Homology Theory, Chapman and Hall, 2006.
- [23] S.K. Martin, Symplectic quotients by a nonabelian group and by its maximal torus. Preprint math.SG/0001002; Annals of Mathematics, to appear.
- [24] D. Mumford, J. Fogarty, F. Kirwan, Geometric Invariant Theory. 1994
- [25] C.S. Seshadri, Fibrés vectoriels sur les courbes algébriques. Astérisque 96, 1982.

- [26] R. Sjamaar, E. Lerman, Stratified symplectic spaces and reduction, Ann. Math. 134 (1991) 375–422.
- [27] J. Woolf, The decomposition theorem and the intersection cohomology of quotients in algebraic geometry, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 182 (2003) 317–328.

Department of Mathematics, University of Toronto, Canada  $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ \texttt{jeffrey@math.toronto.edu}$ 

# The Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian and Symplectic Knot Homology

Joel Kamnitzer

ABSTRACT. Seidel-Smith and Manolescu constructed knot homology theories using symplectic fibrations whose total spaces were certain varieties of matrices. These knot homology theories were associated to SL(n) and tensor products of the standard and dual representations. In this paper, we place their geometric setups in a natural, general framework. For any complex reductive group and any sequence of minuscule dominant weights, we construct a fibration of affine varieties over a configuration space. The middle cohomology of these varieties is isomorphic to the space of invariants in the corresponding tensor product of representations. Our construction uses the Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian and the geometric Satake correspondence.

#### 1. Introduction

Let G be a complex reductive group. For any n-tuple  $\underline{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  of dominant weights of G, consider the space of invariants  $_0V^{\underline{\lambda}} := (V^{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V^{\lambda_n})^G$ . This representation carries an action of the symmetric group by permuting the tensor factors. More precisely, the group which acts is the stabilizer  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  of  $\underline{\lambda}$  under the action of the symmetric group  $\Sigma_n$  (so that if all  $\lambda_i$  are equal, then  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}} = \Sigma_n$ ).

These representations of symmetric groups are of interest from the point of view of knot invariants. Via quantum groups and R-matrices, these representations can be deformed to representations of braid groups. This construction leads to knot invariants, such as the Jones polynomial. Roughly speaking, the invariant of a knot K is the trace of a braid (in such a representation) whose closure is K.

Khovanov  $[\mathbf{K}]$  has proposed categorifying these representations. This means finding a triangulated category  ${}_{0}\mathcal{D}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ , with an action of an appropriate braid group, such that the Grothendieck group of  ${}_{0}\mathcal{D}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is isomorphic to  ${}_{0}V^{\underline{\lambda}}$  with the above action of  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . From these categorifications, Khovanov explained how to obtain more refined knot invariants by computing an appropriate categorical "trace". (Actually Khovanov has proposed categorifying the braid group representations coming from quantum groups. However, in this paper, we will just focus on categorifying the symmetric group representations. Restricting to the categorification of these symmetric group representations is sufficient to get non-trivial braid group representations and knot invariants.)

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14M15; Secondary 18E34, 57M27, 57B25.

The construction of these categorifications has thus far proceeded in a rather "ad-hoc" manner in different special cases, most notably when  $G = SL_2$  or  $SL_m$ .

One approach was taken by Seidel-Smith  $[\mathbf{SS}]$  and then extended by Manolescu  $[\mathbf{M}]$ . They considered the cases when  $G = SL_2$   $[\mathbf{SS}]$  or  $G = SL_m$   $[\mathbf{M}]$  and where  $\underline{\lambda} = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_1, \omega_{m-1}, \ldots, \omega_{m-1})$ , a tensor product of standard and dual representations. In this case, they constructed a symplectic fibration  $S \to \mathbb{C}^n_{\text{reg}}/\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . Here S is a certain variety of  $nm \times nm$  matrices. They proved that there is a well-defined (up to Hamiltonian isotopy) action of the braid group  $\pi_1(\mathbb{C}^n_{\text{reg}}/\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}})$  on Lagrangian submanifolds in a fixed fibre. The braid group acts by parallel transport through the fibration.

The Lagrangians are objects in the derived Fukaya category. So philosophically, this means that they constructed an action of the braid group on the derived Fukaya category and this category can be considered as  ${}_{0}\mathcal{D}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  (recently, this perspective has been pursued by Reza Rezazadegan [**R**]). As supporting evidence, the middle cohomology of a fibre is isomorphic to  ${}_{0}V^{\underline{\lambda}}$  as a representation of  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  (see [**M**, section 3.1]).

The purpose of this paper is to place the geometric setup of Seidel-Smith and Manolescu in a more general and more natural framework. For any complex reductive group G and any sequence of minuscule dominant weights  $\underline{\lambda}$ , we construct a fibration of smooth complex affine varieties (and hence symplectic manifolds)  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \mathrm{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}$ , where  $\mathrm{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}} = \mathbb{P}^{1n}_{\mathrm{reg}}/\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is a coloured configuration space of points on  $\mathbb{P}^{1}$ .

The family  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is a type of Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian [**BD**]. It is a moduli space of Hecke modifications of the trivial principal  $G^{\vee}$ bundle  $P_0$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , where  $G^{\vee}$  denotes the Langlands dual group. The fibre over a point  $x = [x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  is defined by

$${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}} = \Big\{ (P,\phi) : P \text{ is a principal } G^{\vee}\text{-bundle on } \mathbb{P}^{1}, \\ \phi : P_{0}|_{X \smallsetminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}\}} \to P|_{X \smallsetminus \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}\}} \text{ is an isomorphism}, \\ \phi \text{ is of Hecke type } \lambda_{i} \text{ at } x_{i}, \text{ for each } i, \Big\}$$

and P is isomorphic to the trivial bundle.

We prove the following facts about this fibration.

- (i) The action (by monodromy) of  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}})$  on the cohomology of a fibre factors through the group  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . Moreover there is a  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  equivariant isomorphism  $H^{\operatorname{mid}}({}_0\operatorname{Gr}_{\underline{\lambda}}^{\underline{\lambda}}) \cong {}_0V^{\underline{\lambda}}$  (Proposition 2.8).
- (ii) When two points come together in the base corresponding to dual weights, there is a local statement entirely analogous to lemmas in [M] and [SS] (Lemma 3.2).
- (iii) In the case when  $G = SL_m$  and  $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n) = (1, \ldots, 1, m-1, \ldots, m-1)$ , then the portion of the fibration lying over points in  $\mathbb{C}$  is isomorphic to the fibration studied by Manolescu, which in turn reduces to the fibration studied by Seidel-Smith when m = 2 (Theorem 4.1).

We prove statement (i) in section 2 as a consequence of the geometric Satake correspondence of Mirković-Vilonen  $[\mathbf{MVi}]$ . In section 3, we prove statement (ii) as a consequence of the factorization property of the Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian. It is interesting to see how this key technical lemma of  $[\mathbf{M}]$  and  $[\mathbf{SS}]$  follows

extremely naturally and easily in this setting. In section 4, we prove statement (iii) following ideas of Mirković-Vybornov [**MVy**] and Ngo [**N**].

In a future work, we hope to use this setup to define an action of the braid group on the Fukaya category of the fibres (categorifying the action of  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$  on the middle cohomology) and then to construct homological knot invariants, following the approach of Seidel-Smith and Manolescu.

There is a close connection between this paper and the algebraic geometry approach to knot homology pursued jointly with Sabin Cautis in [CK]. We expect that the two constructions are related by hyperKähler rotation. The hyperKähler structure of the varieties  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is described by Kapustin-Witten in sections 10.2 and 10.3 of [KM].

Acknowledgements. Despite its short length, producing this paper required consultations with many mathematicians. In particular, I would like to thank Denis Auroux, Roman Bezrukavnikov, Alexander Braverman, Sabin Cautis, Edward Frenkel, Dennis Gaitsgory, Reimundo Heluani, Anton Kapustin, Ciprian Manolescu, Carl Mautner, Paul Seidel, Ivan Smith, Constantin Teleman, Edward Witten, Christopher Woodward, and Xinwen Zhu for helpful discussions. During the course of this work, I was supported by a fellowship from the American Institute of Mathematics and by an NSERC Discovery Grant.

### 2. The fibration

We begin by reviewing different versions of the Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannian and exploring their properties using the geometric Satake correspondence. These varieties were introduced by Beilinson-Drinfeld in [**BD**].

**2.1.** The affine Grassmannian. Let G be a complex reductive group and let  $G^{\vee}$  be its Langlands dual group. Let  $\Lambda$  denote the set of weights of G, which is the same as the set of coweights of  $G^{\vee}$ . Let  $\Lambda_+$  denote the subset of dominant weights.

Let  $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{C}((t))$  and  $\mathcal{O} = \mathbb{C}[[t]]$ . The affine Grassmannian Gr of  $G^{\vee}$  is defined as  $G^{\vee}(\mathcal{K})/G^{\vee}(\mathcal{O})$ . The  $G^{\vee}(\mathcal{O})$  orbits on Gr are labelled by dominant weights of G. We write  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}$  for the  $G^{\vee}(\mathcal{O})$  orbit through  $t^{\lambda}$ , for  $\lambda \in \Lambda_+$ . Let  $L_0 = t^0$  denote the identity coset in Gr. These orbits are closed in Gr (and hence projective) if and only if  $\lambda$  is a minuscule weight. More generally, we have that  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}} = \bigcup_{\mu \leq \lambda} \mathrm{Gr}^{\mu}$ , where  $\mu \leq \lambda$  means that  $\mu$  is a dominant weight and  $\lambda - \mu$  is a sum of positive roots. The smooth locus of  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}}$  is exactly  $\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}$ . In particular,  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}}$  is smooth iff  $\lambda$ is minuscule.

Similarly, the  $G^{\vee}(\mathcal{K})$  orbits on  $\operatorname{Gr} \times \operatorname{Gr}$  are also labelled by  $\Lambda_+$  and we write  $L_1 \xrightarrow{\lambda} L_2$  if  $(L_1, L_2)$  is in the same orbit as  $(L_0, t^{\lambda})$ .

Let  $\underline{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_k)$  be a k-tuple of dominant weights of G. Then we define the local convolution Grassmannian as

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}} = \{ (L_1, \dots, L_k) \in \operatorname{Gr}^k : L_0 \xrightarrow{\lambda_1} L_1 \xrightarrow{\lambda_2} \dots \xrightarrow{\lambda_{k-1}} L_{k-1} \xrightarrow{\lambda_k} L_k \}$$

There is a map  $m_{\underline{\lambda}} : \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \operatorname{Gr}$  with  $(L_1, \ldots, L_k) \mapsto L_k$ . The image of  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is  $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}}^{\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_k}$ .

The following result follows from the geometric Satake correspondence [**MVi**].

THEOREM 2.1. Assume that all  $\lambda_i$  are minuscule. There are canonical isomorphisms

(i)  $H^*(\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}) \cong V_{\lambda}$ , (ii)  $H^*(\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}^{\lambda}) \cong V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n}$ , and (iii)  $H^{\operatorname{top}}(m_{\lambda}^{-1}(L_0)) \cong (V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n})^G$ .

Moreover, the isomorphisms in (ii), (iii) are compatible in the sense that the diagram

commutes, where the left vertical map comes from the inclusion  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(L_0) \to \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ .

PROOF. The geometric Satake correspondence gives us an equivalence of tensor categories between the category of  $G^{\vee}(\mathcal{O})$  equivariant perverse sheaves on Gr (called the spherical Hecke category) and the category of representations of G, compatible with the fibre functors to the category of vector spaces [**MVi**, Theorem 7.3]. The fibre functor on the spherical Hecke category is derived global sections.

This equivalence takes  $\mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}}[\dim \mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}]$  to  $V_{\lambda}$  when  $\lambda$  is minuscule. This immediately gives us (i). Also from the definition of the tensor product on the spherical Hecke category [**MVi**, Section 4], we see that the equivalence takes  $(m_{\underline{\lambda}})_*\mathbb{C}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}^{\lambda}}[\dim \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}^{\lambda}]$  to  $V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n}$ . This gives us (ii) and (iii). The compatibility statement is clear by construction.

**2.2. The notion of Hecke type.** Let us now fix a smooth curve X. Later we will take  $X = \mathbb{P}^1$ .

For any  $x \in X$ , and any open set  $U \subset X$  containing x, we define

 $\operatorname{Gr}_{U,x} := \{(P,\phi) : P \text{ is a principal } G^{\vee} \text{-bundle on } U$ 

and  $\phi: P_0|_{U \smallsetminus x} \to P|_{U \smallsetminus x}$  is an isomorphism}.

here and below,  $P_0$  denotes the trivial  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on U.

Picking a coordinate at x gives an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Gr}_{U,x} \cong \operatorname{Gr}$ . The isomorphism is well-defined up to the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{O})$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}$  is  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{O})$  invariant, we may consider the locus  $\operatorname{Gr}_{U,x}^{\lambda}$  obtained as the preimage of  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda}$  under any isomorphism. An element  $(P, \phi) \in \operatorname{Gr}_{U,x}^{\lambda}$  is said to have Hecke type  $\lambda$ . Note that  $G^{\vee}(U)$ acts on  $\operatorname{Gr}_{U,x}$  preserving its stratification into Hecke types.

We need to generalize our notion of Hecke type. Again fix  $x \in X$  and suppose we have two  $G^{\vee}$ -bundles  $(P_1, P_2)$  on X and an isomorphism  $\phi$  between them over  $X \setminus x$ . Let us pick an open neighbourhood U of x on which  $P_1$  trivializes and pick a trivialization of  $P_1$  on this neighbourhood. This gives us a point  $L = (P_2|_U, \phi') \in$  $\operatorname{Gr}_{U,x}$ , where  $\phi' : P_0|_{U \setminus x} \to P_2|_{U \setminus x}$  is the composition of this trivialization and  $\phi$ . We say that  $\phi$  has Hecke type  $\lambda$  at x if L has Hecke type  $\lambda$ .

Changing the trivialization of  $P_1$  on U will change L by the action of  $G^{\vee}(U)$ and hence will not change its Hecke type. Also, changing the open set U also does not change  $\lambda$ , as can be seen by shrinking the open set U. Hence the Hecke type of  $\phi$  is independent of the choices made in its definition.

84

For  $X = \mathbb{P}^1$ , there is an alternate characterization of Hecke type. First, we should note that if P is a principal G-bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , then we can consider its topological type which will be an element of  $\pi_1(G^{\vee}) = \Lambda/Q$ , where Q denotes the coroot lattice of  $G^{\vee}$ . Using this notion, we have the following result, due to Finkelberg-Mirković [**FM**, Prop 10.2].

PROPOSITION 2.2. Let  $x, X = \mathbb{P}^1, \phi, P_1, P_2$  be as above.  $\phi$  has Hecke type  $\leq \lambda$  at x if and only if

(i) for all irreps  $V_{\beta}$  of  $G^{\vee}$ , the map  $\phi$  induces the inclusions

 $V_{\beta}^{P_1}(-\langle\beta,\lambda\rangle x)\subset V_{\beta}^{P_2}\subset V_{\beta}^{P_1}(\langle\beta,\lambda\rangle x)$ 

(here  $V_{\beta}^{P}$  denotes the associated vector bundle  $P \times_{G^{\vee}} V_{\beta}$ ) and

(ii) the topological types of  $P_2$  and  $P_1$  differ by  $[\lambda] \in \pi_1(G^{\vee}) = \Lambda/Q$ .

(Note that the second condition here is vacuous when  $G^{\vee}$  is simply connected. Also, note that a similar characterization works for any complete curve. On the other hand, it is not clear to the author what to do with the second condition when considering open curves.)

**2.3. The global convolution Grassmannian.** Now fix  $\underline{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  an *n*-tuple of dominant minuscule weights of *G*. We now consider the global convolution Grassmannian, which is the variety

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{X^n}^{\underline{\lambda}} &:= \{ ((x_1, \dots, x_n), (P_1, \dots, P_n), (\phi_1, \dots, \phi_n)) : x_i \in X, \\ P_i \text{ is a principal } G^{\vee} \text{-bundle on } X, \\ \phi_i : P_{i-1}|_{X \smallsetminus x_i} \to P_i|_{X \smallsetminus x_i} \text{ is an isomorphism of Hecke type } \lambda_i \text{ at } x_i. \} \end{split}$$

We have the projection  $\tilde{p}: \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{X^n}^{\lambda} \to X^n$ . For any subset  $A \subset X^n$ , let  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_A^{\lambda} = \tilde{p}^{-1}(A)$  be the preimage of A under this map.

Consider the following two loci in  $X^n$ : the locus of regular points  $X_{\text{reg}}^n := \{(x_1, \ldots, x_n) : x_i \neq x_j\}$  and the small diagonal  $X = \{(x, \ldots, x)\} \subset X^n$ . The fibres of  $\tilde{p}$  over regular points in  $X_{\text{reg}}^n := \{(x_1, \ldots, x_n) : x_i \neq x_j\}$  are isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_1} \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_n}$ . The fibres over points on the small diagonal are the local convolution products  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_1} \widetilde{\times} \ldots \widetilde{\times} \operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_n}$ .

A proof of the following result can be found in the proof of Lemma 6.1 of [**MVi**].

PROPOSITION 2.3. The pushforwards  $R^k \tilde{p}_* \mathbb{C}_{\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{Xn}^{\Delta}}$  are constant sheaves.

**2.4. The global singular Grassmannian.** Now, we can introduce the singular version of the above space. We define the global singular Grassmannian to be

$$Gr_{X^n}^{\underline{\lambda}} := \left\{ \left( (x_1, \dots, x_n), P, \phi \right) : x_i \in X, P \text{ is a principal } G^{\vee} \text{-bundle on } X, \phi : P_0|_{X \smallsetminus \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}} \to P|_{X \smallsetminus \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}} \text{ is an isomorphism} \\ \text{ and for each } x \in X, \phi \text{ has Hecke type} \le \sum_{i: x_i = x} \lambda_i \text{ at } x \right\}$$

Again this is a family over  $X^n$ .

**PROPOSITION 2.4.** The fibres of this family are described as follows.

#### JOEL KAMNITZER

- (i) The fibres over regular points are still  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_1} \times \cdots \times \operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_n}$ . In fact  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n}^{\underline{\lambda}} \cong \operatorname{Gr}_{X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ .
- (ii) The fibres over points on the small diagonal are the (usually singular) varieties  $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_n}}$ .

There is an obvious map  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{X^n}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{X^n}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ . This map is 1-1 over the locus in  $\operatorname{Gr}_{X^n}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  which sits over  $X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n$  and coincides with the map  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}$  on a fibre over a point in the small diagonal in  $X^n$ .

The biggest subgroup of  $\Sigma_n$  which acts on  $\operatorname{Gr}_{\overline{X}^n}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is denoted  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . More precisely,  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is the stabilizer of  $\underline{\lambda}$  inside  $\Sigma_n$  (so if all  $\lambda_i$  are equal, then  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}} = \Sigma_n$  and if all  $\lambda_i$  are different, then  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}} = \{1\}$ ).

The quotient of  $X^n$  by  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is denoted by  $X^{\underline{\lambda}}$ . Since all  $\lambda_i$  are minuscule, distinct  $\lambda_i$  are linearly independent. Hence we can identify  $X^{\underline{\lambda}}$  with the space of " $\Lambda_+$ -coloured divisors" of total weight  $\sum \lambda_i$ , i.e. functions  $D: X \to \Lambda_+$  such that  $\sum_{x \in \mathbb{P}^1} D(x) = \sum_i \lambda_i$ .

The quotient of  $\operatorname{Gr}_{X^n}^{\lambda}$  by  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is denoted by  $\operatorname{Gr}_{X^{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\lambda}$  and we can describe its points as follows.

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{X\underline{\lambda}}^{\underline{\lambda}} := \left\{ (D, P, \phi) : D \in X^{\underline{\lambda}}, P \text{ is a principal } G^{\vee} \text{-bundle on } X, \\ \phi : P_0|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \smallsetminus \operatorname{supp}(D)} \to P|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \smallsetminus \operatorname{supp}(D)} \text{ is an isomorphism} \right.$$

and for each  $x \in X$ ,  $\phi$  has Hecke type  $\leq D(x)$  at x

Let  $\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}} := X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n / \underline{\Sigma}_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . We have the smooth family  $\operatorname{Gr}_{\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}$  and the following Cartesian square:

We can consider the monodromy action of  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}})$  on the cohomology of fibres in the family p. There is a short exact sequence of groups

 $1 \to \pi_1(X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n) \to \pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}) \to \Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}} \to 1.$ 

Since the pushforwards  $R^k \tilde{p}_* \mathbb{C}_{\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{X^n}}$  are constant by Proposition 2.3, the monodromy action of  $\pi_1(X_{\operatorname{reg}}^n)$  on the cohomology of the fibres of  $\tilde{p}$  is trivial. So, because of the Cartesian square (1), this means that the monodromy action of  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}})$  factors through  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . Moreover the following fact is true.

PROPOSITION 2.5. Assume that all  $\lambda_i$  are minuscule and let  $x \in \text{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . There is an isomorphism  $H^*(\text{Gr}_x^{\underline{\lambda}}) \cong V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n}$ , compatible with the actions of  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  on both sides (by monodromy and by permuting tensor factors).

PROOF. The isomorphism comes from using Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.4, and Theorem 2.1. The compatibility with the actions of  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is an immediate consequence of the construction of the commutativity constraint for the spherical Hecke category (see [**MVi**, Section 5]).

86

**2.5. The open global convolution/singular Grassmannian.** So far we have dealt with arbitrary curves X. Now we specialize to  $X = \mathbb{P}^1$ .

Let  $\underline{\lambda}$  be such that  $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n$  is in the root lattice of G. This condition is necessary for  $(V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n})^G$  to be non-empty.

We introduce the open subvariety  ${}_{0}\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  of  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ , which consists of the locus where we impose the constraint that  $P_n$  is isomorphic to the trivial  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . This subvariety would be empty if we did not impose the above condition that  $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n$  is in the root lattice. We call this the open global convolution Grassmannian.

The significance of this open subvariety is given by the following result.

PROPOSITION 2.6. (i) For any  $y \in \mathbb{P}^1$ ,  $_0 \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{(y,...,y)}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  retracts onto the halfdimensional locus  $m_{\lambda}^{-1}(L_0)$ .

(ii) There is an isomorphism  $H^{\mathrm{mid}}({}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}}_{(y,\ldots,y)}) \cong (V_{\lambda_{1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_{n}})^{G}$ .

PROOF. Assume that  $y = 0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . We can identify  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{(y,\ldots,y)}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  with the convolution product  $\operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_1} \widetilde{\times} \cdots \widetilde{\times} \operatorname{Gr}^{\lambda_n}$ . A point L in  $\operatorname{Gr}$  corresponds to a trivial  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  if and only if L is in the  $G[z^{-1}]$ -orbit of  $L_0$ , which we denote by  $_0$ Gr. So  $_0 \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{(y,\ldots,y)}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is identified with  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(_0$ Gr).

The open subset  $_0$ Gr of the affine Grassmannian retracts onto  $L_0$  via the loop rotation action of the group  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$  (see for example [**MVi**, Section 2]). This action extends to the convolution product and retracts  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(_0$ Gr) onto  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(L_0)$  as desired.

We have dim  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(L_0) = \frac{1}{2} \dim m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}({}_0\text{Gr})$  because the map  $m_{\underline{\lambda}}$  is semismall (see the proof of Lemma 4.4 in [**MVi**]).

Hence we have

$$H^{\mathrm{mid}}({}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}}_{(y,\ldots,y)}) \cong H^{\mathrm{top}}(m_{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}(L_{0})) \cong (V_{\lambda_{1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_{n}})^{G}$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Theorem 2.1.(iii).

Analogously, we also define  ${}_0Gr^{\underline{\lambda}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}$  and  ${}_0Gr^{\underline{\lambda}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1\underline{\lambda}}}$ , the open global singular Grassmannian. So

 ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}\lambda} = \{(D, P, \phi) \in \mathrm{Gr}^{\lambda}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}\lambda} : P \text{ is isomorphic to the trivial bundle }\}$ We have a Cartesian square identical to (1):

(2) 
$$\begin{array}{ccc} {}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}^{\underline{\lambda}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}_{\mathrm{reg}}} & \longrightarrow {}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}^{\underline{\lambda}}_{\mathrm{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}} \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \end{array}$$

PROPOSITION 2.7. The pushforwards  $R^k \tilde{p}_* \mathbb{C}_{0\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}}$  are constant sheaves on  $\mathbb{P}^{1^n}$ .

We would like to thank Alexander Braverman for suggesting the following proof.

PROOF. Since  $\mathbb{P}^{1^n}$  is simply connected, it suffices to show that the push forwards are locally constant. Since the category of locally constant sheaves is an abelian category, it suffices to find a stratification  $Y_{\underline{\mu}}$  of  ${}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  such that each  $R^k \tilde{p}_* \mathbb{C}_{Y_{\mu}}$  is locally constant.

Recall that isomorphism classes of  $G^{\vee}$ -bundles on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  are given by dominant weights  $\mu$  of G (this is because every  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  admits a reduction to  $T^{\vee}$ ). Hence for  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n = 0)$ , we define

$$Y_{\underline{\mu}} := \{ (P_1, \dots, P_n) \in {}_0 \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{P}^{1,n}}^{\underline{\lambda}} : P_i \text{ has isomorphism type } \mu_i \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n \}$$

The family  $Y_{\underline{\mu}} \to \mathbb{P}^{1^n}$  is trivial and thus the pushforwards  $R^k \tilde{p}_* \mathbb{C}_{Y_{\underline{\mu}}}$  are constant sheaves. Hence the result follows.

By similar reasoning as in the paragraph before Proposition 2.5, we can use Proposition 2.7 to see that the monodromy action of  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}})$  on the cohomology of the fibres of  $p: {}_0\operatorname{Gr}_{\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}}$  factors through  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$ . We obtain the following description of the monodromy action on the middle homology of the fibres of  ${}_0\operatorname{Gr}_{\operatorname{Conf}_{\lambda}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ .

PROPOSITION 2.8. Let  $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1_{\text{reg}}}^n$ . There is an isomorphism  $H_{\text{mid}}({}_0\text{Gr}_x^{\underline{\lambda}}) \cong (V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n})^G$ , which is compatible with the actions of  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  on both sides.

PROOF. Using Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.6, we obtain the isomorphism

$$H_{\mathrm{mid}}({}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}) = H_{\mathrm{mid}}({}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}) \cong H_{\mathrm{mid}}({}_{0}\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_{(y,\ldots,y)}^{\underline{\lambda}})$$

where  $y \in \mathbb{P}^1$ .

By the last statement of Proposition 2.1 we obtain a commutative square

By Proposition 2.5, the top horizontal arrow is  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  equivariant. The right vertical arrow is clearly  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  equivariant and the left vertical arrow is clearly  $\pi_1(\operatorname{Conf}_{\underline{\lambda}})$  equivariant. Hence we conclude that the bottom horizontal arrow is  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}}$  equivariant as desired.

REMARK 2.9. For  $\mu$  a dominant weight of G, we can also define the subvariety  ${}_{\mu}\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}\underline{\lambda}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  consisting of those tuples  $(D, P, \phi)$  such that P has isomorphism class  $\mu$ . These varieties will be related to  $Hom(V_{\mu}, V_{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{\lambda_n})$ .

REMARK 2.10. It would be interesting to generalize the construction of  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathbb{P}^{1n}}^{\lambda}$ by replacing  $\mathbb{P}^{1}$  by arbitrary smooth curves X. To do so, one needs to impose a condition on a bundle P. The two natural choices are P is trivial and P is semistable. Imposing that P is trivial would give us too small a space and imposing that P is semistable seems to give too big a space (I believe we lose the fact that the fibres are affine).

#### 3. Semilocal geometry

The purpose of this section is to establish the behaviour of our fibration when two points come together. The basic tool is the factorization property of the Grassmannians. We begin by stating this property, which is due to Beilinson-Drinfeld. THEOREM 3.1. [**BD**, section 5.3.10] Let X be any smooth curve. Let  $J_1, J_2$  be a disjoint decomposition of  $(1, \ldots, n)$ . Let U denote the set of points  $[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ in  $X^{\underline{\lambda}}$  such that  $x_{j_1} \neq x_{j_2}$  if  $j_1 \in J_1$  and  $j_2 \in J_2$ . Then there is an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{Gr}_{U}^{\underline{\lambda}} \cong (\mathrm{Gr}_{X^{J_{1}}}^{\underline{\lambda}^{1}} \times \mathrm{Gr}_{X^{J_{2}}}^{\underline{\lambda}^{2}})|_{U}$$

where  $\underline{\lambda}^i$  consists of those  $\lambda_j$  with  $j \in J_i$ . This isomorphism is compatible with the two projections to U.

Note that we have already implicitly used a special case of this Theorem in Proposition 2.4.(i).

**3.1. Semilocal geometry in the global singular Grassmannian.** For  $\lambda \in X_+$ , let  $\lambda^{\vee} = -w_0(\lambda)$ , where  $w_0$  is the long element of the Weyl group. Equivalently, we have  $V^{\lambda^{\vee}} = (V^{\lambda})^{\vee}$ .

Let us assume that  $\mu = \lambda_i = \lambda_{i+1}^{\vee}$ . Consider  $x = [x_1, \ldots, x_n] \in \mathbb{P}^{1\lambda}$  with  $y = x_i = x_{i+1}$  and  $x_j \neq x_k$  otherwise. By the factorization property of the Grassmannians, we have that  $\operatorname{Gr}_x^{\lambda} \cong \operatorname{Gr}_{d_i(x)}^{d_i(\lambda)} \times \operatorname{Gr}_{(y,y)}^{(\mu,\mu^{\vee})}$  where  $d_i$  deletes the *i* and i+1 entries of a list.

The variety  $\operatorname{Gr}_{(y,y)}^{(\mu,\mu^{\vee})}$  is isomorphic to  $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}^{\mu+\mu^{\vee}}}$ . It is singular with a stratum for each  $\nu$  such that  $V_{\nu}$  appears in  $V_{\mu} \otimes V_{\mu}^{\vee}$ . In particular, we have a distinguished point which corresponds to the trivial bundle with trivial isomorphism. This gives a copy of  $\operatorname{Gr}_{d_i(\chi)}^{d_i(\chi)}$  embedded in  $\operatorname{Gr}_{x}^{\lambda}$  as the locus of  $(D, P, \phi)$  where the isomorphism  $\phi$  extends over y (equivalently, has Hecke type 0 at y).

**3.2. Semilocal geometry in the open singular Grassmannian.** Now, let us pass to the open singular Grassmannian (the main object of study). The singular fibre  ${}_{0}\text{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  does not factor as a product in this case. However, we do have a copy of  ${}_{0}\text{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  embedded in  ${}_{0}\text{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  as the locus of  $(D, P, \phi)$  where  $\phi$  extends over y. More generally we have the following "semilocal geometry" which matches Lemma 3.5 of  $[\mathbf{M}]$  and Lemma 21 of  $[\mathbf{SS}]$ .

Let r be chosen such that  $r \leq |x_j - y|$  for all j. Let  $B \subset \mathbb{P}^{1\underline{\lambda}}$  be a disc corresponding to the points of the form  $[x_1, \ldots, y - u, y + u, \ldots, x_n]$ , where |u| < r and let  $B' \subset (\mathbb{P}^1)^{(\mu, \mu^{\vee})}$  be the points of the form [y - u, y + u], for |u| < r.

LEMMA 3.2. There exists an open neighbourhood of  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})}$  in  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{\overline{B}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  and an isomorphism  $\psi$  of this neighbourhood with a neighbourhood of  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})}$  in  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})} \times {}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{B'}^{(\mu,\mu^{\vee})}$  such that the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{ccc} {}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{B}^{\underline{\lambda}} & \stackrel{\psi}{\longrightarrow} {}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})} \times {}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{B'}^{(\mu,\mu^{\vee})} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ B & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & B' \end{array}$$

In [SS] and [M], the corresponding Lemma is used to construct a Lagrangian M' in  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  from a Lagrangian M in  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})}$  via a relative vanishing cycle construction (see [M, section 4.4]). In these cases the Lagrangian M' was diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{P}^{m-1} \times M$ . In our case, we expect that a similar construction will exist with  $\mathbb{P}^{m-1}$ 

replaced by  $m_{(\mu,\mu^{\vee})}^{-1}(L_0) = \operatorname{Gr}^{\mu}$ , which is a cominuscule partial flag variety for the group  $G^{\vee}$ .

This construction can be interpreted as a functor from the derived Fukaya category of  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\underline{\lambda})}$  to that of  ${}_{0}\mathrm{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  (see [**R**]). This functor should categorify the map

$${}_0V^{d_i(\underline{\lambda})} = (V^{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V^{\lambda_n})^G \to (V^{\lambda_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes V^{\mu} \otimes V^{\mu^{\vee}} \otimes \cdots \otimes V^{\lambda_n})^G = {}_0V^{\underline{\lambda}}.$$

PROOF. By the factorization property, we have, as above, an isomorphism

$$\psi: \mathrm{Gr}_{\overline{B}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \cong \mathrm{Gr}_{d_i(x)}^{d_i(\underline{\lambda})} \times \mathrm{Gr}_{B'}^{(\mu, \mu^{\vee})}.$$

Now, we let  $V \subset \operatorname{Gr}_{B}^{\lambda}$  be defined as the intersection of  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{B}^{\lambda}$  with  $\psi^{-1}({}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\lambda)} \times {}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{B'}^{(\lambda,\lambda^{\vee})})$ . By construction V is a neighbourhood of  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{d_{i}(x)}^{d_{i}(\lambda)}$  on each side. The restriction of  $\psi$  to V fulfills the hypotheses.

#### 4. Comparison with resolution of slices

4.1. Slices and their resolutions. Fix a positive integer N = mk. We will study slices inside  $\mathfrak{gl}_N$ .

Consider the nilpotent matrix  $E_{m,k}$  which consists of k-1 copies of the  $m \times m$  identity matrix arranged below the diagonal.

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ I & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

This is the matrix for the linear operator z acting on  $\mathbb{C}[z]^m/z^k\mathbb{C}[z]^m$  with respect to the usual basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_m, ze_1, \ldots, z^{k-1}e_m$ .

Let  $F_{m,k}$  be the matrix completing it to a Jacobson-Morozov triple. Let  $S_{m,k} = E_{m,k} + ker(\cdot F_{m,k})$ . So  $S_{m,k}$  is the set of block matrices consisting of identity matrices below the diagonal and arbitrary matrices on the right column. In particular, it is an affine space.

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & * \\ I & 0 & 0 & * \\ 0 & I & 0 & * \\ 0 & 0 & I & * \end{pmatrix}$$

Here each block is of size  $m \times m$ .

Let  $\pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_n)$  a sequence of integers with  $1 \leq \pi_i \leq m-1$  and  $\pi_1 + \cdots + \pi_n = N$ . We can consider the partial flag variety  $\mathcal{F}_{\pi}$  of type  $\pi$  (that means that the jumps are given by  $\pi$ ). We now define the partial Grothendieck resolution  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi} \subset \mathcal{F}_{\pi} \times \mathfrak{gl}_N$  by

 $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi} := \{ (Y, W_{\bullet}) : YW_i \subset W_i \text{ and } Y \text{ acts as a scalar on } W_i/W_{i-1} \}.$ 

By recording the scalars with which Y acts on each successive quotient, we obtain a morphism  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ .

Of course there is also a morphism  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi} \to \mathfrak{gl}_N$ . Let  $\widetilde{S}_{m,k}^{\pi}$  denote the preimage of  $S_{m,k}$  inside  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi}$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi}$  denote the image of  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi}$  inside  $\mathfrak{gl}_N$ . It consists of those matrices such that  $\pi$  refines their partition of eigenvalues. In particular any matrix in  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi}$  has at most n distinct eigenvalues.

Let  $\Sigma_{\pi}$  denote the stabilizer of  $\pi$  in  $\Sigma_n$  and let  $\mathbb{C}^{\pi} := \mathbb{C}^n / \Sigma_{\pi}$ . Let  $S_{m,k}^{\pi}$  denote the following variety:

$$S_{m,k}^{\pi} := \left\{ (Y, [x_1, \dots, x_n]) : Y \in S_{m,k} \cap \mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi}, [x_1, \dots, x_n] \in \mathbb{C}^{\pi} \\ \text{and } \{x_1\}^{\cup \pi_1} \cup \dots \cup \{x_n\}^{\cup \pi_n} \text{ are the eigenvalues of } Y \right\}$$

4.2. Examples and relation with [M], [SS]. Consider the case m = 2. This forces  $\pi = (1, ..., 1)$  and n = N. So  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N = \widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N$  is the ordinary Grothendieck resolution. This places no restriction on the matrices, so  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi} = \mathfrak{gl}_N$ . Also  $\Sigma_{\pi} = \Sigma_n$ and so  $\mathbb{C}^{\pi} = \mathbb{C}^n / \Sigma_n$ . We also see that  $S_{m,k}^{\pi} = S_{m,k}$ . This is precisely the slice considered by Seidel-Smith which maps down to the space of eigenvalues  $\mathbb{C}^n / \Sigma_n$ .

Now, consider the case m arbitrary and  $\pi = (1, \ldots, 1, m-1, \ldots, m-1)$  where there are k 1s and k m-1s. Then  $\Sigma_{\pi} = \Sigma_k \times \Sigma_k$  and  $\mathbb{C}^{\pi} = \mathbb{C}^{2k} / \Sigma_k \times \Sigma_k$  is the space of collections of "thin" and "thick" eigenvalues, to use the terminology of Manolescu. The regular locus is the bipartite configuration space  $BConf_k$  studied by Manolescu. The fibres of  $S_{m,k}^{\pi} \to BConf_k$  is the fibration studied by Manolescu.

Manolescu also develops the geometry in the same general framework that we do. To continue the comparison of terminology, our  $\pi$  is his  $\pi$ , our  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi}$  is his  $\mathfrak{g}^{\pi}$ , our  $\mathfrak{gl}_N^{\pi}$  is his  $\mathfrak{g}^{\pi}$ , our  $\Sigma_{\pi}$  is his  $W^{\pi}$ , our  $\mathbb{C}^n$  is his  $\mathfrak{h}^{\pi} = \mathbb{C}^{s-1}$ , our  $\mathbb{C}^{\pi}$  is his  $\mathfrak{h}^{\pi}/W^{\pi}$ . We are unable to reconcile his map  $\mathfrak{g}^{\pi} \to \mathfrak{h}^{\pi}/W^{\pi}$ . We don't believe that such a map exists and that is why we constructed the more complicated  $S_{m \ k}^{\pi}$ .

**4.3. Comparison theorem.** Now we take  $G = SL_m$ , so  $G^{\vee} = PGL_m$ . We have the usual labelling  $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{m-1}$  of minuscule weights for  $SL_m$ .

Let  $\underline{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  be such that  $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n$  is in the root lattice and each  $\lambda_i$  is minuscule. For each i, let  $\pi_i \in \{1, \ldots, m-1\}$  be such that  $\lambda_i = \omega_{\pi_i}$ . Then,  $N := \pi_1 + \cdots + \pi_n$  is divisible by m (so that  $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_n$  is in the root lattice), so N = mk for some positive integer k. Note that  $\Sigma_{\underline{\lambda}} = \Sigma_{\pi}$  and  $\mathbb{C}^{\underline{\lambda}} = \mathbb{C}^{\pi}$  (here  $\mathbb{C}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  denotes the subvariety of  $\mathbb{P}^{1\underline{\lambda}}$  where all points are in  $\mathbb{C}$ ).

The following result is due to Mirković-Vybornov [**MVy**, Theorem 5.3] and Ngo [**N**, Lemma 2.3.1].

THEOREM 4.1. There exist isomorphisms  ${}_{0}\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \cong \widetilde{S}_{m,k}^{\pi}$  and  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{\mathbb{C}^{\underline{\lambda}}}^{\underline{\lambda}} \cong S_{m,k}^{\pi}$  which are compatible with the following two squares:



Though the theorem has already been proved by Ngo and Mirković-Vybornov, we provide a sketch proof for the convenience of the reader.

PROOF. We will show that both  $_0\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{C}^n}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  and  $\widetilde{S}_{m,k}^{\pi}$  are isomorphic to the following space.

$${}_{0}\mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}} := \left\{ L_{0} = \mathbb{C}[z]^{m} \supset L_{1} \supset \cdots \supset L_{n} : L_{i} \text{ are free } \mathbb{C}[z] \text{ submodules of rank } m, \\ \dim(L_{i-1}/L_{i}) = \pi_{i}, z \text{ acts by a scalar on } L_{i-1}/L_{i}, \text{ and} \\ [e_{1}], \ldots [e_{m}], [ze_{1}], \ldots [ze_{m}], \ldots, [z^{k-1}e_{1}], \ldots, [z^{k-1}e_{m}] \\ \text{ is a basis for } \mathbb{C}[z]^{m}/L_{n} \right\}$$

First, suppose  $P_1, P_2$  are two principal  $PGL_m$ -bundles on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and  $\phi$  is an isomorphism between them away from a point  $x \neq \infty$  of Hecke type  $\omega_j$ . Then there exist rank m vector bundles  $V_1, V_2$  representing  $P_1, P_2$  such that  $L_2 := \Gamma(\mathbb{C}, V_2) \subset L_1 := \Gamma(\mathbb{C}, V_1)$  and dim $(L_1/L_2) = j$ . Moreover, we see that  $(z - x)L_1 \subset L_2$ . (This is the  $PGL_m$  version of Proposition 2.2.)

This allows us to define an isomorphism  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{C}^n}^{\underline{\lambda}} \to \mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ , where  $\mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is just like  ${}_0\mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  except without the last condition.

Hence it suffices to show that if a vector bundle V on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  has space of sections  $L = \Gamma(\mathbb{C}, V) \subset \mathbb{C}[z]^m$ , then  $[e_1], \ldots, [z^{k-1}e_m]$  is a basis if and only if  $V \cong \mathcal{O}(k)^{\oplus m}$  (this latter condition implies that  $\mathbb{P}(V)$  is trivial and in this case it is in fact equivalent to it).

To prove this claim, let us define an isomorphism  $V \to \mathcal{O}(k)^{\oplus m}$ . To do so it suffices to define an isomorphism  $\psi$  of  $\mathbb{C}[z]$ -modules  $\psi : L \to z^k \mathbb{C}[z]^{\oplus m}$  which extends over  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Let B be the set  $\{e_1, \ldots, z^{k-1}e_m\}$ . For each i define  $p_i$  to be the unique element of Span(B) such that  $p_i - z^k e_i \in L$  (such a  $p_i$  exists by the "basis for quotient" assumption). Note that  $\{z^k e_1 - p_1, \ldots, z^k e_m - p_m\}$  forms a basis for L as a free  $\mathbb{C}[z]$ -module. Now, we define  $\psi$  to take  $z^k e_i - p_i$  to  $z^k e_i$ . Since it takes one basis to another,  $\psi$  is a isomorphism of  $\mathbb{C}[z]$ -modules. Finally, a simple calculation shows that  $\psi$  extends to a isomorphism over  $\mathbb{P}^1$ .

Thus, we have proven that  ${}_{0}\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_{\mathbb{C}^{n}}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is isomorphic to  ${}_{0}\mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ . So it remains to construct the isomorphism between  ${}_{0}\mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  and  $\widetilde{S}_{m\,k}^{\pi}$ .

Given  $(L_0, \ldots, L_n) \in \mathcal{L}^{\underline{\lambda}}$ , we consider the linear operator Y defined as the action of z on the quotient  $L_0/L_n$ . Since we have a preferred basis for  $L_0/L_n$ , we may identify  $L_0/L_n$  with  $\mathbb{C}^N$ . The sequence  $L_n/L_n, L_{n-1}/L_n, \ldots, L_0/L_n$  gives us a flag  $W_{\bullet}$  of type  $\pi$  in  $\mathbb{C}^N$  such that Y preserves each subspace and acts as a scalar on each quotient. Thus  $(Y, W_{\bullet})$  is a point in  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{gl}}_N^{\pi}$ . Moreover, we see that  $Y[z^i e_j] = [z^{i+1} e_j]$  for each  $0 \leq i \leq k-2$  and all j. Thus  $Y \in S_{m,k}$  as desired. (Note that the condition that  $L_n = z^k \mathbb{C}[z]^m$  is equivalent to the condition  $Y = E_{m,k}$ .) Hence  $(Y, W_{\bullet})$  lies in  $\widetilde{S}_{m,k}^{\pi}$ . An inverse map can easily be constructed by an explicit formula (see [**MVy**, section 4.5]).

#### 5. Affine nature of the fibres

As a final step, we would like to prove the following result.

PROPOSITION 5.1. Let  $x \in \mathbb{P}^{1n}_{\text{reg}}$ . Then  ${}_{0}\text{Gr}_{x}^{\underline{\lambda}}$  is an affine variety.

We do not know a truly satisfactory proof of this result. Here is a slightly ad hoc approach which uses the results of the previous section.

PROOF. We begin with the case of  $G^{\vee} = PSL_m$ . We may assume that  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n_{\text{reg}}$ , since the fibre does not depend on x. Then by Theorem 4.1,

 ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{x}^{\lambda}$  is the variety of matrices in  $S_{m,k}$  whose set of eigenvalues is  $\{x_{1}\}^{\cup \pi_{1}} \cup \cdots \cup \{x_{n}\}^{\cup \pi_{n}}$ . Since  $S_{m,k}$  is an affine space and imposing this set of eigenvalues is a closed condition, we see that  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{x}^{\lambda}$  is an affine variety. The varieties  ${}_{0}\operatorname{Gr}_{x}^{\lambda}$  for  $G^{\vee} = GL_{m}$  are the same as those for  $G^{\vee} = PSL_{m}$ , so this establishes that case too.

Now suppose that  $G^{\vee}$  is arbitrary. Pick a faithful representation  $\rho: G^{\vee} \to GL_m$ which takes the maximal torus T of  $G^{\vee}$  into the maximal torus  $T_m$ . This gives us a map  $\rho: Bun_{G^{\vee}}(\mathbb{P}^1) \to Bun_{GL_m}(\mathbb{P}^1)$  and a closed embedding  $\rho: \operatorname{Gr}_{G^{\vee},x}^{\lambda} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{GL_m,x}^{\rho(\lambda)}$  (here  $\rho(\underline{\lambda})$  denotes the result of transforming  $\underline{\lambda}$  into a tuple of dominant coweights for  $GL_m$  via the map  $T \to T_m$ ). By Lemma 5.2 below, we see that  $\rho^{-1}(_0\operatorname{Gr}_{GL_m,x}^{\rho(\underline{\lambda})}) = _0\operatorname{Gr}_{G^{\vee},x}^{\lambda}$  and hence  $_0\operatorname{Gr}_{G^{\vee},x}^{\lambda}$  is a closed subvariety of  $_0\operatorname{Gr}_{GL_m,x}^{\rho(\underline{\lambda})}$ and hence is affine.

LEMMA 5.2. Let  $\rho: G^{\vee} \to GL_m$  be as above. Let P be a principal  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Then P is trivial if and only if  $\rho(P)$  is trivial.

PROOF. By Grothendieck's theorem, every  $G^{\vee}$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  admits a reduction to T. Hence our bundle P comes from a T-bundle P'. Note that P is trivial iff P' is trivial. We may first turn P' into a  $T_m$ -bundle  $\rho_T(P')$  and then into the  $GL_m$ -bundle  $\rho(P)$ .

Now, T-bundles are determined by maps  $X(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$ . The bundle  $\rho_T(P')$  is determined by the transformed map  $X(T_m) \to X(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $T \to T_m$  is an embedding,  $X(T_m) \to X(T)$  is onto.

Hence we deduce

$$P$$
 is trivial  $\iff P'$  is trivial  $\iff$  the map  $X(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$  is zero  
 $\iff$  the map  $X(T_m) \to X(T) \to \mathbb{Z}$  is zero  
 $\iff \rho_T(P')$  is trivial  $\iff \rho(P)$  is trivial.

#### References

- [BD] A. Beilinson and V. Drinfeld, Quantization of Hitchin's integrable system and Hecke eigensheaves, http://www.math.uchicago.edu/~mitya/langlands/.
- [CK] S. Cautis and J. Kamnitzer, Knot homology via derived categories of coherent sheaves II, sl(m) case, *Invent. Math.* **174** no. 1, 165–232; 0710.3216.
- [FM] M. Finkelberg and I. Mirković, Semi-infinite flags. I. Case of global curve P<sup>1</sup>. Differential topology, infinite-dimensional Lie algebras, and applications, (1999) 81–112.
- [KM] A. Kapustin and E. Witten, Electric-magnetic duality and the geometric Langlands program, Comm. Number Theory and Physics 1 1–236; hep-th/0604151.
- [K] M. Khovanov, A functor-valued invariant of tangles, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 2 (2002), 665–741; math.QA/0103190.
- [M] C. Manolescu, Link homology theories from symplectic geometry, Adv. in Math., 211 (2007), 363–416; math.SG/0601629
- [MVi] I. Mirković and K. Vilonen, Geometric Langlands duality and representations of algebraic groups over commutative rings, Ann. Math. 166 (2007), 95–143; math.RT/0401222.
- [MVy] I. Mirković and M. Vybornov, Quiver varieties and Beilinson-Drinfeld Grassmannians of type A; math.AG/0712.4160.
- [N] B. C. Ngo, Faisceaux pervers, homomorphisme de changement de base et lemme fondamental de Jacquet et Ye, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 32 (1999) 619–679; math.AG/9804013.
- [R] Reza Rezazadegan, Seidel-Smith cohomology for tangles, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 15 (2009), no. 3, 487–518; math.SG/0808.3381.

[SS] P. Seidel and I. Smith, A link invariant from the symplectic geometry of nilpotent slices, Duke Math. J. 134, no. 3 (2006), 453-514; math.SG/0405089.

UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO, TORONTO, CANADA

# Arithmetic Aspects of Moduli Spaces of Sheaves on Curves

# Max Lieblich

ABSTRACT. We describe recent work on the arithmetic properties of moduli spaces of stable vector bundles and stable parabolic bundles on a curve over a global field. In particular, we describe a connection between the period-index problem for Brauer classes over the function field of the curve and the Hasse principle for rational points on étale forms of such moduli spaces, refining classical results of Artin and Tate.

# Contents

| Introduction   |   |     |  |
|--|---|-----|--|
| Acknowledgments  |   |     |  |
| Notation and assumptions   |   |     |  |
| 1. For   | ms of moduli and an isotrivial Torelli theorem                        | 98  |  |
| 2. Some arithmetic questions about Brauer groups and rational points |   |     |  |
|  | on varieties over global fields                                       | 102 |  |
| 3. Mo  | 3. Moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves on curves and period-index |     |  |
|  | theorems  | 104 |  |
| 4. Parabolic bundles on $\mathbf{P}^1$                               |   | 106 |  |
| 5. Forms of parabolic moduli via split ramification                  |   | 108 |  |
| 6. A li  | st of questions   | 112 |  |
| Append   | lix A. Gerbes, twisted sheaves, and their moduli                      | 113 |  |
| Append   | lix B. Basic facts on the Brauer group                                | 115 |  |
| Append   | lix C. Ramification of Brauer classes                                 | 117 |  |
| References   |   | 119 |  |
|  |   |     |  |

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14F22; Secondary 14D23, 14G05, 16K50. The author was partially supported by NSF grant DMS-0758391. He would like to thank the Clay Mathematics Institute for hosting the conference at which some of this work was presented and Peter Newstead for his many inspiring papers.

#### MAX LIEBLICH

## Introduction

The goal of this paper is to introduce the reader to recent work on some basic arithmetic questions about moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves. In particular, we will focus on the correspondence between rational-point problems on (étale) forms of such moduli spaces and classical problems on the Brauer groups of function fields. This might be thought of as a non-abelian refinement of the following result of Artin and Tate (which we state in a special case).

Fix a global field K with scheme of integers S. (If char K > 0, we assume that S is proper so that it is unique.) Let  $f: X \to S$  be a proper flat morphism of relative dimension 1 with a section  $D \subset X$  and smooth generic fiber  $X_{\eta}$ . Let  $\operatorname{Br}_{\infty}(X)$  denote the kernel of the restriction map  $\operatorname{Br}(X) \to \prod_{\nu \mid \infty} \operatorname{Br}(X \otimes K_{\nu})$ , i.e., the Brauer classes which are trivial at the fibers over the Archimedean places. (If char K > 0 or K is totally imaginary,  $\operatorname{Br}_{\infty}(X) = \operatorname{Br}(X)$ .)

THEOREM (Artin-Tate). There is a natural isomorphism

 $\operatorname{Br}_{\infty}(X) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{III}^1(\operatorname{Spec} K, \operatorname{Jac}(X_\eta)).$ 

From a modern point of view, this isomorphism arises by sending a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  to the relative moduli space of invertible twisted sheaves of degree 0. (We have provided a brief review of gerbes, moduli of twisted sheaves, and the Brauer group in the form of an appendix.) Our goal will be to study the properties of higher-rank moduli of twisted sheaves. Each moduli space carries an adelic point (i.e., is in the analogue of the Tate-Shafarevich group), but most of the moduli spaces are geometrically rational (or at least rationally connected) with trivial Brauer-Manin obstruction, so that the Hasse principle is conjectured to hold. This yields connections between information about the complexity of Brauer classes on arithmetic surfaces and conjectures on the Hasse principle for geometrically rational varieties.

As the majority of work on moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves is done in a geometric context, we give in Section 1 a somewhat unconventional introduction to the study of forms of moduli. This is done primarily to fix notation and introduce some basic constructions. We also use this section to introduce a central idea: forms of the moduli problem naturally give forms of the stack and not merely of the coarse moduli space, and the relation between these forms captures cohomological information which ultimately is crucial for making the arithmetic connections. In this geometric section, we use this philosophy to prove a silly "non-abelian Torelli theorem".

Starting with Section 2 we turn our attention to arithmetic problems. In particular, after asking some basic questions in Section 2, we link a standard conjecture on the Hasse principle for 0-cycles of degree 1 (Conjecture 1.5(a) of [4]) to recent conjectures on the period-index problem in Section 3. We also recast some well-known results due to Lang and de Jong on the Brauer group in terms of rational points on moduli spaces of twisted sheaves. This serves to create a tight link between the Hasse principle and the period-index problem for unramified Brauer classes on arithmetic surfaces. In particular, we get the following refinement of the Artin-Tate isomorphism.

Let  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe which is trivial on geometric fibers of f and over infinite places, and let  $\alpha \in Br_{\infty}(X)$  denote its associated Brauer class. As

explained in Proposition 1.6, the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/S}(n,\mathscr{O}(D))$  of flat families of stable  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves of rank n and determinant  $\mathscr{O}(D)$  is a form of the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{X/S}(n,\mathscr{O}(D))$  of (non-twisted) stable sheaves with the same discrete invariants. We write  $M_{\mathscr{X}/S}(n,\mathscr{O}(D))$  for the coarse moduli space of  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/S}(n,\mathscr{O}(D))$  and  $M_{\mathscr{X}_K/K}(n,\mathscr{O}(D_K))$  for its generic fiber over S.

THEOREM (L). The class  $\alpha$  satisfies  $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$  if and only if the Hasse principle for 0-cycles of degree 1 holds for the smooth projective geometrically rational K-scheme  $M_{\mathscr{X}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(D_K))$ .

Since  $\operatorname{Pic}(M_{\mathscr{X}_{\overline{K}}/\overline{K}}(n, \mathscr{O}(D_{\overline{K}}))) = \mathbb{Z}$ , the condition of the theorem is equivalent to the statement that the Brauer-Manin obstruction is the only obstruction to the Hasse principle for this particular variety. Just as the element of  $\operatorname{III}^1(\operatorname{Spec} K, X_\eta)$  measures non-triviality of  $\alpha$ , here the success (or failure) of the Hasse principle for  $M_{\mathscr{X}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(D))$  measures the complexity of the division algebra over K(X) with Brauer class  $\alpha$ . As an example for the reader unfamiliar with the period and index (reviewed in the appendix), this says that if the Brauer-Manin obstruction is the only one for 0-cycles of degree 1 on geometrically rational varieties then any class of order 2 in  $\operatorname{Br}_{\infty}(X)$  must be the class associated to a generalized quaternion algebra (a, b) over K(X).

When char K = p > 0, one can prove that any  $\alpha \in Br(X)$  whose period is relatively prime to p satisfies  $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$  (see [20]). The proof uses the geometry of moduli spaces of twisted sheaves on surfaces over finite fields, and therefore contributes nothing to our understanding of the mixed-characteristic situation.

In Sections 4 and 5 we start to consider how one might generalize the Theorem to the case of ramified Brauer classes. Things here are significantly more complicated – for example, we know that there are ramified classes whose period and index are unequal. A nice collection of such examples is provided in [15] in the form of biquaternion algebras over  $\mathbf{Q}(t)$  with Faddeev index 4 such that for all places  $\nu$  of  $\mathbf{Q}$  the restriction to  $\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}(t)$  has index 2. Can we view such algebras as giving a violation of some sort of Hasse principle? As we discuss in Section 5, there is a canonical rational-point problem associated to such an algebra, but it fails to produce a counterexample to the Hasse principle because it lacks a local point at some place! In other words, while these algebras seem to violate some sort of "Hasse principle," the canonically associated moduli problems actually have *local* obstructions. This phenomenon is intriguing and demands further investigation.

### Acknowledgments

The author thanks Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène for his extremely valuable comments on the history surrounding the Brauer-Manin obstruction and the conjectures growing out of it. He also thanks the referee for helpful corrections.

#### Notation and assumptions

As in the introduction, given an arithmetic surface  $X \to S$  with S the scheme of integers of K, we will write  $Br_{\infty}(X)$  for the subgroup of Br(X) of classes whose restriction to  $X \otimes K_{\nu}$  is trivial for all Archimedean places of K.

We assume familiarity with the theory of algebraic stacks, as explained in [16]. Given a stack  $\mathscr{X}$ , we will denote the inertia stack by

$$\mathscr{I}(\mathscr{X}) := \mathscr{X} \times_{\Delta, \mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{X}, \Delta} \mathscr{X};$$

this is the fiber product of the diagonal with itself, and represents the sheaf of groups which assigns to any object its automorphisms. The notation related to moduli is explained in the Appendix. While gerbes, twisted sheaves, and the Brauer group are briefly reviewed in the Appendix, the reader completely unfamiliar with them will probably benefit from consulting **[10, 18, 20]** 

Most of the material described here is derived from the more extensive treatments in [19, 20]. We have thus felt free to merely sketch proofs. The material of Sections 4 and 5 is new, but is not in its final form. Again, we have not spelled out all of the details; they will appear once a more satisfactory understanding of the phenomena described there has been reached.

# 1. Forms of moduli and an isotrivial Torelli theorem

Let C/K be a curve over a field with a K-rational point p and L an invertible sheaf on C. The central objects of study in this paper will be forms of the moduli stack  $\mathcal{M}_{C/K}(r, L)$  of stable vector bundles on C of rank r and determinant L. In this section we give a geometric introduction to the existence and study of these forms. It turns out that the most interesting forms of  $\mathcal{M}_{C/K}(r, L)$  are those which arise from  $\mu_r$ -gerbes  $\mathscr{C} \to C$ . The reader unfamiliar with gerbes should think of these as stacky forms of C; the curve C itself corresponds to the trivial gerbe  $\mathsf{B}\mu_r \times C$ . As a warm-up for the rest of the paper, we give an amusing Torelli-type theorem for such stacky forms of C.

We begin by discussing forms of the coarse space  $M_C(r, L)$ . From a geometric point of view, forms of a variety are simply isotrivial families.

DEFINITION 1.1. Given an algebraically closed field k, a morphism of k-schemes  $f: X \to Y$  is *isotrivial* if there is a faithfully flat morphism  $g: Z \to Y$ , a k-scheme W, and isomorphism  $X \times_Y Z \xrightarrow{\sim} W \times Z$ .

Isotrivial families arise naturally from geometry, as the following example shows.

EXAMPLE 1.2. Suppose  $C_{\epsilon}$  is an infinitesimal deformation of C over  $k[\epsilon]$ and  $L_{\epsilon}$  and  $L'_{\epsilon}$  are two infinitesimal deformations of L. We claim that the moduli spaces  $M_{C_{\epsilon}/k[\epsilon]}(r, L_{\epsilon})$  and  $M_{C_{\epsilon}/k[\epsilon]}(r, L'_{\epsilon})$  are isomorphic. To see this, note that  $L'_{\epsilon} \otimes L^{-1}_{\epsilon}$  is an infinitesimal deformation of  $\mathcal{O}_{C}$  and is thus an rth power in  $\operatorname{Pic}(C_{\epsilon})$ . Twisting by an rth root gives an isomorphism of moduli problems. This obviously generalizes to deformations of C over Artinian local k-algebras A. As a consequence, if R is a complete local k-algebra with maximal ideal m and residue field k and  $\mathcal{L}$  is an invertible sheaf of degree d on  $C \otimes R$  with reduction L over the residue field, we see that  $M_{C \otimes R/R}(r, \mathcal{L}) \cong M_{C/k}(r, L) \otimes R$ . Indeed, since  $M_{C \otimes R/R}(r, \mathcal{L})$  and  $M_{C/k}(r, L)$  are proper, the Grothendieck existence theorem shows that the natural map

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{R}(M_{C\otimes R/R}(r,\mathcal{L}), M_{C/k}(r,L)\otimes R) \to \lim_{k \to \infty} \operatorname{Isom}_{R_{n}}(M_{C\otimes R_{n}/R_{n}}(r,\mathcal{L}_{R_{n}}), M_{C/k}(r,L)\otimes R_{n})$$

is an isomorphism, where  $R_n := R/\mathfrak{m}^{n+1}$ . Since the identity map over the residue field lifts to each infinitesimal level, we conclude that there is an isomorphism over R.

Now, given r and d as above, let  $M_C(r, d)$  denote the moduli space of all stable vector bundles of rank r and degree d. The determinant defines a morphism det :  $M_C(r, d) \rightarrow \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ . By the argument of the previous paragraph, all of the fibers of det are mutually isomorphic. This is a basic example of an isotrivial family which arises naturally from geometry.

How can we classify isotrivial families? The classification is familiar from descent theory. Let us illustrate how this works using Example 1.2. To simplify notation, let M denote the moduli space  $M_C(r, L)$  for some fixed  $L \in \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ , and write  $X = C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ . Consider the  $\operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ -scheme

$$T = \operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}}(M(r,d), M \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d}_{C/k});$$

this is a left torsor under the scheme of automorphisms Aut(M). We now make one simplifying assumption which will tie the geometry to algebraic constructions we will do later.

HYPOTHESIS 1.3. Suppose that the curve C has trivial automorphism group, and that both r and d are odd.

The purpose of Hypothesis 1.3 is to ensure that the automorphism group of  $M_C(r, L)$  is given entirely by the natural image of  $\operatorname{Pic}_C[r]$  in  $\operatorname{Aut}(M)$  under the map sending an invertible sheaf  $N \in \operatorname{Pic}_C[r]$  to the automorphism given by twisting by N (see [13]).

Given Hypothesis 1.3, the torsor T corresponds to a class

$$\overline{\alpha} \in \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \mathbf{R}^{1}\mathrm{pr}_{2*}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{r})$$

where  $\operatorname{pr}_2$  is the second projection of the product  $C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ . The cohomology class thus arising belongs to a convergent in the Leray spectral sequence for  $\mu_r$  with respect to the morphism  $\operatorname{pr}_2: C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d \to \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ . In fact, the Leray spectral sequence gives a surjection

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(C \times \mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \mathbf{R}^{1}\mathrm{pr}_{2*}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}).$$

(This is surjective because the edge map  $\mathrm{H}^{3}(\mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \mu_{r}) \to \mathrm{H}^{3}(C \times \mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \mu_{r})$ is split by any *k*-point  $p \in C$ .) There is a Chern class map

$$\operatorname{Pic}(C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d) \to \operatorname{H}^2(C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d, \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$$

arising in the usual way from the Kummer sequence.

Since *C* has a *k*-point, there is a tautological sheaf  $\mathscr{L}$  on  $C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ .

CLAIM 1.4. The class  $\overline{\alpha}$  is the image of  $\mathscr{L} \otimes L^{-1}$  under the composition of the above maps, where L is the invertible sheaf corresponding to the base point parameterizing M.

To prove this claim, we give a geometric interpretation of the maps

(1) 
$$\operatorname{Pic}(C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d) \to \operatorname{H}^2(C \times \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d, \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$$

and

(2) 
$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(C \times \mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Pic}^{d}_{C/k}, \mathrm{Pic}_{C/k}[r]).$$
To interpret (1): given an invertible sheaf  $\mathscr{N}$  on  $C \times \operatorname{Pic}^d / C/k$ , we get a  $\mu_r$ gerbe  $[\mathscr{N}]^{1/r}$  over X. This is a stack, i.e., a moduli problem, which in this case
is very explicit. Given an X-scheme  $T \to X$ , an object of  $[\mathscr{N}]^{1/r}$  is given by a
pair  $(\Lambda, \psi)$  with  $\Lambda$  an invertible sheaf on T and  $\psi : \Lambda^{\otimes r} \to \mathscr{N}$  an isomorphism.

To interpret (2): given a  $\mu_r$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{X} \to X$ , we can consider the pushforward stack  $\operatorname{pr}_2 \mathscr{X} \to \operatorname{Pic}^d_{C/k}$ .

CLAIM 1.5. With the above notation, given a morphism  $f: X \to Y$  the stack  $f_*\mathscr{X}$  is an  $f_*\mu_r$ -gerbe over a  $\mathbb{R}^1f_*\mu_r$ -pseudotorsor. If  $\mathscr{X} \times_Y U$  is a neutral gerbe over  $X \times_Y U$  for some étale surjection  $U \to Y$ , the sheafification of  $f_*\mathscr{X}$  is an étale torsor.

SKETCH OF PROOF. By definition, an object of  $f_*\mathscr{X}$  over a *Y*-scheme  $S \to Y$  is an object of  $\mathscr{X}$  over  $S \times_Y X$ . It immediately follows that  $f_*\mathscr{X}$  is a gerbe banded by  $f_*\mu_r$ . Let the sheafification of  $f_*\mathscr{X}$  be denoted  $\Theta \to Y$ . Twisting by torsors gives an action  $\mathbb{R}^1 f_*\mu_r \times \Theta \to \Theta$ . One checks that this makes  $\Theta$  into a pseudotorsor; the hypothesis of the last sentence of the claim transparently makes  $\Theta$  have local sections in the étale topology, and therefore a torsor.  $\Box$ 

Sending  $\mathscr{X}$  to the sheafification of  $\operatorname{pr}_2 \mathscr{X}$  gives an interpretation of (2).

PROOF OF CLAIM 1.4. Let  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  be the  $\mu_r$ -gerbe  $[\mathscr{L} \otimes L^{-1}]^{1/r}$  defined above, and let  $\Theta$  denote the sheafification of  $\mathscr{X}$  (as a  $\operatorname{Pic}^d_{C/k}$ -stack). Tensor product defines a morphism of  $\operatorname{Pic}^d_{C/k}$ -stacks

$$\operatorname{pr}_{2*} \mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{M}(r, L)_{\operatorname{Pic}^d_{\operatorname{cur}}} \to \mathscr{M}(r, d),$$

where  $\mathcal{M}$  is used in place of M to denote the stack instead of the coarse moduli space. Passing to sheafifications yields a map

$$\Theta \times M(r,L) \to M(r,d)$$

which is compatible with the natural  $\mathbf{R}^1 \mathrm{pr}_{2*} \boldsymbol{\mu}_r$ -actions. By adjunction, this gives a  $\mathrm{Pic}(C)[r]$ -equivariant map

$$\Theta \to \operatorname{Isom}(M(r,L), M(r,d))$$

yielding the desired result.

This analysis of Example 1.2 fits into a general picture. Let  $f: C \to S$  be a proper smooth relative curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . Suppose  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  is a  $\mu_r$ -gerbe whose associated cohomology class  $[\mathscr{C}] \in \mathrm{H}^2(C, \mu_r)$  is trivial on all geometric fibers of f.

PROPOSITION 1.6. There is an étale surjection  $U \to S$  and an isomorphism of stacks  $\tau : \mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_U/U}(r,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{C_U/U}(r,L)$ .

In other words, the stack of stable C-twisted sheaves of rank r determinant L is a form of the stack of stable sheaves on C of rank r and determinant L. (As the reader will note from the proof, it is essential that the cohomology class be trivial on geometric fibers for this to be true.)

SKETCH OF PROOF. The proper and smooth base change theorems and the compatibility of the formation of étale cohomology with limits show that there is an étale surjection  $U \to S$  such that  $[\mathscr{C}]_U = 0$ . Thus, it suffices to show that if  $[\mathscr{C}] = 0$  (in other words, if  $\mathscr{C} \cong \mathsf{B}\mu_{r,C}$ ) then there is an isomorphism

 $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{C/S}(r,L)$ . Under this assumption, there is an invertible  $\mathscr{C}$ -sheaf  $\chi$  such that  $\chi^{\otimes r}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathscr{O}$ . Tensoring with  $\chi^{-1}$  gives the isomorphism in question.

The isomorphism  $\tau$  of Proposition 1.6 yields a coarse isomorphism  $\overline{\tau}$ :  $M_{\mathscr{C}_U/U}(r,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} M_{C_U/U}(r,L)$ , so that  $M_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L)$  is a form of  $M_{C/S}(r,L)$ . Just as above, we can give the cohomology class corresponding to this form (by descent theory): it is precisely the image of  $[\mathscr{C}]$  under the edge map  $\epsilon : \mathrm{H}^2(C, \mu_r) \to$   $\mathrm{H}^1(S, \mathrm{R}^1 f_* \mu_r)$  in the Leray spectral sequence. There is one mildly interesting consequence of this fact. Since  $\epsilon$  has (in general) a kernel, we see that the coarse moduli space  $M_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L)$  does not (in general) characterize the "curve"  $\mathscr{C}$ . In other words, it appears that there is no "stacky Torelli theorem". It is perhaps illuminating to give an example of the failure.

LEMMA 1.7. If  $f : X \to S$  is a proper morphism with geometrically connected fibers such that  $\operatorname{Pic}_{X/S} = \mathbb{Z}$ , then the natural pullback map  $\operatorname{H}^2(S, \mu_r) \to \operatorname{H}^2(X, \mu_r)$  is injective.

PROOF. The Leray spectral sequence shows that the kernel of the map is the image of  $\mathrm{H}^{0}(S, \mathbf{R}^{1}f_{*}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) = \mathrm{H}^{1}(X, \mathrm{Pic}_{X/S}[r]) = 0.$ 

EXAMPLE 1.8. If  $\mathscr{C} = C \times \mathscr{S}$  for a  $\mu_r$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{S} \to S$ , then (for example, by the above Leray spectral sequence calculation) there is an isomorphism  $b : M_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} M_{C/S}(r,L)$ . However, the stacks  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L)$  and  $\mathscr{M}_{C/S}(r,L)$  are not isomorphic unless  $\mathscr{S}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathsf{B}\mu_{r,S}$ . In fact, viewing (via b) both of these stacks as  $\mu_r$ -gerbes over  $M_{C/S}(r,L)$ , we have an equation

$$[\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/S}(r,L)] - [\mathscr{M}_{C/S}(r,L)] = [\mathscr{S}_{M_{C/S}(r,L)}]$$

as described in [14]. By Lemma 1.7, we see that  $[\mathscr{S}] = 0$  if and only if  $[\mathscr{S}_{M_{C/S}(r,L)}] = 0$ , as desired.

On the other hand, if we keep track of the stacky structure, we have the following silly "Torelli" theorem. Let  $f: C \to S$  be a proper smooth relative curve of genus  $g \geq 2$  with a section whose geometric generic fiber has no nontrivial automorphisms. Suppose L is an invertible sheaf on C of degree d on each geometric fiber of f and r is a positive integer relatively prime to d such that rd is odd. Given stacks  $\mathscr{X}$  and  $\mathscr{Y}$  with inclusions  $\mu_r \hookrightarrow \mathscr{I}(\mathscr{X})$  and  $\mu_r \hookrightarrow \mathscr{I}(\mathscr{Y})$ , the notation  $\mathscr{X} \cong_r \mathscr{Y}$  will mean that there is an isomorphism  $\iota : \mathscr{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{Y}$  such that the composition  $\iota^*\mu_r \xrightarrow{\sim} \mu_r \to \mathscr{I}(\mathscr{X}) \to \iota^*\mathscr{I}(\mathscr{Y})$  is the pullback under  $\iota$  of the given inclusion  $\mu_r \to \mathscr{I}(\mathscr{Y})$ . We will call such an isomorphism " $\mu_r$ -linear".

THEOREM 1.9 (Isotrivial Torelli). With the above notation, if  $\mathscr{C}_1$  and  $\mathscr{C}_2$  are  $\mu_r$ -gerbes on C whose restrictions to geometric fibers of f are trivial, then  $\mathscr{C}_1 \cong_r \mathscr{C}_2$  if and only if  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r,L) \cong_r \mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_2/S}(r,L)$ .

PROOF. The assumption that f has a section leads (via pullback and the relative cohomology class of the section) to a natural splitting

$$\operatorname{H}^{2}(C, \boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) = \operatorname{H}^{2}(S, \boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) \oplus \operatorname{H}^{1}(S, \mathbf{R}^{1}f_{*}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{r}) \oplus \operatorname{H}^{0}(S, \mathbf{R}^{2}f_{*}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{r})$$

such that the first two summands correspond to classes which are trivial on geometric fibers of f. As discussed above, the image of  $[\mathscr{C}_i]$  in  $\mathrm{H}^1(S, \mathbf{R}^1 f_* \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$  is the class associated to  $M_{\mathscr{C}_i/S}(r, L)$ . If  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r, L)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_2/S}(r, L)$ 

(say, by an isomorphism  $\varphi$ ) then certainly the same is true for the coarse moduli spaces (isomorphic via  $\overline{\varphi}$ ), from which we conclude that  $[\mathscr{C}_1]$  and  $[\mathscr{C}_2]$  have the same image in  $\mathrm{H}^1(S, \mathbf{R}^1 f_* \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$ . Thus, there exists some  $\boldsymbol{\mu}_r$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{S} \to S$  such that  $[\mathscr{C}_1] - [\mathscr{C}_2] = [\mathscr{S}]|_C$  in  $\mathrm{H}^2(C, \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$ . Using Giraud's theory [10, §IV.2.4], it follows that we can write  $\mathscr{C}_1 = \mathscr{C}_2 \wedge \mathscr{S}_C$ . In this situation, there is a canonical isomorphism  $b : M_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r, L) \xrightarrow{\sim} M_{\mathscr{C}_2/S}(r, L)$  with the property that  $[\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r, L)] - b^*[\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_2/S}(r, L)] = [\mathscr{S}]_{M_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r, L)}$  in  $\mathrm{H}^2(M_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r, L), \boldsymbol{\mu}_r)$ .

By Hypothesis 1.3, any automorphism of  $M_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r,L)$  lifts to a  $(\mu_r$ -linear) automorphism of  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r,L)$ . Applying this to  $b \circ \overline{\varphi}^{-1}$ , we see that b lifts to an isomorphism  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r,L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_2/S}(r,L)$ . We thus conclude that  $\mathscr{S}_{M_{\mathscr{C}_1/S}(r,L)}$  is a trivial gerbe. By Lemma 1.7, we see that  $[\mathscr{S}] = 0$ , so  $\mathscr{C}_1$  and  $\mathscr{C}_2$  are isomorphic  $\mu_r$ -gerbes.

# 2. Some arithmetic questions about Brauer groups and rational points on varieties over global fields

Let C/k be a curve over a field. In this section we describe how the forms arising in the preceding section are related to basic questions about the arithmetic of function fields. The linkage is provided by an interpretation of the group  $\mathrm{H}^2(C, \mu_r)$ . The inclusion  $\mu_r \to \mathbf{G}_m$  yields classes in  $\mathrm{H}^2(C, \mathbf{G}_m)$ , which is equal to the Brauer group of C. The reader is referred to the appendix for a review of basic facts about the Brauer group of a scheme.

Given a field K, there are several questions about the arithmetic properties of K in which the Brauer group plays a central role.

- (1) The period-index problem: given  $\alpha \in Br(K)$ , what is the minimal g such that  $ind(\alpha) | per(\alpha)^g$ ?
- (2) The index-reduction problem: given a field extension L/K and a class  $\alpha \in Br(K)$ , how can we characterize the number  $ind(\alpha)/ind(\alpha|_L)$ ?
- (3) The Brauer-Manin obstruction to the Hasse principle: is the Brauer-Manin obstruction the only obstruction to the existence of 0-cycles of degree 1?

In this paper we will focus on questions (1) and (3). Question (2) also has close ties to the geometry of moduli spaces; we refer the reader to [14] for details.

As the third question is the most technical, let us briefly review what it means. Suppose K is a global field with adèle ring A and X is a proper geometrically connected K-scheme. For example, X could be a smooth quadric hypersurface. For smooth quadric hypersurfaces, a classical theorem of Hasse and Minkowski says that  $X(K) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $X(K_{\nu}) \neq \emptyset$  for all places  $\nu$  of K (including the infinite ones). This principle is usually referred to as the "Hasse principle". A natural question which arises from this theorem is whether or not this principle holds for an arbitrary variety. This turns out not to be the case [24], but there is often an explanation for the failure of this principle arising from a cohomological obstruction discovered by Manin [21]. To describe this obstruction, a few minor technical remarks are in order.

Since A is a K-algebra, we can consider the adelic points X(A). Restriction gives a map  $X(A) \to \prod_{\nu} X(K_{\nu})$ . In fact, this map is a bijection. (To prove this, one can use a regular proper model of X over the scheme of integers of K to reduce to the case in which X is affine, where this follows from the universal property of the product.) From this point of view, the Hasse principle says that  $X(A) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $X(K) \neq \emptyset$ . Moreover, the *K*-algebra structure on *A* gives a map  $X(K) \rightarrow X(A)$ . Manin's idea is to produce a pairing whose "kernel" contains the image of X(K) in X(A). The pairing arises as follows: restriction gives a map

$$\operatorname{Br}(X) \times X(A) \to \operatorname{Br}(A) \to \mathbf{Q}/\mathbf{Z},$$

where the last map comes from the usual local invariants of class field theory. The standard reciprocity law implies that the Brauer group of K is in the left kernel of this pairing, yielding an invariant map

$$X(A) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Br}(X)/\operatorname{Br}(K), \mathbf{Q}/\mathbf{Z}).$$

Write  $X(A)^{\operatorname{Br}(X)}$  for the "kernel" of this map (i.e., the elements sent to the map  $0 : \operatorname{Br}(X)/\operatorname{Br}(K) \to \mathbf{Q}/\mathbf{Z}$ ). The same reciprocity law shows that X(K) is contained in  $X(A)^{\operatorname{Br}(X)}$ . In particular, if  $X(A)^{\operatorname{Br}(X)} = \emptyset$  then  $X(K) = \emptyset$ . The obvious question concerning this pairing is the following.

QUESTION 2.1. If  $X(A)^{Br(X)} \neq \emptyset$  then is  $K(K) \neq \emptyset$ ?

As suspected from the beginning, the answer turns out to be "no," but there was no counterexample until Skorobogatov discovered a bielliptic surface with no rational points and vanishing Brauer-Manin obstruction [25]. There is a refinement of this question due to Colliot-Thélène that is still the subject of much current research. (Cf. Conjecture 1.5(a) of [4] and Conjecture 2.4 of [5].)

CONJECTURE 2.2. If  $X(A)^{Br(X)} \neq \emptyset$  then there is a 0-cycle of degree 1 (over K) on X.

We will call this property "the Hasse principle for 0-cycles". A famous theorem of Saito affirms Conjecture 2.2 when X is a curve, under the assumption that the Tate-Shafarevich group of the curve is finite (the original is [23], with another account of this result in [5]); the general case is still wide open. According to Colliot-Thélène, it is not known if Skorobogatov's negative answer to Question 2.1 has a 0-cycle of degree 1. One of our primary goals in this paper will be to link certain cases of Conjecture 2.2 to the period-index problem for function fields of arithmetic surfaces.

There is one case of Conjecture 2.2 which will come up below.

CONJECTURE 2.3. If X is smooth and geometrically rational and  $\operatorname{Pic}(X \otimes \overline{K})$  is isomorphic to Z then the Hasse principle holds (for 0-cycles) for X.

PROOF THAT CONJECTURE 2.3 FOLLOWS FROM CONJECTURE 2.2. By [11], we know  $\operatorname{Br}(X \otimes \overline{K}) = 0$ , since X is smooth and geometrically rational. The Leray spectral sequence for  $\mathbf{G}_m$  then shows that  $\operatorname{Br}(X)/\operatorname{Br}(K) = \operatorname{H}^1(K, \mathbb{Z})$ , and the latter group is trivial (since the first cohomology of a finite group acting trivially on  $\mathbb{Z}$  is trivial, and the Galois cohomology is a colimit of such). Thus,  $X(A) = X(A)^{\operatorname{Br}(X)}$ .

The statement of Conjecture 2.3 is meant to include both the strong form (classical Hasse principle) and weak form (Hasse principle for 0-cycles). We will discuss two different relationships between Conjecture 2.3 and the period-index problem; one will relate to the strong form, while one will relate to the weak form.

#### MAX LIEBLICH

# 3. Moduli spaces of stable twisted sheaves on curves and period-index theorems

In this section, we start to explain the connections among the various problems described in the preceding section. In particular, we will use classical theorems about rational points on various kinds of varieties over various  $C_1$ -fields to solve moduli problems encoding period-index problems. Then we will prove the Theorem from the Introduction.

To begin, we give another result which is a transparent translation of a simple spectral sequence argument.

THEOREM 3.1. If C is a proper curve over a finite field  $\mathbf{F}_q$  then Br(C) = 0.

SKETCH OF PROOF. An exercise in deformation theory (see Section A.2) reduces the theorem to the case in which C is smooth. Let  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe. Consider the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{F}_q}(1,0)$  parameterizing invertible  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaves of degree 0. Just as in the classical case,  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{F}_q}(1,0)$  is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe over a  $\operatorname{Jac}(C)$ -torsor T. By Lang's theorem, T has a rational point p. By Wedderburn's theorem, p lifts to an object of the stack, giving an invertible  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf. As described in the appendix, this invertible twisted sheaf trivializes the Brauer class associated to  $[\mathscr{C}]$ . Since  $\mathscr{C}$  was an arbitrary  $\mu_n$ -gerbe, this shows that the Brauer group of C is trivial.

Next, we will sketch a proof of the following theorem.

THEOREM 3.2 (de Jong). Let X be a surface over an algebraically closed field k. For all  $\alpha \in Br(k(X))$ , we have  $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$ .

Unlike Theorem 3.1, this is not merely a geometric realization of a standard cohomological argument. There are various proofs of this result – de Jong's original proof [7], a proof due to de Jong and Starr [9], and the one we present (found with details in [20]). They each ultimately rest on deformation theory and the definition of a suitable moduli problem. The latter two both reduce the result to the existence of a section for a rationally connected fibration over a curve and use the Graber-Harris-Starr theorem.

SKETCH OF PROOF. We assume that char k = 0 for the sake of simplicity; the reader will find a reduction to this case in [20]. We proceed in steps. We will write n for the period of  $\alpha$ .

(1) Blowing up in the base locus of a very ample pencil of divisors (one of which contains the ramification divisor of  $\alpha$ ) on X, we may assume that there is a fibration  $X \to \mathbf{P}^1$  with a section such that the ramification of  $\alpha$  is entirely contained in a fiber and the generic fiber is smooth of genus  $g \ge 2$ . Let C/k(t) be the generic fiber; this is a proper smooth curve of genus  $g \ge 2$  with a rational point p, and  $\alpha$  lies in Br(C).

(2) Choose a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  such that  $[\mathscr{C}] = \alpha \in Br(C)$  and  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{k(t)}] = 0 \in H^2(C, \mu_n)$ . (We can do this because C has a rational point.)

(3) Consider the modular  $\mu_n$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/k(t)}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)) \to M_{\mathscr{C}/k(t)}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ . As discussed in Section 1, there is an isomorphism

$$M_{\mathscr{C}/k(t)}(n,\mathscr{O}(p))\otimes k(t)\stackrel{\sim}{\to} M_{C\otimes \overline{k(t)}/\overline{k(t)}}(n,\mathscr{O}(p)),$$

and we know that the latter (hence, the former) is unirational (in fact, rational), and thus rationally connected.

(4) The Graber-Harris-Starr theorem implies that there is a rational point  $q \in M_{\mathscr{C}/k(t)}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))(k(t)).$ 

(5) Tsen's theorem implies that q lifts to an object  $\mathscr{V}\colon$  a locally free  $\mathscr{C}\text{-}$  twisted sheaf of rank n.

(6) The algebra  $\mathscr{E}nd(\mathscr{V})|_{\eta}$  is a central division algebra of degree n with Brauer class  $\alpha$ , thus proving that the index of  $\alpha$  divides n. Since we already know the converse divisibility relation, we are done.

REMARK 3.3. The reader will note that we use the Graber-Harris-Starr theorem in two places in the proof: once to find a rational point on the coarse moduli space, and once (in the guise of Tsen's theorem) to lift that rational point to an object of the stack. While classical algebraic geometry only "sees" the former, the difference between fine and coarse moduli problems necessitates the latter.

If we start with an arithmetic surface instead of a surface over an algebraically closed field, things get more complicated. (For example, it is no longer true that the period and index are always equal if the class is allowed to ramify.) For the rest of this section, we will discuss unramified classes. In Section 5 below, we will discuss certain ramified classes. In both cases, we will tie the period-index problem to Conjecture 2.3.

Let *K* be a global field, *S* the scheme integers of *K*, and  $C \rightarrow S$  a proper relative curve with a section and smooth generic fiber. (When char(K) > 0, the scheme of integers is assumed to be proper over the prime field; this ensures that it is unique.)

THEOREM 3.4. If Conjecture 2.3 is true, then any  $\alpha \in Br_{\infty}(C)$  satisfies  $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$ .

PROOF. Write  $n = per(\alpha)$ . Since  $\mathcal{C} \to S$  has a section, we can choose a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  such that  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{K}] = 0 \in \mathrm{H}^2(C \otimes \overline{K}, \mu_n)$ . By class field theory, the restriction of  $\alpha$  to the point  $p \in C(K)$  is trivial.

Consider the stack  $\chi : \mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)) \to M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ . We claim that to prove the theorem it suffices to show that for every place  $\nu$  of K, the category  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))_{K_{\nu}}$  is nonempty. Indeed, the map  $\chi$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe; let  $\beta \in \operatorname{Br}(M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)))$  be the associated Brauer class. Since  $M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ is geometrically rational with Picard group Z [12] and has a point over every completion of K, we know that the pullback map  $\operatorname{Br}(K) \to \operatorname{Br}(M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)))$ is an isomorphism. Thus,  $\beta$  is the pullback of a class over K. The fact that each  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))_{K_{\nu}}$  is non-empty implies that  $\beta_{K_{\nu}} = 0$ ; class field theory again shows that  $\beta = 0$ . But then any rational point of  $M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$  lifts to an object of  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ .

Let us assume we have found a collection of local objects as in the previous paragraph. The assumption that Conjecture 2.3 holds yields a 0-cycle of degree 1 on the coarse space  $M_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ , which lifts to the stack, producing a complex  $P^{\bullet}$  of locally free  $\mathscr{C}_K$ -twisted sheaves such that  $\operatorname{rk} P^{\bullet} = n$ . Indeed, if there is a  $\mathscr{C} \otimes L$ -twisted sheaf of rank n for some finite algebra L/K then pushing forward along  $\mathscr{C} \otimes L \to \mathscr{C}$  gives a  $\mathscr{C} \otimes K$ -twisted sheaf of rank [L:K]n. A 0-cycle of degree 1 yields two algebras  $L_1/K$  and  $L_2/K$  such that  $[L_1:K] =$ 

#### MAX LIEBLICH

 $[L_2:K] = 1$  and  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C} \otimes L_i/L_i}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))_{L_i} \neq \emptyset$ . There result two  $\mathscr{C} \otimes K$ -twisted sheaves  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  such that  $\operatorname{rk} V_1 - \operatorname{rk} V_2 = n$ , whence we can let  $P^{\bullet}$  be the complex with  $V_1$  in degree 0 and  $V_2$  in degree 1 (and the trivial differential). Since the category of coherent twisted sheaves over the generic point of C is semisimple (it is just the category of finite modules over a division ring), it follows that there is a  $\mathscr{C}_{\eta}$ -twisted sheaf of rank n, whence  $\operatorname{per}(\alpha) = \operatorname{ind}(\alpha)$ , as desired.

So it remains to produce local objects of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathscr{C}_K/K}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))_{K_{\nu}}$  for all places  $\nu$ . If  $\nu$  is Archimedean, then  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes K_{\nu}] = 0 \in \mathrm{H}^2(C \otimes K_{\nu}, \boldsymbol{\mu}_n)$  by assumption, so that stable  $\mathscr{C} \otimes K_{\nu}$ -twisted sheaves are equivalent (upon twisting down by an invertible  $\mathscr{C} \otimes K_{\nu}$ -twisted sheaf) to stable sheaves on  $C \otimes K_{\nu}$ . Since moduli spaces of stable vector bundles with fixed invariants have rational points over every infinite field, we find a local object.

Now assume that  $\nu$  is finite, and let R be the valuation ring of  $K_{\nu}$ , with finite residue field F. By Theorem 3.1 and the assumption that  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{F}] = 0 \in$  $\mathrm{H}^2(C \otimes \overline{F}, \mu_n)$  we know that  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes F] = 0 \in \mathrm{H}^2(C \otimes F, \mu_n)$ . It follows as in the previous paragraph that it suffices to show the existence of a stable sheaf on  $C \otimes F$  of determinant  $\mathscr{O}(p)$  and rank n. Consider the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{C \otimes F/F}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)) \to$  $M_{C \otimes F/F}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$ . Just as above, the space  $M_{C \otimes F/F}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$  is a smooth projective rationally connected variety. By Esnault's theorem [**6**], it has a rational point. Since  $\mathscr{M}_{C \otimes F/F}(n, \mathscr{O}(p)) \to M_{C \otimes F/F}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe and F is finite, the moduli point lifts to an object, giving rise to a stable  $\mathscr{C} \otimes F$ -twisted sheaf V of rank n and determinant  $\mathscr{O}(p)$ ). Since  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/S}(n, \mathscr{O}(p))$  is smooth over S, the sheaf V deforms to a family over R, whose generic fiber gives the desired local object.  $\Box$ 

## 4. Parabolic bundles on $P^1$

In this section, we review some basic elements of the moduli theory of parabolic bundles of rank 2 on the projective line. We will focus on the case of interest to us and describe it in stack-theoretic language. We refer the reader to [2] for a general comparison between the classical and stacky descriptions of parabolic bundles.

Let  $D = p_1 + \cdots + p_r \subset \mathbf{P}^1$  be a reduced divisor, and let  $\pi : \mathscr{P} \to \mathbf{P}^1$  be the stack given by extracting square roots of the points of D as in [3]. The stack has r non-trivial residual gerbes  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_r$ , each isomorphic to  $B\mu_2$  over its field of moduli (i.e., the residue field of  $p_i$ ). Recall that the category of quasi-coherent sheaves on  $B\mu_2$  is naturally equivalent to the category of representations of  $\mu_2$ . Given a sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  on  $B\mu_2$ , we will call the representation arising by this equivalence the *associated representation* of  $\mathscr{F}$ .

DEFINITION 4.1. A locally free sheaf V on  $\mathscr{P}$  is *regular* if, for each  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ , the associated representation of the restriction  $V|_{\xi_i}$  is a direct sum of copies of the regular representation.

DEFINITION 4.2. Let  $\{a_i \leq b_i\}_{i=1}^r$  be elements of  $\{0, 1/2\}$ . A *parabolic* bundle  $V_*$  of rank N with parabolic weights  $\{a_i \leq b_i\}$  is a pair (W, F), where W is a locally free sheaf of rank 2 and  $F \subset W_D$  is a subbundle. The parabolic

degree of  $V_*$  is

$$\operatorname{pardeg}(V_*) = \operatorname{deg} W + \sum_i a_i (\operatorname{rk} W - \operatorname{rk} F_{p_i}) + b_i (\operatorname{rk} F_{p_i})$$

We will only consider parabolic bundles with weights in  $\{0, 1/2\}$  in this paper. More general weights in [0, 1) are often useful. The stack-theoretic interpretation of this more general situation is slightly more complicated; it is explained clearly in [2].

In [26], Vistoli defined a Chow theory for Deligne-Mumford stacks and showed that pushforward defines an isomorphism  $A(\mathscr{P}) \otimes \mathbf{Q} \xrightarrow{\sim} A(\mathbf{P}^1) \otimes \mathbf{Q}$  of Chow rings. In particular, any invertible sheaf L on  $\mathscr{P}$  has a degree, deg  $L \in \mathbf{Q}$ . One can make a more ad hoc definition of the degree of an invertible sheaf L on  $\mathscr{P}$  in the following way. The sheaf  $L^{\otimes 2}$  is the pullback of a unique invertible sheaf  $\mathscr{M}$  on  $\mathbf{P}^1$ , and we can define deg $\mathscr{P}L = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{deg}_{\mathbf{P}^1} \mathscr{M}$ . Thus, for example, deg  $\mathscr{O}(\xi_i) = [\kappa_i : k]/2$ , where  $\kappa_i$  is the field of moduli of  $\xi_i$  (the residue field of  $p_i$ ).

The following is a special case of a much more general result. The reader is referred to (e.g.) [2] for the generalities.

**PROPOSITION 4.3.** There is an equivalence of categories between locally free sheaves V on  $\mathscr{P}$  and parabolic sheaves  $V_*$  on  $\mathbf{P}^1$  with parabolic divisor D and parabolic weights contained in  $\{0, 1/2\}$ . Moreover, we have  $\deg_{\mathscr{P}} V = \operatorname{pardeg}(V_*)$ .

PROOF. Given V, define  $V_*$  as follows: the underlying sheaf W of  $V_*$  is  $\pi_*V$ . To define the subbundle  $F \subset W_D$ , consider the inclusion  $V(-\sum \xi_i) \subset V$ . Pushing forward by  $\pi$  yields a subsheaf  $W' \subset W$ , and we let F be the image of the induced map  $W'_D \to W_D$ .

We leave it to the reader as an amusing exercise to check that 1) this defines an equivalence of categories, and 2) this equivalence respects degrees, as claimed.  $\hfill\square$ 

DEFINITION 4.4. Given a non-zero locally free sheaf V on  $\mathcal{P}$ , the *slope* of V is

$$\mu(V) = \frac{\deg V}{\operatorname{rk} V}.$$

The sheaf V on  $\mathscr{P}$  is *stable* if for all locally split proper subsheaves  $W \subset V$  we have  $\mu(W) < \mu(V)$ .

The stability condition of Definition 4.4 is identical to the classical notion for sheaves on a proper smooth curve. The reader familiar with the classical definition of stability for parabolic bundles can easily check (using Proposition 4.3) that a sheaf V on  $\mathscr{P}$  is stable if and only if the associated parabolic bundle  $V_*$  is stable in the parabolic sense. One can check (by the standard methods) that stable parabolic bundles form an Artin stack of finite type over k. The stack of stable parabolic bundles of rank n with fixed determinant is a  $\mu_n$ gerbe over an algebraic space.

NOTATION 4.5. Given  $L \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathscr{P})$ , let  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}/k}^*(n,L)$  denote the stack of regular locally free sheaves on  $\mathscr{P}$  of rank r and determinant L, and let  $M_{\mathscr{P}/k}^*(n,L)$  denote the coarse space.

#### MAX LIEBLICH

PROPOSITION 4.6. If  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}/k}^*(n,L)$  is non-empty then it is geometrically unirational and geometrically integral. Moreover, the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}/k}^*(2,\mathscr{O}(\sum \xi_i))$  is non-empty if r > 3.

PROOF. Basic deformation theory shows that  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  is smooth. Thus, to show that it is integral, it suffices to show that it is connected. We will do this by showing that it is unirational (i.e., finding a surjection onto  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  from an open subset of a projective space. This is a standard trick using a space of extensions. (There are in fact two versions, one using finite cokernels and one using invertible cokernels. We show the reader the former, as it is useful in situations where the latter does not apply and the latter seems to be more easily available in the literature.)

Let V be a parabolic sheaf of rank n and determinant L. Since  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}/k}^*(n,L)$ is of finite type, there exists a positive integer N such that for every parabolic sheaf of rank n and determinant L, a general map  $V \to W(N)$  is injective with cokernel Q supported on a reduced divisor E in  $\mathscr{P} \setminus \{\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_r\}$  such that  $E \in |\mathscr{O}(nN)|$ . Let  $U \subset |\mathscr{O}(nN)|$  be the open subset parametrizing divisors supported in  $\mathscr{P} \setminus \{\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_r\}$ , and let  $\mathscr{E} \subset \mathscr{P} \times U$  be the universal divisor. The sheaf  $\mathbb{R}^1(\mathrm{pr}_2)_*\mathbb{R}\mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}}, \mathrm{pr}_1^*V)$  is locally free on U, and gives rise to a geometric vector bundle  $B \to U$  and an extension

$$0 \to V_{\mathscr{P} \times B} \to \mathscr{W} \to \mathscr{Q}_{\mathscr{P} \times B} \to 0$$

such that every extension  $0 \to V \to W(N) \to Q \to 0$  as above arises is a fiber over *B*. Passing to the open subscheme  $B^{\circ}$  over which the extension  $\mathscr{W}$  is locally free with stable fibers yields a surjective map  $B^{\circ} \to \mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  from an open subset of a projective space, proving that  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  is geometrically integral and unirational.

To prove that  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  is nonempty is significantly more subtle. The proof is similar to a result of Biswas [1] for parabolic bundles with parabolic degree 0, but including it here would take us too far afield.

## 5. Forms of parabolic moduli via split ramification

**5.1. Some generalities.** In this section we show how to produce forms of the stack of parabolic bundles on  $\mathbf{P}^1$  from Brauer classes over k(t). For the sake of simplicity, we restrict our attention to classes in Br(k(t))[2] and parabolic bundles of rank 2. A generalization to higher period/rank should be relatively straightforward.

Let  $\alpha \in Br(k(t))[2]$  be a Brauer class. Suppose  $D = p_1 + \cdots + p_r$  is the ramification divisor of  $\alpha$ , and let  $\mathscr{P} \to \mathbf{P}^1$  be the stacky branched cover as in Section 4. By Corollary C.2,  $\alpha$  extends to a class  $\alpha' \in Br(\mathscr{P})[2]$ . Suppose  $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{P}$  is a  $\mu_2$ -gerbe representing  $\alpha'$  such that  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{k}] = 0 \in H^2(\mathscr{P} \otimes \overline{k}, \mu_2)$ . (For a proof that  $\mathscr{C}$  is itself an algebraic stack, the reader is referred to [19]. We cannot always ensure that the cohomology class of  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{k}]$  is trivial; we make that as a simplifying assumption. More general cases can be analyzed by similar methods.)

DEFINITION 5.1.1. A regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf is a locally free  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf V such that for each i = 1, ..., r, the restriction  $V_{\mathscr{C} \times_{\mathbf{p}^1} \operatorname{Spec} \overline{\kappa}_i}$  has the form

 $\mathscr{L} \otimes \rho^{\oplus m}$  for some integer m > 0, where  $\mathscr{L}$  is an invertible  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{\kappa}_i$ -twisted sheaf and  $\rho$  is the sheaf on  $\mathsf{B}\mu_2$  associated to the regular representation of  $\mu_2$ .

Just as in Definition 4.4 and Definition A.1.2, we can define stable regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaves.

NOTATION 5.1.2. Let  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L)$  denote the stack of stable regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaves of rank n and determinant L, and  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L)$  its coarse moduli space (sheafification).

PROPOSITION 5.1.3. For any section  $\sigma$  of  $\mathscr{C} \otimes k \to \mathscr{P} \otimes k$  there is an isomorphism  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L) \otimes \overline{k} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L).$ 

PROOF. We may assume that  $k = \overline{k}$ . The section  $\sigma$  corresponds to an invertible  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf  $\mathscr{L}$  such that  $\mathscr{L}^{\otimes 2} = \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}}$ . Twisting by  $\mathscr{L}$  defines the isomorphism. (Note that the regularity condition implies that n must be even for either space to be nonempty.)

In other words, the stack  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L)$  (resp. the quasi-projective coarse moduli space  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L)$ ) is a form of  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$  (resp.  $M^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(n,L)$ ).

COROLLARY 5.1.4. The space  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,L)$  is geometrically (separably) unirational when it is nonempty.

One can use a generalization of Corollary 5.1.4 to higher genus curves and arbitrary period to give another proof of Theorem 3.2 without having to push the ramification into a fiber, by simply taking any pencil and using the generic points of the ramification divisor (and a point of the base locus) to define the parabolic divisor. (This is not substantively different from the proof we give here.) The main interest for us, however, will be for arithmetic surfaces of mixed characteristic.

**5.2.** An extended example. Let  $\alpha \in Br(\mathbf{Q}(t))[2]$  be a class whose ramification divisor  $D \subset \mathbf{P}^1_{\mathbf{Z}}$  is non-empty with simple normal crossings. Let  $\mathscr{P} \to \mathbf{P}^1_{\mathbf{Q}}$  be the stacky cover branched over D to order 2 as in the first paragraph of Section 4 above. Let  $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{P}$  be a  $\mu_2$ -gerbe with Brauer class  $\alpha$ ; if the degree  $[D \otimes \mathbf{Q} : \mathbf{Q}]$  is odd, one can ensure that  $\mathscr{C}$  such that  $[\mathscr{C} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{Q}}] \in H^2(\mathscr{P} \otimes \overline{Q}, \mu_2)$  has the form  $[\Lambda]^{1/2}$  for some invertible sheaf  $\Lambda \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathscr{P} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{Q}})$  of half-integral degree.

DEFINITION 5.2.1. Given a field extension L/K and a Brauer class  $\alpha \in Br(L)$ , the *Faddeev index of*  $\alpha$  is  $\min_{\beta \in Br(K)} ind(\alpha + \beta_L)$ .

PROPOSITION 5.2.2. The class  $\alpha$  has Faddeev index 2 if and only if the space  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)^{ss}$  has a Q-rational point for some invertible sheaf L. If the degree  $[D \otimes \mathbf{Q} : \mathbf{Q}]$  is odd, we need only quantify over L of half-integral degree and look for points in the stable locus  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)$ .

The point of Proposition 5.2.2 is that the computation of the Faddeev index is reduced to the existence of a rational point on one of a sequence of geometrically rational smooth (projective if  $[D \otimes \mathbf{Q} : \mathbf{Q}]$  is odd) geometrically connected varieties over  $\mathbf{Q}$ .

PROOF. First, suppose that  $P : \operatorname{Spec} \mathbf{Q} \to M^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)$  is a rational point. Pulling back  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L) \to M_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)$  along P yields a class  $\beta = -[\mathscr{S}] \in \operatorname{Br}(\mathbf{Q})[2]$ . Just as in [14], we see that

$$\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}\wedge\mathscr{S}_{\mathscr{P}}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)\to M_{\mathscr{C}\wedge\mathscr{S}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)=M_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)$$

is split over *P*, whence there is a  $\mathscr{C} \wedge \mathscr{S}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2. This shows that  $\alpha - \beta$  has index 2 and thus that  $\alpha$  has Faddeev index dividing 2. Since  $\alpha$  is ramified, it cannot have Faddeev index 1.

Now suppose that  $\alpha$  has Faddeev index 2, so that there is some  $\mathscr{S} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbf{Q}$  such that there is locally free  $\mathscr{C} \wedge \mathscr{S}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2. Since there is a canonical isomorphism  $M_{\mathscr{C} \wedge \mathscr{S}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L) = M_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)$ , upon replacing  $\mathscr{C}$  by  $\mathscr{C} \wedge \mathscr{S}$  we may assume that  $\alpha$  has period 2, and is thus represented by a quaternion algebra  $[(a,b)] \in \operatorname{Br}(\mathbf{Q}(t))$ . To prove the result, it suffices to show that in this case there is a regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2.

By Proposition A.2.3(1), it suffices to prove this for  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \widehat{\mathscr{O}}_{\mathbf{P}^1,D}$ . Thus, we are reduced to the following: let R be a complete discrete valuation ring with residual characteristic 0 and (a, b) a quaternion algebra over the fraction field K(R). Suppose (a, b) is ramified, and let  $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{R}_2$  be a  $\mu_2$ -gerbe with Brauer class [(a, b)]. Then there is a regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2. To prove this, note that the bilinearity and skew-symmetry of the symbol allows us to assume that b is a uniformizer for R and a has valuation at most 1. We will define a  $\mu_2$ equivariant Azumaya algebra A in the restriction of (a, b) to  $R' = R[\sqrt{b}]$  such that the induced representation of  $\mu_2$  on the fiber  $\overline{A}$  over the closed point of R'is  $\rho^{\oplus 2}$ ; it then follows that any twisted sheaf V on  $\mathscr{R}_2$  such that  $\mathscr{End}(V) = A$  is regular by a simple geometric computation over the residue field.

Let x and y be the standard generators for (a, b), so that  $x^2 = a$  and  $y^2 = b$ , and write  $a = ub^{\varepsilon}$  with  $u \in R^{\times}$  and  $\varepsilon \in \{0, 1\}$ . Let  $\tilde{x} = x/\sqrt{b^{\varepsilon}}$  and  $\tilde{y} = y/\sqrt{b}$ ; we have  $\tilde{x}^2 = u$  and  $\tilde{y}^2 = 1$ , which means that  $\tilde{x}$  and  $\tilde{y}$  generate an Azumaya algebra with generic fiber  $(a, b) \otimes K(R)(\sqrt{b})$ . A basis for A as a free R' module is given by  $1, \tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \tilde{x}\tilde{y}$ ; this also happens to be an eigenbasis for the action of  $\mu_2$ . Let  $\chi^1$  denote the non-trivial character of  $\mu_2$  and  $\chi^0$  the trivial character. The eigensheaf decomposition of A corresponding to the basis can be written as  $\chi^0 \oplus \chi^1 \oplus \chi^{\varepsilon} \oplus \chi^{1+\varepsilon}$ , where the last sum is taken modulo 2. For either value of  $\varepsilon$  this is isomorphic to  $\rho^{\oplus 2}$ , as desired.

Gluing the local models (as in Proposition A.2.3(1)) produces a regular  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf V of rank 2. Since  $\alpha$  is non-trivial, we see that this sheaf must be stable, hence geometrically semistable (in fact, geometrically polystable [14]). If  $[D \otimes \mathbf{Q} : \mathbf{Q}]$  is odd, then V is semistable with coprime rank and degree, hence geometrically stable.

Proposition 5.2.2 has an amusing consequence. The starting point is the following (somewhat useful) lemma. Fix a place  $\nu$  of Q.

LEMMA 5.2.3. If there is an object of  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)^{ss}_{\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}}$  then there is an object of  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)_{\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}}$ .

PROOF. Let *V* be a regular semistable  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2 and determinant *L*, and let *Y* be an algebraization of a versal deformation space of *V*. Since deformations of vector bundles on curves are unobstructed, we know that *Y* is smooth over  $\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$ . On the other hand, we also know that the field  $\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$ 

has the property that any smooth variety with a rational point has a Zariskidense set of rational points. Finally, we know that the locus of geometrically stable  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$ -twisted sheaves is open and dense in *Y*. The result follows.  $\Box$ 

In [15], the authors produce examples of biquaternion algebras A over  $\mathbf{Q}(t)$  of Faddeev index 4 such that for all places  $\nu$  of  $\mathbf{Q}$  the algebra  $A \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}(t)$  has index 2. They describe this as the failure of a sort of "Hasse principle". However, a careful examination of their examples shows that in fact there is a local obstruction: for each class of such algebras they write down, there is always a place  $\nu$  over which there is no regular  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$ -twisted sheaf! (Moreover, the proofs that their examples work use this local failure in an essential way, although the authors do not phrase things this way.) Why doesn't this contradict Proposition 5.2.2? Because for the place  $\nu$  where the algebra  $A \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$  is unramified, and now the condition that the sheaf be regular around the stacky point over that section is non-trivial!

Let us give an explicit example. In Proposition 4.3 of [15], the authors show that the biquaternion algebra  $A = (17, t) \otimes (13, (t-1)(t-11))$  has Faddeev index 4 while for all places  $\nu$  of **Q** the algebra  $A \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{\nu}$  has index 2. Consider  $A_{17} = A \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{17}$ ; since 13 is a square in  $\mathbf{Q}_{17}$ , we have that  $A_{17} = (17, t)$  as  $\mathbf{Q}_{17}$ -algebras. Elementary calculations show that  $(17, 1) = 0 \in Br(\mathbf{Q}_{17})$  and  $(17, 11) \neq 0 \in Br(\mathbf{Q}_{17})$ . It follows that any  $\mathbf{Q}_{17}(t)$ -algebra Faddeev-equivalent to  $A_{17}$  has the property that precisely one of its specializations at 1 and 11 will be nontrivial.

LEMMA 5.2.4. Given a field F and a nontrivial Brauer class  $\gamma \in Br(F)[2]$ , let  $\mathscr{G} \to B\mu_2 \times Spec F$  be a  $\mu_2$ -gerbe representing the pullback of  $\gamma$  in  $Br(B\mu_2 \times Spec F)$ . There is no regular  $\mathscr{G}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2.

PROOF. The inertia stack of  $\mathscr{G}$  is isomorphic to  $\mu_2 \times \mu_2$ , where the first factor comes from the gerbe structure and the second factor comes from the inertia of  $B\mu_2$ . Given a  $\mathscr{G}$ -twisted sheaf F, the eigendecomposition of F with respect to the action of the second factor gives rise to  $\mathscr{G}$ -twisted subsheaves of F. Since  $\mathscr{G}$  has period 2, if  $\operatorname{rk} F = 2$  there can be no proper twisted subsheaves.

COROLLARY 5.2.5. In the example above, all of the sets  $M^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)(\mathbf{Q}_{17})$  are empty.

PROOF. Suppose  $Q \in M^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)(\mathbf{Q}_{17})$ . As above, after replacing  $A_{17}$  by a Faddeev-equivalent algebra, we can lift Q to an object of  $\mathscr{M}^*_{\mathscr{C}/\mathbf{Q}}(2,L)_{\mathbf{Q}_{17}}$ . In other words, there would be a regular (stable!)  $\mathscr{C} \otimes \mathbf{Q}_{17}$ -twisted sheaf of rank 2. But this contradicts Lemma 5.2.4 and the remarks immediately preceding it.

Combining Proposition 5.2.2 and Corollary 5.2.5, we see that the failure of the "Hasse principle" to which the authors of [15] refer in relation to the algebra A is in fact a failure of the existence of a *local* point in the associated moduli problem! This is in great contrast to the unramified case, which we saw above was directly related to the Hasse principle. It is somewhat disappointing that the examples we actually have of classes over arithmetic surfaces whose

period and index are distinct cannot be directly related to the Hasse principle (except insofar as both sets under consideration are empty!).

There is one mildly interesting question which arises out of this failure.

**PROPOSITION 5.2.6.** If Conjecture 2.3 is true then any element  $\alpha \in Br(\mathbf{Q}(t))[2]$  such that

- the ramification of α is a simple normal crossings divisor D = D<sub>1</sub> + …+D<sub>r</sub> in P<sup>1</sup><sub>Z</sub> which is a union of fibers and an odd number of sections of P<sup>1</sup><sub>Z</sub> → Spec Z,
- (2) for every crossing point  $p \in D_i \cap D_j$ , both ramification extensions are either split, non-split, or ramified at p, and
- (3) all points d of  $D \times_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{Z}}^{1}} \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}^{1}$  which are not ramification divisors of  $\alpha_{\mathbf{R}(t)}$  give rise to the same element  $(\alpha_{\mathbf{R}(t)})_{d} \in Br(\mathbf{R})$

satisfies  $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$ .

The second condition of the proposition is almost equivalent to the statement that the restriction of  $\alpha$  to  $\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}(t)$  has no hot points (in the sense of Saltman) on  $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{Z}_{\nu}}^{1}$ ; it is not quite equivalent because Saltman's hot points are all required to lie on intersections of ramification divisors, while some of the ramification divisors of  $\alpha$  may no longer be in the ramification divisor of  $\alpha_{\mathbf{Q}_{\nu}(t)}$ . The proof of Proposition 5.2.6 uses Proposition A.2.3 (2) as a starting point for a deformation problem. It is similar in spirit to the proof of Theorem 3.4 and will be omitted.

## 6. A list of questions

We record several questions arising from the preceding discussion. Let C be a curve over a field k.

- (1) Are there biquaternion algebras in  $Br_{\infty}(\mathbf{Q}(t))$  of Faddeev index 4 with non-hot secondary ramification (in the sense of Proposition 5.2.6)? For example, let p be a prime congruent to 1 modulo  $3 \cdot 4 \cdot 7 \cdot 13 \cdot 17$  and congruent to 2 modulo 5. What is the Faddeev index of the algebra  $(p, t) \otimes (13, 15(t-1)(t+13))$ ?
- (2) What is the Brauer-Manin obstruction for  $M^*_{\mathscr{P}/k}(2,L)$ ? If algebras as in the first question exist, is the resulting failure of the Hasse principle explained by the Brauer-Manin obstruction?
- (3) Let  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe. What is the index of the Brauer class  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,\mathscr{O}) \to M_{\mathscr{C}/k}(n,\mathscr{O})$ ? If *C* has a rational point, this index must divide *n*. More generally, it must divide  $n \operatorname{ind}(C)$ . Is this sharp?
- (4) Does every fiber of  $M_{C/k}(n,L) \to \operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$  over a rational point contain a rational point? This is (indirectly) related to the index-reduction problem. It is not too hard to see that if the rational point of  $\operatorname{Pic}_{C/k}^d$ comes from an invertible sheaf then there is always a rational point in the fiber.
- (5) Suppose k is a global field. Let C → S be a regular proper model of C. Is there a class α ∈ Br<sub>∞</sub>(C) such that per(α) ≠ ind(α)? When k has positive characteristic and the period of α is invertible in k, this is impossible [20]. The existence of such a class would disprove Conjecture 2.3 (even the strong form).

### Appendix A. Gerbes, twisted sheaves, and their moduli

In this appendix, we remind the reader of the basic facts about twisted sheaves, their moduli, and their applications to the Brauer group. For more comprehensive references, the reader can consult [18, 20]. The basic setup will be the following: let  $\mathscr{X} \to X \to S$  be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe on a proper flat morphism of finite presentation. We assume n is invertible on S. At various points in this appendix, we will impose conditions on the morphism.

We first recall what it means for  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  to be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe.

DEFINITION A.1. A  $\mu_n$ -gerbe is an *S*-stack  $\mathscr{Y}$  along with an isomorphism  $\mu_{n,\mathscr{Y}} \to \mathscr{I}(\mathscr{Y})$ . We say that  $\mathscr{Y}$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe on *Y* if there is a morphism  $\mathscr{Y} \to Y$  such that the natural map  $\operatorname{Sh}(\mathscr{Y}) \to Y$  is an isomorphism, where  $\operatorname{Sh}(\mathscr{Y})$  denotes the sheafification of  $\mathscr{Y}$  on the big étale site of *S*.

Because  $\mathscr{X}$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe, any quasi-coherent sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  on  $\mathscr{X}$  admits a decomposition  $\mathscr{F} = \mathscr{F}_0 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{F}_{n-1}$  into eigensheaves, where the natural (left) action of the stabilizer on  $\mathscr{F}_i$  is via the *i*th power map.

DEFINITION A.2. An  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf is a sheaf  $\mathscr{F}$  of  $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}$ -modules such that the natural left action (induced by inertia)  $\mu_n \times \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{F}$  is equal to scalar multiplication.

**A.1. Moduli.** It is a standard fact (see, for example, [17]) that the stack of flat families of quasi-coherent  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves of finite presentation is an algebraic stack locally of finite presentation over S. For the purposes of this paper, we will focus on only a single case, where we will consider stability of twisted sheaves. From now on, we assume that  $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$  with k a field, and X is a proper smooth curve over k.

To define stability, we need a notion of degree for invertible  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves. For the sake of simplicity, we give an ad hoc definition. Given an invertible  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf L, we note that  $L^{\otimes n}$  is the pullback of a unique invertible sheaf L' on X. We can thus define  $\deg L$  to be  $\frac{1}{n} \deg L'$ . With this definition, we can define the degree of a locally free  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf V as  $\deg V = \deg \det V$ . With this notion of degree, we can define stability.

DEFINITION A.1.1. The *slope* of a non-zero locally free  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf V is

$$\mu(V) = \frac{\deg V}{\operatorname{rk} V}.$$

DEFINITION A.1.2. A locally free  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf V is *stable* if for all proper locally split subsheaves  $W \subset V$  we have

$$\mu(W) < \mu(V).$$

The sheaf is *semistable* of for all proper locally split subsheaves  $W \subset V$  we have

$$\mu(W) \le \mu(V).$$

By "locally split" we mean that there is a faithfully flat map  $Z \to \mathscr{X}$  such that there is a retraction of the inclusion  $W_Z \subset V_Z$ . (I.e., W is locally a direct summand of V.) As in the classical case, the stack of stable sheaves is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe over an algebraic space. If in addition we fix a determinant, then the

resulting stack is a  $\mu_r$ -gerbe over an algebraic space, where r is the rank of the sheaves in question.

NOTATION A.1.3. Given an invertible sheaf L on X, the stack of stable (resp. semistable)  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves of rank n and determinant L will be denoted by  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)$  (resp.  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)^{ss}$ ). The coarse moduli space (which in the stable case is also the sheafification) will be denoted by  $M_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)$  (resp.  $M_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)^{ss}$ ).

Given an integer d, the stack of stable  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves of rank n and degree d will be denoted by  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d)$ , and its coarse moduli space will be denoted by  $M_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d)$ .

As mentioned above,  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d) \to M_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d)$  is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe; similarly,  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L) \to M_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)$  is a  $\boldsymbol{\mu}_n$ -gerbe. In fact, the stack  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,L)$  is the stack theoretic fiber of the determinant morphism  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d) \to \mathscr{P}ic_{X/k}^d$  over the morphism  $\operatorname{Spec} k \to \mathscr{P}ic_{X/k}^d$  corresponding to L. The comparison results described in Section 1, combined with classical results on the stack of stable sheaves on a curve, show that  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d)$  is of finite type over k; if we assume that the class  $\mathscr{X}$  is zero in  $\operatorname{H}^2(X \otimes \overline{k}, \boldsymbol{\mu}_n)$  we know that  $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{X}/k}(n,d)$  is quasiproper (i.e., satisfies the existence part of the valuative criterion of properness) whenever n and d are relatively prime.

**A.2. Deformation theory.** As  $\mathscr{O}$ -modules on a ringed topos (the étale topos of  $\mathscr{X}$ ),  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves are susceptible to the usual deformation theory of Illusie. The following theorem summarizes the consequences of this fact. Suppose  $S = \operatorname{Spec} A$  is affine,  $I \to \widetilde{A} \to A$  is a small extension (so that the kernel I is an A-module),  $X/\widetilde{A}$  is flat,  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe with n invertible in A, and  $\mathscr{F}$  is an A-flat family of quasi-coherent  $\mathscr{X} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}} A$ -twisted sheaves of finite presentation.

THEOREM A.2.1. There is an element  $\mathfrak{o} \subset \operatorname{Ext}^2(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}_A \otimes I)$  such that

- (1)  $\mathfrak{o} = 0$  if and only if there is an  $\widetilde{A}$ -flat quasi-coherent  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaf  $\widetilde{\mathscr{F}}$  and an isomorphism  $\widetilde{\mathscr{F}} \otimes_{\widetilde{A}} A \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}$ ;
- (2) if such an extension exists, the set of such extensions is a torsor under Ext<sup>1</sup>(𝔅,𝔅 ⊗ I);
- (3) given one such extension, the group of automorphisms of F which reduce to the identity on F is identified with Hom(F, F ⊗ I).

COROLLARY A.2.2. If X/S is a relative curve, then the stack of locally free  $\mathscr{X}$ -twisted sheaves is smooth over S.

Deformation theory can also be used to construct global objects from local data. The key technical tool is the following; see [19] for a more detailed proof and further references.

PROPOSITION A.2.3. Let  $\mathscr{P}$  be a separated tame Artin stack of finite type over k which is pure of dimension 1. Let P be the coarse moduli space of  $\mathscr{P}$ and let  $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{P}$  be a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe. Suppose  $\mathscr{P}$  is regular away from the (finitely many) closed residual gerbes  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_r$ . Suppose the map  $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathscr{P}) \to \prod \operatorname{Pic}(\xi_i)$ has kernel generated by the image of  $\operatorname{Pic}(P)$  under pullback.

- (1) Given locally free  $\mathscr{C}_{\xi_i}$ -twisted sheaves  $V_i$  of rank m, i = 1, ..., r, and locally free  $\mathscr{C}_{\eta}$ -twisted sheaf  $V_{\eta}$  of rank m, there is a locally free  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf W of rank m such that  $W_{\eta} \cong V_{\eta}$  and  $W_{\xi_i} \cong V_i$ .
- (2) Suppose that k is finite, P ≅ P<sup>1</sup>, 𝒫 → P is generically a μ<sub>n</sub>-gerbe, and the ramification extension R → P of 𝔅 (see Proposition C.4 below) is geometrically connected. Given an invertible sheaf L ∈ Pic(𝒫), if there are 𝔅<sub>ξi</sub>-twisted sheaves V<sub>i</sub> of rank m such that det V<sub>i</sub> ≅ L<sub>ξi</sub> and a 𝔅<sub>η</sub>-twisted sheaf V<sub>η</sub> of rank m, then there is a locally free 𝔅-twisted sheaf V of rank m such that det V ≅ L.

PROOF. Let P be the coarse moduli space of  $\mathscr{P}$ , and let  $p_i \in P$  be the image of  $\xi_i$ . Let  $\hat{\eta}_i$  denote the localization of  $\operatorname{Spec} \widehat{\mathscr{O}}_{p_i}$  at the set of maximal (i.e., generic) points. Let  $\mathscr{O}(1)$  be an ample invertible sheaf on P.

To prove the first item, note that the stack  $\mathscr{C}_{\xi_i}$  is tame, as its inertia group is an extension of a reductive group by a  $\mu_n$ . Thus, the infinitesimal deformations of each  $V_i$  are unobstructed. Since  $\mathscr{C}$  is proper over P, the Grothendieck existence theorem implies that for each i there is a  $\mathscr{C} \times \operatorname{Spec} \widehat{\mathscr{O}}_{P,p_i}$ -twisted sheaf  $\widetilde{V}_i$  of rank m whose restriction to  $\mathscr{C}_{\xi_i}$  is  $V_i$ . On the other hand, since the scheme of generic points of P is 0-dimensional, we know that for each i there is an isomorphism  $(\widetilde{V}_i)_{\widehat{\eta}_i} \cong (V_\eta)_{\widehat{\eta}_i}$ . (See [19] for a similar situation, with more details.) The basic descent result of [22] shows that we can glue the  $\widetilde{V}_i$  to  $V_\eta$  to produce W, as desired.

To prove the second item, choose any W as in the first part, and let  $L' = \det W$ . This is an invertible sheaf which is isomorphic to L in a neighborhood of each  $\xi_i$ , and therefore (by hypothesis) there is an invertible sheaf M on P such that  $L \otimes (L')^{-1} \cong M_{\mathscr{P}}$ . Twisting W by a suitable (negative!) power of  $\mathscr{O}(1)$ , we may assume that M is ample of arbitrarily large degree. By the Lang-Weil estimates and hypothesis that  $P \cong \mathbf{P}^1$ , there is a point  $q \in R$  whose image p in P is an element of |M|. Making an elementary transformation of W along p (over which the Brauer class associated to  $\mathscr{C}$  is trivial) produces a locally free  $\mathscr{C}$ -twisted sheaf with the desired properties.

#### **Appendix B. Basic facts on the Brauer group**

In this appendix, we review a few basic facts about the Brauer group of a scheme. We freely use the technology of twisted sheaves, as introduced in the previous appendix. Let Z be a quasi-compact separated scheme and  $\mathscr{Z} \to Z$  a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe. We start with a (somewhat idiosyncratic) definition of the Brauer group of Z.

DEFINITION B.1. The cohomology class  $[\mathscr{Z}] \in \mathrm{H}^2(Z, \mathbf{G}_m)$  is said to belong to the Brauer group of Z if there is a non-zero locally free  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf of finite rank.

LEMMA B.2. The Brauer group of Z is a group.

PROOF. Given two  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbes  $\mathscr{Z}_1 \to Z$  and  $\mathscr{Z}_2 \to Z$  which belong to the Brauer group of Z, let  $V_i$  be a locally free  $\mathscr{Z}_i$ -twisted sheaf. Then  $V_1 \otimes V_2$  is a locally free  $\mathscr{Z}_1 \wedge \mathscr{Z}_2$ -twisted sheaf, where  $\mathscr{Z}_1 \wedge \mathscr{Z}_2$  is the  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe considered in [10, 14], which represents the cohomology class  $[\mathscr{Z}_1] + [\mathscr{Z}_2]$ . The neutral element in the group is represented by the trivial gerbe  $B\mathbf{G}_m \times Z \to Z$ .

We thus find a distinguished subgroup  $Br(Z) \subset H^2(Z, \mathbf{G}_m)$  containing those classes which belong to the Brauer group of Z. What are the properties of this group?

**PROPOSITION B.3.** The group Br(Z) has the following properties.

- (1) An element  $[\mathscr{Z}]$  is trivial in Br(Z) if and only if there is an invertible  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf.
- (2) Br(Z) is a torsion abelian group.
- (3) (Gabber) If Z admits an ample invertible sheaf, then the inclusion Br(Z) ⊂ H<sup>2</sup>(Z, G<sub>m</sub>)<sub>tors</sub> is an isomorphism.

SKETCH OF PROOF. If  $\mathscr{L}$  is an invertible  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf, then we can define a morphism of  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbes  $\mathsf{BG}_m \to \mathscr{Z}$  by sending an invertible sheaf L to the invertible  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf  $L \otimes \mathscr{L}$ . Since any  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe admitting a morphism of  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbes from  $\mathsf{BG}_m$  is trivial, we see that  $\mathscr{Z}$  is trivial [10].

Now suppose that  $\mathscr{Z}$  is an arbitrary element of Br(Z), and let V be a locally free  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf of rank r. Writing  $\mathscr{Z}_r$  for the gerbe corresponding to  $r[\mathscr{Z}]$ , one can show that the sheaf det V is an invertible  $\mathscr{Z}_r$ -twisted sheaf, thus showing that  $r[\mathscr{Z}] = 0$ , as desired.

The last part of the proposition is due to Gabber; a different proof has been written down by de Jong [8].  $\Box$ 

Given a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe  $\mathscr{Z} \to Z$  and a locally free  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf V, the  $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Z}}$ algebra  $\mathscr{E}nd(V)$  is acted upon trivially by the inertia stack of  $\mathscr{Z}$ , and thus is the pullback of a unique sheaf of algebras  $\mathscr{A}$  on Z. The algebras  $\mathscr{A}$  which arise in this manner are precisely the Azumaya algebras: étale forms of  $\mathbf{M}_r(\mathscr{O}_Z)$ (for positive integers r). Moreover, starting with an Azumaya algebra, we can produce a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe by solving the moduli problem of trivializing the algebra (i.e., making it isomorphic to a matrix algebra). Further details about this correspondence may be found in [10, §V.4].

When  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} K$  for some field K, an Azumaya algebra is precisely a central simple algebra over K, and thus we recover the classical Brauer group of the field. Note that in this case if  $\mathscr{Z} \to Z$  is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe, any nonzero coherent  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf is locally free. Moreover, we know that  $\mathscr{Z} \otimes \overline{K}$  is isomorphic to  $\operatorname{BG}_m \otimes \overline{K}$ , and therefore that there is an invertible  $\mathscr{Z} \otimes \overline{K}$ -twisted sheaf. Pushing forward to  $\mathscr{Z}$ , we see that there is a nontrivial quasi-coherent  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf  $\mathscr{Q}$ . Since  $\mathscr{Z}$  is Noetherian,  $\mathscr{Q}$  is a colimit of coherent  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted subsheaves. This shows that  $\mathscr{Z}$  belongs to the Brauer group of Z. We have just given a geometric proof of the classical Galois cohomological result  $\operatorname{Br}(K) = \operatorname{H}^2(\operatorname{Spec} K, \mathbf{G}_m)$ .

Now assume that Z is integral and Noetherian with generic point  $\eta$ , and let  $\mathscr{Z} \to Z$  in arbitrary  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe. By the preceding, there is a coherent  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf of positive rank.

DEFINITION B.4. The *index* of  $[\mathscr{Z}]$ , written  $\operatorname{ind}([\mathscr{Z}])$ , is the minimal nonzero rank of a coherent  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaf, and the *period* of  $[\mathscr{Z}]$ , written  $\operatorname{per}([\mathscr{Z}])$ , is the order of  $[\mathscr{Z}]_{\eta}$  in  $\operatorname{H}^{2}(\eta, \mathbf{G}_{m})$ .

We have written Definition B.4 so that it only pertains to generic properties of  $\mathscr{Z}$  and Z. One can imagine more general definitions (e.g., using locally free  $\mathscr{Z}$ -twisted sheaves; when Z is regular of dimension 1 or 2, the basic properties of reflexive sheaves tell us that the natural global definition will actually equal the generic definition. When  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} K$ , it is easy to say what the index of a Brauer class  $\alpha$  is:  $\alpha$  parameterizes a unique central division algebra over K, whose dimension over K is  $n^2$  for some positive integer n. The index of  $\alpha$  is then n.

The basic fact governing the period and index is the following.

**PROPOSITION B.5.** For any  $\alpha \in Br(K)$ , there is a positive integer h such that  $per(\alpha) \mid ind(\alpha)$  and  $ind(\alpha) \mid per(\alpha)^h$ .

The proof of Proposition B.5 is an exercise in Galois cohomology; the reader is referred to (for example) [**20**, Lemma 2.1.1.3]. One immediate consequence of Proposition B.5 is the question: how can we understand h? For example, does h depend only on K (in the sense that there is a value of h which works for all  $\alpha \in Br(K)$ )? If so, what properties of K are being measured by h? And so on. Much work has gone into this problem; for a summary of our current expectation the reader is referred to [**20**].

## **Appendix C. Ramification of Brauer classes**

In this section, we recall the basic facts about the ramification theory of Brauer classes. We also describe how to split ramification by a stack. To begin with, we consider the case  $X = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with R a complete discrete valuation ring with valuation v. Fix a uniformizer t of R; let K and  $\kappa$  denote the fraction field and residue field of R, respectively. Write  $j : \operatorname{Spec} R \to \operatorname{Spec} R$  for the natural inclusion. Throughout, we only consider Brauer classes  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Br}(K)$  of period relatively prime to  $\operatorname{char}(\kappa)$ ; we write  $\operatorname{Br}(K)'$  for the subgroup of classes satisfying this condition.

The theory of divisors yields an exact sequence of étale sheaves on  $\operatorname{Spec} R$ ,

$$0 \to \mathbf{G}_m \to j_* \mathbf{G}_m \to \mathbf{Z}_{(t)} \to 0,$$

which yields a map

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(\operatorname{Spec} R, j_{*}\mathbf{G}_{m}) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(\operatorname{Spec} R, \mathbf{Z}_{(t)}) = \mathrm{H}^{2}(\kappa, \mathbf{Z}) = \mathrm{H}^{1}(\kappa, \mathbf{Q}/\mathbf{Z})$$

Since any  $a \in Br(K)'$  has an unramified splitting field, the Leray spectral sequence for  $\mathbf{G}_m$  on j shows that  $\mathrm{H}^2(\operatorname{Spec} R, j_*\mathbf{G}_m)' = \mathrm{Br}(K)'$  (where the ' denotes classes with orders invertible in R). Putting this together yields the *ramification sequence* 

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(R)' \to \operatorname{Br}(K)' \to \operatorname{H}^1(\kappa, \mathbf{Q}/\mathbf{Z}).$$

The last group in the sequence parameterizes cyclic extensions of the residue field  $\kappa$ . Suppose for the sake of simplicity that  $\kappa$  contains a primitive *n*th root of unity. The ramification of a cyclic algebra (a, b) is given by the extension of  $\kappa$  generated by the *n*th root of  $(-1)^{v(a)v(b)}a^{v(b)}/b^{v(a)}$ . In particular, given any element  $\overline{u} \in \kappa^*$ , the algebra (u, t) has ramification extension  $\kappa(\overline{u}^{1/n})$ , where u is any lift of  $\overline{u}$  in  $R^*$ . With our assumption about roots of unity, any cyclic extension of degree n is given by extracting roots of some  $\overline{u}$ . This has the following two useful consequences. Given a positive integer n, let  $\mathscr{R}_n \to \operatorname{Spec} R$  denote the stack of *n*th roots of the closed point of  $\operatorname{Spec} R$ , as in [**3**].

PROPOSITION C.1. Assume that  $\kappa$  contains a primitive *n*th root of unity  $\zeta$ . Fix an element  $\alpha \in Br(K)[n]$ .

#### MAX LIEBLICH

- (1) There exists  $u \in R^*$  and  $\alpha' \in Br(R)$  such that  $\alpha = \alpha' + (u, t) \in Br(K)$ .
- (2) There exists β ∈ Br(𝔅<sub>n</sub>) whose image in Br(K) under the restriction map is α.

PROOF. The first item follows immediately from the paragraph preceding this proposition: we can find u such that (u,t) has the same ramification as  $\alpha$ , and subtracting this class yields an element of Br(R). To prove the second item, it follows in the first that it suffices to prove it for the class (u,t). Recall that  $\mathscr{R}_n$  is the stacky quotient of  $\operatorname{Spec} R[t^{1/n}]$  by the natural action of  $\mu_n$ ; to extend (u,t) to  $\mathscr{R}_n$ , it suffices to find a  $\mu_n$ -equivariant Azumaya algebra in  $(u,t)_{K(t^{1/n})}$ . Recall that (u,t) is generated by x and y such that  $x^n = u, y^n = t$ , and  $xy = \zeta yx$ . Letting  $\tilde{y} = y/t^{1/n}$ , the natural action of  $\mu_n$  on  $t^{1/n}$  yields an equivariant Azumaya algebra in  $(u,t)_{K(t^{1/u})}$ , as desired.  $\Box$ 

The following corollary is an example of how one applies Proposition C.1 in a global setting. More general results are true, using various purity theorems.

COROLLARY C.2. Let C be a proper regular curve over a field k which contains a primitive nth root of unity for some n invertible in k. Suppose  $\alpha \in Br(k(C))[n]$  is ramified at  $p_1, \ldots, p_r$ , and let  $\mathscr{C} \to C$  be a stack of nth roots of  $p_1 + \cdots + p_r$ . There is an element  $\alpha' \in Br(\mathscr{C})[n]$  whose restriction to the generic point is  $\alpha$ .

PROOF. Let A be a central simple algebra over k(C) with Brauer class  $\alpha$ . For any point  $q \in C$ , we know (at the very least) that there is a positive integer m and an Azumaya algebra over the localization  $\mathscr{C}_q$  which is contained in  $M_m(A)$ . Suppose  $U \subset \mathscr{C}$  is an open substack over which there is an Azumaya algebra B with generic Brauer class  $\alpha$ . Given a closed point  $q \in C \setminus U$ , we can choose some m such that there is an Azumaya algebra B' over  $\widehat{\mathscr{C}}_q$  whose restriction to the generic point  $\widehat{\eta}$  of  $\widehat{C}_q$  is isomorphic to  $M_m(B)_{\widehat{\eta}}$ . Since we know that  $U \times_C \widehat{\mathscr{C}}_q = \widehat{\eta}$ , we can glue B' to  $M_m(B)$  as in the proof of Proposition A.2.3 (using [**22**]) to produce an Azumaya algebra over  $U \cup \{q\}$ . Since  $C \setminus U$  is finite, we can find some m such that  $M_m(A)$  extends to an Azumaya algebra over  $\mathscr{C}$ , as desired.

The following is a more complicated corollary of Proposition C.1, using purity of the Brauer group on a surface. We omit the proof.

COROLLARY C.3. Let X be a connected regular Noetherian scheme pure of dimension 2 with function field K. Suppose  $U \subset X$  is the complement of a simple normal crossings divisor  $D = D_1 + \cdots + D_r$  and  $\alpha \in Br(U)[n]$  is a Brauer class such that n is invertible in  $\kappa(D_i)$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ . If  $\mathscr{X} \to X$  is the root construction of order n over each  $D_i$  then there is a class  $\tilde{\alpha} \in Br(\mathscr{X})$  such that  $\tilde{\alpha}_U = \alpha$ .

We end this discussion with an intrinsic characterization of the ramification extension as a moduli space.

PROPOSITION C.4. Let X be a scheme on which n is invertible such that  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})$  contains a primitive nth root of unity. Suppose  $\pi : \mathcal{X} \to X$  is a  $\mu_n$ -gerbe. Given a further  $\mu_n$ -gerbe  $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$ , the relative Picard stack  $_{\tau} \mathscr{Pic}_{\mathscr{Y}/X}$  of invertible  $\mathscr{Y}$ -twisted sheaves is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe over a  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$ -torsor T. Moreover, the

Brauer class of  $\mathscr{Y}$  in  $\operatorname{H}^{2}(\mathscr{X}, \mathbf{G}_{m})$  is the pullback of a class from X if and only if T is trivial.

PROOF. Standard methods show that  $_{\tau} \mathscr{P}ic_{\mathscr{Y}/X}$  is a  $\mathbf{G}_m$ -gerbe over a flat algebraic space of finite presentation  $P \to X$ . Since the relative Picard space  $\operatorname{Pic}_{\mathscr{X}/X}$  is isomorphic to the constant group scheme  $\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z}$ , tensoring with invertible sheaves on  $\mathscr{X}$  gives an action

$$\mathbf{Z}/n\mathbf{Z} \times P \to P.$$

To check that this makes B a torsor, it suffices (by the obvious functoriality of the construction) to treat the case in which X is the spectrum of an algebraically closed field k. In this case,  $Br(\mathscr{X}) = 0$ ; choosing an invertible  $\mathscr{Y}$ twisted sheaf L, we see that all invertible  $\mathscr{Y}$ -twisted sheaves M of the form  $L \otimes \Lambda$ , where  $\Lambda$  is invertible sheaf on  $\mathscr{X}$ . This gives the desired result.  $\Box$ 

Starting with a complete discrete valuation ring R with fraction field K, an element  $\alpha \in Br(K)$  gives rise to two cyclic extensions of the residue field  $\kappa$  of R: the classical ramification extension and the moduli space produced in Proposition C.4. In fact, these two extensions are isomorphic. We will use this fact, but we omit the details.

#### References

- Indranil Biswas. A criterion for the existence of a parabolic stable bundle of rank two over the projective line. *International Journal of Mathematics*, 9(5):523–533, 1998.
- [2] Niels Borne. Fibrés paraboliques et champ des racines. International Mathematics Research Notices. IMRN, (16):Art. ID rnm049, 38, 2007.
- [3] Charles Cadman. Using stacks to impose tangency conditions on curves. American Journal of Mathematics, 129(2):405–427, 2007.
- [4] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène. L'arithmétique du groupe de Chow des zéro-cycles. Journal de Théorie des Nombres de Bordeaux, 7(1):51–73, 1995.
- [5] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène. Conjectures de type local-global sur l'image des groupes de Chow dans la cohomologie étale. *Algebraic K-theory (Seattle, WA, 1997)*, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, 67:1–12, 1999.
- [6] Hélène Esnault. Varieties over a finite field with trivial Chow group of 0-cycles have a rational point. *Inventiones Mathematicae*, 151(1):187–191, 2003.
- [7] Aise Johan de Jong. The period-index problem for the Brauer group of an algebraic surface. Duke Mathematical Journal, 123(1):71–94, 2004.
- [8] Aise Johan de Jong. A result of Gabber. Preprint.
- [9] Aise Johan de Jong and Jason Starr. Almost-proper GIT stacks and discriminant avoidance. Preprint, 2005.
- [10] Jean Giraud. Cohomologie non abélienne. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1971. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 179.
- [11] Alexander Grothendieck. Le groupe de Brauer. III. Exemples et compléments, pages 88–188. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1968.
- [12] Alastair King and Aidan Schofield. Rationality of moduli of vector bundles on curves. Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen. Indagationes Mathematicae. New Series, 10(4):519–535, 1999.
- [13] Alexis Kouvidakis and Tony Pantev. The automorphism group of the moduli space of semistable vector bundles. *Mathematische Annalen*, 302(2):225-268, 1995.
- [14] Daniel Krashen and Max Lieblich. Index reduction for Brauer classes via stable sheaves. International Mathematics Research Notices. IMRN, (8):Art. ID rnn010, 31, 2008.
- [15] Boris È Kunyavskiĭ, Louis H Rowen, Sergey V Tikhonov, and Vyacheslav I Yanchevskiĭ. Bicyclic algebras of prime exponent over function fields. *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, 358(6):2579–2610 (electronic), 2006.

#### MAX LIEBLICH

- [16] Gérard Laumon and Laurent Moret-Bailly. Champs algébriques, volume 39 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- [17] Max Lieblich. Remarks on the stack of coherent algebras. International Mathematics Research Notices, pages Art. ID 75273, 12, 2006.
- [18] Max Lieblich. Moduli of twisted sheaves. Duke Mathematical Journal, 138(1):23-118, 2007.
- [19] Max Lieblich. Period and index in the Brauer group of an arithmetic surface (with an appendix by Daniel Krashen). *Preprint*, 2007.
- [20] Max Lieblich. Twisted sheaves and the period-index problem. Compositio Mathematica, 144(1):1–31, 2008.
- [21] Yuri I. Manin. Le groupe de Brauer-Grothendieck en géométrie diophantienne. In Actes du Congrès International des Mathématiciens (Nice, 1970), Tome 1, pages 401–411. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1971.
- [22] Laurent Moret-Bailly. Un problème de descente. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 124(4):559–585, 1996.
- [23] Shuji Saito. Some observations on motivic cohomology of arithmetic schemes. Inventiones Mathematicae, 98(2):371-404, 1989.
- [24] Ernst S. Selmer. The Diophantine equation  $ax^3 + by^3 + cz^3 = 0$ . Acta Mathematica, 85:203–362 (1 plate), 1951.
- [25] Alexei N. Skorobogatov. Beyond the Manin obstruction. Inventiones Mathematicae, 135(2):399-424, 1999.
- [26] Angelo Vistoli. Intersection theory on algebraic stacks and on their moduli spaces. Inventiones Mathematicae, 97(3):613–670, 1989.

FINE HALL, WASHINGTON ROAD, PRINCETON, NJ

## Existence of $\alpha$ -Stable Coherent Systems on Algebraic Curves

P. E. Newstead

#### Contents

| 1. Definitions           | 122 |
|--------------------------|-----|
| 2. The Existence Problem | 124 |
| 3. Methods               | 125 |
| $4.  0 < k \le n$        | 126 |
| 5. $0 < d \le 2n$        | 127 |
| 6. $k = n + 1$           | 127 |
| 7. $n = 2, k = 4$        | 129 |
| 8. $k \ge n+2$           | 132 |
| 9. $n=2, \det E=K$       | 133 |
| 10. Special curves       | 134 |
| 11. Singular curves      | 135 |
| 12. Open Problems        | 135 |
| References               | 137 |

This survey covers the theory of moduli spaces of  $\alpha$ -stable coherent systems on a smooth projective curve C of genus  $g \ge 2$ . (The cases g = 0 and g = 1are special cases, for which we refer to [**30**, **31**, **32**, **33**].) I have concentrated on the issues of emptiness and non-emptiness of the moduli spaces. Other questions concerning irreducibility, smoothness, singularities, etc., and the relationship with

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14H60; Secondary 14H51.

Key words and phrases. Algebraic curve, vector bundle, coherent system, Brill-Noether locus, stability, moduli space.

This survey is a much extended version of a lecture given at the Clay workshop held in Cambridge, Massachusetts, Oct 6–10, 2006. The survey began life earlier than that as a set of notes on a series of three lectures given in Liverpool in August 2005 at a meeting of the research group VBAC (Vector Bundles on Algebraic Curves) which formed part of the activity of the Marie Curie Training Site LIMITS. My thanks are due to the Clay Mathematics Institute for supporting me as a Senior Scholar and to the European Commission for its support of LIMITS (Contract No. HPMT-CT-2001-00277). My thanks are due also to Cristian González-Martínez, who wrote the first draft of this survey shortly after the VBAC meeting.

Brill-Noether theory are mentioned where relevant but play a subsidiary rôle. In the bibliography, I have tried to include a full list of all relevant papers which contain results on coherent systems on algebraic curves. In general, I have not included papers concerned solely with Brill-Noether theory except where they are needed for reference, but I have included some which have clear relevance for coherent systems but have not been fully developed in this context. For another survey of coherent systems, concentrating on structural results and including an! appendix on the cases g = 0 and g = 1, see [13]; for a survey of higher rank Brill-Noether theory, see [27].

We work throughout over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Many results are undoubtedly valid in finite characteristic, but we omit this possibility here since most of the basic papers on coherent systems assume characteristic 0. As stated above, we assume that C is a smooth projective curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . We denote by K the canonical bundle on C.

#### 1. Definitions

Coherent systems are simply the analogues for higher rank of classical linear systems.

**Definition 1.1.** A coherent system on C of type (n, d, k) is a pair (E, V) where E is a vector bundle of rank n and degree d over C and V is a linear subspace of dimension k of  $H^0(E)$ . A coherent subsystem of (E, V) is a pair (F, W), where F is a subbundle of E and  $W \subseteq V \cap H^0(F)$ . We say that (E, V) is generated (generically generated) if the canonical homomorphism  $V \otimes \mathcal{O} \to E$  is surjective (has torsion cokernel).

Stability of coherent systems is defined with respect to a real parameter  $\alpha$ . We define the  $\alpha$ -slope  $\mu_{\alpha}(E, V)$  of a coherent system (E, V) by

$$\mu_{\alpha}(E,V) := \frac{d}{n} + \alpha \frac{k}{n}.$$

**Definition 1.2.** (E, V) is  $\alpha$ -stable ( $\alpha$ -semistable) if, for every proper coherent subsystem (F, W) of (E, V),

$$\mu_{\alpha}(F,W) < (\leq) \ \mu_{\alpha}(E,V).$$

Every  $\alpha$ -semistable coherent system (E, V) admits a Jordan-Hölder filtration

$$0 = (E_0, V_0) \subset (E_1, V_1) \subset \cdots \subset (E_m, V_m) = (E, V)$$

such that all  $(E_j, V_j)$  have the same  $\alpha$ -slope and all the quotients  $(E_j, V_j)/(E_{j-1}, V_{j-1})$  are defined and  $\alpha$ -stable. The associated graded object

$$\bigoplus_{1}^{m} (E_j, V_j) / (E_{j-1}, V_{j-1})$$

is determined by (E, V) and denoted by gr(E, V). Two  $\alpha$ -semistable coherent systems (E, V), (E', V') are said to be *S*-equivalent if

$$\operatorname{gr}(E, V) \cong \operatorname{gr}(E', V').$$

There exists a moduli space  $G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  for  $\alpha$ - stable coherent systems of type (n, d, k) [29, 36, 43, 17]; this is a quasi-projective scheme and has a natural completion to a projective scheme  $\tilde{G}(\alpha; n, d, k)$ , whose points correspond to S-equivalence

classes of  $\alpha$ -semistable coherent systems of type (n, d, k). In particular, we have  $G(\alpha; n, d, 0) = M(n, d)$  and  $\widetilde{G}(\alpha; n, d, 0) = \widetilde{M}(n, d)$ , where M(n, d) ( $\widetilde{M}(n, d)$ ) is the usual moduli space of stable bundles (S-equivalence classes of semistable bundles).

We define also the *Brill-Noether loci* 

$$B(n, d, k) := \{ E \in M(n, d) : h^0(E) \ge k \}$$

and

$$B(n, d, k) := \{ [E] \in M(n, d) : h^0(\text{gr}\, E) \ge k \}$$

where, for any semistable bundle E, [E] denotes the S-equivalence class of E and gr E is the graded object associated to E.

For  $k \geq 1$ , we must have  $\alpha > 0$  for the existence of  $\alpha$ -stable coherent systems (for  $\alpha \leq 0$ , (E, 0) contradicts the  $\alpha$ -stability of (E, V)). Given this, the moduli space  $G(\alpha; 1, d, k)$  is independent of  $\alpha$  and we denote it by G(1, d, k); it coincides with the classical variety of linear series  $G_d^{k-1}$ .

So suppose  $n \ge 2$  and  $k \ge 1$ .

**Lemma 1.3.** If  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  then

(1) 
$$\alpha > 0, \, d > 0, \, \alpha(n-k) < d.$$

PROOF. Let  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  with  $n \geq 2, k \geq 1$ . As already remarked, (E, 0) contradicts  $\alpha$ -stability for  $\alpha \leq 0$ . If (E, V) is generically generated, then certainly  $d \geq 0$  with equality if and only if  $(E, V) \cong (\mathcal{O}^n, H^0(\mathcal{O}^n))$ , which is not  $\alpha$ -stable for  $n \geq 2$ . Otherwise, the subsystem (F, V), where F is the subbundle of E generically generated by V, contradicts stability for  $d \leq 0$ . Finally, let Wbe a 1-dimensional subspace of V and let L be the line subbundle of E generically generated by W. Then (L, W) contradicts  $\alpha$ -stability if k < n and  $\alpha(n-k) \geq d$ .  $\Box$ 

The range of permissible values of  $\alpha$  is divided up by a finite set of critical values

$$0 = \alpha_0 < \alpha_1 < \dots < \alpha_L < \begin{cases} \frac{d}{n-k} & \text{where } k < n \\ \infty & \text{where } k \ge n, \end{cases}$$

and  $\alpha$ -stability of (E, V) cannot change within an interval  $(\alpha_i, \alpha_{i+1})$  (see [17]). For  $\alpha \in (\alpha_i, \alpha_{i+1})$ , we write  $G_i(n, d, k) := G(\alpha; n, d, k)$ . For  $k \ge n$  and  $\alpha > \alpha_L$  we write  $G_L(n, d, k) := G(\alpha; n, d, k)$ , with a similar definition for k < n and  $\alpha_L < \alpha < \frac{d}{n-k}$ . The semistable moduli spaces  $\tilde{G}_i(n, d, k)$  are defined similarly.

**Lemma 1.4.** We have a morphism  $\widetilde{G}_0(n, d, k) \to \widetilde{B}(n, d, k)$ , whose image contains B(n, d, k). In fact, for any coherent system (E, V),

- E stable  $\Rightarrow (E, V) \in G_0(n, d, k)$
- $(E,V) \in G_0(n,d,k) \Rightarrow E$  semistable.

**PROOF.** This follows easily from the definition of  $\alpha$ -stability.

**Definition 1.5.** The Brill-Noether number  $\beta(n, d, k)$  is defined by

$$\beta(n,d,k) := n^2(g-1) + 1 - k(k-d + n(g-1)).$$

This is completely analogous to the classical case (n = 1) and is significant for two reasons. In the first place, we have

**Lemma 1.6.** ([28, Corollaire 3.14]; [17, Corollary 3.6]) Every irreducible component of  $G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  has dimension  $\geq \beta(n, d, k)$ .

The second reason concerns the local structure of the moduli spaces.

**Definition 1.7.** Let (E, V) be a coherent system. The *Petri map* of (E, V) is the linear map

$$V \otimes H^0(E^* \otimes K) \longrightarrow H^0(\operatorname{End} E \otimes K)$$

given by multiplication of sections.

**Lemma 1.8.** ([17, Proposition 3.10]) Let  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; n, d, k)$ . The following conditions are equivalent:

- $G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  is smooth of dimension  $\beta(n, d, k)$  at (E, V)
- the Petri map of (E, V) is injective.

**Definition 1.9.** The curve C is called a *Petri curve* if the Petri map of  $(L, H^0(L))$  is injective for every line bundle L.

It is a standard result of classical Brill-Noether theory that the general curve of any genus is a Petri curve [25, 35].

#### 2. The Existence Problem

Among the possible questions one can ask about the existence of  $\alpha$ -stable coherent systems are the following.

- (i) Given  $n, d, k, \alpha$  satisfying (1), is  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ ?
- (ii) Given n, d, k, does there exist (E, V) which is  $\alpha$ -stable for all  $\alpha$  satisfying (1)?
- (iii) Given n, d, k, does there exist (E, V) with E stable which is  $\alpha$ -stable for all  $\alpha$  satisfying (1)?

We can restate (ii) and (iii) in a nice way by defining

$$U(n, d, k) := \{ (E, V) \in G_L(n, d, k) \mid E \text{ is stable} \}$$

and

 $U^{s}(n,d,k) := \{ (E,V) \mid (E,V) \text{ is } \alpha \text{-stable for } \alpha > 0, \alpha(n-k) < d \}.$ 

Then (ii) and (iii) become

- (ii)' Given n, d, k with d > 0, is  $U^s(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ ?
- (iii)' Given n, d, k with d > 0, is  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ ?

The "obvious" conjecture is that the answers are affirmative if and only if  $\beta(n, d, k) \ge 0$ . However, this is false in both directions; see, for example, Remarks 4.2 and 8.4. A basic result, for which a complete proof has only been given very recently, is

**Theorem 2.1.** For any fixed  $n, k, U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  for all sufficiently large d.

PROOF. For  $k \le n$ , see [16, 18]. For k > n, see [3] and [49].

Now write

 $d_0 = d_0(n,k) := \min\{d : G(\alpha; n, d, k) \neq \emptyset \text{ for some } \alpha \text{ satisfying } (1)\}.$ 

The following would be an "ideal" result.

Model Theorem. For fixed n, k with  $n \ge 2$ ,  $k \ge 1$ ,

- (a)  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $(n k)\alpha < d$  and  $d \ge d_0$
- (b)  $B(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $d \ge d_0$

(c) if  $d \ge d_0$ ,  $U(n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$ .

Note that (c) is stronger than (a) and (b) combined.

One may also ask whether, for given n, d, there is an upper bound on k for which  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ . In fact the existence of an upper bound on  $h^0(E)$  for any  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  (possibly depending on  $\alpha$ ) is used in the proof of existence of the moduli spaces (see, for example [29]). An explicit such bound is given in [17, Lemmas 10.2 and 10.3]. The more restricted question of an upper bound on k has now been solved by the following generalization of Clifford's Theorem.

**Theorem 2.2.** ([34]) Let (E, V) be a coherent system of type (n, d, k) with k > 0 which is  $\alpha$ -semistable for some  $\alpha > 0$ . Then

$$k \leq \begin{cases} \frac{d}{2} + n & \text{if } 0 \leq d \leq 2gn \\ d + n(1 - g) & \text{if } d \geq 2gn. \end{cases}$$

#### 3. Methods

We now describe some of the methods which can be used for tackling the existence problem.

- Degeneration Methods. These have been used very successfully by M. Teixidor i Bigas [46, 47, 49] (see section 8).
- Extensions  $0 \to E_1 \to E \to E_2 \to 0$ . For k < n, a special case, used in [16, 18], is

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}^k \to E \to E_2 \to 0.$$

The method is not so useful when  $V \not\subseteq H^0(E_1)$  because there is a problem of lifting sections of  $E_2$  to E. A more promising approach is to use extensions of coherent systems

$$0 \to (E_1, V_1) \to (E, V) \to (E_2, V_2) \to 0,$$

which are classified by  $\text{Ext}^1((E_2, V_2), (E_1, V_1))$ . This approach was pioneered in [17] and has been used successfully in several papers [19, 12, 32].

- Syzygies and projective embeddings. Given a generated coherent system (E, V) of type (n, d, k) with k > n, one can construct a morphism  $C \to \operatorname{Grass}(k-n,k)$ . One can also use the sections of det E to get a morphism from C to a projective space. The relationship between these morphisms can be used to settle existence problems (see section 7 and [26]).
- Elementary transformations. Consider an exact sequence

$$0 \to E \to E' \to T \to 0,$$

where T is a torsion sheaf. If (E, V) is a coherent system, then so is (E', V). This method has been used to construct  $\alpha$ -stable coherent systems for low (even negative) values of  $\beta(n, d, k)$  (see sections 6, 7 and 8).

• Flips. Flips were pioneered by M. Thaddeus [50] and introduced in this context in [17]. They are given by extensions of coherent systems and can allow results for one value of  $\alpha$  to be transmitted to another value.

#### P. E. NEWSTEAD

• Dual Span. This was originally introduced by D. C. Butler [24] and has been used very successfully in the case k = n + 1 (see section 6). The idea is as follows. Let (E, V) be a coherent system. We define a new coherent system  $D(E, V) = (D_V(E), V')$ , where  $D_V(E)^*$  is the kernel of the evaluation map  $V \otimes \mathcal{O} \to E$  and V' is the image of  $V^*$  in  $H^0(D_V(E))$ . In the case where (E, V) is generated and  $H^0(E^*) = 0$ , we have dual exact sequences

$$0 \to D_V(E)^* \to V \otimes \mathcal{O} \to E \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to E^* \to V^* \otimes \mathcal{O} \to D_V(E) \to 0$$

and D(D(E, V)) = (E, V), so this is a true duality operation. The main point here is that the stability properties of D(E, V) are closely related to those of (E, V) [17, section 5.4].

- Covering Spaces. Suppose that  $f: Y \to C$  is a covering (maybe ramified). If (E, V) is a coherent system on Y, then  $(f_*E, V)$  is a coherent system on C. One can for example take E to be a line bundle. The rank of  $f_*E$ is then equal to the degree of the covering and deg E is easy to compute. The problem is to prove  $\alpha$ -stability. Preliminary work suggests that this may be interesting, but to get really good results one needs to take into account the fact that Y is not a general curve and may possess line bundles with more than the expected number of independent sections.
- Homological methods. In classical Brill-Noether theory, homological methods have been very successful in proving non-emptiness of Brill-Noether loci; essentially one views the loci as degeneration loci and uses the Porteous formula [1, II (4.2) and VII (4.4)]. It is not trivial to generalize this to higher rank Brill-Noether loci because of non-compactness of the moduli space of stable bundles (when  $gcd(n, d) \neq 1$ ) but more particularly because the cohomology is much more complicated. There is some unpublished work in a special case by Seongsuk Park [42] (see also section 9). Once one knows that  $B(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ , one gets also  $G_0(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  by Lemma 1.4.
- Gauge theory. This has been used for constructing the moduli spaces of coherent systems [14, 15], but not (so far as I know) for proving they are non-empty.

**4.** 
$$0 < k \le n$$

In this case the existence problem is completely solved and there are some results on irreducibility and smoothness.

**Theorem 4.1.** ([18, Theorem 3.3]) Suppose  $0 < k \le n$ . Then  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$  if and only if (1) holds and in addition

(2) 
$$k \le n + \frac{1}{g}(d-n), \quad (n,d,k) \ne (n,n,n).$$

Moreover, if (2) holds and d > 0, then  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  and is smooth and irreducible.

INDICATION OF PROOF. It is known [17, Theorems 5.4 and 5.6] that  $G_L(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  under the stated conditions. Moreover  $G_L(n, d, k)$  is smooth and irreducible

126

and every element has the form

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}^k \to E \to F \to 0 \quad (k < n), \\ 0 \to \mathcal{O}^n \to E \to T \to 0 \quad (k = n),$$

with F semistable, T torsion. Necessity of (2) is proved in [18, Corollary 2.5 and Lemma 2.10] and [17, Remark 5.7]. In both cases, given (2) and d > 0, the general E of this form is stable; this is a consequence of [38, Théorème A.5] (see also [21, 22, 37]).

**Remark 4.2.** Conditions (2) are strictly stronger than  $\beta(n, d, k) \ge 0$ .

Corollary 4.3. Model Theorem holds with

$$d_0 = \begin{cases} \max\{1, n - g(n - k)\} & (k < n)\\ n + 1 & (k = n). \end{cases}$$
  
5.  $0 < d \le 2n$ 

**Theorem 5.1.** ([19, Theorem 5.4]) Suppose  $g \ge 3$  and C is not hyperelliptic. If  $0 < d \le 2n$ , then  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$  if and only if either (1) and (2) hold or (n, d, k) = (g - 1, 2g - 2, g). Whenever it is non-empty,  $G(\alpha; n, d, k)$  is irreducible. Moreover  $U(n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$  and is smooth.

INDICATION OF PROOF. The necessity of the conditions for 0 < d < 2n follows from [**37**]. For d = 2n, further calculations are necessary. For  $k \le n$ , the sufficiency of (1) and (2) has already been proved in Theorem 4.1. For k > n, one requires the results of [**21**, **37**, **39**] and a lemma stating that under these conditions  $B(n, d, k) \ne$  $\emptyset \Rightarrow U(n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$ . For (n, d, k) = (g - 1, 2g - 2, g) we take  $(E, V) = D(K, H^0(K))$ (see section 6).

**Remark 5.2.** For C hyperelliptic, the theorem remains true for 0 < d < 2n, but some modification is needed for d = 2n [19, Theorem 5.5].

The reference [19] includes an example to show that these nice results do not extend beyond d = 2n.

**Example 5.3.** ([19, section 7]) Let (E, V) be a coherent system of type (n, d, k) with

(3) 
$$n + \frac{1}{g}(d-n) < k < \frac{ng}{g-1}.$$

Then (E, V) is not  $\alpha$ -semistable for large  $\alpha$ . Moreover, if C is non-hyperelliptic and  $3 \leq r \leq g-1$ , there exists (E, V) of type (rg - r + 1, 2rg - 2r + 3, rg + 1) with E stable, and (3) holds in this case.

**6.** 
$$k = n + 1$$

In this case the existence problem is almost completely solved when C is a Petri curve, which we assume until further notice. Full details are contained in [12].

We use the dual span construction for (L, V), where L is a line bundle of degree d > 0, (L, V) is generated and dim V = n + 1.

**Lemma 6.1.** ([17, Corollary 5.10]) D(L, V) is  $\alpha$ -stable for large  $\alpha$ .

PROOF. Let (F, W) be a coherent subsystem of D(L, V) with  $\operatorname{rk} F < n$ . Since D(L, V) is generated and  $H^0(D_V(L)^*) = 0$ , it follows that  $D_V(L)/F$  is non-trivial and that it is generated by the image of  $V^*$  in  $H^0(D_V(L)/F)$ . This implies that this image has dimension  $\geq n - \operatorname{rk} F + 1$ . So  $\frac{\dim W}{\operatorname{rk} F} \leq 1 < \frac{n+1}{n}$  which implies the result.

**Theorem 6.2.**  $G_L(n,d,n+1)$  is birational to  $G(1,d,n+1) = G_d^n$ .

PROOF. Note that  $\beta(n, d, n + 1) = \beta(1, d, n + 1) = \dim(G(1, d, n + 1))$ . Now, do a parameter count to show that non-generated (L, V) and  $(E, V^*)$  contribute  $< \beta(n, d, n+1)$  to the dimension (see the proof of [17, Theorem 5.11] for details).  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 6.3.**  $G_L(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $\beta(n, d, n+1) \ge 0$ , i.e. if and only if

(4) 
$$d \ge g + n - \left[\frac{g}{n+1}\right].$$

**PROOF.** This follows from classical Brill-Noether theory, since C is Petri.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 6.4.** ([20, Theorem 2]) If (4) holds and  $d \leq g + n$ , then

 $U^s(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset.$ 

Moreover, except for g = n = 2, d = 4,  $U(n, d, n + 1) \neq \emptyset$ 

PROOF. If (4) holds and  $d \leq g + n$ , there exists a line bundle L of degree d with  $h^0(L) = n + 1$ , so we can take  $V = H^0(L)$  for such L, and suppose that V generates L. By Lemma 6.1, D(L, V) is  $\alpha$ -stable for large  $\alpha$ , while by [24, Theorem 2] (see also [20, Proposition 4.1]),  $D_L(V)$  is stable for general L. The result for g = n = 2, d = 4 is contained in [20, Proposition 4.1].

**Theorem 6.5.** ([20, Theorem 2]) If  $G(\alpha; n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$  for some  $\alpha$ , then (4) holds.

INDICATION OF PROOF. One can show that, for  $d \leq g + n$ ,

$$G(\alpha; n, d, n+1) = G_L(n, d, n+1)$$

for all  $\alpha > 0$ . Now use Corollary 6.3.

**Corollary 6.6.**  $d_0(n, n+1) = g + n - \left[\frac{g}{n+1}\right].$ 

**Theorem 6.7.** ([20, Theorem 3]) If  $g \ge n^2 - 1$ , then Model Theorem holds.

**Theorem 6.8.** ([12, Theorems 7.1, 7.2, 7.3]) Model Theorem holds for n = 2, 3, 4 and  $g \ge 3$ .

For g = 2, Model Theorem does not quite hold; the result is as follows.

**Theorem 6.9.** ([12, Theorem 8.2]) Let X be a curve of genus 2. Then  $d_0 = n+2$  and

- $U^{s}(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $d \geq d_{0}$
- $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $d \ge d_0, d \ne 2n$ .

The proofs of these theorems depend on combining several techniques including those of [20], extensions of coherent systems and the following result.

**Proposition 6.10.** Suppose that  $d \ge d_1$ , where

$$d_1 := \begin{cases} \frac{n(g+3)}{2} + 1 & \text{if } g \text{ is odd} \\ \frac{n(g+4)}{2} + 1 & \text{if } g \text{ is even and } n > \frac{g!}{\left(\frac{g}{2}\right)!\left(\frac{g}{2}+1\right)!} \\ \frac{n(g+2)}{2} + 1 & \text{if } g \text{ is even and } n \le \frac{g!}{\left(\frac{g}{2}\right)!\left(\frac{g}{2}+1\right)!} \end{cases}$$

Then  $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$ .

PROOF. This is proved using elementary transformations (for details see [12, Proposition 6.6]). The restriction on n in the third formula is required because we need to have n non-isomorphic line bundles  $L_i$  of degree  $\frac{d_1-1}{n}$  with  $h^0(L_i) = 2$ . For the number of such line bundles in this case, see [1, V (1.2)].

**Remark 6.11.** Although Model Theorem is not established in all cases, one can say that U(n, d, n+1) is always smooth and is irreducible of dimension  $\beta(n, d, n+1)$  whenever it is non-empty and  $\beta(n, d, n+1) > 0$  [12, Remark 6.2].

Now let us replace the Petri condition by the condition that C be general (in some unspecified sense). Teixidor's result (see Theorem 8.1) takes the following form when k = n + 1.

**Theorem 6.12.** Suppose that C is a general curve of genus g and that  $d \ge d'_1$ , where

$$d_1' = \begin{cases} \frac{n(g+1)}{2} + 1 & \text{if } g \text{ is odd} \\ \frac{n(g+2)}{2} + 1 & \text{if } g \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$ .

Using this, we can prove

**Theorem 6.13.** Suppose that C is a general curve of genus 3. Then Model Theorem holds.

PROOF. The methods of [12] are sufficient to prove (for any Petri curve of genus 3) that  $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$  if  $d \geq d_0$  and  $d \neq 2n+2$  (see [12, Theorem 8.3]). The exceptional case is covered by Theorem 6.12.

**Remark 6.14.** Suppose now that *C* is any smooth curve of genus *g*. Since gcd(n, d, n + 1) = 1, a specialization argument shows that, if  $G(\alpha; n, d, n + 1) \neq \emptyset$  on a general curve and  $\alpha$  is not a critical value, then  $G(\alpha; n, d, n + 1) \neq \emptyset$  on *C*. A priori, this does not imply that  $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$ , but Ballico [**6**] has used Teixidor's result to show that, when  $d \ge d'_1$ , we have  $U^s(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$ . If gcd(n, d) = 1, this gives  $U(n, d, n + 1) \neq \emptyset$ .

7. 
$$n = 2, k = 4$$

This is the first case in which we do not know the value of  $d_0$  even on a general curve. Let us define

(5) 
$$d_2 := \begin{cases} g+3 & \text{if } g \text{ is even} \\ g+4 & \text{if } g \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

Note that  $\beta(2, d, 4) = 4d - 4g - 11$ , so  $\beta(2, g + 3, 4) = 1$  and g + 3 is the smallest value of d for which  $\beta(2, d, 4) \ge 0$ . Moreover, on a Petri curve,  $\frac{d_2-1}{2}$  is the smallest degree for which there exists a line bundle L with  $h^0(L) \ge 2$ .

Teixidor has proved the following result by degeneration methods.

**Theorem 7.1.** [46] Let C be a general curve of genus  $g \ge 3$ . If  $d \ge d_2$ , then  $U(2, d, 4) \neq \emptyset$ .

By completely different methods, we can prove the following stronger result (further details will appear in [26]).

**Theorem 7.2.** Let C be a Petri curve of genus  $g \ge 3$ . Then

- (i)  $U(2, d, 4) \neq \emptyset$  for  $d \ge d_2$ ,
- (ii) if  $d < d_2 1$  and (E, V) is  $\alpha$ -semistable of type (2, d, 4) for some  $\alpha$ , then  $(E, V) \in U(2, d, 4)$ . Moreover,  $U(2, d', 4) \neq \emptyset$  for  $d \leq d' \leq d_2 1$ ,
- (iii)  $G(\alpha; 2, d, 4) = \emptyset$  for all  $\alpha$  for  $d < \min\{\frac{4g}{5} + 4, d_2 1\}$ .

PROOF. (i) Consider

$$0 \to L_1 \oplus L_2 \to E \to T \to 0,$$

where the  $L_i$  are line bundles with  $\deg(L_i) = \frac{d_2-1}{2}$ ,  $h^0(L_i) = 2$ ,  $L_1 \not\cong L_2$  and T is a torsion sheaf of length  $d-d_2+1$ . By classical Brill-Noether theory, such line bundles always exist on a Petri curve. By [**38**, Théorème A.5], the general such E is stable. Now, it is easy to show that  $(E, V) \in U(2, d, 4)$  where  $V = H^0(L_1) \oplus H^0(L_2)$ .

(ii) Let (F, W) be a coherent subsystem of (E, V) with  $\operatorname{rk} F = 1$ , where  $W = V \cap H^0(F)$ . Suppose E is not stable and choose F with deg  $F \geq \frac{d}{2}$ . Then deg $(E/F) \leq \frac{d}{2} < \frac{d_2-1}{2}$ . Hence, by classical Brill-Noether theory,  $h^0(E/F) \leq 1$ , so dim  $W \geq 3$ . This contradicts  $\alpha$ -semistability for all  $\alpha$ .

So E is stable. Now, for any  $(F,W), \deg F < \frac{d}{2},$  so  $h^0(F) \leq 1,$  hence  $\dim W \leq 1.$  So

$$\mu_{\alpha}(F,W) < \frac{d}{2} + \alpha < \frac{d+4\alpha}{2}$$

for all  $\alpha > 0$ , so  $(E, V) \in U(2, d, 4)$ .

For the last part, we proceed by induction; we need to prove that, if  $d < d_2 - 1$ , then

$$U(2, d, 4) \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow U(2, d+1, 4) \neq \emptyset.$$

So suppose  $(E, V) \in U(2, d, 4)$  and consider an elementary transformation

$$0 \to E \to E' \to T \to 0,$$

where T is a torsion sheaf of length 1. Then  $(E', V) \in U(2, d + 1, 4)$  if and only if E' is stable. It is easy to see that E' is semistable. If E' is strictly semistable, then it possesses a line subbundle L of degree  $\frac{d+1}{2}$ . Since E is stable,  $L \cap E$  must have degree  $\frac{d-1}{2}$  and so, by classical Brill-Noether theory,  $\dim(H^0(L) \cap V) \leq 1$ . Hence  $h^0(E/L) \geq 3$ , which is a contradiction since  $\deg(E/L) = \frac{d+1}{2} \leq \frac{d_2-1}{2}$ .

(iii) If  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; 2, d, 4)$  with  $d < min\{\frac{4g}{5} + 4, d_2 - 1\}$ , we have  $(E, V) \in U(2, d, 4)$  by (ii). It is easy to check that (E, V) is generically generated and the proof of (ii) shows that the subsheaf E' of E generated by V is stable. We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to D_V(E')^* \to V \otimes \mathcal{O} \to E' \to 0,$$

which induces two further exact sequences

(6) 
$$0 \to N \to \wedge^2 V \otimes \mathcal{O} \to \det E' \to 0$$

and

(7) 
$$0 \to (\det E')^* \to N \to E' \otimes D_V(E')^* \to 0.$$

Now  $D_V(E')$  is stable of the same slope as E', so, by (7),

$$h^{0}(N) \le h^{0}(E' \otimes D_{V}(E')^{*}) \le 1.$$

So  $h^0(\det E') \ge 5$  by (6). Hence, by classical Brill-Noether theory,

$$\deg E \ge \deg E' \ge \frac{4g}{5} + 4.$$

**Corollary 7.3.** If  $\frac{4g}{5} + 4 > d_2 - 1$ , then  $d_0 = d_2$ . If  $\frac{4g}{5} + 4 \le d_2 - 1$ , then  $\frac{4g}{5} + 4 \le d_0 \le d_2$ . Moreover, in all cases, Model Theorem holds.

PROOF. The second part follows immediately from the theorem. If  $\frac{4g}{5} + 4 > d_2 - 1$ , then certainly  $d_2 - 1 \le d_0 \le d_2$ . In fact, if  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; 2, d_2 - 1, 4)$ , the argument used to prove part (iii) of the theorem shows that deg  $E \ge \frac{4g}{5} + 4$ , which is a contradiction.

Model Theorem is now clear except possibly when  $d_0 = d_2 - 1$ . But in this case, there exists  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; 2, d_2 - 1, 4)$  for some  $\alpha$ . If E is not stable, then, in the proof of part (ii) of the theorem, we obtain  $h^0(E/F) \leq 2$ , so dim  $W \geq 2$ , contradicting  $\alpha$ -stability. The rest of the proof works to show that  $(E, V) \in U(2, d_2 - 1, 4)$ .

**Remark 7.4.** Theorems 7.1 and 7.2(i) and the first statement of Corollary 7.3 fail for g = 2. In this case  $d_2 = 5$  and the proof of Theorem 7.2(i) fails because there is only one line bundle L of degree 2 with  $h^0(L) = 1$ . Moreover it follows from Riemann-Roch that any stable bundle E of rank 2 and degree 5 has  $h^0(E) = 3$  and one can easily deduce that  $G(\alpha; 2, 5, 4) = \emptyset$  for all  $\alpha > 0$ . In fact  $d_0 = 6$  and Model Theorem holds (see statement (3) preceding Lemma 6.6 in [**20**]).

We finish this section with an example

**Example 7.5.** If  $4 \le g \le 8$  and g is even, Corollary 7.3 gives  $d_0 = d_2 = g + 3$ . Suppose now that g = 10. Then  $\frac{4g}{5} + 4 = 12 = g + 2 = d_2 - 1$ , so  $d_0 = 12$  or 13.

Suppose  $(E, V) \in G(\alpha; 2, 12, 4)$ . The argument in the proof of Theorem 7.2 (ii)/(iii) shows that E' and D(E') are stable and  $h^0(\det E') \ge 5$ . By classical Brill-Noether theory,  $\deg E' \ge 12$ , so E' = E. Also  $h^0(\det E) = 5$ .

Write  $L = \det E$ . We can choose a 3-dimensional subspace W of  $H^0(L)$  such that there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to E^* \to W \otimes \mathcal{O} \to L \to 0,$$

which induces

$$0 \to H^0(L \otimes E^*) \to W \otimes H^0(L) \xrightarrow{\psi} H^0(L^{\otimes 2}) \to 0$$

Now  $L \otimes E^* \cong E$ , so  $h^0(L \otimes E^*) \ge 4$ . Hence dim Ker  $\psi \ge 4$ , from which it follows that the linear map

(8) 
$$S^2(H^0(L)) \to H^0(L^{\otimes 2})$$

is not injective. Both of the spaces in (8) have dimension 15, so (8) is not surjective. On the other hand, Voisin has proved that, for general C, (8) is surjective [51]. So, for general C,  $G(\alpha; 2, 12, 4) = \emptyset$  and  $d_0 = 13$ .

If (8) is not surjective, the sections of L determine an embedding  $C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^4$  whose image lies on the quadric q whose equation generates the kernel of (8).

If q has rank 5, it is easy to check that (E, V) exists. This situation does in fact arise for certain Petri curves lying on K3 surfaces (see [51]), so there exist Petri curves for which  $d_0 = 12$ . If q has rank 4, it is possible that (E, V) is strictly  $\alpha$ -semistable for all  $\alpha > 0$ , so we can make no deduction about  $d_0$ . The quadric q cannot have rank < 4.

Further details of this example will appear in [26].

8. 
$$k \ge n+2$$

The situation in section 7 is typical of that for  $k \ge n+2$ , except that in general we know even less. Until recently, no reasonable bound for  $d_0$  had been established. This has now been rectified by Teixidor, who has obtained a bound for general Cby degeneration methods. We state her result in a slightly adapted version.

**Theorem 8.1.** ([49]) Let C be a general curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . If k > n, then  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  for  $d \ge d_3$ , where

(9) 
$$d_3 := \begin{cases} k + n(g-1) - n \left[ \frac{g-1}{\lfloor k/n \rfloor} \right] + 1 & \text{if } n \mid k \\ k + n(g-1) - n \left[ \frac{g-1}{\lfloor k/n \rfloor + 1} \right] & \text{if } n \not\mid k. \end{cases}$$

Moreover U(n, d, k) has a component of dimension  $\beta(n, d, k)$ .

It should be noted that this is not best possible; in particular, when n = 2, k = 4, it is weaker than Theorem 7.1. Also, Teixidor states her result in terms of non-emptiness of all  $G(\alpha; n, d, k)$ , but her proof gives the stronger statement that  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ . For other formulations of (9), see [44, 38], where the corresponding result for Brill-Noether loci is proved.

For an arbitrary smooth curve, we have the following theorem of Ballico [6], obtained from Theorem 8.1 by a specialization argument.

**Theorem 8.2.** Let C be a smooth curve of genus g and k > n. If gcd(n, d, k) = 1 and  $d \ge d_3$ , then  $U^s(n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$ . If moreover gcd(n, d) = 1, then  $U(n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$ .

When  $n \mid k$ , we can prove the following theorem without any coprimality assumptions by using the methods of [38].

**Theorem 8.3.** Let C be a smooth curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . If k > n,  $n \mid k$ , then  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  for  $d \ge d_3$ . If in addition C is Petri and  $k' := \frac{k}{n} \mid g$ , then  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$  for  $d \ge d_3 - n$ , provided that

$$n \le n' := g! \prod_{i=0}^{k'-1} \frac{i!}{(i+\frac{g}{k'})!}.$$

PROOF. Note that  $d_3 - 1$  is divisible by n and  $\beta\left(1, \frac{d_3-1}{n}, \frac{k}{n}\right) > 0$ . Hence, by classical Brill-Noether theory, we can find n non-isomorphic line bundles  $L_i$  with deg  $L_i = \frac{d_3-1}{n}$  and  $h^0(L_i) \geq \frac{k}{n}$ . Choose subspaces  $V_i$  of  $H^0(L_i)$  of dimension  $\frac{k}{n}$  and consider an exact sequence

(10) 
$$0 \to L_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus L_n \to E \to T \to 0,$$

where T is a torsion sheaf of length  $d - d_3 + 1 > 0$ . Let  $V := \bigoplus H^0(L_i) \subseteq H^0(E)$ . Then  $(L_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus L_n, V)$  is  $\alpha$ -semistable for all  $\alpha > 0$ . If E is stable, it follows that  $(E, V) \in U(n, d, k)$ . On the other hand, the general E given by (10) is stable by [**38**, Théorème A.5]. The first result follows. Now suppose  $k' \mid g$ . Then  $\left[\frac{g-1}{k'}\right] = \frac{ng}{k} - 1$ . Let

$$d' := \frac{d_3 - 1}{n} - 1 = k' + g - 1 - \frac{g}{k'}$$

and  $\beta(1, d', k')=0$ . So, again by classical Brill-Noether theory, there exist line bundles  $L_i$  with deg  $L_i = d'$  and  $h^0(L_i) \ge k'$ , and, if C is Petri, there are precisely n' such line bundles up to isomorphism [1, V (1.2)]. The proof now goes through as before.

**Remark 8.4.** It is worth noting that, when  $n \mid k$  and  $k' \mid g$ ,

$$\beta(n, d_3 - n, k) = k - n^2 + 1,$$

so one can have  $U(n, d, k) \neq \emptyset$ , even on a Petri curve, with negative Brill-Noether number.

For a lower bound on  $d_0$ , we have the following result of Brambila-Paz.

**Theorem 8.5.** ([20, Theorem 1]) Let C be a Petri curve of genus g. Suppose k > n and  $\beta(n, d, n + 1) < 0$ . Then  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) = \emptyset$  for all  $\alpha > 0$ .

Combining Theorems 8.1 and 8.5, we obtain that, on a general curve,

$$n+g-\left[\frac{g}{n+1}\right] \le d_0(n,k) \le d_3.$$

**9.** 
$$n = 2$$
, det  $E = K$ 

In this section we consider coherent systems (E, V) with  $\operatorname{rk} E = 2$ ,  $\det E \cong K$ . These have not to my knowledge been studied in their own right, but the corresponding problem for Brill-Noether loci has attracted quite a lot of attention and this has some implications for coherent systems. In what follows, we consistently denote the corresponding spaces by  $B(2, K, k), G(\alpha; 2, K, k)$  etc.

The first point to note is that some definitions have to be changed. There is a canonical skew-symmetric isomorphism between E and  $E^* \otimes K$ . As a result of this, the Petri map has to be replaced by the symmetrized Petri map

(11) 
$$S^2 H^0(E) \to H^0(S^2 E).$$

This map governs the infinitesimal behaviour of B(2, K, k). Moreover, the Brill-Noether number giving the expected dimension of B(2, K, k) and  $G(\alpha; 2, K, k)$  must be replaced by

$$\beta(2, K, k) := 3g - 3 - \frac{k(k+1)}{2}$$

All components of B(2, K, k) have dimension  $\geq \beta(2, K, k)$ . The intriguing thing is that often  $\beta(2, K, k) > \beta(2, 2g - 2, k)$ , so that the expected dimension of B(2, K, k) is greater than that of B(2, 2g - 2, k), although the latter contains the former!

These Brill-Noether loci were studied some time ago by Bertram and Feinberg [9] and by Mukai [41], who independently proposed the following conjecture.

**Conjecture.** Let C be a general curve of genus g. Then B(2, K, k) is nonempty if and only if  $\beta(2, K, k) \ge 0$ . This was verified by Bertram and Feinberg and Mukai for low values of g. Of course, if  $B(2, K, k) \neq \emptyset$ , then  $G_0(2, K, k) \neq \emptyset$ , but we cannot make deductions about U(2, K, k) without further information.

Some of these results have been extended and there are also some general existence results due to Teixidor.

**Theorem 9.1.** ([45]) Let C be a general curve of genus g. If either  $k = 2k_1$ and  $g \ge k_1^2$   $(k_1 > 2)$ ,  $g \ge 5$   $(k_1 = 2)$ ,  $g \ge 3$   $(k_1 = 1)$  or  $k = 2k_1 + 1$  and  $g \ge k_1^2 + k_1 + 1$ , then  $B(2, K, k) \ne \emptyset$  and has a component of dimension  $\beta(2, K, k)$ .

**Corollary 9.2.** Under the conditions of Theorem 9.1,  $G_0(2, K, k) \neq \emptyset$ .

The most significant result to date is also due to Teixidor.

**Theorem 9.3.** ([48]) Let C be a general curve of genus g. Then the symmetrized Petri map (11) is injective for every semistable bundle E.

**Corollary 9.4.** Let C be a general curve of genus g. If  $\beta(2, K, k) < 0$ , then  $G_0(2, K, k) = \emptyset$ .

To prove the conjecture, it is therefore sufficient to extend Theorem 9.1 to all cases where  $\beta(2, K, k) \geq 0$ . Progress on this has been made recently by Seongsuk Park using homological methods [42].

**Remark 9.5.** Theorem 9.3 and Corollary 9.4 fail for certain Petri curves lying on K3 surfaces. In fact, based on work of Mukai, Voisin [**51**, Théorème 0.1] observed that on these curves  $B\left(2, K, \frac{g}{2}+2\right) \neq \emptyset$  for any even g. However, for g even,  $g \ge 10$ , the Brill-Noether number  $\beta\left(2, K, \frac{g}{2}+2\right) < 0$ .

## 10. Special curves

The results of sections 3 and 4 are valid for arbitrary smooth curves. On the other hand, while some of the results of the remaining sections (dealing with the case k > n) are valid on arbitrary smooth curves, most of them hold on general curves. Indeed, if k > n, the value of  $d_0$  certainly depends on the geometry of C and not just on g. This is of course no different from what happens for n = 1, but it is already clear that the distinctions in higher rank are more subtle than those for the classical case (see, for instance, Example 7.5 and Remark 9.5).

There is as yet little work in the literature concerning coherent systems on special curves; here by *special* we mean a curve for which the moduli spaces of coherent systems exhibit behaviour different from that on a general curve. So far as I am aware, the only papers relating specifically to special curves are those of Ballico on bielliptic curves [2] and Brambila-Paz and Ortega on curves with specified Clifford index [23]. In the latter paper, the authors define positive numbers

$$d_u = d_u(n, g, \gamma) := \begin{cases} n + g - 1 + \frac{g - 1}{n - 1} & \text{if } \gamma \ge g - n\\ 2n + \gamma + \frac{\gamma}{n - 1} & \text{if } \gamma < g - n \end{cases}$$

and

$$d_{\ell} = d_{\ell}(n, g, \gamma) := \begin{cases} n+g-1 & \text{if } \gamma \ge g-n \\ 2n+\gamma & \text{if } \gamma < g-n \end{cases}$$

and prove, among other things, the following three results.

**Theorem 10.1.** ([23, Theorem 1.2]) Let C be a curve of genus g and Clifford index  $\gamma$  and suppose k > n. Then  $d_0(n, k) \ge d_{\ell}$ .

**Theorem 10.2.** ([23, Theorem 4.1]) Let C be a curve of genus g and Clifford index  $\gamma$  and suppose that there exists a generated coherent system (G, W) of type (m, d, n + m) with  $H^0(G^*) = 0$  and  $d_{\ell} \leq d < d_u$ . Then  $U(n, d, n + m) \neq \emptyset$ .

**Corollary 10.3.** ([23, Corollary 5.1]) Let C be a smooth plane curve of degree  $d \geq 5$ . Then  $d_0(2,3) = d_\ell(2,g,\gamma) = d$  and  $U(2,d,3) \neq \emptyset$ .

In the corollary, one may note that the value of  $d_0$  here is much smaller than the value for a general curve of the same genus given by Corollary 6.6. The paper [23] includes also examples where  $d_0(n, n + 1) = g - 1$ .

#### 11. Singular curves

The construction of moduli spaces for coherent systems can be generalized to arbitrary curves (see [29]). Of course, Teixidor's work depends on constructing coherent systems on reducible curves and in particular the concept of limit linear series (see [44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49] and Teixidor's article in this volume), but apart from this there has been little work on coherent systems on singular curves. There is some work of Ballico proving the existence of  $\alpha$ -stable coherent systems for large d [4, 5] and a paper of Ballico and Prantil for C a singular curve of genus 1 [8].

The situation for nodal curves has now changed due to work of Bhosle, who has generalized results of [21] and [17]. We refer to [10, 11] for details.

### 12. Open Problems

There are many open problems in the theory of moduli spaces of coherent systems on algebraic curves. As in the main part of this article, we restrict attention here to problems of emptiness and non-emptiness. The basic outstanding problems can be formulated as follows.

**Problem 12.1.** Given C and (n, k) with  $n \ge 2, k \ge 1$ , determine the value of  $d_0(n, k)$  (the minimum value of d for which  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ ).

**Problem 12.2.** Given C and (n, k), prove or disprove Model Theorem. If the theorem fails to hold, Theorem 2.1 implies that there are finitely many values of  $d \ge d_0(n, k)$  for which  $U(n, d, k) = \emptyset$ . For each such d, find the range of  $\alpha$  (possibly empty) for which  $G(\alpha; n, d, k) \ne \emptyset$ . Note that we already have a solution for this problem when g = 2 and k = n + 1; in this case (a) is true but not (b) or (c) (Theorem 6.9). In Example 5.3, (a) fails but (b) may possibly be true.

**Problem 12.3.** For fixed genus g and fixed (n, d), we know that there exists a bound, independent of  $\alpha$ , on  $h^0(E)$  for E to be an  $\alpha$ -semistable coherent system. The bound given by [17, Lemmas 10.2 and 10.3] looks weak. Find a better (even best possible) bound. An answer to this would be useful in estimating codimensions of flip loci.

We now turn to some more specific problems, which we state for a general curve, although versions for special curves could also be produced.

**Problem 12.4.** A conjecture of D. C. Butler [24, Conjecture 2] can be stated in the following form.

**Conjecture.** (Butler's Conjecture) Let C be a general curve of genus  $g \ge 3$ and let (E, V) be a general generated coherent system in  $G_0(m, d, n+m)$ . Then the dual span D(E, V) belongs to  $G_0(n, d, n+m)$ .
(Since  $G_0(m, d, n+m)$  can be reducible, one needs to be careful over the meaning of the word "general" here.) There are many possible versions of this conjecture. For example, if one replaces  $G_0$  by  $G_L$ , then the conjecture holds for all  $(E, V) \in G_L(m, d, n+m)$  if gcd(m, n) = 1 and, even in the non-coprime case, a slightly weaker version holds [17, section 5.4]. We seem, however, to be some distance from proving the general conjecture.

Problem 12.5. A slightly stronger version of Butler's conjecture is

**Conjecture.** (Butler's Conjecture (strong form)) Let C be a general curve of genus  $g \ge 3$  and let (E, V) be a general generated coherent system in  $G_0(m, d, n + m)$ . Then  $D_V(E)$  is stable.

When m = 1 and C is Petri, this conjecture holds for  $V = H^0(E)$  (see [24, Theorem 2] and [20, Proposition 4.1]). For general V, it is equivalent in this case to

**Conjecture.** Let C be a Petri curve of genus  $g \ge 3$ . If  $\beta(n, d, n+1) \ge 0$ , then  $U(n, d, n+1) \neq \emptyset$ .

(For the proof of this equivalence, see [12, Conjecture 9.5 and Proposition 9.6].) This result narrowly fails for g = 2 and d = 2n (see Theorem 6.9), but is proved in many cases in section 6. For some further results on the strong form of Butler's Conjecture when m = 1, see [40].

**Problem 12.6.** Let C be a general curve of genus  $g \ge 3$ . Calculate  $d_0(2, 4)$ . For the current state of information on this problem, see section 7, especially Corollary 7.3.

**Problem 12.7.** Let *C* be a general curve of genus *g*. Extend the results of section 9 to  $G(\alpha; 2, K, k)$  for arbitrary  $\alpha > 0$  and hence to U(2, K, k).

**Problem 12.8.** Related to Problem 12.7, we can state an extended version of the conjecture of Bertram/Feinberg/Mukai.

**Conjecture.** Let C be a general curve of genus g. Then

- $\beta(2, K, k) < 0 \Rightarrow G(\alpha; 2, K, k) = \emptyset$  for all  $\alpha > 0$
- $\beta(2, K, k) \ge 0 \Rightarrow U(2, K, k) \ne \emptyset$  for all  $\alpha > 0$ .

For the current state of information on this problem, see section 9.

Turning now to special curves, we give two problems.

**Problem 12.9.** Solve the basic problems for hyperelliptic curves. For Brill-Noether loci, a strong result is known [22, section 6]. One could try to generalize this to coherent systems.

**Problem 12.10.** There are several possible notions of higher rank Clifford indices. Determine what values these indices can take and what effect they have on the geometry of the moduli spaces of coherent systems. What other invariants can be introduced (generalizing gonality, Clifford dimension, ...)?

We finish with two problems on a topic not touched on in this survey.

**Problem 12.11.** The moduli spaces can be constructed in finite characteristic (see [29]). Solve the basic problems in this case and compare (or contrast) them with those for characteristic 0. Much of the basic theory should be unchanged, but detailed structure of the moduli spaces might well be different.

**Problem 12.12.** Obtain results for coherent systems on curves defined over finite fields. This would allow the possibility of computing zeta-functions and hence obtaining cohomological information in the characteristic 0 case.

### References

- E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, P. A. Griffiths and J. Harris, *Geometry of algebraic curves*, Vol. 1, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 267, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985.
- [2] E. Ballico, Stable coherent systems on bielliptic curves, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 24 (2005), no.4, 449–454.
- [3] E. Ballico, Coherent systems with many sections on projective curves, Internat. J. Math. 17 (2006), no.3, 263–267.
- [4] E. Ballico, Stable coherent systems on integral projective curves: an asymptotic existence theorem, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 27 (2006), no.2, 205–214.
- [5] E. Ballico, Non-locally free stable coherent systems on integral projective curves: an asymptotic existence theorem, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 29 (2006), no.2, 201–204.
- [6] E. Ballico, Stable and semistable coherent systems on smooth projective curves, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math. 32 (2006), no.4, 513–516.
- [7] E. Ballico, Coherent systems on smooth elliptic curves over a finite field, Int. J. Math. Anal. 2 (2006), no.1–3, 31–42.
- [8] E. Ballico and F. Prantil, Coherent systems on singular genus 1 curves, Int. J. Contemp. Math. Sci. 2 (2007), no.29–32, 1527–1543.
- [9] A. Bertram and B. Feinberg, On stable rank 2 bundles with canonical determinant and many sections, Algebraic geometry (Catania, 1993/Barcelona, 1994), 259–269, Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., 200, Dekker, New York, 1998.
- [10] U. N. Bhosle, Brill-Noether theory on nodal curves, Internat. J. Math. 18 (2007), no.10, 1133–1150.
- [11] U. N. Bhosle, Coherent systems on a nodal curve, Moduli spaces and vector bundles, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 359, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [12] U. N. Bhosle, L. Brambila-Paz and P. E. Newstead, On coherent systems of type (n, d, n+1) on Petri curves, *Manuscripta Math.* **126** (2008), 409–441.
- [13] S. B. Bradlow (with an appendix by H. Lange), Coherent systems: a brief survey, Moduli spaces and vector bundles, 229–264, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 359, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [14] S. B. Bradlow, G. Daskalopoulos, O. García-Prada and R. Wentworth, Stable augmented bundles over Riemann surfaces, *Vector bundles in algebraic geometry (Durham, 1993)*, 15– 67, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 208, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [15] S. B. Bradlow and O. García-Prada, A Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence for coherent systems on Riemann surfaces, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 60 (1999), no.1, 155–170.
- [16] S. B. Bradlow and O. García-Prada, An application of coherent systems to a Brill-Noether problem, J. Reine Angew. Math. 551 (2002), 123–143.
- [17] S. B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, V. Muñoz and P. E. Newstead, Coherent systems and Brill-Noether theory, *Internat. J. Math.* 14 (2003), no.7, 683–733.
- [18] S. B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, V. Mercat, V. Muñoz and P. E. Newstead, On the geometry of moduli spaces of coherent systems on algebraic curves, *Internat. J. Math.* 18 (2007), no.4, 411–453.
- [19] S. B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, V. Mercat, V. Muñoz and P. E. Newstead, Moduli spaces of coherent systems of small slope on algebraic curves, *Comm. in Algebra* 37 (2009), no.8, 2649–2678.
- [20] L. Brambila-Paz, Non-emptiness of moduli spaces of coherent systems, Internat. J. Math. 19 (2008), no.7, 777–799.
- [21] L. Brambila-Paz, I. Grzegorczyk and P. E. Newstead, Geography of Brill-Noether loci for small slopes, J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), no.4, 645–669.
- [22] L. Brambila-Paz, V. Mercat, P. E. Newstead and F. Ongay, Non-emptiness of Brill-Noether loci, *Internat. J. Math.* **11** (2000), no.6, 737–760.
- [23] L. Brambila-Paz and A. Ortega, Brill-Noether bundles and coherent systems on special curves, Moduli spaces and vector bundles, 456–472, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 359, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.

- [24] D. C. Butler, Birational maps of moduli of Brill-Noether pairs, preprint, arXiv:alggeom/9705009.
- [25] D. Gieseker, Stable curves and special divisors: Petri's conjecture, Invent. Math. 66 (1982), no.2, 251–275.
- [26] I. Grzegorczyk, V. Mercat and P. E. Newstead, Stable bundles of rank 2 with 4 sections, preprint, arXiv:1006.1258.
- [27] I. Grzegorczyk and M. Teixidor i Bigas, Brill-Noether theory for stable vector bundles, Moduli spaces and vector bundles, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 359, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [28] M. He, Espaces de modules de systèmes cohérents, Internat. J. Math. 9 (1998), no.5, 545–598.
- [29] A. D. King and P. E. Newstead, Moduli of Brill-Noether pairs on algebraic curves, Internat. J. Math. 6 (1995), no.5, 733–748.
- [30] H. Lange and P. E. Newstead, Coherent systems of genus 0, Internat. J. Math. 15 (2004), no.4, 409–424.
- [31] H. Lange and P. E. Newstead, Coherent systems on elliptic curves, Internat. J. Math. 16 (2005), no.7, 787–805.
- [32] H. Lange and P. E. Newstead, Coherent systems of genus 0 II: existence results for  $k \ge 3$ , Internat. J. Math. 18 (2007), no.4, 363–393.
- [33] H. Lange and P. E. Newstead, Coherent systems of genus 0 III: Computation of flips for k = 1, Internat. J. Math. **19** (2008), no.9, 1103–1119.
- [34] H. Lange and P. E. Newstead, Clifford's theorem for coherent systems, Arch. Math. (Basel) 90 (2008), no.3, 209–216.
- [35] R. Lazarsfeld, Brill-Noether-Petri without degenerations, J. Differential Geom. 23 (1986), no.3, 299–307.
- [36] J. Le Potier, Faisceaux semi-stables et systèmes cohérents, Vector bundles in algebraic geometry (Durham, 1993), 179–239, London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Ser., 208, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [37] V. Mercat, Le problème de Brill-Noether pour des fibrés stables de petite pente, J. Reine Angew. Math. 506 (1999), 1–41.
- [38] V. Mercat, Le problème de Brill-Noether et le théorème de Teixidor, Manuscripta Math. 98 (1999), no.1, 75–85.
- [39] V. Mercat, Fibrés stables de pente 2, Bull. London Math. Soc. 33 (2001), no.5, 535–542.
- [40] E. C. Mistretta, Stability of line bundles transforms on curves with respect to low codimensional subspaces, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 78 (2008), no.1, 172–182.
- [41] S. Mukai, Vector bundles and Brill-Noether theory, Current topics in complex algebraic geometry (Berkeley, CA, 1992/93), 145–158, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 28, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [42] S. Park, Non-emptiness of Brill-Noether loci in M(2, K), preprint.
- [43] N. Raghavendra and P. A. Vishwanath, Moduli of pairs and generalized theta divisors, *Tôhoku Math. J.* (2) 46 (1994), no.3, 321–340.
- [44] M. Teixidor i Bigas, Brill-Noether theory for stable vector bundles, Duke Math. J. 62 (1991), no.2, 385–400.
- [45] M. Teixidor in Bigas, Rank two vector bundles with canonical determinant, Math. Nachr. 265 (2004), 100–106.
- [46] M. Teixidor i Bigas, Existence of coherent systems of rank two and dimension four, Collect. Math. 58 (2007), no.2, 193–198.
- [47] M. Teixidor i Bigas, Existence of coherent systems, Internat. J. Math. 19 (2008), no.4, 449– 454.
- [48] M. Teixidor i Bigas, Petri map for rank two bundles with canonical determinant, Compos. Math. 144 (2008), no.3, 705–720.
- [49] M. Teixidor i Bigas, Existence of coherent systems II, Internat. J. Math. 19 (2008), no.10, 1269–1283.
- [50] M. Thaddeus, Stable pairs, linear systems and the Verlinde formula, Invent. Math. 117 (1994), no.2, 317–353.
- [51] C. Voisin, Sur l'application de Wahl des courbes satisfaisant la condition de Brill-Noether-Petri, Acta Math. 168 (1992), no.3–4, 249–272.

138

Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Liverpool, Peach Street, Liverpool, L69 7ZL, UK

 $E\text{-}mail \ address: \texttt{newstead@liv.ac.uk}$ 

# Regularity on Abelian Varieties III: Relationship with Generic Vanishing and Applications

Giuseppe Pareschi and Mihnea Popa

## Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. GV-sheaves and M-regular sheaves on abelian varieties
- 3. Tensor products of GV and M-regular sheaves
- 4. Nefness of *GV*-sheaves
- 5. Generation properties of *M*-regular sheaves on abelian varieties
- 6. Pluricanonical maps of irregular varieties of maximal Albanese dimension
- 7. Further applications of *M*-regularity References

## 1. Introduction

In previous work we have introduced the notion of M-regularity for coherent sheaves on abelian varieties ([**PP1**], [**PP2**]). This is useful because M-regular sheaves enjoy strong generation properties, in such a way that M-regularity on abelian varieties presents close analogies with the classical notion of Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity on projective spaces. Later we studied objects in the derived category of a smooth projective variety subject to Generic Vanishing conditions (GV-objects for short, [**PP4**]). The main ingredients are Fourier-Mukai transforms and the systematic use of homological and commutative algebra techniques. It turns out that, from the general perspective, M-regularity is a natural strenghtening of a Generic Vanishing condition. In this paper we describe in detail the relationship between the two notions in the case of abelian varieties, and deduce new basic properties of both M-regular and GV-sheaves. We also collect a few extra applications of the generation properties of M-regular sheaves, mostly announced

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14F17; Secondary 14F05, 14K05.

MP was partially supported by the NSF grant DMS 0500985, by an AMS Centennial Fellowship, and by a Sloan Fellowship.

but not contained in **[PP1]** and **[PP2]**. This second part of the paper is based on our earlier preprint **[PP6]**.

We start in §2 by recalling some basic definitions and results from [**PP4**] on GV-conditions, restricted to the context of the present paper (coherent sheaves on abelian varieties). The rest of the section is devoted to the relationship between GV-sheaves and M-regular sheaves. More precisely, we prove a criterion, Proposition 2.8, characterizing the latter among the former: M-regular sheaves are those GV-sheaves  $\mathcal{F}$  for which the Fourier-Mukai transform of the Grothendieck-dual object  $\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F}$  is a torsion-free sheaf. (This will be extended to higher regularity conditions, or strong Generic Vanishing conditions, in our upcoming work [**PP5**].)

We apply this relationship in §3 to the basic problem of the behavior of cohomological support loci under tensor products. We first prove that tensor products of GV-sheaves are again GV when one of the factors is locally free, and then use this and the torsion-freeness characterization to deduce a similar result for M-regular sheaves. The question of the behavior of M-regularity under tensor products had been posed to us by A. Beauville as well. It is worth mentioning that Theorem 3.2 does not seem to follow by any more standard methods.

In the other direction, in §4 we prove a result on GV-sheaves based on results on M-regularity. Specifically, we show that GV-sheaves on abelian varieties are nef. We deduce this from a theorem of Debarre [**De2**], stating that M-regular sheaves are ample, and the results in §2. This is especially interesting for the well-known problem of semipositivity: higher direct images of dualizing sheaves via maps to abelian varieties are known to be GV (cf. [**Hac**], [**PP3**]).

In §5 we survey generation properties of *M*-regular sheaves. This section is mostly expository, but the presentation of some known results, as Theorem 5.1(*a*)  $\Rightarrow$ (*b*) (which was proved in [**PP1**]), is new and more natural with respect to the Generic Vanishing perspective, providing also the new implication (*b*)  $\Rightarrow$  (*a*). In combination with well-known results of Green-Lazarsfeld and Ein-Lazarsfeld, we deduce some basic generation properties of the canonical bundle on a variety of maximal Albanese dimension, used in the following section.

The second part of the paper contains miscellaneous applications of the generation properties enjoyed by *M*-regular sheaves on abelian varieties, extracted or reworked from our older preprint [**PP6**]. In §6 we give effective results for pluricanonical maps on irregular varieties of general type and maximal Albanese dimension via *M*-regularity for direct images of canonical bundles, extending work in [**PP1**] §5. In particular we show, with a rather quick argument, that on a smooth projective variety *Y* of general type, maximal Albanese dimension, and whose Albanese image is not ruled by subtori, the pluricanonical series  $|3K_Y|$  is very ample outside the exceptional locus of the Albanese map (Theorem 6.1). This is a slight strengthening, but also under a slightly stronger hypothesis, of a result of Chen and Hacon ([**CH**], Theorem 4.4), both statements being generalizations of the fact that the tricanonical bundle is very ample for curves of genus at least 2.

In §7.1 we look at bounding the Seshadri constant measuring the local positivity of an ample line bundle. There is already extensive literature on this in the case of abelian varieties (cf. [La1], [Nak], [Ba1], [Ba2], [De1] and also [La2] for further references). Here we explain how the Seshadri constant of a polarization L on an abelian variety is bounded below by an asymptotic version – and in particular by the usual – M-regularity index of the line bundle L, defined in [**PP2**] (cf. Theorem 7.4). Combining this with various bounds for Seshadri constants proved in [La1], we obtain bounds for *M*-regularity indices which are not apparent otherwise.

In §7.2 we shift our attention towards a cohomological study of Picard bundles, vector bundles on Jacobians of curves closely related to Brill-Noether theory (cf. **[La2]** 6.3.C and 7.2.C for a general introduction). We combine Fourier-Mukai techniques with the use of the Eagon-Northcott resolution for special determinantal varieties in order to compute their regularity, as well as that of their relatively small tensor powers (cf. Theorem 7.15). This vanishing theorem has practical applications. In particular we recover in a more direct fashion the main results of **[PP1]** §4 on the equations of the  $W_d$ 's in Jacobians, and on vanishing for pull-backs of pluritheta line bundles to symmetric products.

By work of Mukai and others ([Muk3], [Muk4], [Muk1], [Um] and [Or]) it has emerged that on abelian varieties the class of vector bundles most closely resembling semistable vector bundles on curves and line bundles on abelian varieties is that of *semihomogeneous* vector bundles. In §7.3 we show that there exist numerical criteria for their geometric properties like global or normal generation, based on their Theta regularity. More generally, we give a result on the surjectivity of the multiplication map on global sections for two such vector bundles (cf. Theorem 7.30). Basic examples are the projective normality of ample line bundles on any abelian variety, and the normal generation of the Verlinde bundles on the Jacobian of a curve, coming from moduli spaces of vector bundles on that curve.

Acknowledgements. We would like to thank Rob Lazarsfeld for having introduced us to some of these topics and for interesting suggestions. We also thank Christopher Hacon for discussions, and Olivier Debarre for pointing out a mistake in §7.2. We are grateful to the referee for a careful reading and very useful suggestions. Finally, the second author thanks the organizers of the Clay Workshop, Emma Previato and Montserrat Teixidor i Bigas, for providing a few very nice days of mathematical interaction.

### 2. GV-sheaves and M-regular sheaves on abelian varieties

GV-sheaves. We recall definitions and results from [**PP4**] on *Generic Vanishing* conditions (GV for short). In relationship to the treatment of [**PP4**] we confine ourselves to a more limited setting, with respect to the following three aspects: (a) we consider only coherent sheaves (rather than complexes) subject to generic vanishing conditions; (b) we consider only the simplest such condition, i.e.  $GV_0$ , henceforth denoted GV; (c) we work only on abelian varieties, with the classical Fourier-Mukai functor associated to the Poincaré line bundle on  $X \times \text{Pic}^0(X)$  (rather than arbitrary integral transforms).

Let X be an abelian variety of dimension g over an algebraically closed field,  $\widehat{X} = \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ , P a normalized Poincaré bundle on  $X \times \widehat{X}$ , and  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{S} : \mathbf{D}(X) \to \mathbf{D}(\widehat{X})$ the standard Fourier-Mukai functor given by  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{S}(\mathcal{F}) = \mathbf{R}p_{\widehat{A}*}(p_{A}^{*}\mathcal{F}\otimes P)$ . We denote by  $\mathbf{R}\mathcal{S}: \mathbf{D}(\widehat{X}) \to \mathbf{D}(X)$  the functor in the other direction defined analogously. For a coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on X, we will consider for each  $i \geq 0$  its *i*-th cohomological support locus

$$V^{i}(\mathcal{F}) := \{ \alpha \in \widehat{X} \mid h^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \alpha) > 0 \}.$$

By base-change, the support of  $R^i \widehat{\mathcal{S}F}$  is contained in  $V^i(\mathcal{F})$ .

PROPOSITION/DEFINITION 2.1 (*GV*-sheaf, [**PP4**]). Given a coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on X, the following conditions are equivalent:

(a) codim  $\operatorname{Supp}(R^i\widehat{\mathcal{SF}}) \ge i$  for all i > 0.

(b) codim  $V^i(\mathcal{F}) \ge i$  for all i > 0.

If one of the above conditions is satisfied,  $\mathcal{F}$  is called a *GV-sheaf*. (The proof of the equivalence is a standard base-change argument – cf. **[PP4]** Lemma 3.6.)

NOTATION/TERMINOLOGY 2.2. (a)  $(IT_0$ -sheaf). The simplest examples of GVsheaves are those such that  $V^i(\mathcal{F}) = \emptyset$  for every i > 0. In this case  $\mathcal{F}$  is said to satisfy the Index Theorem with index 0 ( $IT_0$  for short). If  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $IT_0$  then  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{F} = R^0\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{F}$ , which is a locally free sheaf.

(b) (Weak Index Theorem). Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be an object in  $\mathbf{D}(X)$  and  $k \in \mathbf{Z}$ .  $\mathcal{G}$  is said to satisfy the Weak Index Theorem with index k (WIT<sub>k</sub> for short), if  $R^i \widehat{\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{G} = 0$  for  $i \neq k$ . In this case we denote  $\widehat{\mathcal{G}} = R^k \widehat{\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{G}$ . Hence  $\mathbf{R} \widehat{\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{G} = \widehat{\mathcal{G}}[-k]$ .

(c) The same terminology and notation holds for sheaves on  $\hat{X}$ , or more generally objects in  $\mathbf{D}(\hat{X})$ , by considering the functor  $\mathbf{RS}$ .

We now state a basic result from [**PP4**] only in the special case of abelian varieties considered in this paper. In this case, with the exception of the implications from (1) to the other parts, it was in fact proved earlier by Hacon [**Hac**]. We denote  $\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F} := \mathbf{R}\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}_X).$ 

THEOREM 2.3. Let X be an abelian variety of dimension g and  $\mathcal{F}$  a coherent sheaf on X. Then the following are equivalent:

(1)  $\mathcal{F}$  is a GV-sheaf.

(2) For any sufficiently positive ample line bundle A on  $\widehat{X}$ ,

$$H^i(\mathcal{F}\otimes A^{-1})=0, \text{ for all } i>0.$$

(3)  $\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}$  satisfies  $WIT_q$ .

PROOF. This is Corollary 3.10 of [**PP4**], with the slight difference that conditions (1), (2) and (3) are all stated with respect to the Poincaré line bundle P, while condition (3) of Corollary 3.10 of *loc. cit.* holds with respect to  $P^{\vee}$ . This can be done since, on abelian varieties, the Poincaré bundle satisfies the symmetry relation  $P^{\vee} \cong ((-1_X) \times 1_{\widehat{X}})^* P$ . Therefore Grothendieck duality (cf. Lemma 2.5 below) gives that the Fourier-Mukai functor defined by  $P^{\vee}$  on  $X \times \widehat{X}$  is the same as  $(-1_X)^* \circ \mathbf{R}\widehat{S}$ . We can also assume without loss of generality that the ample line bundle A on  $\widehat{X}$  considered below is symmetric.

REMARK 2.4. The above Theorem holds in much greater generality ([**PP4**], Corollary 3.10). Moreover, in [**PP5**] we will show that the equivalence between (1) and (3) holds in a local setting as well. Condition (2) is a Kodaira-Kawamata-Viehweg-type vanishing criterion. This is because, up to an étale cover of X, the vector bundle  $\widehat{A^{-1}}$  is a direct sum of copies of an ample line bundle (cf. [**Hac**], and also [**PP4**] and the proof of Theorem 4.1 in the sequel).

LEMMA 2.5 ([Muk1] 3.8). The Fourier-Mukai and duality functors satisfy the exchange formula:

$$\mathbf{R}\Delta\circ\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\cong(-1_{\widehat{X}})^*\circ\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\circ\mathbf{R}\Delta[g].$$

A useful immediate consequence of the equivalence of (a) and (c) of Theorem 2.3, together with Lemma 2.5, is the following (cf. **[PP4]**, Remark 3.11.):

COROLLARY 2.6. If  $\mathcal{F}$  is a GV-sheaf on X then

$$R^i\widehat{\mathcal{SF}} \cong \mathcal{E}xt^i(\widehat{\mathbf{R}}\Delta\widetilde{\mathcal{F}},\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}).$$

*M*-regular sheaves and their characterization. We now recall the *M*-regularity condition, which is simply a stronger (by one) generic vanishing condition, and relate it to the notion of GV-sheaf. The reason for the different terminology is that the notion of *M*-regularity was discovered – in connection with many geometric applications – before fully appreciating its relationship with generic vanishing theorems (see **[PP1]**, **[PP2]**, **[PP3]**).

PROPOSITION/DEFINITION 2.7. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent sheaf on an abelian variety X. The following conditions are equivalent:

(a) codim Supp $(R^i \widehat{SF}) > i$  for all i > 0.

(b) codim  $V^i(\mathcal{F})i$  for all i > 0.

If one of the above conditions is satisfied,  $\mathcal{F}$  is called an *M*-regular sheaf.

The proof is identical to that of Proposition/Definition 2.1. By definition, every M-regular sheaf is a GV-sheaf. Non-regular GV-sheaves are those whose support loci have dimension as big as possible. As shown by the next result, as a consequence of the Auslander-Buchsbaum theorem, this is equivalent to the presence of torsion in the Fourier transform of the Grothendieck dual object.

PROPOSITION 2.8. Let X be an abelian variety of dimension g, and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a GV-sheaf on X. The following conditions are equivalent:

(1)  $\mathcal{F}$  is M-regular.

(2)  $\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}} = \mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F})[g]$  is a torsion-free sheaf.<sup>1</sup>

PROOF. By Corollary 2.6,  $\mathcal{F}$  is *M*-regular if and only if for each i > 0

 $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{E}xt^{i}(\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F}},\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}})) > i.$ 

The theorem is then a consequence of the following commutative algebra fact, which is surely known to the experts.  $\hfill \Box$ 

LEMMA 2.9. Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a coherent sheaf on a smooth variety X. Then  $\mathcal{G}$  is torsion-free if and only if codim  $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{E}xt^i(\mathcal{G},\mathcal{O}_X)) > i$  for all i > 0.

PROOF. If  $\mathcal{G}$  is torsion-free then it is a subsheaf of a locally free sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$ . From the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{G} \rightarrow \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}/\mathcal{G} \longrightarrow 0$$

it follows that, for i > 0,  $\mathcal{E}xt^i(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}}) \cong \mathcal{E}xt^{i+1}(\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}})$ . But then a well-known consequence of the Auslander-Buchsbaum Theorem applied to  $\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{G}$  implies that

codim 
$$\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{E}xt^{i}(\mathcal{G},\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}})) > i$$
, for all  $i > 0$ 

Conversely, since X is smooth, the functor  $\mathbf{R}\mathcal{H}om(\cdot, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is an involution on  $\mathbf{D}(X)$ . Thus there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{ij} := \mathcal{E}xt^i \Big( (\mathcal{E}xt^j(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_X), \mathcal{O}_X) \Big) \Rightarrow H^{i-j} = \mathcal{H}^{i-j}\mathcal{G} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{G} & \text{if } i = j \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that it is a sheaf by Theorem 2.3.

If codim Supp $(\mathcal{E}xt^i(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_X)) > i$  for all i > 0, then  $\mathcal{E}xt^i(\mathcal{E}xt^j(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_X), \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ for all i, j such that j > 0 and  $i - j \leq 0$ , so the only  $E_{\infty}^{ii}$  term which might be non-zero is  $E_{\infty}^{00}$ . But the differentials coming into  $E_p^{00}$  are always zero, so we get a sequence of inclusions

$$\mathcal{F} = H^0 = E_\infty^{00} \subset \dots \subset E_3^{00} \subset E_2^{00}.$$

The extremes give precisely the injectivity of the natural map  $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}^{**}$ . Hence  $\mathcal{G}$  is torsion-free.

REMARK 2.10. It is worth noting that in the previous proof, the fact that we are working on an abelian variety is of no importance. In fact, an extension of Proposition 2.8 holds in the generality of [**PP4**], and even in a local setting, as it will be shown in [**PP5**].

### 3. Tensor products of GV and M-regular sheaves

We now address the issue of preservation of bounds on the codimension of support loci under tensor products. Our main result in this direction is (2) of Theorem 3.2 below, namely that the tensor product of two *M*-regular sheaves on an abelian variety is *M*-regular, provided that one of them is locally free. Note that the same result holds for Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity on projective spaces ([La2], Proposition 1.8.9). We do not know whether the same holds if one removes the local freeness condition on  $\mathcal{E}$  (in the case of Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity it does not).

Unlike the previous section, the proof of the result is quite specific to abelian varieties. One of the essential ingredients is Mukai's main inversion result (cf. [Muk1], Theorem 2.2), which states that the functor  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{S}$  is an equivalence of derived categories and, more precisely,

(1) 
$$\mathbf{R}\mathcal{S} \circ \mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}} \cong (-1_A)^*[-g] \text{ and } \mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}} \circ \mathbf{R}\mathcal{S} \cong (-1_{\widehat{A}})^*[-g].$$

Besides this, the argument uses the characterization of M-regularity among GV-sheaves given by Proposition 2.8.

PROPOSITION 3.1. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a GV-sheaf and H a locally free sheaf satisfying  $IT_0$  on an abelian variety X. Then  $\mathcal{F} \otimes H$  satisfies  $IT_0$ .

PROOF. Consider any  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ . Note that  $H \otimes \alpha$  also satisfies  $IT_0$ , so  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(H \otimes \alpha) = R^0\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(H \otimes \alpha)$  is a vector bundle  $N_\alpha$  on  $\widehat{X}$ . By Mukai's inversion theorem (1)  $N_\alpha$  satisfies  $WIT_g$  with respect to  $\mathbf{R}\mathcal{S}$  and  $H \otimes \alpha \cong \mathbf{R}\mathcal{S}((-1_X)^*N_\alpha)[g]$ . Consequently for all i we have

(2) 
$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes H \otimes \alpha) \cong H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathbf{RS}((-1_{\widehat{X}})^{*}N_{\alpha})[g]).$$

But a basic exchange formula for integral transforms ([**PP4**], Lemma 2.1) states, in the present context, that

(3) 
$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathbf{RS}((-1_{\widehat{X}})^{*}N_{\alpha})[g]) \cong H^{i}(Y, \mathbf{RSF} \underline{\otimes}(-1_{\widehat{X}})^{*}N_{\alpha}[g]).$$

Putting (2) and (3) together, we get that (4)

$$\overset{()}{H^{i}}(X,\mathcal{F}\otimes H\otimes\alpha)\cong H^{i}(Y,\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{F}\underline{\otimes}(-1_{\widehat{X}})^{*}N_{\alpha}[g])=H^{g+i}(Y,\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{F}\underline{\otimes}(-1_{\widehat{X}})^{*}N_{\alpha}).$$

The hypercohomology groups on the right hand side are computed by the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{jk} := H^j(Y, R^k \mathcal{SF} \otimes (-1_{\widehat{X}})^* N_\alpha[g]) \Rightarrow H^{j+k}(Y, \mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{SF}} \underline{\otimes} (-1_{\widehat{X}})^* N_\alpha[g]).$$

Since  $\mathcal{F}$  is GV, we have the vanishing of  $H^j(Y, R^k \mathcal{SF} \otimes (-1_{\widehat{X}})^* N_\alpha[g])$  for j+k > g, and from this it follows that the hypercohomology groups in (4) are zero for i > 0.

THEOREM 3.2. Let X be an abelian variety, and  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{E}$  two coherent sheaves on X, with  $\mathcal{E}$  locally free.

(1) If  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{E}$  are GV-sheaves, then  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$  is a GV-sheaf.

(2) If  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{E}$  are *M*-regular, then  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$  is *M*-regular.

PROOF. (1) Let A be a sufficiently ample line bundle on  $\widehat{X}$ . By Proposition 3.1  $\mathcal{E} \otimes \widehat{A^{-1}}$  satisfies  $IT_0$ , and then  $(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}) \otimes \widehat{A^{-1}}$  satisfies  $IT_0$  as well. Applying Theorem 2.3(2), we deduce that  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$  is GV.

(2) Both  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{E}$  are GV, so (1) implies that  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{E}$  is also a GV. We use Proposition 2.8. This implies to begin with that  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F})$  and  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee})$  are torsion-free sheaves (we harmlessly forget about what degree they live in). Going backwards, it also implies that we are done if we show that  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta(\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{E}))$  is torsion-free. But note that

$$\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta(\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{E}))\cong\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{E}^{\vee})\cong\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F})\underline{*}\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{E}^{\vee})$$

where  $\underline{*}$  denotes the (derived) Pontrjagin product of sheaves on abelian varieties, and the last isomorphism is the exchange of Pontrjagin and tensor products under the Fourier-Mukai functor (cf. [**Muk1**] (3.7)). Note that this derived Pontrjagin product is in fact an honest Pontrjagin product, as we know that all the objects above are sheaves. Recall that by definition the Pontrjagin product of two sheaves  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  is simply  $\mathcal{G} * \mathcal{H} := m_*(p_1^*\mathcal{G} \otimes p_2^*\mathcal{H})$ , where  $m : \widehat{X} \times \widehat{X} \to \widehat{X}$  is the group law on  $\widehat{X}$ . Since m is a surjective morphism, if  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  are torsion-free, then so is  $p_1^*\mathcal{G} \otimes p_2^*\mathcal{H}$  and its push-forward  $\mathcal{G} * \mathcal{H}$ .

REMARK 3.3. As mentioned in §2, Generic Vanishing conditions can be naturally defined for objects in the derived category, rather than sheaves (see [**PP4**]). In this more general setting, (1) of Theorem 3.2 holds for  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{G}$ , where  $\mathcal{F}$  is any GV-object and  $\mathcal{E}$  any GV-sheaf, while (2) holds for  $\mathcal{F}$  any M-regular object and  $\mathcal{E}$ any M-regular locally free sheaf. The proof is the same.

### 4. Nefness of *GV*-sheaves

Debarre has shown in [De2] that every *M*-regular sheaf on an abelian variety is ample. We deduce from this and Theorem 2.3 that *GV*-sheaves satisfy the analogous weak positivity.

THEOREM 4.1. Every GV-sheaf on an abelian variety is nef.

PROOF. Step 1. We first reduce to the case when the abelian variety X is principally polarized. For this, consider A any ample line bundle on  $\hat{X}$ . By Theorem 2.3 we know that the GV-condition is equivalent to the vanishing

$$H^i(\mathcal{F} \otimes A^{-m}) = 0$$
, for all  $i > 0$ , and all  $m \gg 0$ .

But A is the pullback  $\hat{\psi}^*L$  of a principal polarization L via an isogeny  $\hat{\psi}: \widehat{X} \to \widehat{Y}$  (cf. **[LB]** Proposition 4.1.2). We then have

$$0 = H^{i}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \widehat{A^{-m}}) \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{F} \otimes (\widehat{\psi^{*}(L^{-m})})) \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{F} \otimes \psi_{*}\widehat{L^{-m}}) \cong H^{i}(\psi^{*}\mathcal{F} \otimes \widehat{L^{-m}}).$$

Here  $\psi$  denotes the dual isogeny. (The only thing that needs an explanation is the next to last isomorphism, which is the commutation of the Fourier-Mukai functor with isogenies, [**Muk1**] 3.4.) But this implies that  $\psi^* \mathcal{F}$  is also GV, and since nefness is preserved by isogenies this completes the reduction step.

Step 2. Assume now that X is principally polarized by  $\Theta$  (and we use the same notation for a principal polarization on  $\widehat{X}$ , via the standard identification). For any  $m \geq 1$  we have that  $\mathcal{O}(-m\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_g$  on  $\widehat{X}$ , with  $g = \dim X$ . Hence  $\widehat{\mathcal{O}(-m\Theta)}$  is locally free and satisfies  $IT_0$  on X, so the same is in fact true for  $\widehat{\mathcal{O}(-m\Theta)} \otimes \alpha$  for any  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ . By Proposition 3.1 we get

 $H^i(\mathcal{F}\otimes \mathcal{O}(-m\Theta)\otimes \alpha)=0$ , for all i>0, all  $\alpha\in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$  and all  $m\gg 0$ .

If we denote by  $\phi_m: X \to X$  multiplication by m, i.e. the isogeny induced by  $m\Theta$ , then this implies that

$$H^{i}(\phi_{m}^{*}\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{O}(m\Theta)\otimes\beta)=0$$
, for all  $i>0$  and all  $\beta\in\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ 

as  $\phi_m^* \mathcal{O}(-m\Theta) \cong \bigoplus \mathcal{O}(m\Theta)$  by [**Muk1**] Proposition 3.11(1). This means that the sheaf  $\phi_m^* \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}(m\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$  on X, so in particular it is M-regular. By Debarre's result [**De2**] Corollary 3.2, it is then ample.

But  $\phi_m$  is a finite cover, and  $\phi_m^* \Theta \equiv m^2 \Theta$ . The statement above is then same as saying that, in the terminology of **[La2]** §6.2, the Q-twisted<sup>2</sup> sheaf  $\mathcal{F} < \frac{1}{m} \cdot \Theta >$ on X is ample, since  $\phi_m^* (\mathcal{F} < \frac{1}{m} \cdot \Theta >)$  is an honest ample sheaf. As m goes to  $\infty$ , we see that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a limit of ample Q-twisted sheaves, and so it is nef by **[La2]** Proposition 6.2.11.

Combining the result above with the fact that higher direct images of canonical bundles are GV (cf. **[PP3]** Theorem 5.9), we obtain the following result, one well-known instance of which is that the canonical bundle of any smooth subvariety of an abelian variety is nef.

COROLLARY 4.2. Let X be a smooth projective variety and  $a: Y \to X$  a (not necessarily surjective) morphism to an abelian variety. Then  $R^j a_* \omega_Y$  is a nef sheaf on X for all j.

One example of an immediate application of Corollary is to integrate a result of Peternell-Sommese in the general picture. For a finite surjective morphism  $f: Y \to X$ , we denote by  $E_f$  the dual of the kernel of the (split) trace map  $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y \to \mathcal{O}_X$ , so that

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_X \oplus E_f^{\vee}.$$

(Cf. the Introduction to [**De2**] for a discussion of the significance of this vector bundle in the topological study of coverings.)

COROLLARY 4.3 ([**PS**], Theorem 1.17). Let  $a : Y \to X$  be a finite surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with X an abelian variety. Then the vector bundle  $E_a$  is nef.

 $<sup>^2\</sup>mathrm{Note}$  that the twist is indeed only up to numerical equivalence.

PROOF. By duality we have  $a_*\omega_Y \cong \mathcal{O}_X \oplus E_a$ . Thus  $E_a$  is a quotient of  $a_*\omega_Y$ , so by Corollary 4.2 it is nef.

### 5. Generation properties of *M*-regular sheaves on abelian varieties

The interest in the notion of M-regularity comes from the fact that M-regular sheaves on abelian varieties have strong generation properties. In this respect, M-regularity on abelian varieties parallels the notion of Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity on projective spaces (cf. the survey [**PP3**]). In this section we survey the basic results about generation properties of M-regular sheaves. The presentation is somewhat new, since the proof of the basic result (the implication  $(a) \Rightarrow (b)$ of Theorem 5.1 below) makes use of the relationship between M-regularity and GV-sheaves (Proposition 2.8). The argument in this setting turns out to be more natural, and provides as a byproduct the reverse implication  $(b) \Rightarrow (a)$ , which is new.

Another characterization of *M*-regularity. *M*-regular sheaves on abelian varieties are characterized as follows:

THEOREM 5.1. ([**PP1**], Theorem 2.5) Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a GV-sheaf on an abelian variety X of dimension g. Then the following conditions are equivalent: (a)  $\mathcal{F}$  is M-regular.

(b) For every locally free sheaf H on X satisfying  $IT_0$ , and for every non-empty Zariski open set  $U \subset \widehat{X}$ , the sum of multiplication maps of global sections

$$\mathcal{M}_U: \bigoplus_{\alpha \in U} H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \alpha^{-1}) \otimes H^0(X, H \otimes \alpha) \xrightarrow{\oplus m_\alpha} H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes H)$$

is surjective.

PROOF. Since  $\mathcal{F}$  is a GV-sheaf, by Theorem 2.3 the transform of  $\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}$  is a sheaf in degree g, i.e.  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}) = \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}[-g]$ . If H is a coherent sheaf satisfying  $IT_0$  then  $\mathbf{R}\widehat{\mathcal{S}}H = \widehat{H}$ , a locally free sheaf in degree 0. It turns out that the following natural map is an isomorphism

(5) 
$$\operatorname{Ext}^{g}(H, \mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}).$$

This simply follows from Mukai's Theorem (1), which yields that

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{g}(H, \mathbf{R}\Delta F) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{D}(X)}(H, \mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}[g]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{D}(\widehat{X})}(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}) = \operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}).$$

*Proof of*  $(a) \Rightarrow (b)$ . Since  $\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}$  is torsion-free by Proposition 2.8, the evaluation map at the fibres

(6) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}) \to \prod_{\alpha \in U} \mathcal{H}om(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}, \alpha}} k(\alpha)$$

is injective for all open sets  $U \subset \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ . Therefore, composing with the isomorphism (5), we get an injection

(7) 
$$\operatorname{Ext}^{g}(H, \mathbf{R}\Delta F) \to \prod_{\alpha \in U} \mathcal{H}om(\widehat{H}, \widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta F}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X}, \alpha}} k(\alpha).$$

By base-change for the top direct image of the complex  $\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}$  and Serre duality, this is the dual map of the map in (b), which is therefore surjective.

Proof of  $(b) \Rightarrow (a)$ . Let A be an ample symmetric line bundle on  $\widehat{X}$ . From Mukai's Theorem (1), it follows that  $A^{-1} = \widehat{H}_A$ , where  $H_A$  is a locally free sheaf on X

satisfying  $IT_0$  and such that  $\widehat{H_A} = A^{-1}$ . We have that (b) is equivalent to the injectivity of (7). We now take  $H = H_A$  in both (5) and (7). The facts that (5) is an isomorphism and that (7) is injective yield the injectivity, for all open sets  $U \subset \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ , of the evaluation map at fibers

$$H^0(\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F}}\otimes A) \xrightarrow{ev_U} \prod_{\alpha \in U} (\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta\mathcal{F}}\otimes A) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{X},\alpha}} k(\alpha).$$

Letting A be sufficiently positive so that  $\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}} \otimes A$  is globally generated, this is equivalent to the torsion-freeness of  $\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}}^3$  and hence, by Proposition 2.8, to the *M*-regularity of  $\mathcal{F}$ .

**Continuous global generation and global generation.** Recall first the following:

DEFINITION 5.2 ([**PP1**], Definition 2.10). Let Y be a variety equipped with a morphism  $a: Y \to X$  to an abelian variety X.

(a) A sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on Y is continuously globally generated with respect to a if the sum of evaluation maps

$$\mathcal{E}v_U: \bigoplus_{\alpha \in U} H^0(\mathcal{F} \otimes a^* \alpha) \otimes a^* \alpha^{-1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$$

is surjective for every non-empty open subset  $U \subset \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ .

(b) More generally, let T be a proper subvariety of Y. The sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  is said to be continuously globally generated with respect to a away from T if Supp(Coker  $\mathcal{E}v_U$ )  $\subset$  T for every non-empty open subset  $U \subset \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ .

(c) When a is the Albanese morphism, we will suppress a from the terminology, speaking of continuously globally generated (resp. continuously globally generated away from T) sheaves.

In Theorem 5.1, taking H to be a sufficiently positive line bundle on X easily yields (cf [**PP1**], Proposition 2.13):

COROLLARY 5.3. An M-regular sheaf on X is continuously globally generated. The relationship between continuous global generation and global generation comes from:

PROPOSITION 5.4 ([**PP1**], Proposition 2.12). (a) In the setting of Definition 5, let  $\mathcal{F}$  (resp. A) be a coherent sheaf on Y (resp. a line bundle, possibly supported on a subvariety Z of Y), both continuously globally generated. Then  $\mathcal{F} \otimes A \otimes a^* \alpha$  is globally generated for all  $\alpha \in \text{Pic}^0(X)$ .

(b) More generally, let  $\mathcal{F}$  and A as above. Assume that  $\mathcal{F}$  is continuously globally generated away from T and that A is continuously globally generated away from W. Then  $F \otimes A \otimes a^* \alpha$  is globally generated away from  $T \cup W$  for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ .

The proposition is proved via the classical method of *reducible sections*, i.e. those sections of the form  $s_{\alpha} \cdot t_{-\alpha}$ , where  $s_{\alpha}$  (resp.  $t_{-\alpha}$ ) belongs to  $H^0(F \otimes a^*\alpha)$  (resp.  $H^0(A \otimes a^*\alpha^{-1})$ ).

Generation properties on varieties of maximal Albanese dimension via Generic Vanishing. The above results give effective generation criteria once

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that the kernel of  $ev_U$  generates a torsion subsheaf of  $\widehat{\mathbf{R}\Delta \mathcal{F}} \otimes A$  whose support is contained in the complement of U.

one has effective Generic Vanishing criteria ensuring that the dimension of each cohomological support locus is not too big. The main example of such a criterion is the Green-Lazarsfeld Generic Vanishing Theorem for the canonical line bundle of an irregular variety, proved in [**GL1**] and further refined in [**GL2**] using the deformation theory of cohomology groups.<sup>4</sup> For the purposes of this paper, it is enough to state the Generic Vanishing Theorem in the case of varieties Y of maximal Albanese dimension, i.e. such that the Albanese map  $a: Y \to \text{Alb}(Y)$  is generically finite onto its image. More generally, we consider a morphism  $a: Y \to X$  to an abelian variety X. Then, as in §1 one can consider the cohomological support loci  $V_a^i(\omega_Y) = \{\alpha \in \text{Pic}^0(X) \mid h^i(\omega_Y \otimes a^*\alpha) > 0\}$ . (In case a is the Albanese map we will suppress a from the notation.)

The result of Green-Lazarsfeld (see also  $[\mathbf{EL}]$  Remark 1.6) states that, if the morphism a is generically finite, then

$$\operatorname{codim} V_a^i(\omega_Y) \ge i \text{ for all } i > 0.$$

Moreover, in [**GL2**] it is proved that the  $V_a^i(\omega_Y)$  are unions of translates of subtori. Finally, an argument of Ein-Lazarsfeld [**EL**] yields that, if there exists an i > 0such that codim  $V_a^i(\omega_Y) = i$ , then the image of a is ruled by subtori of X. All of this implies the following typical application of the concept of M-regularity.

PROPOSITION 5.5. Assume that dim  $Y = \dim a(Y)$  and that a(Y) is not ruled by tori. Let Z be the exceptional locus of a, i.e. the inverse image via a of the locus of points in a(Y) having non-finite fiber. Then:

(i)  $a_*\omega_Y$  is an M-regular sheaf on X.

(ii)  $a_*\omega_Y$  is continuously globally generated.

(iii)  $\omega_Y$  is continuously globally generated away from Z.

(iv) For all  $k \geq 2$ ,  $\omega_V^{\otimes k} \otimes a^* \alpha$  is globally generated away from Z for any  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ .

PROOF. By Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing,  $R^i a_* \omega_Y = 0$  for all  $i \neq 0$ . By the Projection Formula we get  $V_a^i(\omega_Y) = V^i(a_*\omega_Y)$ . Combined with the Ein-Lazarsfeld result, (i) follows. Part (ii) follows from Corollary 5.3. For (iii) note that, as with global generation (and by a similar argument), continuous global generation is preserved by finite maps: if a is finite and  $a_*\mathcal{F}$  is continuously globally generated, then  $\mathcal{F}$  is continuously globally generated. (iv) for k = 2 follows from (iii) and Proposition 5.4. For arbitrary  $k \geq 2$  it follows in the same way by induction (note that if a sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  is such that  $\mathcal{F} \otimes a^* \alpha$  is globally generated away from Z for every  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ , then it is continuously globally generated away from Z).

# 6. Pluricanonical maps of irregular varieties of maximal Albanese dimension

One of the most elementary results about projective embeddings is that every curve of general type can be embedded in projective space by the tricanonical line bundle. This is sharp for curves of genus two. It turns out that this result can be generalized to arbitrary dimension, namely to varieties of maximal Albanese dimension. In fact, using Vanishing and Generic Vanishing Theorems and the Fourier-Mukai transform, Chen and Hacon proved that for every smooth complex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>More recently, Hacon [**Hac**] has given a different proof, based on the Fourier-Mukai transform and Kodaira Vanishing. Building in part on Hacon's ideas, several extensions of this result are given in [**PP4**].

variety of general type and maximal Albanese dimension Y such that  $\chi(\omega_Y) > 0$ , the tricanonical line bundle  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 3}$  gives a birational map (cf. [**CH**], Theorem 4.4). The main point of this section is that the concept of *M*-regularity (combined of course with vanishing results) provides a quick and conceptually simple proof of on one hand a slightly more explicit version of the Chen-Hacon Theorem, but on the other hand under a slightly more restrictive hypothesis. We show the following:

THEOREM 6.1. Let Y be a smooth projective complex variety of general type and maximal Albanese dimension. If the Albanese image of Y is not ruled by tori, then  $\omega_{\mathbf{V}}^{\otimes 3}$  is very ample away from the exceptional locus of the Albanese map.

Here the exceptional locus of the Albanese map  $a: Y \to Alb(Y)$  is  $Z = a^{-1}(T)$ , where T is the locus of points in Alb(Y) over which the fiber of a has positive dimension.

REMARK 6.2. A word about the hypothesis of the Chen-Hacon Theorem and of Theorem 6.1 is in order. As a consequence of the Green-Lazarsfeld Generic Vanishing Theorem (end of §5), it follows that  $\chi(\omega_Y) \ge 0$  for every variety Yof maximal Albanese dimension. Moreover, Ein-Lazarsfeld [**EL**] prove that for Yof maximal Albanese dimension, if  $\chi(\omega_Y) = 0$ , then a(Y) is ruled by subtori of Alb(Y). In dimension  $\ge 3$  there exist examples of varieties of general type and maximal Albanese dimension with  $\chi(\omega_Y) = 0$  (cf. loc. cit.).

In the course of the proof we will invoke  $\mathcal{J}(Y, ||L||)$ , the asymptotic multiplier ideal sheaf associated to a complete linear series |L| (cf. **[La2]** §11). One knows that, given a line bundle L of non-negative Iitaka dimension,

(8) 
$$H^0(Y, L \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel L \parallel)) = H^0(Y, L),$$

i.e. the zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(\parallel L \parallel)$  is contained in the base locus of |L| ([La2], Proposition 11.2.10). Another basic property we will use is that, for every k,

(9) 
$$\mathcal{J}(\parallel L^{\otimes (k+1)} \parallel) \subseteq \mathcal{J}(\parallel L^{\otimes k} \parallel).$$

(Cf. [La2], Theorem 11.1.8.) A first standard result is

LEMMA 6.3. Let Y be a smooth projective complex variety of general type. Then:

(a)  $h^0(\omega_Y^{\otimes m} \otimes \alpha)$  is constant for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$  and for all m > 1.

(b) The zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y^{\otimes (m-1)} ||)$  is contained in the base locus of  $\omega_Y^{\otimes m} \otimes \alpha$ , for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ .

PROOF. Since bigness is a numerical property, all line bundles  $\omega_Y \otimes \alpha$  are big, for  $\alpha \in \text{Pic}^0(Y)$ . By Nadel Vanishing for asymptotic multiplier ideals ([La2], Theorem 11.2.12)

$$H^{i}(Y, \omega_{Y}^{\otimes m} \otimes \beta \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel (\omega_{Y} \otimes \alpha)^{\otimes (m-1)} \parallel)) = 0$$

for all i > 0 and all  $\alpha, \beta \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ . Therefore, by the invariance of the Euler characteristic,

$$h^{0}(Y, \omega_{Y}^{\otimes m} \otimes \beta \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel (\omega_{Y} \otimes \alpha)^{\otimes (m-1)} \parallel)) = \text{constant} = \lambda_{\alpha}$$

for all  $\beta \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ . Now

$$h^{0}(Y, \omega_{Y}^{\otimes m} \otimes \beta \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel (\omega_{Y} \otimes \alpha)^{\otimes (m-1)} \parallel)) \leq h^{0}(Y, \omega_{Y}^{m} \otimes \beta)$$

for all  $\beta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$  and, because of (8) and (9), equality holds for  $\beta = \alpha^{m}$ . By semicontinuity it follows that  $h^{0}(Y, \omega_{Y}^{\otimes m} \otimes \beta) = \lambda_{\alpha}$  for all  $\beta$  contained in a Zariski open set  $U_{\alpha}$  of  $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$  which contains  $\alpha^{m}$ . Since this is true for all  $\alpha$ , the statement follows. Part (b) follows from the previous argument.  $\Box$ 

LEMMA 6.4. Let Y be a smooth projective complex variety of general type and maximal Albanese dimension, such that its Albanese image is not ruled by tori. Let Z be the exceptional locus of its Albanese map. Then, for every  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(Y)$ : (a) the zero-locus of  $\mathcal{J}(|| \omega_{Y} \otimes \alpha ||)$  is contained (set-theoretically) in Z. (b)  $\omega_{Y}^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_{Y} ||)$  is globally generated away from Z.

PROOF. (a) By (8) and (9) the zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(\| \omega \otimes \alpha \|)$  is contained in the base locus of  $\omega^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha^2$ . By Proposition 5.5, the base locus of  $\omega^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha^2$  is contained Z. (b) Again by Proposition 5.5, the base locus of  $\omega^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha$  is contained in Z. By Lemma 6.3(b), the zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(\| \omega_Y \|)$  is contained in Z.

PROOF. (of Theorem 6.1) As above, let  $a: Y \to Alb(Y)$  be the Albanese map and let Z be the exceptional locus of a. As in the proof of Prop. 5.5, the Ein-Lazarsfeld result at the end of §3 (see also Remark 6.2), the hypothesis implies that  $a_*\omega_Y$  is *M*-regular, so  $\omega_Y$  is continuously globally generated away from Z. We make the following:

**Claim.** For every  $y \in Y - Z$ , the sheaf  $a_*(I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||))$  is *M*-regular. We first see how the Claim implies Theorem 6.1. The statement of the Theorem is equivalent to the fact that, for any  $y \in Y - Z$ , the sheaf  $I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 3}$  is globally generated away from Z. By Corollary 5.3, the Claim yields that  $a_*(I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||))$ is continuously globally generated. Therefore  $I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||)$  is continuously globally generated away from Z. Hence, by Proposition 5.4,  $I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 3} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||)$ is globally generated away from Z. Since the zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||)$  is contained in Z (by Lemma 6.4)(a)), the Theorem follows from the Claim. *Proof of the Claim.* We consider the standard exact sequence

(10)

$$0 \to I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(\| \omega_Y \|) \to \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(\| \omega_Y \|) \to (\omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(\| \omega_Y \|))_{|y} \to 0.$$

(Note that y does not lie in the zero locus of  $\mathcal{J}(||\omega_Y||)$ ). By Nadel Vanishing for asymptotic multiplier ideals,  $H^i(Y, \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(||\omega_Y||)) = 0$  for all i > 0 and  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ . Since, by Lemma 6.4, y is not in the base locus of  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(||\omega_Y||)$ , taking cohomology in (10) it follows that

(11) 
$$H^{i}(Y, I_{y} \otimes \omega_{Y}^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel \omega_{Y} \parallel)) = 0$$

for all i > 0 and  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$  as well. Since y does not belong to the exceptional locus of a, the map  $a_{*}(\omega_{Y}^{2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_{Y} ||)) \rightarrow a_{*}((\omega_{Y}^{2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_{Y} ||))_{|y})$  is surjective. On the other hand, since a is generically finite, by a well-known extension of Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing,  $R^{i}a_{*}(\omega_{Y}^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_{Y} ||))$  vanishes for all i > 0.<sup>5</sup> Therefore (10) implies also that for all i > 0

(12) 
$$R^{i}a_{*}(I_{y} \otimes \omega_{Y}^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\parallel \omega_{Y} \parallel)) = 0.$$

Combining (11) and (12) one gets, by the projection formula, that the sheaf  $a_*(I_y \otimes \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||))$  is  $IT_0$  on X, hence M-regular.

 $<sup>^5 \</sup>rm The proof of this is identical to that of the usual Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing theorem in [La2] §4.3.B, replacing Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing with Nadel vanishing.$ 

REMARK 6.5. It follows from the proof that  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 3} \otimes \alpha$  is very ample away from Z for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$  as well.

REMARK 6.6 (**The Chen-Hacon Theorem**). The reader might wonder why, according to the above quoted theorem of Chen-Hacon, the tricanonical bundle of varieties of general type and maximal Albanese dimension is birational (but not necessarily very ample outside the Albanese exceptional locus) even under the weaker assumption that  $\chi(\omega_Y)$  is positive, which does not ensure the continuous global generation of  $a_*\omega_Y$ . The point is that, according to Generic Vanishing, if the Albanese dimension is maximal, then  $\chi(\omega_Y) > 0$  implies  $h^0(\omega_Y \otimes \alpha) > 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ . Hence, even if  $\omega_Y$  is not necessarily continuously globally generated away from the exceptional locus of the Albanese map, the following condition holds: for general  $y \in Y$ , there is a Zariski open set  $U_y \subset \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$  such that y is not a base point of  $\omega_Y \otimes \alpha$  for all  $\alpha \in U_y$ . Using the same argument as in Proposition 5.4 – based on reducible sections – it follows that such y is not a base point of  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha$  for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ . Then the Chen-Hacon Theorem follows by an argument analogous to that of Theorem 6.1.

To complete the picture, it remains to analyze the case of varieties Y of maximal Albanese dimension and  $\chi(\omega_Y) = 0$ . Chen and Hacon prove that if the Albanese dimension is maximal, then  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 6}$  is always birational (and  $\omega_Y^{\otimes 6} \otimes \alpha$  as well). The same result can be made slightly more precise as follows, extending also results in **[PP1]** §5:

THEOREM 6.7. If Y is a smooth projective complex variety of maximal Albanese dimension then, for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(Y)$ ,  $\omega_{Y}^{\otimes 6} \otimes \alpha$  is very ample away from the exceptional locus of the Albanese map. Moreover, if L a big line bundle on Y, then  $(\omega_{Y} \otimes L)^{\otimes 3} \otimes \alpha$  gives a birational map.

The proof is similar to that of Theorem 6.1, and left to the interested reader. For example, for the first part the point is that, by Nadel Vanishing for asymptotic multiplier ideals,  $H^i(Y, \omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||)) = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$ . Hence, by the same argument using Grauert-Riemenschneider vanishing,  $a_*(\omega_Y^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{J}(|| \omega_Y ||))$ is *M*-regular.

Finally, we remark that in [**CH**], Chen-Hacon also prove effective birationality results for pluricanonical maps of irregular varieties of arbitrary Albanese dimension (as a function of the minimal power for which the corresponding pluricanonical map on the general Albanese fiber is birational). It is likely that the methods above apply to this context as well.

### 7. Further applications of *M*-regularity

7.1. *M*-regularity indices and Seshadri constants. Here we express a natural relationship between Seshadri constants of ample line bundles on abelian varieties and the *M*-regularity indices of those line bundles as defined in [**PP2**]. This result is a theoretical improvement of the lower bound for Seshadri constants proved in [**Nak**]. In the opposite direction, combined with the results of [**La1**], it provides bounds for controlling *M*-regularity. For a general overview of Seshadri constants, in particular the statements used below, one can consult [**La2**] Ch.I §5. Note only that one way to interpret the Seshadri constant of a line bundle *L* at a

point x is

(13) 
$$\epsilon(L,x) = \sup_{n} \frac{s(L^{n},x)}{n},$$

where for a line bundle A we denote by s(A, x) the largest number  $s \ge 0$  such that A separates s-jets at x. On abelian varieties this is independent of the chosen point, and we denote  $\epsilon(L) = \epsilon(L, x)$  for any  $x \in X$ .

We start by recalling the basic definition from **[PP2]** and by also looking at a slight variation. We will denote by X an abelian variety of dimension g over an algebraically closed field and by L an ample line bundle on X. Given  $x \in X$ , we denote by  $m_x \subset \mathcal{O}_X$  its ideal sheaf.

DEFINITION 7.1. The *M*-regularity index of L is defined as

$$m(L) := \max\{l \mid L \otimes m_{x_1}^{k_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes m_{x_n}^{k_p} \text{ is } M - \text{regular for all distinct} \}$$

 $x_1,\ldots,x_p \in X$  with  $\Sigma k_i = l$ .

DEFINITION 7.2. We also define a related invariant, associated to just one given point  $x \in X$ :

$$p(L,x) := \max\{l \mid L \otimes m_x^l \text{ is } M - \text{regular}\}.$$

The definition does not depend on x because of the homogeneity of X, so we will denote this invariant simply by p(L).

Our main interest will be in the asymptotic versions of these indices, which turn out to be related to the Seshadri constant associated to L.

DEFINITION 7.3. The asymptotic *M*-regularity index of L and its punctual counterpart are defined as

$$\rho(L) := \sup_{n} \frac{m(L^n)}{n} \text{ and } \rho'(L) := \sup_{n} \frac{p(L^n)}{n}.$$

The main result of this section is:

THEOREM 7.4. We have the following inequalities:

$$\epsilon(L) = \rho'(L) \ge \rho(L) \ge 1.$$

In particular  $\epsilon(L) \ge \max\{m(L), 1\}.$ 

This improves a result of Nakamaye (cf. [Nak] and the references therein). Nakamaye also shows that  $\epsilon(L) = 1$  for some line bundle L if and only if X is the product of an elliptic curve with another abelian variety. As explained in [PP2]§3, the value of m(L) is reflected in the geometry of the map to projective space given by L. Here is a basic example:

EXAMPLE 7.5. If L is very ample – or more generally gives a birational morphism outside a codimension 2 subset – then  $m(L) \ge 2$ , so by the Theorem above  $\epsilon(L) \ge 2$ . Note that on an arbitrary smooth projective variety very ampleness implies in general only that  $\epsilon(L, x) \ge 1$  at each point.

The proof of Theorem 7.4 is a simple application Corollary 5.3 and Proposition 5.4, via the results of  $[\mathbf{PP2}]$  §3. We use the relationship with the notions of k-jet ampleness and separation of jets. Recall the following:

DEFINITION 7.6. A line bundle L is called k-jet ample,  $k \ge 0$ , if the restriction map

$$H^0(L) \longrightarrow H^0(L \otimes \mathcal{O}_X/m_{x_1}^{k_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes m_{x_p}^{k_p})$$

is surjective for any distinct points  $x_1, \ldots, x_p$  on X such that  $\sum k_i = k + 1$ . Note that if L is k-jet ample, then it separates k-jets at every point.

PROPOSITION 7.7 ([**PP2**] Theorem 3.8 and Proposition 3.5). (i)  $L^n$  is (n+m(L)-2)-jet ample, so in particular  $s(L^n, x) \ge n+m(L)-2$ . (ii) If L is k-jet ample, then  $m(L) \ge k+1$ .

Given (13), this points in the direction of local positivity. To establish the connection with the asymptotic invariants above we also need the following:

LEMMA 7.8. For any  $n \ge 1$  and any  $x \in X$  we have  $s(L^{n+1}, x) \ge m(L^n)$ .

PROOF. This follows immediately from Corollary 5.3 and Proposition 5.4: if  $L^n \otimes m_{x_1}^{k_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes m_{x_p}^{k_p}$  is *M*-regular, then  $L^{n+1} \otimes m_{x_1}^{k_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes m_{x_p}^{k_p}$  is globally generated, and so by **[PP2]** Lemma 3.3,  $L^{n+1}$  is m(L)-jet ample.

**PROOF.** (of Theorem 7.4.) Note first that for every  $p \ge 1$  we have

(14) 
$$m(L^n) \ge m(L) + n - 1,$$

which follows immediately from the two parts of Proposition 7.7. In particular  $m(L^n)$  is always at least n-1, and so  $\rho(L) \geq 1$ . Putting together the definitions, (14) and Lemma 7.8, we obtain the main inequality  $\epsilon(L) \geq \rho(L)$ . Finally, the asymptotic punctual index computes precisely the Seshadri constant. Indeed, by completely similar arguments as above, we have that for any ample line bundle L and any  $p \geq 1$  one has

$$p(L^n) \ge s(L^n, x)$$
 and  $s(L^{n+1}, x) \ge p(L^n, x)$ .

The statement then follows from the definition.

REMARK 7.9. What the proof above shows is that one can give an interpretation for  $\rho(L)$  similar to that for  $\epsilon(L)$  in terms of separation of jets. In fact  $\rho(L)$  is precisely the "asymptotic jet ampleness" of L, namely:

$$\rho(L) = \sup_{n} \frac{a(L^n)}{n},$$

where a(M) is the largest integer k for which a line bundle M is k-jet ample.

QUESTION 7.10. Do we always have  $\epsilon(L) = \rho(L)$ ? Can one give independent lower bounds for  $\rho(L)$  or  $\rho'(L)$  (which would then bound Seshadri constants from below)?

In the other direction, there are numerous bounds on Seshadri constants, which in turn give bounds for the M-regularity indices that (at least to us) are not obvious from the definition. All of the results in [La2] Ch.I §5 give some sort of bound. Let's just give a couple of examples:

COROLLARY 7.11. If  $(J(C), \Theta)$  is a principally polarized Jacobian, then  $m(n\Theta) \leq \sqrt{g} \cdot n$ . On an arbitrary abelian variety, for any principal polarization  $\Theta$  we have  $m(n\Theta) \leq (g!)^{\frac{1}{g}} \cdot n$ .

156

PROOF. It is shown in [La1] that  $\epsilon(\Theta) \leq \sqrt{g}$ . We then apply Theorem 7.4. For the other bound we use the usual elementary upper bound for Seshadri constants, namely  $\epsilon(\Theta) \leq (g!)^{\frac{1}{g}}$ .

COROLLARY 7.12. If  $(A, \Theta)$  is a very general PPAV, then there exists at least one n such that  $p(n\Theta) \geq \frac{2^{\frac{1}{g}}}{4}(g!)^{\frac{1}{g}} \cdot n$ .

PROOF. Here we use the lower bound given in  $[{\bf La1}]$  via a result of Buser-Sarnak.  $\hfill \square$ 

There exist more specific results on  $\epsilon(\Theta)$  for Jacobians (cf. [**De1**], Theorem 7), each giving a corresponding result for  $m(n\Theta)$ . We can ask however:

QUESTION 7.13. Can we calculate  $m(n\Theta)$  individually on Jacobians, at least for small n, in terms of the geometry of the curve?

EXAMPLE 7.14 (Elliptic curves). As a simple example, the above question has a clear answer for elliptic curves. We know that on an elliptic curve E a line bundle L is M-regular if and only if  $\deg(L) \ge 1$ , i.e. if and only if L is ample. From the definition of M-regularity we see then that if  $\deg(L) = d > 0$ , then m(L) = d - 1. This implies that on an elliptic curve  $m(n\Theta) = n - 1$  for all  $n \ge 1$ . This is misleading in higher genus however; in the simplest case we have the following general statement: If  $(X, \Theta)$  is an irreducible principally polarized abelian variety of dimension at least 2, then  $m(2\Theta) \ge 2$ . This is an immediate consequence of the properties of the Kummer map. The linear series  $|2\Theta|$  induces a 2 : 1 map of Xonto its image in  $\mathbf{P}^{2^g-1}$ , with injective differential. Thus the cohomological support locus for  $\mathcal{O}(2\Theta) \otimes m_x \otimes m_y$  consists of a finite number of points, while the one for  $\mathcal{O}(2\Theta) \otimes m_x^2$  is empty.

7.2. Regularity of Picard bundles and vanishing on symmetric products. In this subsection we study the regularity of Picard bundles over the Jacobian of a curve, twisted by positive multiples of the theta divisor. Some applications to the degrees of equations cutting out special subvarieties of Jacobians are drawn in the second part. Let C be a smooth curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ , and denote by J(C) the Jacobian of C. The objects we are interested in are the Picard bundles on J(C): a line bundle L on C of degree  $n \ge 2g - 1$  – seen as a sheaf on J(C) via an Abel-Jacobi embedding of C into J(C) – satisfies  $IT_0$ , and the Fourier-Mukai transform  $E_L = \hat{L}$  is called an *n*-th Picard bundle . When possible, we omit the dependence on L and write simply E. Note that any other such *n*-th Picard bundle  $E_M$ , with  $M \in \operatorname{Pic}^n(C)$ , is a translate of  $E_L$ . The line bundle L induces an identification between J(C) and  $\operatorname{Pic}^n(C)$ , so that the projectivization of E – seen as a vector bundle over  $\operatorname{Pic}^n(C)$  – is the symmetric product  $C_n$  (cf. [ACGH] Ch.VII §2).

The following Proposition is the main cohomological result needed for the proof of Theorem 7.18. It is worth noting that Picard bundles are known to be negative (i.e. with ample dual bundle), so vanishing theorems are not automatic. For simplicity we prove only a non-effective result, as the value of n does not affect the applications, but cf. Remark 7.17.

PROPOSITION 7.15. If  $n \gg 0$ , for every  $1 \leq k \leq g-1$  the vector bundle  $\otimes^k E \otimes \mathcal{O}(\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ .

PROOF. <sup>6</sup> The first step in the proof is to record the following description of tensor powers of Picard bundles as Fourier-Mukai transforms.

LEMMA 7.16. For any  $k \geq 1$ , let  $\pi_k : C^k \to J(C)$  be a desymmetrized Abel-Jacobi mapping and let L be a line bundle on C of degree  $n \gg 0$  on C. Then  $\pi_{k*}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ , and

$$(\pi_{k*}(L\boxtimes\cdots\boxtimes L))^{\widehat{}}=\otimes^{k}E,$$

where E is the n-th Picard bundle of C.

PROOF. The first assertion is clear. Concerning the second assertion note that, by definition,  $\pi_{k*}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L)$  is the Pontrjagin product  $L*\cdots*L$ . Moreover, this is the same as the entire derived Pontrjagin product, as

$$R^i \pi_{k*}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L) = 0$$
 for all  $i > 0$ 

by relative Serre vanishing. But then by the exchange of derived Pontrjagin and tensor product under the Fourier-Mukai transform ([**Muk1**] (3.7)), it follows that  $(L * \cdots * L) \cong \hat{L} \otimes \cdots \otimes \hat{L} = \otimes^k E$ .

Continuing with the proof of the Proposition, we will loosely use the notation  $\Theta$  for any translate of the canonical theta divisor. The statement then becomes equivalent to the vanishing

$$h^i(\otimes^k E \otimes \mathcal{O}(\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall \ i > 0, \ \forall \ 1 \le k \le g-1.$$

To prove this we use the Fourier-Mukai transform. The first point is that Lemma 7.16, combined with Grothendieck duality (Lemma 2.5 above), tells us precisely that  $\otimes^k E$  satisfies  $WIT_g$  and, by Mukai's inversion theorem (1) its Fourier transform is

$$\widehat{\otimes^k E} = (-1_J)^* \pi_{k*} (L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L).$$

Using once again the fact that the Fourier-Mukai transform is an equivalence, we have the following sequence of isomorphisms:

$$H^{i}(\otimes^{k} E \otimes \mathcal{O}(\Theta)) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{i}(\mathcal{O}(-\Theta), \otimes^{k} E) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{i}(\widehat{\mathcal{O}(-\Theta)}, \widehat{\otimes}^{k} \widehat{E})$$

 $\cong \operatorname{Ext}^{i}(\mathcal{O}(\Theta), (-1_{J})^{*}\pi_{k_{*}}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L)) \cong H^{i}((-1_{J})^{*}\pi_{k_{*}}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L) \otimes \mathcal{O}(-\Theta)).$ 

(Here we are using the fact that both  $\mathcal{O}(-\Theta)$  and  $\otimes^k E$  satisfy  $WIT_g$  and that  $\widehat{\mathcal{O}(-\Theta)} = \mathcal{O}(\Theta)$ .)

As we are loosely writing  $\Theta$  for any translate, multiplication by -1 does not influence the vanishing, so the result follows if we show:

$$H^{i}(\pi_{k*}(L\boxtimes\cdots\boxtimes L)\otimes\mathcal{O}(-\Theta))=0, \ \forall \ i>0.$$

But we have seen in the proof of Lemma 7.16 that  $R^i \pi_{k*}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L) = 0$  for i > 0, so from Leray and the Projection Formula we get that it is enough to have

$$H^{i}(C^{k}, (L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L) \otimes \pi_{k}^{*}\mathcal{O}(-\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall i > 0.$$

This follows again from Serre vanishing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>We are grateful to Olivier Debarre for pointing out a numerical mistake in the statement, in a previous version of this paper.

REMARK 7.17. Note that the proof above works identically if one replaces  $\mathcal{O}(\Theta)$ by any vector bundle satisfying  $IT_0$ . On the other hand, in the particular case of  $\mathcal{O}(\Theta)$ , with more work one can show that the effective bound n > 4g - 4 suffices for Proposition 7.15 to hold. For this one first needs to apply the theorem on formal functions to show the effective vanishing of  $R^i \pi_{k*}(L \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes L) = 0$  (under very mild positivity for L) similarly to [**Ei**] Theorem 2.7 or [**Pol**] Lemma 3.3(b). Then one uses the well-known fact that

$$\pi_k^* \mathcal{O}(\Theta) \cong ((\omega_C \otimes A^{-1}) \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes (\omega_C \otimes A^{-1})) \otimes \mathcal{O}(-\Delta),$$

where  $\Delta$  is the union of all the diagonal divisors in  $C^k$  (themselves symmetric products) and A is a line bundle of degree g-k-1, from which the effective bound for the vanishing of the groups at the end of the proof of the Proposition follows by chasing cohomology via inductive restriction to diagonals.

An interesting consequence of the vanishing result for Picard bundles proved above is a new – and in some sense more classical – way to deduce Theorem 4.1 of [**PP1**] on the M-regularity of twists of ideal sheaves  $\mathcal{I}_{W_d}$  on the Jacobian J(C). This theorem has a number of applications to the equations of the  $W_d$ 's inside J(C), and also to vanishing results for pull-backs of theta divisors to symmetric products. For this circle of ideas we refer the reader to [**PP1**] §4. For any  $1 \leq d \leq g - 1$ ,  $g \geq 3$ , consider  $u_d : C_d \longrightarrow J(C)$  to be an Abel-Jacobi mapping of the symmetric product (depending on the choice of a line bundle of degree d on C), and denote by  $W_d$  the image of  $u_d$  in J(C).

THEOREM 7.18. For every  $1 \le d \le g - 1$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{W_d}(2\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ .

PROOF. We have to prove that

$$h^i(\mathcal{I}_{W_d} \otimes \mathcal{O}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha) = 0, \ \forall \ i > 0, \ \forall \ \alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(J(C)).$$

In the rest of the proof, by  $\Theta$  we will understand generically any translate of the canonical theta divisor, and so  $\alpha$  will disappear from the notation.

It is well known that  $W_d$  has a natural determinantal structure, and its ideal is resolved by an Eagon-Northcott complex. We will chase the vanishing along this complex. This setup is precisely the one used by Fulton and Lazarsfeld in order to prove for example the existence theorem in Brill-Noether theory – for explicit details on this cf. [ACGH] Ch.VII §2. Concretely,  $W_d$  is the "highest" degeneracy locus of a map of vector bundles

$$\gamma: E \longrightarrow F,$$

where  $\operatorname{rk} F = m$  and  $\operatorname{rk} E = n = m + d - g + 1$ , with m >> 0 arbitrary. The bundles E and F are well understood: E is the *n*-th Picard bundle of C, discussed above, and F is a direct sum of topologically trivial line bundles. (For simplicity we are again moving the whole construction on J(C) via the choice of a line bundle of degree n.) In other words,  $W_d$  is scheme theoretically the locus where the dual map

$$\gamma^*: F^* \longrightarrow E^*$$

fails to be surjective. This locus is resolved by an Eagon-Northcott complex (cf. **[Ke1**]) of the form

$$0 \to \wedge^m F^* \otimes S^{m-n}E \otimes \det E \to \dots \to \wedge^{n+1}F^* \otimes E \otimes \det E \to \wedge^n F^* \to \mathcal{I}_{W_d} \to 0.$$

As it is known that the determinant of E is nothing but  $\mathcal{O}(-\Theta)$ , and since F is a direct sum of topologically trivial line bundles, the statement of the theorem follows by chopping this into short exact sequences, as long as we prove

$$h^{i}(S^{k}E \otimes \mathcal{O}(\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall \ i > 0, \ \forall \ 1 \le k \le m - n = g - d - 1.$$

Since we are in characteristic zero,  $S^k E$  is naturally a direct summand in  $\otimes^k E$ , and so it is sufficient to prove that

$$h^{i}(\otimes^{k} E \otimes \mathcal{O}(\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall \ i > 0, \ \forall \ 1 \le k \le g - d - 1.$$

But this follows from Proposition 7.15.

REMARK 7.19. Using **[PP1]** Proposition 2.9, it follows that  $\mathcal{I}_{W_d}(k\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$  for all  $k \geq 2$ .

REMARK 7.20. It is conjectured, based on a connection with minimal cohomology classes (cf. [**PP7**] for a discussion), that the only nondegenerate subvarieties Y of a principally polarized abelian variety  $(A, \Theta)$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_Y(2\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ are precisely the  $W_d$ 's above, in Jacobians, and the Fano surface of lines in the intermediate Jacobian of the cubic threefold.

QUESTION 7.21. What is the minimal k such that  $\mathcal{I}_{W_d^r}(k\Theta)$  is M-regular, for r and d arbitrary?

We describe below one case in which the answer can already be given, namely that of the singular locus of the Riemann theta divisor on a non-hyperelliptic Jacobian. It should be noted that in this case we do not have that  $\mathcal{I}_{W_{g-1}^1}(2\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$  any longer (but rather  $\mathcal{I}_{W_{g-1}^1}(3\Theta)$  does, by the same [**PP1**] Proposition 2.9).

PROPOSITION 7.22.  $\mathcal{I}_{W_{q-1}^1}(2\Theta)$  is *M*-regular.

PROOF. It follows from the results of [vGI] that

$$h^{i}(\mathcal{I}_{W^{1}_{g-1}} \otimes \mathcal{O}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } i \geq g-2, \, \forall \alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(J(C)) \\ 0 & \text{for } 0 < i < g-2, \, \forall \alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(J(C)) \text{ such that } \alpha \neq \mathcal{O}_{J(C)}. \end{cases}$$

For the reader's convenience, let us briefly recall the relevant points from Section 7 of  $[\mathbf{vGI}]$ . We denote for simplicity, via translation,  $\Theta = W_{g-1}$  (so that  $W_{g-1}^1 = \text{Sing}(\Theta)$ ). In the first place, from the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha \otimes \mathcal{O}(-\Theta) \to \mathcal{I}_{W^1_{a-1}}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha \to \mathcal{I}_{W^1_{a-1}/\Theta}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha \to 0$$

it follows that

$$h^i(J(C),\mathcal{I}_{W^1_{g-1}}(2\Theta)\otimes\alpha)=h^i(\Theta,\mathcal{I}_{W^1_{g-1}/\Theta}(2\Theta)\otimes\alpha) \text{ for } i>0.$$

Hence one is reduced to a computation on  $\Theta$ . It is a standard fact (see e.g.  $[\mathbf{vGI}]$ , 7.2) that, via the Abel-Jacobi map  $u = u_{g-1} : C_{g-1} \to \Theta \subset J(C)$ ,

$$h^{i}(\Theta, \mathcal{I}_{W^{1}_{g-1}/\Theta}(2\Theta) \otimes \alpha) = h^{i}(C_{g-1}, L^{\otimes 2} \otimes \beta \otimes \mathcal{I}_{Z}),$$

where  $Z = u^{-1}(W_{g-1}^1)$ ,  $L = u^* \mathcal{O}_X(\Theta)$  and  $\beta = u^* \alpha$ . We now use the standard exact sequence ([**ACGH**], p.258):

$$0 \to T_{C_{g-1}} \xrightarrow{du} H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{C_{g-1}} \to L \otimes \mathcal{I}_Z \to 0.$$

Tensoring with  $L \otimes \beta$ , we see that it is sufficient to prove that

 $H^{i}(C_{g-1}, T_{C_{g-1}} \otimes L \otimes \beta) = 0, \ \forall i \ge 2, \ \forall \beta \neq \mathcal{O}_{C_{g-1}}.$ 

To this end we use the well known fact (cf. loc. cit.) that

$$T_{C_{q-1}} \cong p_* \mathcal{O}_D(D)$$

where  $D \subset C_{g-1} \times C$  is the universal divisor and p is the projection onto the first factor. As  $p_{|D}$  is finite, the degeneration of the Leray spectral sequence and the projection formula ensure that

$$h^{i}(C_{q-1}, T_{C_{q-1}} \otimes L \otimes \beta) = h^{i}(D, \mathcal{O}_{D}(D) \otimes p^{*}(L \otimes \beta)),$$

which are zero for  $i \ge 2$  and  $\beta$  non-trivial by [vGI], Lemma 7.24.

7.3. Numerical study of semihomogeneous vector bundles. An idea that originated in work of Mukai is that on abelian varieties the class of vector bundles to which the theory of line bundles should generalize naturally is that of *semihomogeneous* bundles (cf. [Muk1], [Muk3], [Muk4]). These vector bundles are semistable, behave nicely under isogenies and Fourier transforms, and have a Mumford type theta group theory as in the case of line bundles (cf. [Um]). The purpose of this section is to show that this analogy can be extended to include effective global generation and normal generation statements dictated by specific numerical invariants measuring positivity. Recall that normal generation is Mumford's terminology for the surjectivity of the multiplication map  $H^0(E) \otimes H^0(E) \to H^0(E^{\otimes 2})$ .

In order to set up a criterion for normal generation, it is useful to introduce the following notion, which parallels the notion of Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity.

DEFINITION 7.23. A coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on a polarized abelian variety  $(X, \Theta)$  is called *m*- $\Theta$ -regular if  $\mathcal{F}((m-1)\Theta)$  is *M*-regular.

The relationship with normal generation comes from (3) of the following "abelian" Castelnuovo-Mumford Lemma. Note that (1) is Corollary 5.3 plus Proposition 5.4.

THEOREM 7.24 ([**PP1**], Theorem 6.3). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a 0- $\Theta$ -regular coherent sheaf on X. Then:

(1)  $\mathcal{F}$  is globally generated.

(2)  $\mathcal{F}$  is m- $\Theta$ -regular for any  $m \geq 1$ .

(3) The multiplication map

$$H^0(\mathcal{F}(\Theta)) \otimes H^0(\mathcal{O}(k\Theta)) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathcal{F}((k+1)\Theta))$$

is surjective for any  $k \geq 2$ .

**Basics on semihomogeneous bundles.** Let X be an abelian variety of dimension g over an algebraically closed field. As a general convention, for a numerical class  $\alpha$  we will use the notation  $\alpha > 0$  to express the fact that  $\alpha$  is ample. If the class is represented by an effective divisor, then the condition of being ample is equivalent to  $\alpha^g > 0$ . For a line bundle L on X, we denote by  $\phi_L$  the isogeny defined by L:

$$\phi_L: \begin{array}{ccc} X & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Pic}^0(X) \cong \widehat{X} \\ x & \rightsquigarrow & t_x^* L \otimes L^{-1}. \end{array}$$

DEFINITION 7.25. ([**Muk3**]) A vector bundle E on X is called *semihomogeneous* if for every  $x \in X$ ,  $t_x^* E \cong E \otimes \alpha$ , for some  $\alpha \in \text{Pic}^0(X)$ .

Mukai shows in [**Muk3**] §6 that the semihomogeneous bundles are Gieseker semistable (while the simple ones – i.e. with no nontrivial automorphisms – are in fact stable). Moreover, any semihomogeneous bundle has a Jordan-Hölder filtration in a strong sense.

PROPOSITION 7.26. ([Muk3] Proposition 6.18) Let E be a semihomogeneous bundle on X, and let  $\delta$  be the equivalence class of  $\frac{\det(E)}{\operatorname{rk}(E)}$  in  $NS(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ . Then there exist simple semihomogeneous bundles  $F_1, \dots, F_n$  whose corresponding class is the same  $\delta$ , and semihomogeneous bundles  $E_1, \dots, E_n$ , satisfying:

- $E \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i$ .
- Each  $E_i$  has a filtration whose factors are all isomorphic to  $F_i$ .

Since the positivity of E is carried through to the factors of a Jordan-Hölder filtration as in the Proposition above, standard inductive arguments allow us to immediately reduce the study below to the case of simple semihomogeneous bundles, which we do freely in what follows.

LEMMA 7.27. Let E be a simple semihomogeneous bundle of rank r on X. (1) ([Muk3], Proposition 7.3) There exists an isogeny  $\pi: Y \to X$  and a line bundle M on Y such that  $\pi^* E \cong \bigoplus M$ .

(2) ([Muk3], Theorem 5.8(iv)) There exists an isogeny  $\phi : Z \to X$  and a line bundle L on Z such that  $\phi_*L = E$ .

LEMMA 7.28. Let E be a nondegenerate (i.e.  $\chi(E) \neq 0$ ) simple semihomogeneous bundle on X. Then exactly one cohomology group  $H^i(E)$  is nonzero, i.e. E satisfies the Index Theorem.

PROOF. This follows immediately from the similar property of the line bundle L in Lemma 7.27(2).

LEMMA 7.29. A semihomogeneous bundle E is m- $\Theta$ -regular if and only if  $E((m-1)\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ .

PROOF. The more general fact that an M-regular semihomogeneous bundle satisfies  $IT_0$  follows quickly from Lemma 7.27(1) above. More precisely, the line bundle M in its statement is forced to be ample since it has a twist with global sections and positive Euler characteristic.

A numerical criterion for normal generation. The main result of this section is that the normal generation of a semihomogeneous vector bundle is dictated by an explicit numerical criterion. We assume throughout that all the semihomogeneous vector bundles involved satisfy the minimal positivity condition, namely that they are 0- $\Theta$ -regular, which in particular is a criterion for global generation by Theorem 7.24. We will in fact prove a criterion which guarantees the surjectivity of multiplication maps for two arbitrary semihomogeneous bundles. This could be seen as an analogue of Butler's theorem [**Bu**] for semistable bundles on curves.

THEOREM 7.30. Let E and F be semihomogeneous bundles on  $(X, \Theta)$ , both 0- $\Theta$ -regular. Then the multiplication maps

$$H^0(E) \otimes H^0(t_x^*F) \longrightarrow H^0(E \otimes t_x^*F)$$

are surjective for all  $x \in X$  if the following holds:

$$\frac{1}{r_F} \cdot c_1(F(-\Theta)) + \frac{1}{r'_E} \cdot \phi_{\Theta}^* c_1(\widehat{E(-\Theta)}) > 0,$$

where  $r_F := \operatorname{rk}(F)$  and  $r'_E := \operatorname{rk}(\widehat{E(-\Theta)})$ . (Recall that  $\phi_{\Theta}$  is the isogeny induced by  $\Theta$ .)

REMARK 7.31. Although most conveniently written in terms of the Fourier-Mukai transform, the statement of the theorem is indeed a numerical condition intrinsic to E (and F), since by [**Muk2**] Corollary 1.18 one has:

$$c_1(\widehat{E(-\Theta)}) = -PD_{2g-2}(\operatorname{ch}_{g-1}(E(-\Theta))),$$

where PD denotes the Poincaré duality map

$$PD_{2g-2}: H^{2g-2}(J(X),\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(J(X),\mathbb{Z}),$$

and  $ch_{g-1}$  the (g-1)-st component of the Chern character. Note also that

$$\operatorname{rk}(\widehat{E(-\Theta)}) = h^0(E(-\Theta)) = \frac{1}{r^{g-1}} \cdot \frac{c_1(E(-\Theta))^g}{g!}$$

by Lemma 7.29 and [Muk1] Corollary 2.8.

We can assume E and F to be simple by the considerations in §2, and we will do so in what follows. We begin with a few technical results. In the first place, it is useful to consider the *skew Pontrjagin product*, a slight variation of the usual Pontrjagin product (see [**Pa**] §1). Namely, given two sheaves  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  on X, one defines

$$\mathcal{E}\hat{*}\mathcal{G} := d_*(p_1^*(\mathcal{E}) \otimes p_2^*(\mathcal{G})),$$

where  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  are the projections from  $X \times X$  to the two factors and  $d: X \times X \to X$  is the difference map.

LEMMA 7.32. For all  $i \ge 0$  we have:

$$h^i((E \hat{*} F) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta)) = h^i((E \hat{*} \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta)) \otimes F).$$

PROOF. This follows from Lemma 3.2 in  $[\mathbf{Pa}]$  if we prove the following vanishings:

(1) 
$$h^i(t_x^* E \otimes F) = 0, \ \forall i > 0, \ \forall x \in X.$$

(2)  $h^i(t_x^* E \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall i > 0, \ \forall x \in X.$ 

We treat them separately:

- (1) By Lemma 7.27(1) we know that there exist isogenies  $\pi_E : Y_E \to X$ and  $\pi_F : Y_F \to X$ , and line bundles M on  $Y_E$  and N on  $Y_F$ , such that  $\pi_E^* E \cong \bigoplus M$  and  $\pi_F^* F \cong \bigoplus N$ . Now on the fiber product  $Y_E \times_X Y_F$ , the pull-back of  $t_x^* E \otimes F$  is a direct sum of line bundles numerically equivalent to  $p_1^* M \otimes p_2^* N$ . This line bundle is ample and has sections, and so no higher cohomology by the Index Theorem. Consequently the same must be true for  $t_x^* E \otimes F$ .
- (2) Since E is semihomogeneous, we have  $t_x^* E \cong E \otimes \alpha$  for some  $\alpha \in \text{Pic}^0(X)$ , and so

$$h^{i}(t_{x}^{*}E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(-\Theta)) = h^{i}(E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(-\Theta) \otimes \alpha) = 0,$$

since  $E(-\Theta)$  satisfies  $IT_0$ .

Let us assume from now on for simplicity that the polarization  $\Theta$  is symmetric. This makes the proofs less technical, but the general case is completely similar since everything depends (via suitable isogenies) only on numerical equivalence classes.

**PROPOSITION 7.33.** Under the hypotheses above, the multiplication maps

$$H^0(E) \otimes H^0(t_x^*F) \longrightarrow H^0(E \otimes t_x^*F)$$

are surjective for all  $x \in X$  if we have the following vanishing:

$$h^{i}(\phi_{\Theta}^{*}((-1_{X})^{*}E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X}(-\Theta))) \otimes F(-\Theta)) = 0, \ \forall i > 0.$$

PROOF. By [**Pa**] Theorem 3.1, all the multiplication maps in the statement are surjective if the skew-Pontrjagin product  $E \hat{*} F$  is globally generated, so in particular if  $(E \hat{*} F)$  is 0- $\Theta$ -regular. On the other hand, by Lemma 7.32, we can check this 0regularity by checking the vanishing of  $h^i((E \hat{*} \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta)) \otimes F)$ . To this end, we use Mukai's general Lemma 3.10 in [**Muk1**] to see that

$$E \hat{*} \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta) \cong \phi_{\Theta}^*((-1_X)^* E \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(-\Theta)) \otimes \mathcal{O}(-\Theta).$$

This implies the statement.

We are now in a position to prove Theorem 7.30: we only need to understand the numerical assumptions under which the cohomological requirement in Proposition 7.33 is satisfied.

PROOF. (of Theorem 7.30.) We first apply Lemma 7.27(1) to  $G := \phi_{\Theta}^*(-1_X)^* \widehat{E}(-\Theta)$  and  $H := F(-\Theta)$ : there exist isogenies  $\pi_G : Y_G \to X$  and  $\pi_H : Y_H \to X$ , and line bundles M on  $Y_G$  and N on  $Y_H$ , such that  $\pi_G^* G \cong \bigoplus_{r_G} M$ and  $\pi_H^* H \cong \bigoplus_{r_H} N$ . Consider the fiber product  $Z := Y_G \times_X Y_H$ , with projections  $p_G$  and  $p_H$ . Denote by  $p : Z \to X$  the natural composition. By pulling everything back to Z, we see that

$$p^*(G \otimes H) \cong \bigoplus_{r_G \cdot r_F} (p_1^*M \otimes p_2^*N).$$

This implies that our desired vanishing  $H^i(G \otimes H) = 0$  (cf. Proposition 7.33) holds as long as

$$H^i(p_G^*M \otimes p_H^*N) = 0, \ \forall i > 0.$$

Now  $c_1(p_G^*M) = p_G^*c_1(M) = \frac{1}{r_G}p^*c_1(G)$  and similarly  $c_1(p_H^*N) = p_H^*c_1(N) = \frac{1}{r_H}p^*c_1(G)$ . Finally we get

$$c_1(p_G^*M \otimes p_H^*N) = p^*(\frac{1}{r_G} \cdot c_1(G) + \frac{1}{r_H} \cdot c_1(H)).$$

Thus all we need to have is that the class

$$\frac{1}{r_G} \cdot c_1(G) + \frac{1}{r_H} \cdot c_1(H)$$

be ample, and this is clearly equivalent to the statement of the theorem.

(-1)- $\Theta$ -regular vector bundles. It can be easily seen that Theorem 7.30 implies that a (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular semihomogeneous bundle is normally generated. Under this regularity hypothesis we have however a much more general statement, which works for every vector bundle on a polarized abelian variety.

THEOREM 7.34. For (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular vector bundles E and F on X, the multiplication map

$$H^0(E) \otimes H^0(F) \to H^0(E \otimes F)$$

is surjective.

PROOF. We use an argument exploited in [**PP1**], inspired by techniques introduced by Kempf. Let us consider the diagram

Under the given hypotheses, the bottom horizontal arrow is onto by the general Theorem 5.1. On the other hand, the abelian Castelnuovo-Mumford Lemma Theorem 7.24 ensures that each one of the components of the vertical map on the left is surjective. Thus the composition is surjective, which gives the surjectivity of the vertical map on the right.  $\hfill \Box$ 

COROLLARY 7.35. Every (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular vector bundle is normally generated.

**Examples.** There are two basic classes of examples of (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular bundles, and both turn out to be semihomogeneous. They correspond to the properties of linear series on abelian varieties and on moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves, respectively.

EXAMPLE 7.36. (Projective normality of line bundles.) For every ample divisor  $\Theta$  on X, the line bundle  $L = \mathcal{O}_X(m\Theta)$  is (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular for  $m \geq 3$ . Thus we recover the classical fact that  $\mathcal{O}_X(m\Theta)$  is projectively normal for  $m \geq 3$ .

EXAMPLE 7.37. (Verlinde bundles.) Let  $U_C(r, 0)$  be the moduli space of rank r and degree 0 semistable vector bundles on a a smooth projective curve C of genus  $g \ge 2$ . This comes with a natural determinant map det :  $U_C(r, 0) \to J(C)$ , where J(C) is the Jacobian of C. To a generalized theta divisor  $\Theta_N$  on  $U_C(r, 0)$ (depending on the choice of a line bundle  $N \in \operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(C)$ ) one associates for any  $k \ge 1$  the (r, k)-Verlinde bundle on J(C), defined by  $E_{r,k} := \det_* \mathcal{O}(k\Theta_N)$  (cf. [**Po**]). It is shown in *loc. cit.* that the numerical properties of  $E_{r,k}$  are essential in understanding the linear series  $|k\Theta_N|$  on  $U_C(r, 0)$ . It is noted there that  $E_{r,k}$  are polystable and semihomogeneous.

A basic property of these vector bundles is the fact that  $r_J^* E_{r,k} \cong \oplus \mathcal{O}_J(kr\Theta_N)$ , where  $r_J$  denotes multiplication by r on J(C) (cf. [**Po**] Lemma 2.3). Noting that the pull-back  $r_J^* \mathcal{O}_J(\Theta_N)$  is numerically equivalent to  $\mathcal{O}(r^2\Theta_N)$ , we obtain that  $E_{r,k}$ is 0- $\Theta$ -regular iff  $k \ge r + 1$ , and (-1)- $\Theta$ -regular iff  $k \ge 2r + 1$ . This implies by the statements above that  $E_{r,k}$  is globally generated for  $k \ge r + 1$  and normally generated for  $k \ge 2r + 1$ . These are precisely the results [**Po**] Proposition 5.2 and Theorem 5.9(a), the second obtained there by ad hoc (though related) methods.

### References

- [ACGH] E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, P.A. Griffiths and J. Harris, Geometry of algebraic curves, Grundlehren 267, Springer, (1985).
- [Ba1] Th. Bauer, Seshadri constants and periods of polarized abelian varieties, Math. Ann.
   312 (1998), 607–623. With an appendix by the author and T. Szemberg.
- [Ba2] Th. Bauer, Seshadri constants on algebraic surfaces, Math. Ann. **313** (1999), 547–583.
- [Be] A. Beauville, Quelques remarques sur le transformation de Fourier dans l'anneau de Chow d'une varieté abélienne, in *Algebraic Geometry*, Tokyo/Kyoto 1982, LNM 1016 (1983), 238–260.

#### G. PARESCHI and M. POPA

- [Bu] D. Butler, Normal generation of vector bundles over a curve, J. Diff. Geom. 39 (1994), 1–34.
- [CH] J. A. Chen and C. Hacon, Linear series of irregular varieties, Proceedings of the symposium on Algebraic Geometry in East Asia, World Scientific (2002).
- [De1] O. Debarre, Seshadri constants of abelian varieties, *The Fano Conference*, Univ. Torino, Turin (2004), 379–394.
- [De2] O. Debarre, On coverings of simple abelian varieties, Bull. Soc. Math. France. 134 (2006), 253–260.
- [Ei] L. Ein, Normal sheaves of linear systems on curves, Contemporary Math. 116 (1991), 9–18.
- [EL] L. Ein and R. Lazarsfeld, Singularieties of theta divisors and the birational geometry of irregular varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 10 (1997), 243–258.
- [vGI] B. van Geemen and E. Izadi, The tangent space to the moduli space of vector bundles on a curve and the singular locus of the theta divisor of the Jacobian, Journal of Alg. Geom. 10 (2001), 133–177.
- [GL1] M. Green and R. Lazarsfeld, Deformation theory, generic vanishing theorems, and some conjectures of Enriques, Catanese and Beauville, Invent. Math. 90 (1987), 389–407.
- [GL2] M. Green and R. Lazarsfeld, Higher obstructions to deforming cohomology groups of line bundles, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 1 (1991), no.4, 87–103.
- [Hac] Ch. Hacon, A derived category approach to generic vanishing, J. Reine Angew. Math. 575 (2004), 173–187.
- [Ke1] G. Kempf, Complex abelian varieties and theta functions, Springer-Verlag 1991.
- [Ke2] G. Kempf, On the geometry of a theorem of Riemann, Ann. of Math. 98 (1973), 178–185.
- [LB] H. Lange and Ch. Birkenhake, *Complex abelian varieties*, Springer-Verlag 1992.
- [La1] R. Lazarsfeld, Lengths of periods and Seshadri constants on abelian varieties, Math. Res. Lett. 3 (1996), 439–447.
- [La2] R. Lazarsfeld, Positivity in algebraic geometry I & II, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, vol. 48 & 49, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [Muk1] S. Mukai, Duality between D(X) and  $D(\hat{X})$  with its application to Picard sheaves, Nagoya Math. J. 81 (1981), 153–175.
- [Muk2] S. Mukai, Fourier functor and its application to the moduli of bundles on an abelian variety, In: Algebraic Geometry, Sendai 1985, Advanced studies in pure mathematics 10 (1987), 515–550.
- [Muk3] S. Mukai, Semi-homogeneous vector bundles on an abelian variety, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 18 (1978), 239–272.
- [Muk4] S. Mukai, Abelian variety and spin representation, preprint.
- [Mu1] D. Mumford, Abelian varieties, Second edition, Oxford Univ. Press 1974.
- [Mu2] D. Mumford, On the equations defining abelian varieties, Invent. Math. 1 (1966), 287– 354.
- [Nak] M. Nakamaye, Seshadri constants on abelian varieties, Amer. J. Math. 118 (1996), 621– 635.
- [OSS] Ch. Okonek, M. Schneider, and H. Spindler, Vector bundles on complex projective spaces, Progr. Math., vol.3, Birkhäuser, 1980.
- [Or] D. Orlov, On equivalences of derived categories of coherent sheaves on abelian varieties, preprint math.AG/9712017.
- [OP] W. Oxbury and C. Pauly, Heisenberg invariant quartics and  $SU_C(2)$  for a curve of genus four, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. **125** (1999), 295–319.
- [Pa] G. Pareschi, Syzygies of abelian varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 13 (2000), 651–664.
- [PP1] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, Regularity on abelian varieties I, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), 285–302.
- [PP2] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, Regularity on abelian varieties II: basic results on linear series and defining equations, J. Alg. Geom. 13 (2004), 167–193.
- [PP3] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, M-Regularity and the Fourier-Mukai transform, Pure and Applied Mathematics Quarterly, issue in honor of F. Bogomolov, 4 (2008), 1-25.
- [PP4] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, GV-sheaves, Fourier-Mukai transform, and Generic Vanishing, preprint math.AG/0608127.
- [PP5] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, Strong generic vanishing and a higher dimensional Castelnuovode Franchis inequality, to appear in Duke Math. J, preprint arXiv:0808.2444.

166

- [PP6] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, Regularity on abelian varieties III: further applications, preprint math.AG/0306103.
- [PP7] G. Pareschi and M. Popa, Generic vanishing and minimal cohomology classes on abelian varieties, Math. Annalen, 340 no.1 (2008), 209–222.
- [Pol] A. Polishchuk,  $A_{\infty}$ -structures, Brill-Noether loci and the Fourier-Mukai transform, Compos. Math. **140** (2004), 459–481.
- [Po] M. Popa, Verlinde bundles and generalized theta linear series, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 354 (2002), 1869–1898.
- [PS] T. Peternell, A. Sommese, Ample vector bundles and branched coverings, Comm. in Algebra 28 (2000), 5573–5599.
- [Um] H. Umemura, On a certain type of vector bundles over an abelian variety, Nagoya Math. J. 64 (1976), 31–45.

DIPARTAMENTO DI MATEMATICA, UNIVERSITÀ DI ROMA, TOR VERGATA, V.LE DELLA RICERCA SCIENTIFICA, I-00133 ROMA, ITALY

E-mail address: pareschi@mat.uniroma2.it

Department of Mathematics, University of Illinois at Chicago, 851 S. Morgan St., Chicago, IL 60607, USA

E-mail address: mpopa@math.uic.edu

# Vector Bundles on Reducible Curves and Applications

Montserrat Teixidor i Bigas

### 1. Introduction

Let C be a projective, irreducible, non-singular curve of given genus  $g \ge 2$  defined over an algebraically closed field. Let E be a vector bundle on C. The slope of E is defined as

$$\mu(E) = \frac{\deg E}{\operatorname{rank} E}$$

A vector bundle E is said to be semistable (resp. stable) if and only if for every subbundle F of E,  $\mu(F) \leq (\text{resp. } <)\mu(E)$ . The set of all stable bundles of a given rank r and degree d on C form a moduli space U(r, d). If r and d are coprime, the condition for semistability is the same as the condition for stability and U(r, d)is projective. If r and d are not coprime, this is no longer the case. A projective moduli space can be obtained, though, by considering semistable vector bundles modulo a suitable equivalence relation.

If C is a singular curve, the results above are not true. The moduli space of stable bundles U(r, d) is no longer projective even when r and d are relatively prime. Newstead (see  $[\mathbf{N}]$ ) gave a compactification for a fixed irreducible curve by considering torsion-free sheaves instead of just vector bundles on the curve. This was later generalized by Seshadri ( $[\mathbf{Se}]$ ) to include reducible curves and by Pandariphande ( $[\mathbf{P}]$ ) when the curve moves in the moduli space of a fixed genus.

A different approach was taken by Gieseker in the case of an irreducible nodal curve for r = 2 by considering vector bundles on various semistable models of the given curve. His methods were extended in  $[\mathbf{X}]$  to the case of a reducible curve (and r = 2) and then by Schmitt  $[\mathbf{Sc2}]$  to any rank and curves moving in the moduli space.

In the case of rank one, many results about non-singular curves and their linear series have been proved by degenerating to singular curves. This requires knowing what is the equivalent in the singular case of a linear series. For a reducible curve of compact type, the theory of limit linear series from [EH1] gave an excellent solution. In order to do something similar in higher rank, one needs to extend the concept of limit linear series to rank greater than one. At the same time, one must deal with the stability condition.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14H60; Secondary 14C20.

In this paper, we present some scattered results about the moduli spaces of (semi) stable vector bundles on reducible nodal curves, the concept of generalized limit linear series and some of their applications. On neither of these themes does the paper try to be comprehensive. Its main purpose is to present a few examples of some techniques that have proved useful in the resolution of problems related to vector bundles with the hope that they will become more widely used.

### 2. Moduli spaces of slope-stable torsion-free sheaves

Seshadri in [Se] gave the following compactification(s) of a moduli space of vector bundles on a reducible curve. While his construction is more general, we shall concentrate on the nodal case.

Let C be a nodal curve with components  $C_i$ . When the curve is reducible, the notion of torsion-free sheaf mentioned in the introduction for irreducible curves can be generalized to the concept of depth one sheaves. A sheaf E on C is said to be of depth one if any torsion section vanishes identically on some component of C.

For an irreducible curve, the concept of stability could have been formulated equivalently by the condition that for every subbundle F of E,

$$\frac{\chi(F)}{\operatorname{rank}(F)} \le (<)\frac{\chi(E)}{\operatorname{rank}(E)}$$

where  $\chi$  denotes the Euler-Poincaré characteristic. On a reducible curve, even if E has constant rank, there will be subsheaves of E with different ranks on the various components. Therefore, in order to generalize the definition above, one needs to make clear how to count the relative rank of every component. This is done in the following way:

A polarization of C is the choice of rational weights

$$w_i, \quad 0 < w_i < 1, \quad \sum w_i = 1.$$

A depth one sheaf E of rank n on C is said to be (semi)stable for the given polarization if for every subsheaf F of E with rank  $r_i$  on the component  $C_i$ ,

$$\frac{\chi(G)}{\sum w_i r_i} (\le) < \frac{\chi(E)}{r}$$

We will refer to the number  $\sum w_i r_i$  as the *w*-rank of *F*. There is then a moduli space parameterizing (equivalence classes of semi)stable torsion-free sheaves on *C*.

The moduli space of torsion-free sheaves on a nodal reducible curve is itself reducible. The description of its components was given in [**T2**] for curves of compact type (that is, curves whose Jacobian is compact or whose dual graph has no nontrivial cycles) and in [**T3**] for arbitrary nodal curves. If each component of the curve has genus at least one, the number of components of the moduli space depends only on the rank and the dual graph of the curve rather than the genus of the various components of C. For example, if the curve is of compact type with M components all of genus at least one, then the moduli space of vector bundles of rank r on Chas  $r^{M-1}$  components.

More generally, consider any nodal curve C. Assume that C is the fiber of a one-dimensional family  $\pi : C \to S$ . Fix a vector bundle  $\mathcal{E}$  on C so that the restriction to every fiber of  $\pi$  is of degree d. The multidegree  $(d_i)$  is the collection of degrees of the restriction of this vector bundle to the components  $C_i$  of C. If we tensor  $\mathcal{E}$  by a line bundle  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}_C(\sum a_i C_i)$ , the numbers  $d_i$  will be modified by multiples of r and

the total degree d will remain invariant. For example, if C has only two components glued at one point, the degree on one of the components can be increased by an arbitrary multiple of r while the degree on the other component will decrease by subtracting the same multiple of r. Let us say that two multidegrees are equivalent if they can be obtained from one another by such a transformation. Then, the set of components of the moduli space corresponds one to one with the set of equivalence classes of multidegrees by this equivalence relation.

We provide a sketch of proof of this fact in the case of a curve C with two components  $C_1, C_2$  and a single node obtained by identifying  $Q \in C_1$  with  $P \in C_2$ (for the more general statements and proofs see [**T3**]):

2.1. **Proposition** Let C be the nodal curve of genus g obtained by identifying  $Q \in C_1$  with  $P \in C_2$ , where  $C_1, C_2$  are two non-singular curves of genus at least one. Then the moduli space of torsion-free sheaves on C semistable with respect to a generic polarization is connected and has r irreducible components each of dimension  $r^2(g-1) + 1$ .

PROOF. Assume that E is a vector bundle stable by a generic polarization  $w_1, w_2$ . Consider the subsheaf F of E consisting of the sections of E that vanish identically on the second component  $C_2$ . Then,  $\chi(F) = \chi(E_{|C_1}) - r$  while the w-rank of F is  $w_1r$ . The stability condition gives

$$\frac{\chi(E_{|C_1}) - r}{w_1 r} = \frac{\chi(F)}{w_1 r} \le \frac{\chi(E)}{r}$$

Hence,  $\chi(E_{|C_1}) \leq w_1\chi(E) + r$ . Reversing the role of  $C_1, C_2$  and using that  $\chi(E) = \chi(E_{|C_1}) + \chi(E_{|C_2}) - r, w_1 + w_2 = 1$ , one obtains

$$(*) \quad w_1\chi(E) \le \chi(E_{|C_1|}) \le w_1\chi(E) + r.$$

If  $w_1$  is generic,  $w_1\chi(E)$  is not an integer and there are therefore r possible values of  $\chi(E_{|C_1})$  that satisfy (\*). Moreover (see (cf. **[T2]**, **[T3]**) if (\*) is satisfied and  $E_{|C_1}, E_{|C_2}$  are semistable then the vector bundle E is also semistable. If in addition, at least one of the vector bundles  $E_{|C_1}, E_{|C_2}$  is stable, then so is E. In fact it suffices if they are both semistable and no destabilizing subsheaf of  $E_{|C_1}$ glues with a destabilizing subsheaf of  $E_{|C_2}$  for E to be stable.

The moduli space of semistable vector bundles of a given rank and degree on each of the curves  $C_1, C_2$  is irreducible of dimension  $r^2(g_1 - 1) + 1, r^2(g_2 - 1) + 1$ with  $g_1 \ge 1$ ,  $g_2 \ge 1$  the genera of the corresponding curves. Once  $E_{|C_1}, E_{|C_2}$  have been fixed, a vector bundle on C is determined by giving a projective isomorphism of the fibers  $(E_{|C_1})_Q \cong (E_{|C_2})_P$ . Fix a degree for  $E_1$  satisfying (\*). As the degree of E is fixed, this determines the degree for  $E_{|C_2}$ . One gets a variety of dimension

$$r^{2}(g_{1}-1) + 1 + r^{2}(g_{2}-1) + 1 + r^{2} - 1 = r^{2}(g-1) + 1.$$

This is the dimension of the moduli space of vector bundles on C. We obtain in this way an open set of one of the components of the moduli space of vector bundles on C. The closure of this component may contain some points corresponding to vector bundles that are stable on C but whose restriction to each of the components is not necessarily semistable. Moreover, the different components of the moduli space are not disjoint, the points of intersection correspond to torsion-free sheaves that are not locally free at the nodes. For example, in the situation above, the components corresponding to  $\deg(E_{|C_1}) = d_1, \deg(E_{|C_2}) = d - d_1$  and  $\deg(E'_{|C_1}) = d_1$ .
$d_1 - 1, \deg(E'_{|C_2}) = d - d_1 + 1$  have an intersection whose generic point is a torsionfree sheaf F such that  $\deg(F_{|C_1}) = d_1 - 1, \deg(F_{|C_2}) = d - d_1$  and the fiber at the node N is of the form  $(\mathcal{O}_N)^{r-1} \oplus \mathcal{M}_N$  with  $\mathcal{M}_N$  the maximal ideal at the node.

On an elliptic curve, there are no stable vector bundles of rank r and degree d when r, d are not coprime. Assume that  $C_1$  is an elliptic curve and that  $d_1 = \deg(E_{|C_1})$  gives a solution to (\*) (or a suitable set of relations deduced from the graph of the nodal curve). Write h for the greatest common divisor of  $r, d_1$ . Then, the generic point in the component corresponding to this value  $d_1$  is a vector bundle whose restriction to  $C_1$  is a direct sum of h vector bundles of rank  $\frac{r}{h}$  and degree  $\frac{d_1}{h}$ . Note that this still gives the right dimension to the component of the moduli space of vector bundles on C: while there is an h-dimensional space of these restrictions of these restrictions acting on the set that identify isomorphic bundles.

As it was mentioned before, the stability of a vector bundle for a given polarization on a reducible curve does not imply that the restriction of this bundle to each component is stable. But these restrictions cannot be too unstable either. As an example we present the following:

2.2. **Proposition** Let C be a nodal curve with an irreducible component C intersecting the rest of the curve in  $\alpha$  nodes. Let E be a vector bundle on C that is stable by a generic polarization. Assume that the restriction of E to  $\overline{C}$  is the direct sum of r line bundles  $L_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus L_r$ . Then,  $|\deg L_i - \deg L_j| \leq \alpha - 1$ .

PROOF. Consider the subsheaf F of E that vanishes on all components of  $C-\overline{C}$ and that restricts to  $\overline{C}$  to the sheaf of sections of  $L_1$  that vanish at the nodes. Then  $\chi(F) = \chi(L_1) - k$  while the weighted rank rank $(F) = \overline{w}$ . The stability condition then gives

$$\chi(L_1) - \alpha \le \bar{w} \frac{\chi(E)}{r}.$$

Consider the subsheaf  $F'_i$  of E that restricts to  $\bar{C}$  to the sheaf of sections of  $L_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus L_r$  and on all components of  $C - \bar{C}$  restricts to the sections of E that glue with the above on  $\bar{C}$ . Then  $\chi(F') = \chi(E) - \chi(L_1)$  while the weighted rank  $\operatorname{rank}(F') = (r-1)\bar{w} + r(1-\bar{w}) = r - \bar{w}$ . The stability condition then gives

$$\frac{\chi(E) - \chi(L_1)}{r - \bar{w}} \le \frac{\chi(E)}{r}$$

One obtains

$$\bar{w}\frac{\chi(E)}{r} \le \chi(L_1) \le \bar{w}\frac{\chi(E)}{r} + \alpha$$

As  $\bar{w}$  is generic,  $\bar{w}\frac{\chi(E)}{r}$  is not an integer. As the above equation is valid for all  $L_i$ , not just  $L_1$ , the result follows.

While the choice of a polarization can be arbitrary, there is a natural one that can be defined as follows: For a given semistable curve C, define  $d_i$  as the degree of the canonical sheaf of C restricted to the component  $C_i$ . The canonical polarization has weights

$$w_i = \frac{d_i}{2g - 2}$$

Pandharipande showed in  $[\mathbf{P}]$  that there is a moduli space of torsion-free sheaves over the moduli space of stable curves if one considers the canonical polarization.

# 3. Hilbert compactification of the moduli space and its relationship with the slope-stable moduli space

Gieseker took the following approach towards compactifying the moduli space of vector bundles on a nodal curve. There is an isomorphism between moduli spaces of vector bundles  $U(r,d) \cong U(r,d+kr)$  given by tensoring with a line bundle of degree k. Hence, one can assume that d is sufficiently large. In this situation, on a non-singular curve, a stable vector bundle is globally generated, hence it induces a map from the curve to the Grassmannian.

Start now the other way around. Consider the Hilbert scheme of curves in  $\operatorname{Gr}(H^0(E), r)$  of suitable Hilbert polynomial. Take the connected component of points corresponding to immersions of a given nodal curve and consider its closure. The restriction to the curve of the universal bundle on the Grassmannian gives a vector bundle on the curve. In order to obtain a moduli space for vector bundles, one should first restrict to the points that are stable under the action of the linear group and then take quotient by this action.

This provides a natural compactification of the locus of vector bundles. Its main advantage is that all the points of this space correspond to vector bundles on a curve, namely the restriction of the universal bundle on the Grassmannian. Its main drawback is that the curve is not fixed. Other curves may appear that differ from the given nodal curve in adding a few rational components between the nodes of the original nodal curve. As this is precisely what happens with limit liner series (see next section), this seems a suitable model to use in this case.

Several extensions of Gieseker's results to higher rank were given by Nagaraj-Seshadri [NS1], [NS2] and Kausz [K] using different methods. Caporaso ([C]) gave a compactification of the Hilbert stable set of curves over  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  when r = 1. Finally, Schmitt (see [Sc2]) extended Gieseker's construction not only to higher rank but also to the whole moduli space of semistable curves in  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$ .

The two compactifications of Seshadri and Gieseker-Schmitt are in fact closely related: for a non-singular curve, slope stability and Hilbert stability are equivalent. This was first proved for rank 2 by Gieseker and Morrison in [**GM**] (see also [**T4**] for a different proof). For general rank, one of the implications was proved in [**T5**] and the equivalence in [**Sc1**].

On reducible curves, Hilbert stability implies that the distribution of degrees on the various components is the same as that allowed by slope stability in the case of the canonical weights (that is conditions similar to those in (\*) in the proof of 2.1 are satisfied). Similarly, the restriction to the various components cannot be too unstable, so conditions as those stated in 2.2 are also satisfied. For instance, rational components on Hilbert stable curves must have at least two nodes and in this case the restriction of the vector bundles to the components is of the form  $\mathcal{O}^{\oplus j} \oplus \mathcal{O}(1)^{\oplus r-j}$ .

## 4. Limit linear series

Assume that we have a family of curves  $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to S$  such that  $\mathcal{C}_t$  is non-singular for  $t \neq t_0$  while the special fiber  $\mathcal{C}_{t_0}$  is a curve of compact type (that is, a curve whose Jacobian is compact or whose dual graph has no cycles).

We want to consider a linear series for vector bundles on  $C - C_{t_0}$  and we would like to describe the limit of this object on  $C_{t_0}$ .

A linear series for vector bundles on  $\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}_{t_0}$  will be given by a vector bundle  $\mathcal{E}$  on  $\mathcal{C} - \mathcal{C}_{t_0}$  such that the restriction to each fiber has a preassigned rank r and degree d together with a family of spaces of sections given by a locally free subsheaf  $\mathcal{V}$  of rank k of  $\pi_*(\mathcal{E})$ .

Up to making a few base changes and blow-ups (that may add a few rational components to the central fiber), we can assume that the vector bundle and locally-free subsheaf can be extended to the whole family.

On the central fiber, one obtains then a limit linear series in the sense of [**T1**] section 2, that can be defined as follows:

4.1. Definition. Limit linear series A limit linear series of rank r, degree d and dimension k on a curve of compact type with M components consists of data (I), (II) below for which data (III), (IV) exist satisfying conditions (a)-(c).

(I) For every component  $C_i$ , a vector bundle  $E_i$  of rank r and degree  $d_i$  and a k-dimensional space of sections  $V_i$  of  $E_i$ .

(II) For every node obtained by gluing  $Q \in C_i$  with  $P \in C_j$  an isomorphism of the projectivisation of the fibers  $(E_i)_Q$  and  $(E_j)_P$ 

(III) A positive integer a

(IV) For every node obtained by gluing  $Q \in C_i$  and  $P \in C_j$ , bases  $s_{Q,i}^t, s_{P,j}^t, t = 1...k$  of the vector spaces  $V_i$  and  $V_j$ 

Subject to the conditions

(a)  $(\sum_{i=1}^{M} d_i) - r(M-1)a = d$ 

(b) At the nodes, the sections glue with each other through the isomorphism in II and the orders of vanishing at  $P_j, Q_i$  of corresponding sections of the chosen basis satisfy  $ord_P s_{P,j}^t + ord_Q s_{Q,i}^t \ge a$ 

(c) Sections of the vector bundles  $E_i(-aQ)$  are completely determined by their value at the nodes.

This is a generalization of the concept of limit linear series for line bundles. In the line bundle case,  $a = d = \deg E_i$  for all *i*. Hence, (III) is irrelevant and so is the projective isomorphism in (II) as the fibers are one-dimensional. Conditions (a), (c) and the first part of (b) are automatically satisfied and one only needs to impose the second part of (b).

Let us check that the limit of a linear series on a non-singular curve is actually a limit linear series. Given a family of curves  $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to S$  as above, fix a vector bundle on the generic fiber and extend it (after some base change and normalizations) to a vector bundle on the central fiber. This limit vector bundle on the central fiber is not unique. We could modify it by, for example, tensoring the bundle on the whole curve  $\mathcal{C}$  with a line bundle with support on the central fiber. This would leave the vector bundle on the generic curve unchanged but would modify the vector bundle on the reducible curve (by adding to the restriction to each component a linear combination of the nodes). In this way, for each component  $C_i$ , one can choose (in many different ways) a version  $\mathcal{E}_i$  of the limit vector bundle such that the sections of  $\mathcal{E}_{i|C_j}$ ,  $i \neq j$  are trivial. In particular, this implies that  $\mathcal{V}_i$  restricts to a space of sections of dimension k on the component  $C_i$ . Taking  $E_i = \mathcal{E}_{i|C_i}$ ,  $V_i = \mathcal{V}_{i|C_i}$ , one obtains data in (I) satisfying condition (c).

We want to see how to choose the data above in order to obtain the integer a in (III).

Order the components of C so that  $C_1$  has only one node and  $C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_i$  is connected. From the connectivity,  $C_i$  intersects some  $C_{j(i)}$ , j(i) < i and from the

fact that the curve is of compact type, this j(i) is uniquely determined. Let  $C'_i$  be the connected component of  $C - C_i$  containing  $C_{j(i)}$ . The restriction of  $\mathcal{E}_{j(i)}(-bC'_i)$ to any component of C other than  $C_i, C_{j(i)}$  is identical to the restriction of  $\mathcal{E}_{j(i)}$ to that component. The restriction to  $C_i$  (resp  $C_{j(i)}$ ) is changed by tensoring with  $\mathcal{O}_{C_i}(bP_i)$  (resp  $\mathcal{O}_{C_{j(i)}}(-bQ_{j(i)})$ ) if  $P_i, Q_{j(i)}$  are the two points that get identified to form the node. Hence, in order to satisfy the conditions in the previous paragraph, we can take  $\mathcal{E}_i = \mathcal{E}_{j(i)}(-b_iC'_i)$  for some integer  $b_i$ . As the curve has only a finite number of components, we may assume the  $b_i$  to be all identical. We denote this number by a.

It is easy to check then that condition (a) is satisfied.

As  $\mathcal{E}_i = \mathcal{E}_j(-aC'_i)$  the gluing defining  $\mathcal{E}_{i|C}$  determine those of  $\mathcal{E}_{j|C}$ . Hence, the isomorphisms in (II) are well determined and the first part of b) is satisfied.

Let us check the second part of (b). If  $C_i, C_j, j < i$  intersect, then j = j(i) (in the notations above). Hence  $\mathcal{E}_i = \mathcal{E}_j(-aC'_i)$ . Let s be a section of  $\mathcal{V}_{j|C}$ . Assume that s vanishes on  $C'_i$  with multiplicity  $\alpha$  (and therefore vanishes at the point P of intersection with  $C'_i$  with order at least  $\alpha$ ). Let  $t_0$  be a local equation for C. Then  $(t_0^{a-\alpha})s$  is a non-trivial section of  $\mathcal{E}_j(-aC'_i) = \mathcal{E}_i$ . Hence it gives rise to a section on  $\mathcal{V}_i$  that vanishes to order at least  $a - \alpha$  on P.

Given a vector bundle  $\mathcal{E}$  stable by some polarization, the vector bundles  $\mathcal{E}_i$  that give rise to the limit linear series are no longer stable by this polarisation, as the distribution of degrees among the components gets changed. But conditions of "quasistability" are preserved, that is, conditions that say that the restriction of the vector bundle to each component is not far from being stable (analogous to 2.2). This fact is very important in applications as it restricts the possibilities for these vector bundles.

#### 5. Subbundles of a vector bundle

Let E be a vector bundle of rank r and degree d. Let E' be a subsheaf of E of fixed rank r'. Up to increasing the degree of E', we can assume that the quotient is again a vector bundle. Hence, we have an exact sequence

$$(**) \quad 0 \to E' \to E \to E'' \to 0$$

Define

$$s_{r'}(E) = r'd - r\max\{\deg(E')\}$$

where E' varies among all subsheaves of E of rank r'. If E is stable, then  $s_{r'}(E) \ge 0$ .

If E', E'' are fixed, the set of vector bundles that fit in an exact sequence as (\*\*) is parameterized by  $H^1(C, (E'')^* \otimes E')$ . If there exists a stable E fitting in one of these exact sequences, then  $H^0(C, (E'')^* \otimes E') = 0$ , otherwise there would be a non-trivial map  $E'' \to E'$  and therefore a non-trivial endomorphism of E contradicting stability. This implies that  $h^1(C, (E'')^* \otimes E')$  is constant.

Let E', E'' vary

$$E' \in U(r', d'), E'' \in U(r - r', d - d').$$

Then, the set of stable E varies in a space of dimension

$$(r')^2(g-1) + 1 + (r-r')^2(g-1) + 1 + r'(d-d') - (r-r')d' + r'(r-r')(g-1) - 1 =$$
  
=  $r^2(g-1) + 1 + r'd - rd' - r'(r-r')(g-1)$ 

The following result was conjectured by Lange in  $[\mathbf{L}]$ 

5.1. Theorem If  $r'd - rd' - r'(r - r')(g - 1) \ge 0$ , the generic vector bundle in U(r, d) has subbundles of rank r' and degree d'. For  $0 \le r'd - rd' \le r'(r - r')(g - 1)$ , the set of vector bundles with such a subbundle is an irreducible set of the moduli space of codimension r'(r - r')(g - 1) - (r'd - rd').

The rank two case was proved by Lange in [L]. Several special cases were obtained (see[BL] and the references there).

The result was proved for the generic curve in  $[\mathbf{T7}]$  and then in its full generality in  $[\mathbf{RT}]$ .

The main point of any proof of the result is to show that there exist extensions as in (\*) with a stable E and for r'd - rd' < r'(r - r')(g - 1) that such an E has only a finite number of subbundles of the given rank and degree.

Reducible curves were used in [T6], [T7], [T8]. We will sketch below the main points of the proof when r = 2, r' = 1, d = 1. In order to prove the result for the generic curve, it suffices to show it for a special curve. Take g elliptic curves  $C_1, ..., C_g$  with marked points  $P_i, Q_i$  on them and identify  $Q_i$  with  $P_{i+1}$  to form a nodal curve of arithmetic genus g. Consider the component of the moduli space of vector bundles on this curve with distribution of degrees one on the first component and zero on the remaining ones. For a generic point on this component,  $E_1$  is an indecomposable vector bundle of degree one while the remaining  $E_i$  are direct sums of two line bundles.

The largest degree of a line subbundle of  $E_1$  is zero. In fact, every line subbundle of degree zero on  $C_1$  can be immersed in  $E_1$ . For a particular choice of such a subbundle, we can assume that it glues at  $Q_1$  with a fixed direction. On the remaining components, the degree of the largest subbundle is zero and there are precisely two subbundles of this degree inside each  $E_i$ . On the other hand, every line bundle of degree -1 on  $C_i$  can be immersed in  $C_i$  by a two-dimensional family of maps. Given a fixed direction at both  $P_i$  and  $Q_i$ , one can find a subbundle of  $E_i$ of degree -1 that glues with these two directions at the nodes.

In order to obtain a line subbundle on the total curve, we must choose line subbundles of each of the components that glue with each other. If all the gluing are generic, the choice that gives the largest degree will be as follows: Take a subbundle of degree zero of  $E_1$  that glues with one of the two subbundles of degree zero of  $E_2$ . Choose a subbundle of degree zero on each of the components  $C_i$  for even *i*. Choose a subbundle of degree -1 on the components  $C_i$  for odd *i* that glues with the chosen subbundles in adjacent components. The degree of the subbundle obtained in this way is  $d' = -\frac{g-2}{2}$  if this number is an integer and  $d' = -\frac{g-1}{2}$  otherwise.

In order to obtain subbundles of higher degree, take the gluing in the last k components so that line subbundles of degree zero glue with each other and glue with the chosen subbundle in the previous g - k components. One then obtains a subbundle of degree  $d' = -\frac{g-k-2}{2}$  (again if this number is an integer). In this case, the gluing depends on three rather than four parameters at the last k nodes. Hence, the codimension of the set is k = g + 2d' - 2 as expected.

#### 6. Some applications to Brill-Noether Theory

A Brill-Noether subvariety  $B_{r,d}^k$  of the stable set in U(r,d) is a subset of U(r,d)whose points correspond to stable bundles having at least k independent sections (often denoted by  $W_{r,d}^{k-1}$ ). Brill-Noether varieties can be locally represented as determinantal varieties. This implies that, when non-empty, the dimension of  $B_{r,d}^k$  at any point is at least the so called Brill-Noether number

$$\rho_{r,d}^{k} = \dim U(r,d) - h^{0}(E)h^{1}(E) = r^{2}(g-1) + 1 - k(k-d+r(g-1))$$

with expected equality. Moreover,  $B_{r,d}^{k+1}$  is contained in the singular locus, again with expected equality. It is not true that the above expectations actually occur for all meaningful values of r, d, k. For an account of the state of the art in Brill-Noether Theory see **[GT]**.

Using limit linear series, one can prove the following:

6.1. Theorem (see [T1], [T9]) Let C be a generic non-singular curve of genus  $g \ge 2$ . Let d, r, k be positive integers with k > r. Write

$$d = rd_1 + d_2, \ k = rk_1 + k_2, \ d_2 < r, \ k_2 < r$$

and all  $d_i$ ,  $k_i$  non-negative integers. Assume that one of the following conditions is satisfied

$$(1)g - (k_1 + 1)(g - d_1 + k_1 - 1) \ge 1, \ d_2 \ge k_2 \ne 0$$
  
$$(2)g - k_1(g - d_1 + k_1 - 1) > 1, \ k_2 = 0$$
  
$$(3)g - (k_1 + 1)(g - d_1 + k_1) \ge 1, \ d_2 < k_2.$$

Then the set  $B_{r,d}^k$  of rank r degree d and with k sections on C is non-empty and has (at least) one component of the expected dimension  $\rho$ .

Given a family of curves

$$\mathcal{C} \to T$$

construct the Brill-Noether locus for the family

$$\mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k = \{(t,E) | t \in T, E \in B_{r,d}^k(\mathcal{C}_t)\}.$$

The dimension of this scheme at any point is at least  $\dim T + \rho_{r,d}^k$ . Assume that we can find a point  $(t_0, E_0)$  such that the dimension at the point  $(t_0, E_0)$  of the fiber of  $\mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k$  over  $t_0 \dim(\mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k(\mathcal{C}_{t_0}))_{E_0} = \rho_{n,d}^k$ . Then  $\dim \mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k \leq \rho_{r,d}^k + \dim T$  and therefore we have equality. The dimension of the generic fiber of the projection  $\mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k \to T$  is at most the dimension of the fiber over  $t_0$ , namely  $\rho_{r,d}^k$ . But it cannot be any smaller, as the fiber over a point  $t \in T$  is  $\mathcal{B}_{r,d}^k(\mathcal{C}_t)$  which has dimension at least  $\rho_{n,d}^k$  at any point. Hence, there is equality which is the result we are looking for.

As the particular curve  $C_{t_0}$ , we take g elliptic curves  $C_1, ..., C_g$  with marked points  $P_i, Q_i$  on them and identify  $Q_i$  with  $P_{i+1}$  to form a node. Then, one needs to prove that there is a component of the set of limit linear series on the curve of dimension exactly  $\rho$  with the generic point corresponding to a stable bundle.

Let us sketch how one could proceed in the particular case g = 5, k = 4, d = 9(and hence  $\rho = 5$ ).

On the curve  $C_1$ , take the vector bundle to be a generic indecomposable vector bundle of degree nine. On the curve  $C_2$  take  $\mathcal{O}(P_2 + 3Q_2) \oplus \mathcal{O}(2P_2 + 2Q_2)$ . On the curve  $C_3$ , take  $\mathcal{O}(P_3 + 3Q_3)^{\oplus 2}$ . On the curve  $C_4$ , take  $\mathcal{O}(3P_4 + Q_4)^{\oplus 2}$ . On the curve  $C_5$ , take the direct sum of two generic line bundles of degree four.

The sections and gluing at the nodes are taken as follows: there is a unique section  $s_1$  of  $E_1$  that vanishes at  $Q_1$  with order four. Take as space of sections the space that contains  $s_1$ , two sections that vanish at  $Q_1$  to order three and one section that vanishes to order two.

On  $C_2$ , glue  $\mathcal{O}(2P_2+2Q_2)$  with the direction of  $s_1$ . Take a section that vanishes at  $P_2$  to order three, the section that vanishes at  $P_2$  to order one and at  $Q_2$  to order three, one section that vanishes at  $P_2$  to order one and at  $Q_2$  to order two and the section that vanishes at  $P_2$  to order two and at  $Q_2$  to order two.

On  $C_3$ , take generic gluing. Take two sections that vanish at  $P_3$  with order one and at  $Q_3$  to order three and two sections that vanish at  $P_3$  to order two and at  $Q_3$  to order one.

On  $C_4$ , take generic gluing. Take two sections that vanish at  $P_4$  to order one and at  $Q_4$  to order two and two sections that vanish at  $P_4$  to order three and at  $Q_4$  to order one.

On  $C_5$ , take generic gluing. Take two sections that vanish at  $P_5$  to order two and two sections that vanish at  $P_5$  to order three.

In this way, each section on  $C_i$  glues at  $Q_i$  with a section on  $C_{i+1}$  so that the sum of the orders of vanishing is four. Note also that we have been using sections of our vector bundles that vanish as much as possible between the two nodes. So it is not possible to obtain a limit linear series of dimension larger than four with these vector bundles.

Let us count the dimension of the family so obtained. The vector bundle  $E_1$  varies in a one-dimensional family and has a one-dimensional family of endomorphisms. The vector bundles  $E_2$ ,  $E_3$ ,  $E_4$  are completely determined and have a family of endomorphisms of dimensions two, four and four respectively while  $E_5$  varies in a two-dimensional family and has a two-dimensional family of endomorphisms. The resulting vector bundle is stable as the restriction to each component is semistable and the first one is actually stable (see section 2). Therefore it has a one-dimensional family of automorphisms. The gluings at each of the nodes vary in a four-dimensional family except for the first one that varies in a three-dimensional family. Therefore the total dimension of the family is

$$1 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 2 - (1 + 2 + 4 + 4 + 4 + 2) + 1 + (3 + 4 + 4 + 4) = 5 = \rho.$$

If we try to deform the vector bundle by either taking more general restrictions to some component curves or more general gluing at some nodes, the limit linear series does not extend to this deformation. Hence, the point we describe is a general point in the set of limit linear series. Therefore, the result is proved.

One of the main questions for classical Brill-Noether Theory (that is in the case r = 1) comes from the infinitesimal study of  $B_{r,d}^k$ . The tangent space to U(r,d) can be identified with the set of infinitesimal deformations of the vector bundle E which is parameterized by  $H^1(C, E \otimes E^*) \cong H^0(C, K \otimes E^* \otimes E)$ . The tangent space to  $B_{r,d}^k$  inside the tangent space to U(r,d) can be identified with the orthogonal to the image of the Petri map

$$P_V: H^0(C, E) \otimes H^0(C, K \otimes E^*) \to H^0(C, K \otimes E \otimes E^*).$$

If this map is injective for a given E, then  $B_{r,d}^k$  is non-singular of the right dimension at E. Hence, in order to prove that the expected results hold, it would be sufficient to prove the injectivity of this map for all possible E on say, a generic curve. This is true in rank one ([**G1**]). Unfortunately, for rank greater than one, the map is not injective in general. There is one case though in which one has an analogous result. Assume that E is a vector bundle of rank two and canonical determinant. Let U(2, K) be the moduli space of stable rank two vector bundles with determinant the canonical sheaf. Consider the set

$$B_{2,K}^{k} = \{ E \in U(2,K) | h^{0}(C,E) \ge k \}$$

Then  $B_{2,K}^k$  can be given a natural scheme structure. Its expected dimension is (see  $[\mathbf{GT}], [\mathbf{T10}]$ )

$$\dim U(2,K) - \binom{k+1}{2}$$

The tangent space to  $B_{2,K}^k$  at a point E is naturally identified with the orthogonal to the image of the symmetric Petri map

$$S^{2}(H^{0}(C, E)) \to H^{0}(C, S^{2}(E))$$

6.2. **Theorem** (cf. [T10]) Let C be a generic curve of genus g defined over an algebraically closed field of characteristic different from two. Let E be a semistable vector bundle on C of rank two with canonical determinant. Then, the canonical Petri map

$$S^2 H^0(C, E) \to H^0(S^2 E)$$

is injective.

The proof of this fact is in many ways similar to the proof of the injectivity of the classical Petri map in [**EH2**] with the (considerable) added complication brought in by higher rank.

### References

- [BL] L.Brambila-Paz, H. Lange, A stratification of the moduli space of vector bundles on curves. Dedicated to Martin Kneser on the occasion of his 70th birthday. J. Reine Angew. Math. 494 (1998), 173–187.
- [C] L. Caporaso, A compatification of the universal Picard variety over the moduli space of stable curves. J. of the Amer. Math Soc. 7 N3 (1994) 589-660.
- [EH1] D.Eisenbud, J.Harris, Limit linear series: basic theory. Invent. Math. 85 no. 2(1986), 337–371.
- [EH2] D.Eisenbud, J.Harris, A simpler proof of the Gieseker-Petri theorem on special divisors. Invent. Math. 74 no. 2 (1983), 269–280.
- [G1] D.Gieseker, Stable curves and special divisors: Petri's conjecture. Invent. Math. 66 no. 2 (1982), 251–275.
- [G2] D.Gieseker, Degenerations of moduli spaces of vector bundles. J.Diff.Geom.19 (1984), 173-206.
- [G2] D.Gieseker, Lectures on moduli of curves. Tata Institute Lecture Notes, Springer Verlag 1982.
- [GM] D.Gieseker, I.Morrison, Hilbert stability of rank 2 bundles on curves. J.Diff.Geom. 19 (1984), 11-29.
- [GT] I.Grzegorczyk, M.Teixidor, Brill-Noether Theory for stable vector bundles. In "Moduli Spaces and Vector Bundles" Cambridge Univ. Press edited by L.Brambila-Paz, O.Garcia-Prada, S.Bradlow, S.Ramanan. 29-50.
- [K] I.Kausz, A Gieseker type degeneration of moduli stacks of vector bundles on curves. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357 no. 12 (2005), 4897–4955.
- [L] H. Lange, Zur Klassifikation von Regelmannigfaltigkeiten. Math. Ann. 262 (1983), 447–459.
- [N] P.Newstead, Moduli problems and orbit spaces. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research 1978.

- [NS1] D.Nagaraj, C.S. Seshadri, Degenerations of the moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves. I. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 107 no. 2 (1997), 101–137.
- [NS2] D.Nagaraj, C.S. Seshadri, Degenerations of the moduli spaces of vector bundles on curves. II. Generalized Gieseker moduli spaces. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 109 no. 2 (1999), 165–201.
- [P] R.Pandharipande, A compactification over  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_g$  of the universal space of slope semistable vector bundles. Journal of the AMS **V9 N2** (1996), 425-471.
- [RT] B.Russo, M.Teixidor, On a conjecture of Lange. J.Algebraic Geom. 8 no. 3 (1999), 483–496.
- [Se] C.S.Seshadri, Fibrés vectoriels sur les courbes algébriques. Astérisque 96, Société Mathématique de France 1982.
- [Sc1] A.Schmitt, The equivalence of Hilbert and Mumford stability for vector bundles. Asian J. Math. 5 no. 1 (2001), 33–42.
- [Sc2] A.Schmitt The Hilbert compactification of the universal moduli space of semistable vector bundles over smooth curves. J. Differential Geom. 66 no. 2 (2004), 169–209.
- [T1] M. Teixidor, Brill-Noether Theory for stable vector bundles. Duke Math J. 62 (1991), 385-400.
- [T2] M. Teixidor, Moduli spaces of (semi)stable vector bundles on tree-like curves. Math.Ann. 290(1991), 341-348.
- [T3] M. Teixidor, Moduli spaces of vector bundles on reducible curves. Amer.J. of Math. 117 N1 (1995), 125-139.
- [T4] M.Teixidor, Hilbert stability versus slope stability for vector bundles of rank two. Algebraic Geometry Proceedings of the Catania-Barcelona Europroj meetings. Marcel Dekker 1998, p. 385-405.
- [T5] M.Teixidor, Compactifications of the moduli space of semistable bundles on singular curves: two points of view. Collect.Math 49 2-3 (1998), 527-548.
- [T6] M.Teixidor, Stable extensions by line bundles. J. Reine Angew. Math. 502 (1998), 163–173.
- [T7] M.Teixidor, On Lange's conjecture. J. Reine Angew. Math. 528 (2000), 81–99.
- [T8] M.Teixidor, Subbundles of maximal degree. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 136 (2004), 541-545.
- [T9] M.Teixidor, Existence of coherent systems II Int. Jour. of Math. 19 n.10 (2008), 1269-1283.
- [T10] M.Teixidor, Petri map for rank two bundles with canonical determinant. Compos. Math. 144 no. 3 (2008), 705–720.
- [X] H.Xia, Degeneration of moduli of stable bundles over algebraic curves. Comp Math 98 n3 (1995), 305-330.

MATHEMATICS DEPARTMENT, TUFTS UNIVERSITY, MEDFORD, MA 02155, U.S.A

This collection of cutting-edge articles on vector bundles and related topics originated from a CMI workshop, held in October 2006, that brought together a community indebted to the pioneering work of P. E. Newstead, visiting the United States for the first time since the 1960s. Moduli spaces of vector bundles were then in their infancy, but are now, as demonstrated by this volume, a powerful tool in symplectic geometry, number theory, mathematical physics, and algebraic geometry. In fact, the impetus for this volume was to offer a sample of the vital convergence of techniques and fundamental progress, taking place in moduli spaces at the outset of the twenty-first century.

This volume contains contributions by J. E. Andersen and N. L. Gammelgaard (Hitchin's projectively flat connection and Toeplitz operators), M. Aprodu and G. Farkas (moduli spaces), D. Arcara and A. Bertram (stability in higher dimension), L. Jeffrey (intersection cohomology), J. Kamnitzer (Langlands program), M. Lieblich (arithmetic aspects), P. E. Newstead (coherent systems), G. Pareschi and M. Popa (linear series on Abelian varieties), and M. Teixidor i Bigas (bundles over reducible curves).

These articles do require a working knowledge of algebraic geometry, symplectic geometry and functional analysis, but should appeal to practitioners in a diversity of fields. No specialization should be necessary to appreciate the contributions, or possibly to be stimulated to work in the various directions opened by these pathblazing ideas; to mention a few, the Langlands program, stability criteria for vector bundles over surfaces and threefolds, linear series over abelian varieties and Brauer groups in relation to arithmetic properties of moduli spaces.



CMIP/14

www.ams.org www.claymath.org